PRENATAL BEGINNINGS FOR BETTER HEALTH

EDITED BY: Irina Burd, Ahmet Baschat and Maged Costantine PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pharmacology and Frontiers in Pediatrics







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-509-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-509-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

PRENATAL BEGINNINGS FOR BETTER HEALTH

Topic Editors:

Irina Burd, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, United States Ahmet Baschat, Johns Hopkins Unversity, United States Maged Costantine, University of Texas Medical Branch, United States



Image: Effect of developmental environment on later maternal phenotype and pregnancy complications. Figure from: Arabin B and Baschat AA (2017) Pregnancy: An Underutilized Window of Opportunity to Improve Long-term Maternal and Infant Health—An Appeal for Continuous Family Care and Interdisciplinary Communication. *Front. Pediatr.* 5:69. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00069

Cover Image: Natalia Deriabina/Shutterstock.com.

Citation: Burd, I., Baschat, A., Costantine, M.,eds. (2018). Prenatal Beginnings for Better Health. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-509-6

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Prenatal Beginnings for Better Health Edward Kim, Maged Costantine, Ahmet A. Baschat and Irina Burd 06 Ubiguitin-Proteasome-Collagen (CUP) Pathway in Preterm Premature **Rupture of Fetal Membranes** Xinliang Zhao, Xiaoyan Dong, Xiucui Luo, Jing Pan, Weina Ju, Meijiao Zhang, Peirong Wang, Mei Zhong, Yanhong Yu, W. Ted Brown and Nanbert Zhong 19 Umbilical Cord Blood NOS1 as a Potential Biomarker of Neonatal Encephalopathv Jun Lei, Cristina Paules, Elisabeth Nigrini, Jason M. Rosenzweig, Rudhab Bahabry, Azadeh Farzin, Samuel Yang, Frances J. Northington, Daniel Oros, Stephanie McKenney, Michael V. Johnston, Ernest M. Graham and Irina Burd 28 Pregnancy: An Underutilized Window of Opportunity to Improve Longterm Maternal and Infant Health—An Appeal for Continuous Family Care and Interdisciplinary Communication Birgit Arabin and Ahmet A. Baschat 46 **Refining Pharmacologic Research to Prevent and Treat Spontaneous** Preterm Birth Tracy A. Manuck
- **51** Endothelial Progenitor Cells of the Human Placenta and Fetoplacental Circulation: A Potential Link to Fetal, Neonatal, and Long-term Health Diane L. Gumina and imageEmily J. Su
- 58 Antibiotic Therapy for Chorioamnionitis to Reduce the Global Burden of Associated Disease

Clark T. Johnson, Rebecca R. Adami and Azadeh Farzin

- 64 Skeletal Dysplasias: Growing Therapy for Growing Bones Angie C. Jelin, Elizabeth O'Hare, Karin Blakemore, Eric B. Jelin, David Valle and Julie Hoover-Fong
- 70 Exploring the Pharmacokinetic Profile of Remifentanil in Mid-Trimester Gestations Undergoing Fetal Intervention Procedures
 Judith A. Smith, Roopali V. Donepudi, Pedro S. Argoti, Anita L. Giezentanner, Ranu Jain, Noemi Boring, Elisa Garcia and Kenneth J. Moise
- 76 Feto-Maternal Trafficking of Exosomes in Murine Pregnancy Models Samantha Sheller-Miller, Jun Lei, George Saade, Carlos Salomon, Irina Burd and Ramkumar Menon
- 86 Pathway Markers for Pro-resolving Lipid Mediators in Maternal and Umbilical Cord Blood: A Secondary Analysis of the Mothers, Omega-3, and Mental Health Study

Ellen L. Mozurkewich, Matthew Greenwood, Chelsea Clinton, Deborah Berman, Vivian Romero, Zora Djuric, Clifford Qualls and Karsten Gronert

94 Blood Biomarkers for Evaluation of Perinatal Encephalopathy Ernest M. Graham, Irina Burd, Allen D. Everett and Frances J. Northington





Editorial: Prenatal Beginnings for Better Health

Edward Kim¹, Maged Costantine², Ahmet A. Baschat³ and Irina Burd^{1*}

¹ Integrated Research Center for Fetal Medicine, Maternal Fetal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Maternal Fetal Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, Galveston, TX, United States, ³ Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Center for Fetal Therapy, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins, Sc

Keywords: prenatal, in utero, origins of health, origins of desease, perinatology

Editorial on the Research Topic

Prenatal Beginnings for Better Health

Prenatal care of pregnant women traditionally focuses on potential emergence of complications in the current pregnancy. Adverse pregnancy outcomes such as preterm labor, premature preterm rupture of membrane, gestational diabetes mellitus, and preeclampsia are known to have longterm health implications for the mother and child. Recent research developments of the specific downstream health risks of pregnancy complications hold promise for preventive measures including progesterone therapy, cerclage, acetylsalicylic acid therapy that can potentially avert the long-term health impacts. Furthermore, the drive to develop more accurate and non-invasive ways to detect pregnancies at risk of maternal and neonatal morbidities has led to investigation of biomarkers. With this trend in mind, we established this Research Topic, hosted by Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a joint division of Frontiers in Pediatrics and Frontiers in Pharmacology. Our aim is to review submissions made to this special Topic, which encompasses some of the latest discovery in biomarkers, molecular pathways of pregnancy complications and long-term health consequents of adverse pregnancy outcomes on the offspring. This Topic brings together 11 articles, with broad scope, in a novel multidisciplinary collaboration among obstetrics & gynecology, pharmacology, neurology, and pediatrics. These articles are organized around critical periods in pregnancy: pre-conception, antepartum, peripartum, and immediately postpartum.

In the pre-conception period, a woman's baseline health may foreshadow short and long-term health consequences for the offspring, as outlined by Arabin and Baschat. Women with preexisting hypertensive and metabolic risk profiles are more vulnerable to development of preeclampsia. Offspring born to mothers affected by preeclampsia, in turn, are at increased risk for hypertension, cerebrovascular accident, cognitive delay and depression, with the risk significantly increased for those affected by preterm preeclampsia. Placental stressors, inadequate delivery of nutrients *in utero* due to famine, or maternal stress due to external stressors are associated with low birth weight in the offspring, which is further linked with increased risk of cardiovascular disease, dyslipidemia, and psychiatric disorders.

On the other hand, maternal dietary supplementation has been shown to promote fetal wellbeing. One of the articles in the Topic by Mozurkewich et al. suggests possible benefit of fatty acid supplementation. In this study, women on dietary supplementation containing omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) had significantly high levels of metabolites of DHA and EPA in the umbilical cord blood, potentially important for reduction of preterm births and risk for infant admission to neonatal intensive care unit. While no conclusion can be drawn from this single study, it does suggest that further investigation into maternal dietary consumptions may prove beneficial for determining ways to promote fetal health.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ana Claudia Zenclussen, Medizinische Fakultät, Universitätsklinikum Magdeburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Michael E Symonds, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Irina Burd iburd@jhmi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 11 December 2017 Accepted: 18 April 2018 Published: 04 May 2018

Citation:

Kim E, Costantine M, Baschat AA and Burd I (2018) Editorial: Prenatal Beginnings for Better Health. Front. Pharmacol. 9:457. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00457 In the antepartum period, early *in utero* diagnosis of disease is crucial in terms of parental counseling and planning fetal interventions. Jelin et al. calls attention to skeletal dysplasias and development of molecular diagnosis, bone marrow transplant, and gene therapy *in utero*. Even skeletal diseases with significant comorbidity such as osteogenesis imperfecta may theoretically be amenable for novel treatments such as stem cell and bone marrow transplantation *in utero*. Such invasive *in utero* interventions may require simultaneous development of fetal anesthesia. Smith et al. validated remifentanil as a reasonable anesthetic agent frequently used in fetal interventions.

Shifting focus to another vital part of pregnancy, the placenta, Gumina and Su investigated the possible role of placental endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). They suggest that EPCs, which had previously been implicated in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, may have a role in vasculaturerelated pregnancy complications such as preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction. They highlight experiments where altered balance between EPCs of various angiogenic potential was seen in cord blood of infants affected by preeclampsia and fetal growth restrict ion. Thus, they cautiously posit EPCs may play an important role in pathogenesis of these pregnancy complications and may serve as possible targets for intervention.

Labor, the key event in the peripartum period, is intricately orchestrated by the mother and fetus. However, the precise signal exchange initiating labor is not yet fully understood. Sheller-Miller et al. hypothesize that the fetus may signal for onset of labor via exosomes, specialized intracellular signaling vesicles, in a murine model. Even less is known about pathogenesis of preterm labor. Preterm labor, delivery prior to 37 weeks' gestation is the leading cause of mortality among infants otherwise with no congenital anomalies. Infants born after preterm labor are at an increased risk of long-term intellectual and physical disabilities compared with term neonates Manuck. Manuck reviews current management of preterm labor-intramuscular progesterone for prevention, and treatment with indomethacinand calls for further investigation into pathogenesis of preterm labor. Zhao et al. posit that ubiquitin-proteasomecollagen (CUP) pathway is implicated in molecular pathogenesis of preterm labor Johnson et al. They discovered that certain messenger RNAs associated with the CUP pathway were differently expressed in placentas and fetal membranes in women who had preterm labor or preterm premature rupture of membrane (PPROM). Their research represents one of the first steps in elucidating some of the molecular mechanisms of preterm labor and PPROM. Understanding these mechanisms may help develop targeted therapy to prevent and treat these conditions.

In the immediate postnatal period, early recognition of neonates with encephalopathy could significantly improve prognosis. Lei et al. demonstrate that neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS1), a marker for oxidative stress, was increased in umbilical cord blood of neonates affected by encephalopathy. They speculate that NOS1 may be a viable biomarker for early identification of neonatal encephalopathy and perinatal brain injury. An article by Graham et al. feature not only NOS1, but other biomarkers being studied that could be used as a panel to supplement existing tools to evaluate encephalopathy in neonates. Refinement of neonatal encephalopathy evaluation methods may help identify neonates who would benefit from interventions such as controlled hypothermia and cost associated with management of these neonates.

We hope that this compilation of articles highlighting the latest research in obstetrics and pediatric pharmacology will be of interest to the readers and will inspire more research in this exciting multidisciplinary approach to perinatal care.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Kim, Costantine, Baschat and Burd. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ubiquitin-Proteasome-Collagen (CUP) Pathway in Preterm Premature Rupture of Fetal Membranes

Xinliang Zhao^{1,2,3†}, Xiaoyan Dong^{4†}, Xiucui Luo^{1,3†}, Jing Pan^{1,3†}, Weina Ju^{5,6}, Meijiao Zhang¹, Peirong Wang^{1,2,3}, Mei Zhong^{6,7}, Yanhong Yu^{6,7}, W. Ted Brown^{5,6} and Nanbert Zhong^{1,2,3,4,5,6,7*}

¹ Lianyungang Maternal and Children's Hospital, Lianyungang, China, ² Peking University Center of Medical Genetics, Peking University Health Science Center, Beijing, China, ³ China Alliance of Translational Medicine for Maternal and Children's Health, Beijing, China, ⁴ Shanghai Children's Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ⁵ New York State Institute for Basic Research in Developmental Disabilities, Staten Island, NY, United States, ⁶ China-US Center of Translational Medicine for Maternal and Children's Health, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irina Burd, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Laura Goetzl, Temple University, United States Azadeh Farzin, Johns Hopkins University, United States

*Correspondence:

Nanbert Zhong nanbert.zhong@opwdd.ny.gov

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 23 January 2017 Accepted: 11 May 2017 Published: 02 June 2017

Citation:

Zhao X, Dong X, Luo X, Pan J, Ju W, Zhang M, Wang P, Zhong M, Yu Y, Brown WT and Zhong N (2017) Ubiquitin-Proteasome-Collagen (CUP) Pathway in Preterm Premature Rupture of Fetal Membranes. Front. Pharmacol. 8:310. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00310 Spontaneous preterm birth (sPTB) occurs before 37 gestational weeks, with preterm premature rupture of the membranes (PPROM) and spontaneous preterm labor (sPTL) as the predominant adverse outcomes. Previously, we identified altered expression of long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) and message RNAs (mRNAs) related to the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) in human placentas following pregnancy loss and PTB. We therefore hypothesized that similar mechanisms might underlie PPROM. In the current study, nine pairs of ubiquitin-proteasome-collagen (CUP) pathway-related mRNAs and associated IncRNAs were found to be differentially expressed in PPROM and sPTL. Pathway analysis showed that the functions of their protein products were inter-connected by ring finger protein. Twenty variants including five mutations were identified in CUP-related genes in sPTL samples. Copy number variations were found in COL19A1, COL28A1, COL5A1, and UBAP2 of sPTL samples. The results reinforced our previous findings and indicated the association of the CUP pathway with the development of sPTL and PPROM. This association was due not only to the genetic variation, but also to the epigenetic regulatory function of IncRNAs. Furthermore, the findings suggested that the loss of collagen content in PPROM could result from degradation and/or suppressed expression of collagens.

Keywords: sPTB, IncRNA, SNV, CNV, collagen, ubiquitin enzymes, UPS, CUP pathway

INTRODUCTION

Spontaneous preterm birth (sPTB) mainly consists of spontaneous preterm labor (sPTL) and preterm premature rupture of the membranes (PPROM). It refers to delivery that occurs before 37 gestational weeks (GWs) and is the leading cause of perinatal morbidity and mortality worldwide (Lawn et al., 2005). Etiologically, sPTB has many causes, including intra-amniotic infection, decidua senescence, and breakdown of maternal-fetal tolerance. The recognized risk factors underlying PPROM include physiologic weakening of the fetal membranes associated with apoptosis near term; dissolution of the amniochorionic matrix exacerbated by contraction-induced

shearing forces; infection and inflammation resulting from ascending genital tract colonization initiating a cytokine cascade that triggers membrane degradation; protease production and dissolution of the extracellular matrix (ECM); placental abruption with decidua thrombin expression triggering thrombin-thrombin receptor interactions and increasing choriodecidual protease production; and membrane stretching that may increase amniochorionic cytokine and protease release (Charles and Edwards, 1981; Skinner et al., 1981; Lavery et al., 1982; Taylor and Garite, 1984). The degradation of fetal membranes involved in sPTB is mediated through the activation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and causes an increase of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs; Geraghty et al., 2011; Sandig and Bulfone-Paus, 2012). MMP1 and MMP8 are collagenases that have been found to degrade collagen types I-III and are upregulated in the amnion and chorion (Menon and Fortunato, 2004), which leads to collagenolysis and a decrease in the collagen content of fetal membranes (Draper et al., 1995). The increase in collagen solubility contributes to the remodeling of the ECM and further results in cervical softening and fetal membrane activation (Pollock et al., 1991). Collagen provides the major structural support for the fetal membranes, which is formed by the amnion and chorion. In addition, preterm contractions can accelerate the separation of the amnion and chorion, and then reduce membrane tensile strength, whereas cervical dilation can cause exposure of the membranes to vaginal microorganisms and reduce underlying tissue support (Strohl et al., 2010).

Genetic factors associated with PPROM have been reported. A significant association of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) was found at the genes *MMP1* and *MMP8*, *CARD15*, *TLR4*, and *SERPINH1* among PPROM cases (Fujimoto et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2004, 2006). More studies have been carried out on sPTL. The gene loci of *ABCB11*, *BBS5*, *FSTL5*, *CSMD3*, *NTS*, *KLHL1*, and *NCAM2*, in addition to duplications at the loci of *OR4P4*, *OR4S2*, *OR4C6*, and *RASSF7*, have been shown to be associated with sPTL (Biggio et al., 2015).

Although non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are defined by the lack of a protein-coding potential, they have been found to play important roles in many biological processes (Mattick, 2009; Lipovich et al., 2010). The long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) are a subtype of ncRNAs with transcripts that are more than 200 nucleotides long without obvious protein-coding potential. Occasionally, lncRNAs may be translated to produce short peptides of unknown function (Fatica and Bozzoni, 2014; Ingolia et al., 2014). LncRNAs predominantly localize to the nucleus and have a lower level of expression than protein-coding regions of genes (Djebali et al., 2012). Based on the biological characteristics of transcription loci and their relationship with the associated genes, lncRNAs can be classified as exonic, intronic, or intergenic overlapping transcripts, in either sense or antisense orientation. LncRNAs may modify the expression of genes and be involved in diverse cellular processes including cell differentiation, imprinting control, and immune responses (Wilusz et al., 2009; Archer et al., 2015). The regulatory function of lncRNAs lies in their ability to alter the expression of DNA in a site-specific manner and, at the same time, bind to different proteins, bridging chromosomes, and protein complexes (Rinn and Chang, 2012; Geisler and Coller, 2013). Evidence increasingly supports the linkage of dysfunctions of lncRNAs to many human diseases, including neurodegenerative, psychiatric diseases (Faghihi and Wahlestedt, 2009), cardiovascular disease (Annilo et al., 2009), and immune dysfunction and auto-immunity (Kino et al., 2010). In our previous study, lncRNAs that are differentially expressed in human placentas delivered from PPROM and sPTL were found to be involved in more than 20 functional pathways (Luo et al., 2013). The patterns of differentially expressed lncRNAs and pathways identified from placentas of PPROM and sPTL were similar to those we observed in our study of human miscarriages (Wang et al., 2014) and of a viral-infected mouse model (Pan et al., 2015), suggesting that deregulation and dysfunction of the ubiquitin-proteasome-collagen (CUP) pathway may be one of the pathogenic mechanisms underlying the adverse outcomes of pregnancies, including PPROM.

On the basis of these findings, we hypothesized that the epigenetic regulatory role of lncRNAs in the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) and collagen remodeling is that they are involved in the CUP pathway in sPTB, including PPROM (Zhong et al., 2015). To test our hypothesis, we studied the lncRNAs and lncRNA-associated messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and identified gene mutations/variations associated with the CUP pathway.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Statement

The study design was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Lianyungang Maternal and Children's Hospital, where all the specimens were collected and stored in an existing biobank, which was developed previously as a core service for the China Preterm Clinical Research Consortium. Written informed consent was obtained from the pregnant women who participated in this study. All material and data were previously coded and are anonymous to the authors of this study.

Samples

The samples used for the current study were human placentas, fetal membranes, and maternal peripheral blood. Placentas used in microarray hybridization have been described elsewhere (Luo et al., 2013). The criteria for selection of placenta samples were that they were from pregnancies with (1) no clinical signs of infection (no fever, no increase of white blood cell counts, no positive finding of amniotic fluid cultures), (2) no clinical intervention with antibiotics, steroids, or tocolytics during pregnancy, and (3) mother between 25 and 35 years of age. The placental samples were divided into two groups: preterm and full-term. The preterm group (\leq 35 GW) was further subdivided into PPROM and sPTL. PPROM was defined as a pregnancy that had an initial clinical feature of rupture of membrane that triggered premature uterine contraction. sPTL was defined as the initial sign of labor being uterine contraction without rupture of membrane. The full-term group (between 39^{+0} and 40^{+6} GW), was divided into full-term birth (FTB) and premature rupture of membrane (PROM) at term. Ten samples of human placenta from each group (Table 1)—the sPTL (group A), FTB (group B),

TABLE 1 | Sample size used in the current study.

Study	Discovery	Validation	Exome sequencing
Type of sample	Placenta	Fetal membrane	Whole blood
Number of sample			
Group A (sPTL)	10	20	160
Group B (FTB)	10	20	99
Group C (PPROM)	10	20	
Group D (PROM)	10	20	
Subtotal	40	80	259

PPROM (group C), and PROM (group D)-were subjected to a discovery study with an lncRNA expression microarray (Luo et al., 2013). After the discovery study, 20 fetal membranes from each subgroup were subjected to validation with quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR). The sampling process followed our inhouse standard operating procedure. Briefly, immediately after delivery, the separated placentas and/or fetal membranes were rinsed with 200 ml saline twice and dried with sterilized paper towels. Placental tissues were collected with a sterilized scalpel that penetrated completely from the fetal membrane to the decidua as a cube (cm³) of $1 \times 1 \times (2-3.5)$. A separate piece of fetal membrane $(2 \times 2 \text{ cm}^2)$ was cut from the amniochorionic membrane (ACM) at the edge of the membrane rupture. The samples were then frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen for a minimum of 30 min before being transferred and stored in a -80°C freezer. An independent subset of 160 maternal blood samples was collected from women shortly before delivery by sPTL, and then was used for isolation of total DNAs followed by exome sequencing. An independent group of 99 women with normal FTB was subjected to sequencing analysis as the controls. These specimens had been previously banked in our existing cohort. The type and size of the samples are listed in Table 1. Comparisons were performed inter-group either individually (such as A vs. B) or combined (such as A+B vs. C+D).

Differential Expression Profiling of IncRNAs and mRNAs

The Arraystar Human LncRNA Array v2.0 (www.arraystar.com) was the technical platform for the discovery study. qRT-PCR was employed for validation, as reported earlier (Luo et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014; Pan et al., 2015). In the discovery study, fold changes >2 and p < 0.05 were set as cut-offs and were considered significant. In the qRT-PCR study, β -actin (ACTB) was used as an internal control, and the expression values of lncRNAs and lncRNA-overlapped mRNAs were normalized to ACTB. For each RNA, the result of expression level was reported as relative expression by setting the expression value in FTB (subgroup B) at "1," and the expression value in other groups was calculated relative to this control. The data were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by an unpaired, two-tailed t-test. Differences were considered statistically significant at P < 0.05. In view of the multiple comparisons that were performed, to minimize the likelihood of a type I error, a Bonferroni correction was applied to the significance criterion (Miller, 1991). This correction is a common methodology to adjust for multiple comparisons that divides the significance criterion (usually 0.05) by the number of comparisons to derive a multiple-comparison-adjusted significance criterion. Additionally, use of FDR (False Discovery Rate) was applied to control multiple tests of correlations (Yekutieli and Benjamini, 1999).

Whole-Genome Exome Sequencing of sPTLs

Exome sequencing was performed with Hiseq 2000 (Illumina, SanDiego, CA, USA), for which the SureSelect Biotinylated Library (Agilent, Palo Alto, CA, USA) was constructed. The general workflow for calling of single nucleotide variations (SNVs), including SNPs, and of insertions/deletions (InDels) followed vendors' recommendations. Bioinformatic analysis with the Burrows-Wheeler Aligner (Li and Durbin, 2010) was used to align individual "clean data," and the genotype likelihoods were generated with SAM tools (Szklarczyk et al., 2015). Linkage disequilibrium (LD)-based multiple-sample genotype calling was performed using the LD-based Beagle (Hampson et al., 1997) for multiple-sample genotype calling. Bioinformatic analysis of co-expression and function analysis was performed with the computer programs GeneMANIA (Warde-Farley et al., 2010) and STRING (Szklarczyk et al., 2015).

RESULTS

Identification of CUP-Associated IncRNAs/mRNAs from Human Placentas

As shown in **Table 2A**, nine CUP-associated lncRNAs were identified to be differentially expressed in human placentas, with extremely high statistical significance at $P < 10^{-6}$. When the AB groups were compared to the CD groups, three lncRNAs—the ENST00000504601, CR602937, and NR_029434—were found to be upregulated, and two—the AX747492 and AK125314—were downregulated in pregnancies without rupture of fetal membranes. When sPTL (A) was compared to PPROM (C) individually, lncRNA ENST0000413033 was downregulated, but uc.173 was upregulated. LncRNA G42992 was downregulated in PPROM when compared to FTB, and ENST00000482477 was upregulated in PROM (D) vs. FTB (B).

Forty-nine CUP-associated mRNAs were differentially expressed in human placentas (**Table 2B**), mostly with considerable statistical significance at $P < 10^{-10}$. Among these mRNAs, two were the transcripts of collagen, 22 were ubiquitin enzymes, and four were proteases/proteasomes. Collagen-associated mRNAs (COL-mRNAs) were mainly upregulated in [sPTL+PPROM] vs. [FTB+PROM] and PPROM vs. sPTL, indicating that COL-mRNAs were upregulated in PPROM. Eight mRNAs of ubiquitination enzymes (UBE-mRNAs)—the UBAP1, UBAP2, USP16, USP24, UBE2L6, UBE2Q2, UBE2Z, and UBL3—were identified to be upregulated in PPROM vs. sPTL and downregulated in [sPTL+FTB] vs. [PPROM]. Seven downregulated UBE-mRNAs (UBAC2, UBE2D3, UBE2E3, UXT, USP20, USP27X, and USP50) in PPROM vs. sPTL were also

CUP Pathway	in	PPROM
-------------	----	-------

upregulated in [sPTL+FTB] vs. [PPROM+PROM], suggesting that these eight upregulated and seven downregulated UBEs are associated with PROM in PPROM but not in sPTL. Similarly, the proteasomal protease PSMB8 was upregulated in PPROM vs. sPTL but downregulated in [sPTL+FTB] vs. [PPROM+PROM]. PRSS54 was downregulated in PPROM vs. sPTL, but PRSS33 was upregulated in [sPTL+FTB] vs. [PPROM+PROM].

Validation of Differentially Expressed CUP-IncRNAs and CUP-mRNAs

Nine pairs of lncRNAs and lncRNA-overlapped mRNAs were selected for validation with gRT-PCR. The selection was based on the following criteria: (1) the mRNAs had been found to be differentially expressed between subgroups; (2) the functional product of the mRNAs was involved in either the UPS or collagen remodeling; and (3) the differentially expressed lncRNAs were mostly antisense. The differential expression patterns (DEPs) of these RNAs are shown in Tables 3, 4. In placenta samples, the greatest difference in the expression pattern of RNAs was found between the rupture-of-membrane group [PPROM + PROM] and the labor-without-membrane-rupture group (FTB + sPTL), as nearly all RNAs were transcribed at different levels with statistical significance (P < 0.05), except for UBE2B mRNA. When the sPTL subgroup was compared to the PROM subgroup, nine lncRNAs and seven mRNAs were found to be differentially expressed, and when the FTB to PPROM subgroups were compared, eight lncRNAs and seven mRNAs, respectively, were found to be differentially expressed among placentas. When validated with human fetal membranes (the ACMs), however, the DEP of intra-group variations was slightly different from that of placentas (Figure 1).

Co-expression Network and Functional Interactions among CUP-Associated Genes

CUP-associated gene loci, including COL18A1, COL1A1, EMID2, PIAS3, PSMA3, PSMD14, PSMG4, RNF14, and UBE2B, were subjected to analysis of their network and interactions. As shown in Figure 2A, all eight loci of lncRNA-mRNA pairs were present in the functional network in terms of co-expression. The whole network consists of two intensive co-expressed groups, the collagen group (COL1A1 and COL18A1) and the UPS-related group (PSMD14, PSMG4, PSMA3, UBE2B, RNF14), which were connected by PIAS3 and six other UPS-associated genes. The analysis also showed that PSMD14 and PSMA3 were both involved in the G1 DNA damage checkpoint, antigen procession, and presentation of exogenous peptide antigen via MHC class I. STRING (Szklarczyk et al., 2015) illustrated a similar result (Figure 2B): the proteasome-related genes PSMD14, PSMA3, and five other genes formed shared common protein homology and expression regulation, as did the collagen group, which includes COL18A1 and COL1A1. These two functional groups were then joined by RNF14, PIAS3, and UBE2B through pathways identified in published research articles. Apart from being present in proteasome subunits, PSMD14 and PSMA3 were associated with Epstein-Barr virus infection. PSMD14 consists

TABLE 2A | CUP-associated differentially expressed IncRNAs identified from human placentas.

	Comparison	P value	Ę	FC Seqname	Gene symbol	Relationship	Associated	Associated	Associated Associated protein_name
Collagen	A+B vs. C+D_up	4.8E-07	2.5	ENST00000504601	RP11-893F2.4	Natural antisense	NM_000088	COL1A1	Collagen alpha-1(l) chain preproprotein
	A+B vs. C+D_up	6.2E-20	2.6	CR602937		Natural antisense	NM_030582	COL18A1	Collagen alpha-1(XVIII) chain isoform 1
	A vs. C_down	8.2E-07	2.0	ENST00000413033	RP5-1106H14.1	Intronic antisense	NM_133457	COL26A1	Collagen alpha-1(XXVI) chain
Ubiquitin Enz.	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.4E6	4.1	AX747492	lincRNA-HFE2	Intron sense-overlap	0060999 NM_006099	PIAS3	E3 SUMO-protein ligase PIAS3
	A vs. C_up	1.0E-10	3.7	uc.173-	uc.173	Natural antisense	NM_003337	UBE2B	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 B
	C vs. B_down	4.9E-14	3.2	G42992		Natural antisense	NM_183399	RNF14	E3 Ubiquitin-protein ligase RNF14 isoform 1
Proteasome	A+B vs. C+D_up	2.8E-25	2.0	NR_029434	FLJ31306	Intronic antisense	NM_152132	PSMA3	Proteasome subunit alpha type-3 isoform 2
	A+B vs. C+D_down	2.8E-14	2.1	AK125314		Intron sense-overlap	NM_001128592 PSMG4	2 PSMG4	Proteasome assembly chaperone 4 isoform a
	D vs. B_up	1.9E-07 2.3	2.3	ENST00000482477 AC009299.5	AC009299.5	Intronic antisense	NM_005805	PSMD14	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 14

9

CUP	Comparison _regulation	P value	FC	Gene accession	Gene symbol	Unigene	Protein accession	Protein
Collagen	A+C vs. B+D_up	5.7E-18	2.76	NM_031361	COL4A3BP	Hs.270437	NP_112729	Collagen, type IV, alpha 3 (Goodpasture antigen) binding protein
	A+C vs. B+D_up	4.2E-05	3.81	NM_000494	COL17A1	Hs.117938	NP_000485	Collagen, type XVII, alpha 1
	C vs. A _up	4.3E-17	3.51	NM_031361	COL4A3BP	Hs.270437	NP_112729	Collagen, type IV, alpha 3 (Goodpasture antigen) binding protein
	C vs. A _up	9.6E-09	6.78	NM_000494	COL17A1	Hs.117938	NP_000485	Collagen, type XVII, alpha 1
Jbiquitin	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.2E-19	2.03	NM_001144072	UBAC2	Hs.508545	NP_808882	UBA domain containing 2
Enz.	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.0E-07	2.37	NM_181892	UBE2D3	Hs.518773	NP_871622	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2D 3 (homolog, yeast)
	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.8E-19	2.73	NM_006357	UBE2E3	Hs.470804	NP_872619	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2E 3 (homolog, yeast)
	A+B vs. C+D_up	7.8E-19	2.68	NM_153477	UXT	Hs.172791	NP_705582	Ubiquitously-expressed transcript
	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.7E-10	2.11	NM_001110303	USP20	Hs.5452	NP_006667	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 20
	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.8E-19	2.46	NM_001145073	USP27X	Hs.143587	NP_001138545	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 27, X-linked
	A+B vs. C+D_up	2.4E-15	2.18	NM_001098536	USP5	Hs.631661	NP_003472	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 5 (isopeptidase T)
	A+B vs. C+D_up	1.5E-18	2.14	NM_203494	USP50	Hs.677758	NP_987090	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 50
	A+B vs. C+D_down	8.3E-18	2.77	NM_016525	UBAP1	Hs.268963	NP_057609	Ubiquitin associated protein 1
	A+B vs. C+D_down	3.5E-19	2.72	NM_018449	UBAP2	Hs.493739	NP_060919	Ubiquitin associated protein 2
	A+B vs. C+D_down	1.2E-17	2.29	NM_001001992	USP16	Hs.99819	NP_006438	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 16
	A+B vs. C+D_down	3.9E-17	2.54	NM_015306	USP24	Hs.477009	NP_056121	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 24
	A+B vs. C+D_down	3.6E-15	2.01	NM_004223	UBE2L6	Hs.425777	NP_937826	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2L 6
	A+B vs. C+D_down	1.1E–19	2.39	NM_001145335	UBE2Q2	Hs.23033	NP_775740	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Q fami member 2
	A+B vs. C+D_down	5.4E-17	2.67	NM_173469	UBE2Q2	Hs.23033	NP_775740	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Q fami member 2
	A+B vs. C+D_down	1.7E-11	2.10	NM_023079	UBE2Z	Hs.514297	NP_075567	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Z
	A+B vs. C+D_down	2.5E-17	2.47	NM_007106	UBL3	Hs.145575	NP_009037	Ubiquitin-like 3
	C vs. A _down	2.1E-10	2.07	NM_001144072	UBAC2	Hs.508545	NP_808882	UBA domain containing 2
	C vs. A _down	1.9E-06	2.51	NM_001110303	USP20	Hs.5452	NP_006667	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 20
	C vs. A _down	2.0E-09	2.27	NM_001145073	USP27X	Hs.143587	NP_001138545	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 27, X-linked
	C vs. A _down	1.2E-08	2.09	NM_203494	USP50	Hs.677758	NP_987090	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 50
	C vs. A _down	4.1E-03	2.07	NM_181892	UBE2D3	Hs.518773	NP_871622	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2D 3 (homolog, yeast)
	C vs. A _down	5.5E-09	2.70	NM_006357	UBE2E3	Hs.470804	NP_872619	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2E 3 (homolog, yeast)
	C vs. A _down	1.7E-13	2.18	NM_194259	UBE2I	Hs.302903	NP_919237	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2I (UBC homolog, yeast)
	C vs. A _down	5.5E-08	2.15	NM_153477	UXT	Hs.172791	NP_705582	Ubiquitously-expressed transcript
	C vs. A _up	1.3E-11	3.08	NM_016525	UBAP1	Hs.268963	NP_057609	Ubiquitin associated protein 1
	C vs. A _up	8.8E-08	2.29	NM_018449	UBAP2	Hs.493739	NP_060919	Ubiquitin associated protein 2
	C vs. A _up	2.5E-10	2.03	NM_015902	UBR5	Hs.492445	NP_056986	Ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component n-recognin 5
	C vs. A _up	2.7E-07	2.27	NM_175748	UBR7	Hs.728932	NP_786924	Ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component n-recognin 7 (putative)
	C vs. A _up	8.4E-14	2.88	NM_001001992	USP16	Hs.99819	NP_006438	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 16
	C vs. A _up	2.6E-11	2.33	NM_017414	USP18	Hs.38260	NP_059110	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 18
	C vs. A _up	2.4E-08	2.18		USP24	Hs.477009		Ubiquitin specific peptidase 24
	C vs. A _up	1.2E-08	2.03		UBE2L6	Hs.425777		Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2L 6

TABLE 2B | CUP-associated differentially expressed mRNAs identified from human placentas.

(Continued)

TABLE 2B | Continued

CUP	Comparison _regulation	P value	FC	Gene accession	Gene symbol	Unigene	Protein accession	Protein
	C vs. A _up	4.8E-10	2.45	NM_001145335	UBE2Q2	Hs.23033	NP_775740	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Q family member 2
	C vs. A _up	1.4E-11	2.47	NM_173469	UBE2Q2	Hs.23033	NP_775740	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Q family member 2
	C vs. A _up	8.1E-08	2.31	NM_023079	UBE2Z	Hs.514297	NP_075567	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2Z
	C vs. A _up	2.5E-12	2.85	NM_007106	UBL3	Hs.145575	NP_009037	Ubiquitin-like 3
	A vs. B _up	2.4E-05	2.60	NM_199144	UBE2V1	Hs.727525	NP_954595	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 variant 1
	A vs. B _down	6.5E-13	2.03	NM_181762	UBE2A	Hs.379466	NP_861442	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2A (RAD6 homolog)
Protease	A+B vs. C+D_up	2.4E-07	2.09	NM_152891	PRSS33	Hs.280658	NP_690851	Protease, serine, 33
	A+B vs. C+D_down	2.6E-20	2.18	NM_148919	PSMB8	Hs.180062	NP_683720	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) subunit, beta type, 8 (large multifunctional peptidase 7)
	C vs. A_down	6.1E-06	2.20	NM_001080492	PRSS54	Hs.411239	NP_001073961	Protease, serine, 54
	C vs. A_up	1.3E-12	2.27	NM_148919	PSMB8	Hs.180062	NP_683720	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) subunit, beta type, 8 (large multifunctional peptidase 7)
	A vs. B_up	4.1E-05	3.23	NM_002804	PSMC3	Hs.250758	NP_002795	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) 26S subunit, ATPase, 3

A, sPTL; B, FTB; C, PPROM; D, PROM; FC, fold change; Enz, enzyme.

of JAB1/MPN/MOV34 metalloenzyme domain and was involved in the maintenance of mitochondrial structure and function (Cooper et al., 2009).

Identification of SNVs including Mutations and Copy Number Variations Associated with CUP Pathway

In the sPTL subgroup, 20 variants, including five mutations, were identified in five collagen genes, three ubiquitin ligase genes, and four ubiquitin-associated proteasome/peptidase genes (**Table 5**) identified by whole-exome sequencing (Rutishauser et al., 2001). Fourteen of these variations occurred in the intronic region of the gene, and most were deletions. For those exonic mutations, all four were missense, and one was synonymous. Copy number variations (CNVs) were found in four CUP-associated genes from women who delivered by sPTL: COL19A1, COL28A1, COL5A1, and UBAP2. All CNVs were at exons of the genes: three duplications and one deletion (**Table 6**). The lengths of these CNVs varied greatly, from 700 to more than 388,000 base pairs.

DISCUSSION

The current study is a continuing investigation of the regulatory role of lncRNAs in the molecular pathogenesis of sPTB, based on our previous studies, in which we identified differential expression of lncRNAs in sPTL and PPROM (Luo et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2015). In the current study, we analyzed the DEPs of the lncRNAs and the mRNAs that are associated with the CUP pathway that may also associate with PPROM (Zhong et al., 2015). We also identified gene mutations/variations among sPTBs, although a larger sample size will be needed to make a definitive conclusion. These findings provided evidence of the involvement of the CUP pathway in the pathogenesis of PPROM, which could be further supported by the protein interaction network, as shown in **Figure 2**. Although the algorithms of GeneMANIA (Warde-Farley et al., 2010) and STRING (Szklarczyk et al., 2015) yielded results with slight differences, a clear connection between the collagen and the UPS by an E3 ligase-like protein, PIAS3, was observed (**Figure 2B**).

Currently, the cause of preterm weakening of fetal membranes leading to PPROM remains unclear. Several studies have concluded the collagen degradation to be the major factor in remodeling of fetal membrane, as the collagen content was lowered in the ruptured membranes (Kanayama et al., 1985; Hampson et al., 1997). The strength of amnion and chorion is basically due to collagen fiber, and the process above reduces the physical strength of the fetal membranes. The major strength in the amnion was shown to be derived from collagen I (extensively in the compact layer and adjacent mesoderm) and collagen IV (a major component of the basement membrane and of the bundles connecting the mesenchymal layer and the epithelium; Bachmaier and Graf, 1999). COL18A1, COL1A1, and EMID2 were all within the collagen family, among which COL1A1 was involved in most human connective tissues, and COL18A1 and EMID2 were shown to be directly associated with the formation and remodeling of the extracellular matrix (Rebhan et al., 1993; Hoffmann et al., 2015). In this study, we have identified both gene mutations and abnormal gene expression. A missense mutation (Table 5) was found within the coding sequence of gene COL23A1 from sPTL blood samples. The mutation causes the residue of the 102nd amino acid to be changed from glycine

IncRNA mRNA 504601 Col1A1 CR602937 Col18A1 413033 COL26A1	_	A mRNA Up Up* Down*		PPROM vs. PROM	PPROM vs. FTB				sPTL v	SPTL vs. PROM	FI BVS. PROM		vs. (FTB+sPTL)	(PPROM+PROM) vs. (FTB+sPTL)	(PPROI vs. (FTE	(PPROM+sPTL) vs. (FTB+PROM)
37	_		IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA
37	_		,*d	Down*	Down*	vp*	Down*	*d∪	*dN	Down*	Чр	Down*	Down*	*dŊ	dŊ	Down
	A1		~dD	vp*	Down*	^*d∩	Down*	Up	*dU	Пр	*dU	∿p*	Down*	Down*	Up	Чр
			*dU	Up	*dU	Up	Down	Down	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down	~d∩	^p*	Up	∿p*
			dU	"vp	Down*	*dU	Down*	Down*	*dU	Down*	*dU	∿p*	Down*	Down	Up	Up
G42992 RNF14			Чр	Up	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down	*dU	*dU	∿p*	^*d∩	Down*	^*d∩	*dU	Down
AX747492 PIAS3	3 Up*	Чp	^µv	Up	^p*	Up	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down*	Чр	Down*	Np*	Up	~d∩
NR_029434 PSMA3		^p*	Чр	Up	Down	*dU	Down	Down*	*dU	Down*	∿p*	^p*	Down*	Down*	Up	ЧÞ
482477 PSMD14	D14 Up*	*dU	Up	Down*	*dU	^*d∩	Up	^*d∪	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down*	~d∩	^p*	Up	Up
AK125314 PSMG4	G4 Up*	"Up	Up*	Down*	^*d∪	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down*	Down	Down*	Down	"Up	^p*	"Up	Down*
	PPRC	PPROM vs. sPTL	PPRON	PPROM vs. PROM	PPROM	PPROM vs. FTB	sPTL vs. FTB	s. FTB	sPTL v	SPTL vs. PROM	FTB vs.	FTB vs. PROM	(PPROM+PROM) vs. (FTB+sPTL)	+PROM) +sPTL)	(PPROI vs. (FTE	(PPROM+sPTL) vs. (FTB+PROM)
IncRNA mRNA	A IncRNA	A mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA	IncRNA	mRNA
504601 Col1A1	A1 Up	Down*	Ър	Down	Up	Down*	Down	Чр	Down	Down	Down	dD	*dU	Down*	Ъ	Down
CR602937 Col18A1	8A1 Up*	Down	*dU	Down	∿p*	Down	dN	Down	Down	Down	Down	~d∩	*dU	Down	*dU	Down
413033 COL26A1	26A1 Up*	Up	Чр	Down*	Чр	Down*	Down*	Down	Down*	Down	Down	Up	*dU	Down	Down	Down*
	UBE2B Up*	*dU	d	Down	^p*	^*d∩	Down	Up	Down*	Down	Down*	Down*	*dU	*dU	dN	dN
nc1/3 OBEZ		Down*		6	:					1						

*dn a n

Down Up Up

*dU Up *dU

Down Down Up Down*

Down* Up Down* Down

Down Down Down* Down

Down Down Down Down

Down Up Up

Down Down Up Down

*dn *dn

Up* Up* Up

Down* Down* Up

*dn h

99

PIAS3 PSMA3 PSMD14 PSMG4

Up Down

AX747492 NR_029434

*d n

Up* Down*

12

June 2017 | Volume 8 | Article 310

482477 AK125314 *Statistical significance at P < 0.05.

Gene	P-value	Chrom	Position	Category	Ref_alle	Mut_alle	Туре	AA	Significance	Description
COL23A1	0.007972	chr5	177987740	exon2	С	Т	Point_M	p.G102R	Nonsynonymous	Collagen, type XXIII, alpha 1
COL4A2	0.02807	chr13	111077400	intronic	AT	А	InDel		Del_T	Collagen, type IV, alpha 2
COL4A2	0.04936	chr13	111120699	intronic	С	CT	InDel		Ins_T	Collagen, type IV, alpha 2
COL18A1	0.0086	chr21	46900356	intronic	G	С			SNV	Collagen, type XVIII, alpha 1
COL22A1	0.02772	chr8	139691995	intronic	Т	TGTTA	InDel		Ins_GTTA	Collagen, type XXII, alpha 1
COL23A1	0.007972	chr5	177987780	intronic	G	А			SNV	Collagen, type XXIII, alpha 1
COL28A1	0.02708	chr7	7459630	intronic	Т	TTATG	InDel		Ins_TATG	Collagen, type XXVIII, alpha 1
COL28A1	0.02755	chr7	7459616	intronic	AT	А	InDel		Del_T	Collagen, type XXVIII, alpha 1
UBE2F-SCLY	0.00987	chr2	239007755	ncRNA_ exonic	С	CATT	InDel		Ins_ATT	UBE2F-SCLY readthrough
UBR5	0.002894	chr8	103306033	exon34	Т	С	Point_M	p.V1463V	Synonymous	Ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component n-recognin 5
JBR5	0.002894	chr8	103327127	intronic	А	С			SNV	Ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component n-recognin 5
UBA7	0.02729	chr3	49842881	intronic	TG	Т	InDel		Del_G	Ubiquitin-like modifier activating enzyme 7
USP31	0.001936	chr16	23102027	exon7	С	А	Point_M	p.D445Y	Nonsynonymous	Ubiquitin specific peptidase
JSPL1	0.005818	chr13	31233063	exon9	G	А	Point_M	p.S950N	Nonsynonymous	Ubiquitin specific peptidase like 1
USPL1	0.005818	chr13	31231806	exon9	Т	С	Point_M	p.L531S	Nonsynonymous	Ubiquitin specific peptidase like 1
PSMG2	0.02867	chr18	12712817	intronic	С	CATT	InDel		Ins_ATT	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) assembly chaperone 2
PSMA4	0.03335	chr15	78836631	intronic	CTGA	С	InDel		Del_TGA	Proteasome (prosome, macropain) subunit, alpha type, 4

TABLE 5 | Identification of CUP-associated gene mutations/variations from maternal blood specimens from sPTL.

P val (Rubba et al., 2001), P-value of co-variants; Ref_alle, reference allele; Mut-alle, mutant allele; AA, amino acid; Chrom, chromosome; InDel, Insertion and deletion; Ins, insertion; Del, deletion; SNV, single nucleotide variation.

to arginine (Wang et al.), which could cause an interruption in the formation of the normal structure of collagen (Lee et al., 1997). It would be interesting to introduce this mutation into the mouse model to investigate whether the missense mutation may generate the sPTL phenotype. Several InDels were identified in the intronic region of collagens from the sPTL cases, indicating that these SNVs may have a genetic predisposition that might function in gene-environmental interactions, in which the environmental factor(s) may induce the epigenetic regulation that consequently may trigger the DEP and influence transcription. In fact, our data showed that mRNAs of COL1A1, COL18A1, and EMID2 (COL26A1) were all downregulated in ruptured membranes in the PPROM subgroup. Interestingly, the expression of lncRNAs 504601 and CR602937, which overlap with COL1A1 and COL18A1, respectively, has been shown to be upregulated in PPROM (Figure 1). Both lncRNAs 504601 and CR602937 are located at the lagging strand as the antisense, opposite from the leading strand of coding genes COL1A1 and COL18A1. Like microRNAs (miRNAs; Jalali et al., 2013), these lncRNAs may also function as a suppressor to downregulate their complementary mRNAs. Should this hypothesis be confirmed, a novel therapeutic strategy with small interfering RNA could be designed for prevention of sPTB. It would be worth to expand the sPTB cases to replicate our findings in a larger sample size among different ethnic populations globally.

Differential expression of the lncRNAs and mRNAs of ubiquitin-conjugating protein identified from expression array

and qPCR suggested the involvement of the UPS in sPTL and PROM. The UPS is an ATP-dependent, non-lysosomalproteolytic system. The whole process is shown in Figure 3. The protein product of three genes screened by qPCR belongs to ubiquitin ligase, functioning at different stages of ubiquitination. UBE2B, a member of the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme family, works as an E2. RNF14 contains a RING zinc finger and can interact with E2s, acting as a ubiquitin-ligase (E3). These genes were found to be overexpressed in PPROM, suggesting that the ubiquitination process was boosted with rupture of the membrane. In the paired lncRNA-mRNA of uc173-UBE2B and G4299-RNF14, there is a clear correlation, in terms of the DEP, between lncRNAs and mRNAs. Apparently, lncRNAs were present as an activator, whereby when the lncRNA is up-regulated in PPROM, the mRNA is up-regulated accordingly. Both lncRNAs uc173 and G4299 are natural antisense. However, they may have a different epigenetic regulatory mechanism, compared to lncRNAs 504601 (COL1A1) and CR602937 (COL18A1). It is likely that the lncRNAs uc173 and G4299 might function as a scaffold to bind to transcriptional factors and facilitate the gene transcription (Engreitz et al., 2016). Previously, Faghihi et al. studied a similar phenomenon in Alzheimer's disease, describing antisense transcripts that can increase mRNA stability by making the binding sites (Faghihi et al., 2008; Faghihi and Wahlestedt, 2009).

The lncRNAs for PSMA3 and PSMD14 were both intronic antisense, but were demonstrated to have a distinct pattern.



LncRNA ENST00000482477 presented with the most varied expression pattern, and its level was shown to be greatly increased in PPROM, whereas levels of the lncRNAs AK125314 and NR_029434 remained steady among groups. Like PIAS3, both the PSMG4 mRNA and the lncRNA AK125314 that overlapped with PSMG4 were located at the same (sense) strand, and both were upregulated. Because both lncRNAs and mRNAs are transcribed as the sense strand, the possible mechanism of lncRNAs regulating mRNAs is that lncRNAs may bind to miRNAs, functioning as a sponge, which protects mRNAs from miRNA targeting and repressing. As a result, the transcription of mRNA is upregulated, and the level of mRNA is increased. In this case, the lncRNAs may act as a sink of miRNAs (Poliseno et al., 2010). The paired lncRNA of PSMA3 was intronic antisense. Hawkins and Morris (2010) reported that antisense lncRNAs can bind chromatin and chromatin-modifying proteins, facilitating epigenetic regulation. The expression pattern of PSMD14 and its paired lncRNA ENST00000482477 was similar to that of UBE2B and RNF14; the lncRNAs might regulate their mRNAs by interacting with the miRNA-binding sites.

Whether the differentially expressed lncRNAs that were identified from the human placentas derived from the sPTB are the etiological cause for, or the result of, PPROM is unknown. To better understand this, further investigation of CUP-associated lncRNA expression at the early stage of pregnancy and of the dynamic expression profile of lncRNA longitudinally during the entire pregnancy will be necessary. The lncRNAs in the maternal circulation could be assessed through quantitation of placenta-originated exosomes isolated from maternal blood. Comparing the lncRNA expression profile at early pregnancy and at term-labor may shed light on this important question.

Both pathway analyses indicated the importance of PSMA4 and PSMD14, as they appear to be the central bridge linking the collagens and ubiquitin enzymes to the proteasome proteins. PSMA4 harbors more connections with ubiquitin enzymes (**Figure 2**). Together with the expression level, we hypothesize that the suppression of collagen and the upregulation of the UPS were functionally connected and then were associated with rupture of the membranes, as a cause or a result, and within the UPS, the proteolysis process was mediated through PSMA4, rather than via PSMD14.

CNVs have been studied extensively for years, and their associations with various diseases have been proved, but the possible association between CNVs and sPTL/PPROM was studied very little in comparison. We applied maternal sera samples in the screening and identified four CNVs affecting seven genes. Results of the study by Biggio et al. of CNVs



Gene	Category	Chromosome	Starting position	Ending position	CNV	Allele frequency
COL19A1	exonic	Chr 6	70865930	70866694	Del	0.01
COL28A1, MIOS, RPA3	exonic	Chr 7	7528941	7917273	Dup	0.01
COL5A1, RXRA	exonic	Chr 9	137309042	137623969	Dup	0.01
UBAP2	exonic	Chr 9	33986768	34017213	Dup	0.01

TABLE 6 | Identification of CUP-associated CNVs from maternal blood specimens from sPTL.

Chr, chromosome; CNV, copy number variation; Del, deletion; Dup, duplication.



in more than 1,000 American maternal and neonatal preterm birth samples and term controls showed that only neonatal, not maternal, CNVs were associated with early sPTL (Biggio et al., 2015). However, our previous work on the Chinese population indicated the contribution of maternal CNVs at the RYR1 locus to sPTL (Liu et al., 2013). Research on the Danish population reported the association of maternal CNVs in GSTT1/GSTT2 with smoking, preterm delivery, and low birth weight (Zheng et al., 2013). In the current study, the sample size may not be large enough for statistical evaluations, but the findings nevertheless suggest both race specificity for sPTL and areas for further study on the effects of these involved genes.

In conclusion, differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs, polymorphisms, mutations, and CNVs identified from human placenta and fetal membrane of PPROM supported the involvement of the UPS in the development of PPROM and the

possible regulatory pattern of the lncRNAs to their associated mRNAs. The results may also indicate that the loss of collagen content in PPROM was the result of not only degradation, but also of the suppressed expression, of collagen mRNAs. Furthermore, we studied the functional links of collagen to the UPS in PPROM and identified the central connector in proteasome proteins. However, the detailed mechanisms through which lncRNAs regulated their associated mRNAs in sPTL and PPROM must be further studied. On the basis of our data presented here, we propose a "two-hit" hypothesis in which genetic variations/mutations including SNVs and CNVs present as the first hit, which is genetic predisposition. Epigenetic regulation, such as lncRNAs, present as the second hit to modulate the outcome of pregnancy through the lncRNAs' epigenetic regulatory function. Our findings provide a new path for investigating the pathogenesis of sPTL and PPROM.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The work presented here was carried out in collaboration among all authors. NZ defined the research theme and designed the experiments. XZ, XL, JP, XD, WJ, MZha, and YY were involved in sample collection and carried out the experiments. XZ, XD, PW, WB, and NZ analyzed the data, interpreted the results, and drafted the manuscript. NZ finalized the manuscript. All authors have approved the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Annilo, T., Kepp, K., and Laan, M. (2009). Natural antisense transcript of natriuretic peptide precursor A (NPPA): structural organization and modulation of NPPA expression. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 10:81. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-10-81
- Archer, K., Broskova, Z., Bayoumi, A. S., Teoh, J. P., Davila, A., Tang, Y., et al. (2015). Long Non-Coding RNAs as master regulators in cardiovascular diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 23651–23667. doi: 10.3390/ijms161023651
- Bachmaier, N., and Graf, R. (1999). The anchoring zone in the human placental amnion: bunches of oxytalan and collagen connect mesoderm and epithelium. *Anat. Embryol.* 200, 81–90. doi: 10.1007/s004290050262
- Biggio, J., Xiao, F., Baldwin, D., Bukowski, R., Parry, S., Esplin, M., et al. (2015). Neonatal, not maternal, copy number variants are associated with spontaneous preterm birth. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 212:S8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.10.055
- Charles, D., and Edwards, W. R. (1981). Infectious complications of cervical cerclage. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 141, 1065–1071. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(16)32698-9
- Cooper, E. M., Cutcliffe, C., Kristiansen, T. Z., Pandey, A., Pickart, C. M., and Cohen, R. E. (2009). K63-specific deubiquitination by two JAMM/MPN+ complexes: BRISC-associated Brcc36 and proteasomal Poh1. *EMBO J.* 28, 621–631. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.27
- Djebali, S., Davis, C. A., Merkel, A., Dobin, A., Lassmann, T., Mortazavi, A., et al. (2012). Landscape of transcription in human cells. *Nature* 489, 101–108. doi: 10.1038/nature11233
- Draper, D., McGregor, J., Hall, J., Jones, W., Beutz, M., Heine, R. P., et al. (1995). Elevated protease activities in human amnion and chorion correlate with preterm premature rupture of membranes. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 173, 1506–1512. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(95)90640-1
- Engreitz, J. M., Haines, J. E., Perez, E. M., Munson, G., Chen, J., Kane, M., et al. (2016). Local regulation of gene expression by lncRNA promoters, transcription and splicing. *Nature* 539, 452–455. doi: 10.1038/nature20149
- Faghihi, M. A., Modarresi, F., Khalil, A. M., Wood, D. E., Sahagan, B. G., Morgan, T. E., et al. (2008). Expression of a noncoding RNA is elevated in Alzheimer's disease and drives rapid feed-forward regulation of beta-secretase. *Nat. Med.* 14, 723–730. doi: 10.1038/nm1784
- Faghihi, M. A., and Wahlestedt, C. (2009). Regulatory roles of natural antisense transcripts. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10, 637–643. doi: 10.1038/nrm2738
- Fatica, A., and Bozzoni, I. (2014). Long non-coding RNAs: new players in cell differentiation and development. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 15, 7–21. doi: 10.1038/ nrg3606
- Fujimoto, T., Parry, S., Urbanek, M., Sammel, M., Macones, G., Kuivaniemi, H., et al. (2002). A single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) promoter influences amnion cell MMP-1 expression and risk for preterm premature rupture of the fetal membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 6296–6302. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M107865200
- Geisler, S., and Coller, J. (2013). RNA in unexpected places: long non-coding RNA functions in diverse cellular contexts. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 14, 699–712. doi: 10.1038/nrm3679
- Geraghty, P., Dabo, A. J., and D'armiento, J. (2011). TLR4 protein contributes to cigarette smoke-induced matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) expression in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 30211–30218. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.238824

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partially supported by the New York State Office for People With Developmental Disabilities (OPWDD), the Guangdong Provincial Department of Science and Technology (grant #2015B050501006) and the Shunde District Office of Science and Technology (grant #201506260003), and the Jiangsu Provincial Bureau of Science and Technology (grant #BK20141244).

- Hampson, V., Liu, D., Billett, E., and Kirk, S. (1997). Amniotic membrane collagen content and type distribution in women with preterm premature rupture of the membranes in pregnancy. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 104, 1087–1091. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1997.tb12073.x
- Hawkins, P. G., and Morris, K. V. (2010). Transcriptional regulation of Oct4 by a long non-coding RNA antisense to Oct4-pseudogene 5. *Transcription* 1, 165–175. doi: 10.4161/trns.1.3.13332
- Hoffmann, J., Marsh, L. M., Pieper, M., Stacher, E., Ghanim, B., Kovacs, G., et al. (2015). Compartment-specific expression of collagens and their processing enzymes in intrapulmonary arteries of IPAH patients. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 308, L1002–L1013. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00383.2014
- Ingolia, N. T., Brar, G. A., Stern-Ginossar, N., Harris, M. S., Talhouarne, G. J., Jackson, S. E., et al. (2014). Ribosome profiling reveals pervasive translation outside of annotated protein-coding genes. *Cell Rep.* 8, 1365–1379. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.045
- Jalali, S., Bhartiya, D., Lalwani, M. K., Sivasubbu, S., and Scaria, V. (2013). Systematic transcriptome wide analysis of lncRNA-miRNA interactions. *PLoS* ONE 8:e53823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053823
- Kanayama, N., Terao, T., Kawashima, Y., Horiuchi, K., and Fujimoto, D. (1985). Collagen types in normal and prematurely ruptured amniotic membranes. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 153, 899–903. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(85)90703-3
- Kino, T., Hurt, D. E., Ichijo, T., Nader, N., and Chrousos, G. P. (2010). Noncoding RNA gas5 is a growth arrest- and starvation-associated repressor of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Sci. Signal.* 3:ra8. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2000568
- Lavery, J. P., Miller, C. E., and Knight, R. D. (1982). The effect of labor on the rheologic response of chorioamniotic membranes. Obstet. Gynecol. 60, 87–92.
- Lawn, J. E., Cousens, S., and Zupan, J. (2005). 4 million neonatal deaths: when? Where? Why? *Lancet* 365, 891–900. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05) 71048-5
- Lee, J. Y., Pulkkinen, L., Liu, H. S., Chen, Y. F., and Uitto, J. (1997). A glycineto-arginine substitution in the triple-helical domain of type VII collagen in a family with dominant dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa pruriginosa. J. Invest. Dermatol. 108, 947–949. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12296242
- Li, H., and Durbin, R. (2010). Fast and accurate long-read alignment with burrows-wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics* 26, 589–595. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp698
- Lipovich, L., Johnson, R., and Lin, C. Y. (2010). MacroRNA underdogs in a microRNA world: evolutionary, regulatory, and biomedical significance of mammalian long non-protein-coding RNA. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1799, 597–615. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.10.001
- Liu, M., Chen, Y., and Zhong, N. (2013). "Copy number variation of RYR1 locus, which is involved in myomentrial contraction and relaxation, is associated with preterm births," in *American Society of Human Genetics Annual Meeting 2013*, ed Ashg (Boston, MA: American Society of Human Genetics), 229.
- Luo, X., Shi, Q., Gu, Y., Pan, J., Hua, M., Liu, M., et al. (2013). LncRNA pathway involved in premature preterm rupture of membrane (PPROM): an epigenomic approach to study the pathogenesis of reproductive disorders. *PLoS ONE* 8:e79897. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079897
- Mattick, J. S. (2009). The genetic signatures of noncoding RNAs. *PLoS Genet*. 5:e1000459. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000459
- Menon, R., and Fortunato, S. J. (2004). The role of matrix degrading enzymes and apoptosis in rupture of membranes. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 11, 427–437. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004.04.001

Miller, R. G. Jr. (1991). Simultaneous Statistical Inference. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

- Pan, J., Mor, G., Ju, W., Zhong, J., Luo, X., Aldo, P. B., et al. (2015). Viral infection-induced differential expression of LncRNAs associated with collagen in mouse placentas and amniotic sacs. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 74, 237–257. doi: 10.1111/aji.12406
- Poliseno, L., Salmena, L., Zhang, J., Carver, B., Haveman, W. J., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2010). A coding-independent function of gene and pseudogene mRNAs regulates tumour biology. *Nature* 465, 1033–1038. doi: 10.1038/nature09144
- Pollock, J. S., Forstermann, U., Mitchell, J. A., Warner, T. D., Schmidt, H. H., Nakane, M., et al. (1991). Purification and characterization of particulate endothelium-derived relaxing factor synthase from cultured and native bovine aortic endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 10480–10484. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.23.10480
- Rebhan, M., Chalifa-Caspi, V., Prilusky, J., and Lancet, D. (1993). The GeneCards Human Gene Database in: v4.1 Biold 30. Merka: Weizmann Institute of Science.
- Rinn, J. L., and Chang, H. Y. (2012). Genome regulation by long noncoding RNAs. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 81, 145–166. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-051410-092902
- Rubba, P., Panico, S., Bond, M. G., Covetti, G., Celentano, E., Iannuzzi, A., et al. (2001). Site-specific atherosclerotic plaques in the carotid arteries of middleaged women from southern Italy: associations with traditional risk factors and oxidation markers. *Stroke* 32, 1953–1959. doi: 10.1161/hs0901.095601
- Rutishauser, C., Sawyer, S. M., Bond, L., Coffey, C., and Bowes, G. (2001). Development and validation of the Adolescent Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire (AAQOL). *Eur. Respir. J.* 17, 52–58. doi: 10.1183/09031936.01.17100520
- Sandig, H., and Bulfone-Paus, S. (2012). TLR signaling in mast cells: common and unique features. Front. Immunol. 3:185. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00185
- Skinner, S. J., Campos, G. A., and Liggins, G. C. (1981). Collagen content of human amniotic membranes: effect of gestation length and premature rupture. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 57, 487–489.
- Strohl, A., Kumar, D., Novince, R., Shaniuk, P., Smith, J., Bryant, K., et al. (2010). Decreased adherence and spontaneous separation of fetal membrane layers– amnion and choriodecidua–a possible part of the normal weakening process. *Placenta* 31, 18–24. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.10.012
- Szklarczyk, D., Franceschini, A., Wyder, S., Forslund, K., Heller, D., Huerta-Cepas, J., et al. (2015). STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, D447–D452. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1003
- Taylor, J., and Garite, T. J. (1984). Premature rupture of membranes before fetal viability. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 64, 615–620.
- Wang, H., Cao, Q., Ge, J., Liu, C., Ma, Y., Meng, Y., et al. (2014). LncRNA-regulated infection and inflammation pathways associated with pregnancy loss: genome

wide differential expression of lncRNAs in early spontaneous abortion. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 72, 359–375. doi: 10.1111/aji.12275

- Wang, H., Parry, S., Macones, G., Sammel, M. D., Ferrand, P. E., Kuivaniemi, H., et al. (2004). Functionally significant SNP MMP8 promoter haplotypes and preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM). *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 13, 2659–2669. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh287
- Wang, H., Parry, S., Macones, G., Sammel, M. D., Kuivaniemi, H., Tromp, G., et al. (2006). A functional SNP in the promoter of the SERPINH1 gene increases risk of preterm premature rupture of membranes in African Americans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 13463–13467. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603 676103
- Warde-Farley, D., Donaldson, S. L., Comes, O., Zuberi, K., Badrawi, R., Chao, P., et al. (2010). The GeneMANIA prediction server: biological network integration for gene prioritization and predicting gene function. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, W214–W220. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq537
- Wilusz, J. E., Sunwoo, H., and Spector, D. L. (2009). Long noncoding RNAs: functional surprises from the RNA world. *Genes Dev.* 23, 1494–1504. doi: 10.1101/gad.1800909
- Yekutieli, D., and Benjamini, Y. (1999). Resampling-based false discovery rate controlling multiple test procedures for correlated test statistics. J. Stat. Plan. Infer. 82, 171–196.
- Zheng, X., Feingold, E., Ryckman, K. K., Shaffer, J. R., Boyd, H. A., Feenstra, B., et al. (2013). Association of maternal CNVs in GSTT1/GSTT2 with smoking, preterm delivery, and low birth weight. *Front. Genet.* 4:196. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2013.00196
- Zhong, N., Wang, L., Luo, X., and Pan, J. (2015). Long non-coding RNAs, Ubiquitin Proteasome System, Collagen Degradation and Preterm Premature Rupture of Membrane. Adv. Genet. Eng. 3:117. doi: 10.4172/2169-0111.1000117

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AF and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Zhao, Dong, Luo, Pan, Ju, Zhang, Wang, Zhong, Yu, Brown and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Umbilical Cord Blood NOS1 as a Potential Biomarker of Neonatal Encephalopathy

Jun Lei^{1†}, Cristina Paules ^{2†}, Elisabeth Nigrini¹, Jason M. Rosenzweig¹, Rudhab Bahabry¹, Azadeh Farzin³, Samuel Yang⁴, Frances J. Northington^{1,3,5}, Daniel Oros², Stephanie McKenney¹, Michael V. Johnston^{5,6,7}, Ernest M. Graham^{1,5} and Irina Burd^{1,5,6,7*}

¹ Integrated Research Center for Fetal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ²Aragón Health Research Institute, SAMID Network ref RD12/0026/001, Zaragoza, Spain, ³ Department of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁴ Department of Emergency Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁵ Neurosciences Intensive Care Nursery Program, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, Krieger Institute, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erik Rytting, University of Texas Medical Branch, USA

Reviewed by:

Matthew McLaughlin, Children's Mercy Hospital, USA PeiFan (Jane) Bai, US Food and Drug Administration, USA

*Correspondence:

Irina Burd iburd@jhmi.edu

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 06 December 2016 Accepted: 28 April 2017 Published: 22 May 2017

Citation:

Lei J, Paules C, Nigrini E, Rosenzweig JM, Bahabry R, Farzin A, Yang S, Northington FJ, Oros D, McKenney S, Johnston MV, Graham EM and Burd I (2017) Umbilical Cord Blood NOS1 as a Potential Biomarker of Neonatal Encephalopathy. Front. Pediatr. 5:112. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00112 **Background:** There are no definitive markers to aid in diagnosis of neonatal encephalopathy (NE). The purpose of our study was (1) to identify and evaluate the utility of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS1) in umbilical cord blood as a NE biomarker and (2) to identify the source of NOS1 in umbilical cord blood.

Methods: This was a nested case–control study of neonates >35 weeks of gestation. ELISA for NOS1 in umbilical cord blood was performed. Sources of NOS1 in umbilical cord were investigated by immunohistochemistry, western blot, ELISA, and quantitative PCR. Furthermore, umbilical cords of full-term neonates were subjected to 1% hypoxia *ex vivo*.

Results: NOS1 was present in umbilical cord blood and increased in NE cases compared with controls. NOS1 was expressed in endothelial cells of the umbilical cord vein, but not in artery or blood cells. In *ex vivo* experiments, hypoxia was associated with increased levels of NOS1 in venous endothelial cells of the umbilical cord as well as in *ex vivo* culture medium.

Conclusion: This is the first study to investigate an early marker of NE. NOS1 is elevated with hypoxia, and further studies are needed to investigate it as a valuable tool for early diagnosis of neonatal brain injury.

Keywords: neonatal encephalopathy, biomarkers, umbilical veins, NOS1, diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE) affects 1–9 out of every 1,000 newborns (1, 2) and has a fatality rate of 9–70% (1, 3, 4); yet, it is still poorly diagnosed at birth. Clinically, NE may manifest as a subnormal level of consciousness or seizures, and is often accompanied by difficulty with initiating and maintaining respiration and depression of tone and reflexes (5). The extent of the brain injury

19

is later assessed by cranial ultrasound and MRI (6). Children diagnosed by clinical and neuroimaging criteria are at an increased risk of developing adverse long-term neurologic sequelae such as seizures and cognitive and motor difficulties (7).

Therapeutic hypothermia is the major medical treatment with promising long-term neurodevelopmental results, and this treatment is effective only when it is administered in the first six postnatal hours (8). Even with this treatment, approximately 40% of patients are affected with sequelae (8). A significant challenge in a timely treatment of NE is that the diagnosis and classification of the severity of the condition are often made only after the brain injury has already occurred. Based on easily accessible material, such as umbilical cord blood, early and prompt diagnosis of NE and associated prognosis would allow early intervention with hypothermia (9), erythropoietin (10), collection of umbilical cord blood for autologous stem cell transplantation (11), or stratification to other emerging therapies. Furthermore, provision of information to the injured neonates' families, who may face difficult therapeutic decisions, is a key for early intervention.

Given that NE is a rare diagnosis, studies implementing ancillary markers for the diagnosis of the condition are limited. Several biomarkers such as glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S100 calcium-binding protein B (S100B), neuron-specific enolase (NSE), adrenomedullin, and activin A were investigated, but none of them presented an opportunity for early diagnosis (12–15). A plausible candidate early marker of neurologic injury in neonates is neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS1). The association of the enzyme with adverse neurodevelopment is supported by animal studies (16, 17). In addition to neurons, NOS1 expression has been observed in non-neuronal tissues such as skeletal muscle, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells to control muscle contractility and local blood flow (18–20). Furthermore, studies have shown that NOS1 is expressed in cardiomyocytes in response to oxidative stress (21).

We hypothesized that NOS1 in umbilical cord blood is a plausible clinical biomarker for identification of NE due to hypoxic-ischemic events. To test our hypothesis, we pursued four aims: (1) to determine whether NOS1 is present not only in the umbilical cord but also in the umbilical cord blood of neonates; (2) to determine whether the level of NOS1 in neonates with a clinical diagnosis of NE is significantly different from that of neurologically normal neonates; (3) to identify the source of NOS1 in umbilical cord blood; and (4) to simulate hypoxic events that may lead to NE and to evaluate production of NOS1 *ex vivo*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

We undertook a nested case–control study within a prospective cohort of neonates, >35 weeks of gestation; cohort has been described previously (12). Cases were neonates with NE and controls were age-matched newborns, admitted to the Johns Hopkins University Hospital (JHH) Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) between April 1, 2009 and May 30, 2014 (12). The Institutional Review Board at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine approved this study, and all participants were anonymized. Cases (**Table 1**) were neonates clinically diagnosed with moderate to severe NE, as defined by The American Academy of Pediatrics (5), who underwent whole-body cooling as per the JHH NICU institutional protocol which follows the recommendations of Shankaran et al. (22). Controls (**Table 1**), matched with the cases by gestational age (within 1 week), were neurologically normal neonates.

For the secondary analysis, we created a subset that met stringent criteria for NE cases and controls, based on clinical exam plus two additional criteria: umbilical cord arterial pH < 7.0 and base deficit >12 (**Table 2**) (23, 24). Neurologically normal neonates had a normal exam, umbilical artery pH > 7.2, and base deficit <8.

Maternal and Neonatal Characteristics

Maternal and neonatal records were reviewed, and pertinent clinical information was extracted. Data collected included infant sex, mode of delivery, gestational age, maternal age, parity, race, and three conditions suggested being risk factors for NE (25, 26): diagnosis of preeclampsia, clinical chorioamnionitis, and IUGR. Preeclampsia was defined as proteinuria and new onset hypertension. Clinical chorioamnionitis was defined as the presence of maternal fever with at least one other finding of fetal tachycardia,

TABLE 1 | Maternal demographics and perinatal outcomes for neonatal encephalopathy (NE) cases and normal controls.

Characteristic	Neurologically normal controls	NE cases (n = 27)	P value
	(n = 37)		
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	39.6 ± 1.0	39.2 ± 1.4	0.70
Maternal age (years)	26.5 ± 5.7	27 ± 7.6	0.63
Nulliparous	17 (61%)	15 (56%)	0.70
White race	7 (28%)	10 (37%)	0.33
Preeclampsiaª	3 (11%)	2 (7%)	0.18
Clinical chorioamnionitis ^a	4 (14%)	3 (11%)	0.72
Intrauterine growth restriction ^a	3 (11%)	2 (7%)	0.97
Cesarean delivery	15 (54%)	20 (74%)	0.11
Infant male sex	18 (64%)	17 (63%)	0.92

Data are presented as means and SD for the two continuous variables, and counts and percentages for the seven categorical variables.

Risk factors associated with NE.

TABLE 2 | Stringent criteria for neonatal encephalopathy and neurologically normal neonates.

Encephalopathic neonates	Neurologically normal neonates
At least one clinical criteria	Neurologically normal exam
 Lethargy Stupor or coma Decreased or no activity Distal flexion or complete extension Decerebrate posture Hypotonia or flaccidity Abnormal primitive reflexes Abnormal autonomic nervous system Seizures 	
Umbilical cord pH < 7.0 Base deficit >12	Umbilical cord pH > 7.2 Base deficit < 8

uterine tenderness, or purulent vaginal discharge. IUGR was defined as an estimated fetal weight less than the 10th percentile for gestational age with ultrasound performed within 3 weeks after delivery date.

Collection of Umbilical Cord Blood for Determination of NOS1

Venous umbilical cord plasma was collected from routinely discarded collected blood. Samples were stored at -80° C until utilized.

Ex Vivo Hypoxia of Umbilical Cord

Umbilical cords were obtained from healthy full-term births within 4 h. Methods previously described by Thomas et al. (27); briefly, in a sterile cell culture hood, umbilical cord was cut into 1-mm length thick slices. For normoxia, specimens were cultured in a conventional incubator preset at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere, containing 5% CO₂. Hypoxia was induced by a modular incubator chamber. To create gas hypoxia, specimens were first sealed in a humidified hypoxia incubator chamber system (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada) supplied with 1% O₂ at 37°C according to the manufacturer's instructions. After 3 h of incubation (simulating fetal hypoxic-ischemic event), umbilical cords were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Affymetrix, Cleveland, OH, USA) overnight at 4°C for immunohistochemistry (IHC), or the tissue was trimmed close to the vein and artery followed by immediate storage at -80°C for western blot. Culture media was also collected and frozen at -80°C.

ELISA for NOS1

ELISA of total NOS1 was performed according to the protocol established in our laboratory for indirect "sandwich" ELISA, optimized for highest sensitivity of human NOS1 in serum, amniotic fluid, or cell lysates. Briefly, an immobilized capture antibody for human NOS1 was coated overnight in 96-well microplate (R&D, Minneapolis, MN, USA). After blocking and sample incubation, the unbound material was washed away, and a biotinylated detection antibody specific for human NOS1 (2 ng/ml, Cell Signaling Tech, Beverley, MA, USA) was used to detect the target protein utilizing a standard streptavidin-HRP format using 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) as a substrate and subsequent reading at 450 nm. Biotinylation as well as prior purification of detection antibodies were done using biotinylation and protein A/G purification kits according to manufacturer's recommendations (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL, USA). Recombinant purified NOS1 was purchased from Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (Farmingdale, NY, USA) for standard curve. Average for blank readings was subtracted from the averages for the duplicate readings for each sample, and total NOS1 concentrations of each sample were determined using log-linear regression. ELISA was further validated with JHH population with a separate group of samples.

Immunohistochemistry

Using a cryostat (Leica, Buffalo Grove, IL, USA), umbilical cords were sectioned into 20- μm thick slices. Sections were incubated

overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies in PBS containing 0.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) after blocking with 10% goat serum. The following primary antibodies were used: rabbit against NOS1 (1:1,000, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), NOS2 (1:20, Novus, Littleton, CO, USA), NOS3 (1:100, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), and mouse against CD34 (1:500, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). CD34 was used to characterize endothelial cells in human UC. The next day, sections were rinsed with PBS, and then incubated with fluorescent secondary antibodies diluted in 1:500 for 3 h at room temperature. The following antibodies were used for immunofluorescence: goat antirabbit DyLight 488 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) and donkey anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 568 (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). The sections were further stained with DAPI (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA) for 2 min at room temperature followed by mounting with Fluromount-G (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). Images were attained using Axioplan 2 Imaging system (Carl Zeiss, Thornwood, NY, USA). To exclude a possibility that NOS1 positive cells were blood cells or of stem cell origin, double staining of NOS1/CD44 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) and NOS1/CD45 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) was also conducted.

To further confirm the distribution of NOS1 in human UC, another four NOS1 from hosts of rabbit or mouse (Cell Signaling, Beverly, MA, USA; Life Technologies, Frederick, MD, USA; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; and BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA), one NOS2 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), and one NOS3 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) antibodies were utilized to exam the expression together with CD34 antibody. The secondary antibodies were used the same as described above.

SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting

The following were used as primary antibodies: rabbit against NOS1 (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), NOS2 (Novus, Littleton, CO, USA), NOS3 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) and rabbit anti β -actin (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA). Extracted protein (50 µg) was separated by SDS-PAGE using 4–15% gels (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and then electro-transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Membranes were blocked with 10% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) in Tris-buffered saline + 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T, pH7.5), incubated with primary antibodies in TBS-T containing 10% BSA for 1 h at room temperature, and washed in TBS-T. Goat anti-rabbit IR Dye-800CW (Li-Cor, Lincoln, NB, USA) was used as the secondary antibody. Imaging was performed using the Li-Cor Odyssey Near Infra Red System and analyzed using Image Studio Software (Li-Cor).

Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Vein and artery tissue were dissected from umbilical cords and frozen at -80° C until used. The tissue samples were homogenized in RLT buffer (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) for 60 s using a BeadBug microtube homogenizer (Benchmark Scientific, Edison, NJ, USA) with 0.5-mm beads. Cord blood was collected into acid citrate dextrose tubes (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and centrifuged at $400 \times g$ for 10 min at room temperature. RNA was prepared from the umbilical cord homogenates and

NOS1 in Umbilical Blood of NE

cord blood leukocytes with RNEasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA), and cDNA was prepared using cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). qPCR was performed in triplicate in 20-µl reactions for 40 cycles, using the manufacturer's suggested protocols for temperature cycling (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The reactions were run on a CFX384 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), using SensiFAST Probe No-ROX (Bioline, Taunton, MA, USA). Primers used were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA, USA) for NOS1 (Fwd: AGACGCACGAAGATAGTTGAC, Rev: CCGAAGCTCCAGAACTCAC, Probe:/56-AM/TCCTTAGCC/ ZEN/GTCAAAACCTCCAGAG/3IABkFQ), NOS2 (Fwd: ACTTCCACTTGCTGTACTCTG, Rev: CACCTACTTCCTG GACATCAC, Probe: CTGCTGCTCCAAAAGCTGGCC), and NOS3 (Fwd: ACGATGGTGACTTTGGCTA, Rev: TGGAGGATG TGGCTGTCT, Probe: CAGTGGAAATCAACGTGGCCGTG) or SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad) for Eukaryotic 18S Ribosomal RNA (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). Data analysis was performed with CFX Manager Software (Bio Rad).

Statistical Analysis

Data were compared using Student's *t*-test, Mann–Whitney *U* test, or Fisher exact test, when appropriate. Two-tailed Student's *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U* test was used subsequently to determine whether data were normally distributed. Fold change of NOS1 level over mean control was calculated.

To determine the ability of NOS1 to predict NE, and the optimal cut points for NOS1, we created receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves. Sensitivity and specificity were determined for each of these points. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata10 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

RESULTS

Study Population

Umbilical cord blood samples of 27 NE cases and 37 controls were used. There were no significant differences between cases and controls in: (i) maternal demographic parameters (gestational age at delivery, maternal age, nulliparous, and white race), (ii) incidence of adverse perinatal outcomes (preeclampsia, clinical chorioamnionitis, intrauterine growth restriction), or (iii) cesarean delivery or infant sex (**Table 1**). For an exploratory binding assay to detect NOS1 in umbilical cord blood of neonates, 15 NE and 24 control neonates were utilized. Eight neonates met stringent criteria for NE and were matched to ten control neonates (**Table 2**). Another 12 NE and 13 controls were utilized to validate the exploratory results by ELISA. We demonstrated the presence of NOS1 in the umbilical cord blood of all 64 neonates.

Level of NOS1 in Neonates with NE and in Neurologically Normal Neonates

In our investigational study, as determined by relative absorbance values of ELISA (**Figure 1A**), the level of NOS1 in umbilical cord blood was significantly higher in NE cases (mean = 1.392 AU, 95% CI 1.04–1.74) than in the controls (mean = 1.00 AU, 95% CI 0.77–1.23). Since these values were generated from a non-commercial ELISA (prepared in our laboratory and originally without standards/standard curve), these findings were validated by a separate experiment to determine NOS1 concentration, involving separate set of samples and standards/standard curve (NE: mean = 1.32 ng/ml; Control: mean = 0.03 ng/ml; p < 0.05, Student's *t*-test; **Figure 1B**).

Stringent Criteria Subset

In umbilical cord blood, the mean relative absorbance of NOS1 level was significantly higher (**Figure 2A**, p < 0.05, Student's *t*-test) in the neurologically at-risk neonates meeting stringent criteria (mean = 2.006 AU, 95% CI 1.425–2.587) than in the neurologically normal control neonates (mean = 1.000 AU, 95% CI 0.493–1.507). Within the group of neonates meeting stringent criteria, NOS1 was predictive of NE. The ROC curve yielded an AUC of 0.84 for NOS1 prediction of NE (**Figure 2B**).

NOS1 Expression in Endothelial Cells of Human Umbilical Vein

To localize NOS1 in the human umbilical cord, IHC for NOS1 and CD34 were performed. IHC for CD34 revealed a distribution of endothelial cells in the umbilical cord (28). NOS1 was





expressed mainly in the form of fine granules in the cytoplasm and, occasionally, in cell membrane. There was a co-localization of NOS1 and CD34 in the umbilical vein, as demonstrated by double-positive staining (**Figure 3A**, top panel). Neither CD44 nor CD45 cells was co-localized with NOS1 (data not shown). There was no clear NOS1 expression in umbilical artery (**Figure 3A**, bottom panel). Western blot further confirmed IHC results with significant expression of NOS1 in umbilical vein (**Figures 3B,C**, Student's *t*-test, *p* < 0.05).

Confirmatory analysis examining expression of NOS1, NOS2 (inducible NOS), and NOS3 (endothelial NOS) at mRNA and protein level in umbilical cord and leukocytes were also performed. NOS1 was only detected in umbilical cord vein (**Table 3**), while NOS2 and NOS3 expression was detected by IHC and qPCR in both umbilical cord vein and artery. Transcripts for NOS1, NOS2, and NOS3 were not detected in cord blood leukocytes (**Table 3**) using qPCR.

To further ascertain a differential expression as well as to validate the specificity of the antibodies used, another four NOS1, one NOS2, and one NOS3 antibodies were used in IHC. Similar to the above results, NOS1 expression was detected in umbilical cord vein but not in artery (Figure S1A in Supplementary Material). NOS2 (Figure S1B in Supplementary Material) and NOS3 (Figure S1C in Supplementary Material) were detected in both umbilical cord vein and artery.

Western Blot and ELISA Analyses of NOS1 Expression in *Ex Vivo* Umbilical Cord Culture

To investigate whether hypoxia induces a NOS1 response in venous endothelial cells, umbilical cord slices were cultured in a hypoxia chamber under 1% O₂. After 3 h of culture (simulating a clinical hypoxic event), the co-localization of CD34 and NOS1 increased in the hypoxic group compared with normoxic control, by IHC (**Figure 4A**) and by western blot (**Figures 4B,C**, p < 0.05, Student's *t*-test). We further measured NOS1 production in culture supernatant and, after 3 h of hypoxia, NOS1 increased significantly following hypoxic conditions (**Figure 4D**, Student's *t*-test, p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

Our study is the first to demonstrate that NOS1, a marker of oxidative stress, is a potential early bedside clinical biomarker of NE in umbilical cord blood. In our study, the levels of NOS1 were significantly higher in the umbilical cord blood of neonates with clinical encephalopathy than in normal controls. Furthermore, our *ex vivo* experiments confirmed that NOS1 was increased with hypoxia in venous endothelial cells of umbilical cord.

There are a few biomarkers relative to neonatal brain injury. NOS1 is currently the only early biomarker that is available to aid in diagnosis of NE at delivery based on umbilical cord blood. Massaro et al. evaluated the serum biomarkers S100B and NSE in neonates treated with hypothermia and found them to be associated with clinical encephalopathy and MRI change (3), consistent with prior studies (13-15, 29). None of the biomarkers were used for diagnosis or triage of neonates to therapy. In addition, the first time point evaluated was at initiation of cooling; information was not available prior to initiation of cooling and could not assist with triage to therapy which represents a limitation of their study. Furthermore, others evaluated adrenomedullin and activin A have been evaluated as biomarkers of NE in neonatal serum but similarly have not been tested in umbilical cord blood (30). In Ennen's studies (12), GFAP in serum at 24 and 48 h after birth was predictive of brain injury on MRI in encephalopathic neonates. Similarly to other markers discussed, at birth, umbilical cord blood GFAP levels were not predictive of brain injury.

We used ELISA for NOS1, which may present as a new, fast, and easy method to perform clinical test due to high levels (nanograms) of NOS1 presented in umbilical cord blood. As the AUC of NOS1 test is perhaps superior as compared to current clinical criteria for diagnosis of NE [AUC 0.81 (31)], we speculate that implementation of this test will improve sensitivity and specificity of timely clinical diagnosis as it can be used concomitantly. Results of this test can be provided within the first several hours of life, allowing for early diagnosis and triage to therapy such as hypothermia and other novel therapeutics. One novel use for such clinical test would include early identification of which neonates



TABLE 3 | Detection of NOS1, NOS2, and NOS3 in umbilical cord vein and artery.

	Immun	ohistoch (IHC)	emistry	Qua	ntitative F	PCR
	NOS1	NOS2	NOS3	NOS1	NOS2	NOS3
Umbilical cord artery	- (0/4)	+ (4/4)	+ (4/4)	- (0/4)	+ (4/4)	+ (3/4)
Umbilical cord vein	+ (4/4)	+ (4/4)	+ (4/4)	+ (3/4)	+ (4/4)	+ (3/4)
Cord blood leukocytes				- (0/4)	- (0/4)	- (0/4)

 –, negative expression; +, positive expression. There were four samples for each group. In brackets, numerators are the numbers tested negative or positive expression by IHC or quantitative PCR.

that might benefit from storage of umbilical cord blood for later stem cell transplantation and would result in timely collection of umbilical cord blood.

Neonatal encephalopathy is a rare diagnosis and MRI diagnosis of actual brain injury in this group is an infrequent finding. The consequences of NE including death and neurodevelopmental disability can be devastating for the child and family. While one critique of our study could be a small sample size, the nested case–control study represents a valuable sample, given that NE is rare, even in our referral university center. However, our data are confirmed with simulation of hypoxia *ex vivo*, and this is an advantage of our study. Further research will concentrate on collecting information about childhood

outcomes of these at-risk neonates with neurodevelopmental testing at 1–3 years of age.

Our study has several strengths. An ELISA assay quantified the level of NOS1, and this test can be used in a clinical setting to inform clinical decisions early in neonatal life. The results are reproducible, and more stringent criteria for encephalopathy yields improved prediction of NOS1 for NE. In addition to identifying neonates at risk of brain injury, a biomarker would timely predict which infants are at risk for brain injury and which are most likely to have long-term neurologic sequelae. Moreover, our study identifies a source of NOS1, and, using experimental conditions that mimic short-term hypoxic environments, we are able to observe similar findings *ex vivo*.

Perinatal hypoxia–ischemia is an important cause of NE (50– 80%) (32). Nitric oxide signaling has been demonstrated to have an important role in hypoxia-induced pathological responses as all NOS isoforms critically require oxygen for activity (33). Physiologically, NOS1 depends more on oxygen and has higher rates of nitric oxide biosynthesis (34) than NOS2 and NOS3. Both NOS1 mRNA and protein expression are regulated by O_2 at transcriptional and translational level (35, 36), and therefore, it may be more sensitive to hypoxia. Corollary to that, in our study, NOS1 significantly increased in umbilical cord blood of moderate and severe NE neonates compared to control.

To investigate a plausible origin of NOS1 in umbilical cord blood, we performed a survey of all possible sources of NOS1 in umbilical cord blood and umbilical cord. We found that NOS1 was present in endothelial cells of human umbilical cord



vein but not in umbilical cord artery. While our results are in keeping with a previous study (20) that showed NOS1 expression in vein of human umbilical cord by IHC, our study is the first to demonstrate a differential expression of this enzyme in umbilical vein and artery. In the adult vascular system, NOS1- and NOS3-derived nitric oxide is thought to play a major role in changes of vascular arterial tone (37, 38). In addition to regulating vascular tone, nitric oxide is an important signaling molecule in the nervous system and the immune system (39, 40). We speculate that endothelial NOS1 expression in umbilical vein may be a conserved mechanism that contributes to the fetal response to hypoxia and inflammation. Further studies to clarify the role of umbilical cord NOS1 during hypoxic and inflammatory conditions are needed.

In conclusion, we speculate that NOS1 is a novel, early biomarker for early identification of NE that can be used in determining NE together with clinical manifestations to improve diagnosis, allowing for better prognostic information and earlier interventions.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Johns Hopkins University Hospital (JHH) Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and the protocol was approved by The Institutional Review Board at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. All participants were anonymized.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL and JR performed the experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. SY analyzed data and wrote the manuscript. RB and SM perfumed the experiments and analyzed data. CP, EN, AZ, FN, DO, EG, and MJ designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. IB designed and performed the experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Sheikh Abdullah Bugshan fund 80034548 (IB), NICHD K08HD073315 (IB), NINDS NS28208 (MJ), and NICHD R01HD086058 (FN).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fped.2017.00112/full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | Distribution of NOS1, NOS2, and NOS3 expression in umbilical cord. (A) Representative image of NOS1 (green) in umbilical cord using four different antibodies. NOS1 was expressed in the venous endothelial cells (red) of human umbilical cord, but not in the artery. (B) NOS2 was expressed in both endothelial cells (red) of vein and artery. (C) NOS3 (green) was also expressed in both endothelial cells (red) of vein and artery. Scale bars = $10 \ \mu m$.

REFERENCES

- Pierrat V, Haouari N, Liska A, Thomas D, Subtil D, Truffert P, et al. Prevalence, causes, and outcome at 2 years of age of newborn encephalopathy: population based study. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed* (2005) 90:F257–61. doi:10.1136/ adc.2003.047985
- Graham EM, Ruis KA, Hartman AL, Northington FJ, Fox HE. A systematic review of the role of intrapartum hypoxia-ischemia in the causation of neonatal encephalopathy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2008) 199:587–95. doi:10.1016/j. ajog.2008.06.094
- Massaro AN, Jeromin A, Kadom N, Vezina G, Hayes RL, Wang KK, et al. Serum biomarkers of MRI brain injury in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy treated with whole-body hypothermia: a pilot study. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* (2013) 14:310–7. doi:10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182720642
- Lee AC, Kozuki N, Blencowe H, Vos T, Bahalim A, Darmstadt GL, et al. Intrapartum-related neonatal encephalopathy incidence and impairment at regional and global levels for 2010 with trends from 1990. *Pediatr Res* (2013) 74(Suppl 1):50–72. doi:10.1038/pr.2013.206
- Executive summary: neonatal encephalopathy and neurologic outcome, second edition. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Neonatal Encephalopathy. *Obstet Gynecol* (2014) 123:896–901. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000445580.65983.d2
- Epelman M, Daneman A, Kellenberger CJ, Aziz A, Konen O, Moineddin R, et al. Neonatal encephalopathy: a prospective comparison of head US and MRI. *Pediatr Radiol* (2010) 40:1640–50. doi:10.1007/s00247-010-1634-6
- Miller SP, Ramaswamy V, Michelson D, Barkovich AJ, Holshouser B, Wycliffe N, et al. Patterns of brain injury in term neonatal encephalopathy. *J Pediatr* (2005) 146:453–60. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.12.026
- Committee on Fetus and Newborn, Papile LA, Baley JE, Benitz W, Cummings J, Carlo WA, et al. Hypothermia and neonatal encephalopathy. *Pediatrics* (2014) 133(6):1146–50. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0899
- Azzopardi DV, Strohm B, Edwards AD, Dyet L, Halliday HL, Juszczak E, et al. Moderate hypothermia to treat perinatal asphyxial encephalopathy. N Engl J Med (2009) 361:1349–58. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0900854
- Xiong T, Qu Y, Mu D, Ferriero D. Erythropoietin for neonatal brain injury: opportunity and challenge. *Int J Dev Neurosci* (2011) 29:583–91. doi:10.1016/j. ijdevneu.2010.12.007
- Liao Y, Cotten M, Tan S, Kurtzberg J, Cairo MS. Rescuing the neonatal brain from hypoxic injury with autologous cord blood. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2013) 48:890–900. doi:10.1038/bmt.2012.169
- Ennen CS, Huisman TA, Savage WJ, Northington FJ, Jennings JM, Everett AD, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein as a biomarker for neonatal hypoxicischemic encephalopathy treated with whole-body cooling. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2011) 205(251):e251–7. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2011.06.025
- Nagdyman N, Grimmer I, Scholz T, Muller C, Obladen M. Predictive value of brain-specific proteins in serum for neurodevelopmental outcome after birth asphyxia. *Pediatr Res* (2003) 54:270–5. doi:10.1203/01.PDR. 0000072518.98189.A0
- Thorngren-Jerneck K, Alling C, Herbst A, Amer-Wahlin I, Marsal K. S100 protein in serum as a prognostic marker for cerebral injury in term newborn infants with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. *Pediatr Res* (2004) 55:406–12. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000106806.75086.D3
- Celtik C, Acunas B, Oner N, Pala O. Neuron-specific enolase as a marker of the severity and outcome of hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. *Brain Dev* (2004) 26:398–402. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2003.12.007
- Rao S, Lin Z, Drobyshevsky A, Chen L, Ji X, Ji H, et al. Involvement of neuronal nitric oxide synthase in ongoing fetal brain injury following near-term rabbit hypoxia-ischemia. *Dev Neurosci* (2011) 33:288–98. doi:10.1159/000327241
- Muramatsu K, Sheldon RA, Black SM, Tauber M, Ferriero DM. Nitric oxide synthase activity and inhibition after neonatal hypoxia ischemia in the mouse brain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* (2000) 123:119–27. doi:10.1016/S0165-3806(00)00088-2
- Thomas GD, Sander M, Lau KS, Huang PL, Stull JT, Victor RG. Impaired metabolic modulation of alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:15090–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.25.15090
- Kobzik L, Reid MB, Bredt DS, Stamler JS. Nitric oxide in skeletal muscle. Nature (1994) 372:546–8. doi:10.1038/372546a0

- Bachetti T, Comini L, Curello S, Bastianon D, Palmieri M, Bresciani G, et al. Co-expression and modulation of neuronal and endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human endothelial cells. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2004) 37:939–45. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2004.07.006
- Carnicer R, Crabtree MJ, Sivakumaran V, Casadei B, Kass DA. Nitric oxide synthases in heart failure. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2013) 18:1078–99. doi:10.1089/ars.2012.4824
- Shankaran S, Laptook AR, Ehrenkranz RA, Tyson JE, McDonald SA, Donovan EF, et al. Whole-body hypothermia for neonates with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. N Engl J Med (2005) 353:1574–84. doi:10.1056/ NEJMcps050929
- Yeh P, Emary K, Impey L. The relationship between umbilical cord arterial pH and serious adverse neonatal outcome: analysis of 51,519 consecutive validated samples. *BJOG* (2012) 119:824–31. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03335.x
- 24. American Collge of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG). Neonatal encephalopathy and cerebral palsy: executive summary. *Obstet Gynecol* (2004) 103:780–1. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000120142.83093.30
- Nelson KB, Bingham P, Edwards EM, Horbar JD, Kenny MJ, Inder T, et al. Antecedents of neonatal encephalopathy in the Vermont Oxford Network Encephalopathy Registry. *Pediatrics* (2012) 130:878–86. doi:10.1542/ peds.2012-0714
- Badawi N, Kurinczuk JJ, Keogh JM, Alessandri LM, O'Sullivan F, Burton PR, et al. Antepartum risk factors for newborn encephalopathy: the Western Australian case-control study. *BMJ* (1998) 317:1549–53. doi:10.1136/ bmj.317.7172.1549
- Iftimia-Mander A, Hourd P, Dainty R, Thomas RJ. Mesenchymal stem cell isolation from human umbilical cord tissue: understanding and minimizing variability in cell yield for process optimization. *Biopreserv Biobank* (2013) 11:291–8. doi:10.1089/bio.2013.0027
- Fan CL, Li Y, Gao PJ, Liu JJ, Zhang XJ, Zhu DL. Differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells from human umbilical cord blood CD 34+ cells in vitro. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2003) 24:212–8.
- Nagdyman N, Komen W, Ko HK, Muller C, Obladen M. Early biochemical indicators of hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy after birth asphyxia. *Pediatr Res* (2001) 49:502–6. doi:10.1203/00006450-200104000-00011
- Gazzolo D, Abella R, Marinoni E, di Iorio R, Li Volti G, Galvano F, et al. New markers of neonatal neurology. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med (2009) 22(Suppl 3): 57–61. doi:10.1080/14767050903181468
- Thayyil S, Chandrasekaran M, Taylor A, Bainbridge A, Cady EB, Chong WK, et al. Cerebral magnetic resonance biomarkers in neonatal encephalopathy: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* (2010) 125:e382–95. doi:10.1542/peds. 2009-1046
- 32. Volpe JJ. Neonatal encephalopathy: an inadequate term for hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. *Ann Neurol* (2012) 72:156–66. doi:10.1002/ana.23647
- Stuehr DJ. Mammalian nitric oxide synthases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1999) 1411:217–30. doi:10.1016/S0005-2728(99)00016-X
- Stuehr DJ, Santolini J, Wang ZQ, Wei CC, Adak S. Update on mechanism and catalytic regulation in the NO synthases. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:36167–70. doi:10.1074/jbc.R400017200
- Prabhakar NR, Pieramici SF, Premkumar DR, Kumar GK, Kalaria RN. Activation of nitric oxide synthase gene expression by hypoxia in central and peripheral neurons. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* (1996) 43:341–6. doi:10.1016/ S0169-328X(96)00222-7
- Huang J, Tamisier R, Ji E, Tong J, Weiss WJ. Chronic intermittent hypoxia modulates nNOS mRNA and protein expression in the rat hypothalamus. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* (2007) 158:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.resp.2007.03.010
- Li C, Ruan L, Sood SG, Papapetropoulos A, Fulton D, Venema RC. Role of eNOS phosphorylation at Ser-116 in regulation of eNOS activity in endothelial cells. *Vascul Pharmacol* (2007) 47:257–64. doi:10.1016/j.vph.2007. 07.001
- Seddon MD, Chowienczyk PJ, Brett SE, Casadei B, Shah AM. Neuronal nitric oxide synthase regulates basal microvascular tone in humans in vivo. *Circulation* (2008) 117:1991–6. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 107.744540
- Nagy G, Koncz A, Perl A. T cell activation-induced mitochondrial hyperpolarization is mediated by Ca²⁺- and redox-dependent production of nitric oxide. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:5188–97. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.5188

 Kano T, Shimizu-Sasamata M, Huang PL, Moskowitz MA, Lo EH. Effects of nitric oxide synthase gene knockout on neurotransmitter release in vivo. *Neuroscience* (1998) 86:695–9. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00179-1

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Lei, Paules, Nigrini, Rosenzweig, Bahabry, Farzin, Yang, Northington, Oros, McKenney, Johnston, Graham and Burd. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pregnancy: An Underutilized Window of Opportunity to Improve Long-term Maternal and Infant Health—An Appeal for Continuous Family Care and Interdisciplinary Communication

Birgit Arabin^{1,2*} and Ahmet A. Baschat^{2,3}

¹ Center for Mother and Child, Philipps University, Marburg, Germany, ² Clara Angela Foundation, Witten, Germany, ³ Center for Fetal Therapy, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ana Claudia Zenclussen, Otto-von-Guericke University Magdeburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Patrick Shannon Ramsey, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, USA Azadeh Farzin, Johns Hopkins University, USA

> *Correspondence: Birgit Arabin bine.clara.angela@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 14 November 2016 Accepted: 20 March 2017 Published: 13 April 2017

Citation:

Arabin B and Baschat AA (2017) Pregnancy: An Underutilized Window of Opportunity to Improve Long-term Maternal and Infant Health—An Appeal for Continuous Family Care and Interdisciplinary Communication. Front. Pediatr. 5:69. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00069 Physiologic adaptations during pregnancy unmask a woman's predisposition to diseases. Complications are increasingly predicted by first-trimester algorithms, amplify a pre-existing maternal phenotype and accelerate risks for chronic diseases in the offspring up to adulthood (Barker hypothesis). Recent evidence suggests that vice versa, pregnancy diseases also indicate maternal and even grandparent's risks for chronic diseases (reverse Barker hypothesis). Pub-Med and Embase were reviewed for Mesh terms "fetal programming" and "pregnancy complications combined with maternal disease" until January 2017. Studies linking pregnancy complications to future cardiovascular, metabolic, and thrombotic risks for mother and offspring were reviewed. Women with a history of miscarriage, fetal growth restriction, preeclampsia, preterm delivery, obesity, excessive gestational weight gain, gestational diabetes, subfertility, and thrombophilia more frequently demonstrate with echocardiographic abnormalities, higher fasting insulin, deviating lipids or clotting factors and show defective endothelial function. Thrombophilia hints to thrombotic risks in later life. Pregnancy abnormalities correlate with future cardiovascular and metabolic complications and earlier mortality. Conversely, women with a normal pregnancy have lower rates of subsequent diseases than the general female population creating the term: "Pregnancy as a window for future health." Although the placenta works as a gatekeeper, many pregnancy complications may lead to sickness and earlier death in later life when the child becomes an adult. The epigenetic mechanisms and the mismatch between pre- and postnatal life have created the term "fetal origin of adult disease." Up to now, the impact of cardiovascular, metabolic, or thrombotic risk profiles has been investigated separately for mother and child. In this manuscript, we strive to illustrate the consequences for both, fetus and mother within a cohesive perspective and thus try to demonstrate the complex interrelationship of genetics and epigenetics for long-term health of societies and future generations. Maternal-fetal medicine specialists should have a key role in the prevention of non-communicable diseases by implementing a framework for patient consultation and interdisciplinary networks. Health-care providers and policy makers should increasingly

invest in a stratified primary prevention and follow-up to reduce the increasing number of manifest cardiovascular and metabolic diseases and to prevent waste of health-care resources.

Keywords: fetal programming, cardiovascular diseases, metabolic diseases, pregnancy as a window for future health, preventive healthcare

INTRODUCTION

The care of pregnant women is typically focused on the current pregnancy. Yet, it has been demonstrated that pregnancy complications have lifelong health implications for women and children. Barker et al. correlated low birthweight (LBW) in hunger episodes during World War II with cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type 2 diabetes (1). Several investigators have subsequently confirmed that maternal complications such as preeclampsia (PE), stress, excessive weight gain and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) increase chronic disease, and mortality rates in following generations (2, 3). These health risks have been attributed to perinatal programming, a mismatch between prenatally acquired attributes and critical periods in development producing health effects that are independent of a person's genetic code (Barker hypothesis, Dörners concept of functional teratology). More recently, it was recognized that adverse pregnancy outcome relating to placental syndromes is associated with maternal cardiovascular, metabolic, or thromboembolic risks and earlier mortality (Figure 1) (4). First-trimester screening algorithms now allow individualized prediction of fetal growth restriction (FGR), PE, spontaneous preterm birth (SPB), or GDM (5–8) by utilizing markers of preexisting maternal "risk-profiles" that not only confer pregnancyrelated risks but also lower the thresholds for disease in later life (4, 9, 10).

These observations support the hypothesis that pregnancy can interact with maternal phenotypes and modify risks for "non-communicable diseases" (NCDs) in mothers and children. This is the basis for developing interdisciplinary care paths between obstetricians, general practitioners, internists, and pediatricians that extend beyond the current pregnancy to offer population-based prevention, screening, and individualized secondary prevention. Given the increasing rate of NCDs in low-, middle-, and high-income countries such an approach requires urgent consideration by health-care providers and policy makers.

It is our aim to illustrate how pregnancy itself might serve as a screening tool for future health risks, opening important opportunities for the prevention of the most relevant diseases of our time.



and Greer (4), Godfrey and Barker (11), and Godfrey et al. (12), similarly designed for Ref. (13).

METHODS

Literature searches were performed utilizing Medline, Embase, Science Direct, and Cochrane Library, proceedings from congresses on fetal origins of adult disease, the World Congress of Diabetes in Pregnancy, and the interdisciplinary workshops on the role of pregnancy complications for future maternal and child health hosted by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, the Society for Maternal-Fetal medicine, and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists.

We selected studies relating pregnancy risk profiles to longterm cardiovascular and metabolic health of mothers and infants up to adulthood. Search terms included risk profile, miscarriage, PE, FGR, preterm birth, smoking and stress during pregnancy, subfertility, GDM, overweight, obesity and excessive pregnancy weight gain, breastfeeding, and as outcome parameters longterm maternal and infant health, CVD and CVD mortality of mothers and infants, diabetes mellitus (DM) of both mothers and infants, metabolic syndrome, thrombophilia, fetal programming, fetal origin of adult disease, growth, or body composition variable of interest such as fat mass or obesity. Full-text articles were obtained and reviewed to identify those representing the intended context; data were extracted from relevant publications. Results from prospective and retrospective human and animal studies were considered.

There is a significant overlap between cardiovascular, metabolic, and thrombotic profiles in women at risk for placental disease. Prothrombotic risks are usually managed by diseasespecific interventions (i.e., anticoagulation for thrombophilia). Accordingly, for the purpose of this review, we have focused on cardiovascular and metabolic risk profiles as major precursors to NCDs to illustrate our concept.

RESULTS

Health Risks Attributable to a Cardiovascular Risk Profile

Cardiovascular diseases (heart disease, stroke) account for 31% of all deaths in the United States (US) (14). Over 2,150 Americans/ day die of CVD with increasing rates for women aged 35-44 years (14, 15). Higher blood pressures in early adulthood predate increased mortality from all causes (16) and up to 77% of people have blood pressures >140/90 mmHg when they experience a first heart attack or stroke (14). At age 50, total life expectancy for normotensive compared to hypertensive men and women is 5.1, respectively, 4.9 years longer (14). In the last 15 years, the actual number of deaths attributable to high BP rose by 39% whereas the actual number of CVD deaths declined by 15% (14). However, the age-related decrease in mortality was less pronounced in women than in men (17). A mathematical model calculated that a 10% increase of treatment of early hypertension would prevent 14,000 deaths in the US/year (18). In view of these statistics, it is critical to identify those pregnancy complications that lead to persistence of high BP, CVD, and stroke and to consider preventive strategies.

Thilaganathan summarized common and unique characteristics of gestational diabetes and hypertensive disease during pregnancy raising the point that the placenta may not be the initiator of PE. Instead, pre-existing maternal hemodynamics or metabolic diseases may be the primary cause of secondary placental morphology and function (**Table 1**) (19, 20). While we separate single pregnancy complications for the purpose of this review they may all occur in one woman. In those cases, later health risks for both mother and offspring may exponentially increase.

Miscarriage

A systematic review on effects of early menopause reported that women with early-pregnancy miscarriage are more likely to develop CVD, specifically ischemic heart disease (IHD) in later life, implying lower protective effects of estrogens on serum lipids, and vessel wall anatomy as possible causes (21). Increased total serum cholesterol (22), triglycerides (TGs) (23), antithrombin III (24), factor VII, and fibrinogen (25) have also been speculated to be responsible (22, 26). Early miscarriage, either as a single or recurrent complication, carries a hazard ratio (HR) between 1.25 and 1.56 for subsequent IHD (27) (Table 2). This association was independent of maternal age, height, socioeconomic deprivation, chronic hypertension, and complications during the first pregnancy. The proportion of smokers was only marginally higher compared to women without miscarriage (28.4 vs. 26.8%). While the authors hypothesized that the association of IHD and miscarriage reflects common inherited thrombophilic defects, they did not find significant associations between miscarriage and family history of CVD or venous thrombotic embolism.

Fetal Growth Restriction

It has been long recognized that infant BW correlates with the mother's subsequent risk for IHD and is "aggregated within families" possibly due to genetic, physiologic, environmental, epigenetic, and socioeconomic factors (30, 43-45). Delivering an FGR infant is associated with maternal coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular disease, or cardiac insufficiency with HRs ranging from 1.35 to 3.4 for severe early-onset FGR (Table 2) (28). Birth weight has an inverse linear association with maternal CVD mortality and is also related to grandparental CVD and CVD mortality (29). These BW associations across generations are independent of socioeconomic, environmental, or behavioral factors, body mass index (BMI), age, or smoking status. Familial aggregation of shared determinants for risk factors associated with pregnancy complications and CVD were postulated as a potential cause for these associations (46). Other hypothesized mechanisms are based on the observation that the impact of the mother is stronger than of the father: women at high risk of CVD may be unable to mount an adequate hemodynamic response leading to FGR and/or PE. This is supported by cardiac changes seen on maternal echocardiography showing increased cardiac chamber dimensions and left ventricular hypertrophy in the index pregnancy. The likelihood of developing FGR and/or PE is elevated by many maternal demographic and medical characteristics, such as hypertension, obesity, and age that are shared risk factors for CVD (47).

	Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)	Pregnancy hypertension
Epidemiology		
Predisposing factors	Same as for type 2 diabetes	Same as for cardiac disease
Onset of disorder	Mid to late pregnancy	Mid to late pregnancy
Effect of parity	More common in primiparity	More common in primiparity
Recurrence risk	Increased risk if previously affected pregnancy	Increased risk if previously affected pregnancy
Fetal and placental effect	ts	
Placental histology	Some histological lesions seen more often in GDM	Some histological lesions seen more often in pregnancy hypertension
Specificity of histology	None of the placental histological lesions specific for the disorder	None of the placental histological lesions specific for the disorder
Temporal nature of lesions	Seen more frequently in early-onset and/or severe disorder	Seen more frequently in early-onset and/or severe disorder
Placental function	Increased maternal-to-fetal transplacental glucose transfer	Impaired maternal perfusion of the uteroplacental bed
Fetus	Increased fetal glucose levels lead to macrosomia	Impaired placental function leads to impaired fetal growth
Screening/diagnostic tes	ts	
Mechanism of screening	GTT gauges pancreatic reserve	Uterine Doppler, PIGF and BP are all measures of cardiac function
Performance of screening	Better for early-onset GDM	Better for early-onset preeclampsia (PE)
Timing of screening test	Improved sensitivity the later in pregnancy it is performed	Improved sensitivity the later in pregnancy it is performed
Diagnostic test	Supra-normal glucose levels in both pregnant and non-pregnant	High BP in both pregnant population
Management		
Cure for disorder	Birth	Birth
Treatment/amelioration	Insulin-treats the biological deficit	Antihypertensive medications-treat a symptom of the disorder
Long-term maternal health	50% develop type 2 diabetes by 10 years postpartum	20% develop chronic hypertension by 10 years postpartum
Biology		
Maternal adaption	Insulin requirements increase twofold to threefold in pregnancy	Cardiac output increases by about 50% in pregnancy
Early-onset phenotypes	Present with normal or lower insulin levels compared to	Present with normal or lower cardiac outputs compared to
	non-pregnancy	non-pregnancy
Late-onset phenotypes	Present with supra-normal (high) insulin levels compared to	Present with supra-normal (high) cardiac output compared to
	non-pregnancy	non-pregnancy
Etiology	Inability of maternal pancreas to deal with the glucose load of pregnancy	Impaired trophoblast invasion or maternal cardiac maladaptation?

TABLE 1 | Schematic similarities and differences of gestational diabetes and pregnancy hypertension, with gratitude, according to the work of Thilaganathan (19).

Adverse effects of FGR on cardiovascular health of the offspring were already suspected in 1977 by Forsdhal, who reported that Norwegian children, raised in poor provinces in the early twentieth century but became prosperous thereafter, suffered from excess rates of myocardial infarction as adults (48). In 1986, Barker and Osmond showed that the distribution of CVD in England was related to a person's BW (49). Maternal hunger throughout pregnancy was linked to high blood pressure in the offspring; while third-trimester deprivation led to high levels of low-density lipoprotein, cholesterol, and fibrinogen (50). The Dutch Famine Birth Cohort Study considered longterm effects of prenatal starvation among women born before, during, or after the Hunger Winter when the average supply was <1,000 calories/day (51). Intra-family sibling analysis revealed that BW was decreased when famine exposure was in the third trimester but not when it was in the first trimester. However, the expected increase in BW of the offspring with birth order was reversed after maternal exposure in the first trimester (52). The results suggested that biologic effects depend on timing of gestational exposure and are still present in subsequent generations. People conceived during the famine had doubled rates of CVD, atherogenic plasma lipid profiles and were at increased risk of schizophrenia, depression, high stress responsiveness and performed worse on tasks that correlated with accelerated aging (53) (Table 3).

In most pregnancy studies, the effects of famine cannot be clearly separated from those of stress especially when studied in the context of war trauma. Following the Chernobyl disaster, the perceived level of stress was a better predictor of the offspring's risk of cognitive disorders than the actual exposure to radiation (65). Conditions during and after famine periods varied between countries: in the Netherlands, World War II was followed by a period of abundance and in Russia, life conditions remained poor. The latter was not associated with adverse effects suggesting that it is beneficial when the postnatal environment matches the prenatal environment (66). There are also individual differences in susceptibility toward hunger and stress dependent on the individual genetic background (67). While starvation may play a minor role in high resourced countries, the first trimester is a vulnerable period as serious hyperemesis significantly increases the odds for cognitive and psychological diseases in the offspring (OR 3.6, p < 0.0001) (68).

Cardiovascular changes in FGR offspring are already present *in utero*, can persist after birth, and may produce aberrant cardiomyocyte growth in adult hearts with reversible myocardial hypertrophy (69). In humans, FGR induced cardiovascular remodeling at age 5 is ameliorated by breastfeeding but worsened by a high maternal BMI (70). Longitudinal growth analysis suggests that children with higher BP tended to be smaller during third trimester of fetal life but were normal size as infants. By contrast, children with increased aortic root diameter or left ventricular mass tend to be larger during fetal life, but of similar size during infancy (**Table 3**) (54). School age children with clustering of CVD

TABLE 2 Impact of pregnancy complications on maternal risks for disease categories in later life (prospective, mostly retrospective cohorts, and
systematic reviews).

Pregnancy disease	Sample (n)	Literature (Reference number/year)	Definition of health risk in later maternal life	Association of health risk HR/OR/RR (95% Cl)
Cardiovascular				
>1 miscarriage	129,200	(27)/2003	Ischemic heart disease (IHD)	HR 1.52 (1.13–2.06)
2 miscarriages	129,200	(27)/2003	IHD	HR 1.25 (1.04–1.49)
≥3 miscarriages prior to first birth	129,200	(27)/2003	IHD	HR 1.56 (1.14–2.15)
Child with FGR (general)	923,586	(28)/2011	CAD, CVD, cerebrovascular disease	HR 1.39 (1.22–1.58)
Term FGR	923,586	(28)/2011	CAD, CVD, cerebrovascular disease	HR 1.38 (1.15–1.65)
Preterm FGR	923,586	(28)/2011	CAD, CVD, cerebrovascular disease	HR 3.4 (2.26–5.11)
Birthweight	783,814	(29)/2010	Maternal CVD mortality	0.74/kg (0.56–0.99) – inverse relationship
Birthweight	783,814	(29)/2010	Maternal grandfather CVD mortality	1.05 (1.01–1.09)
Birthweight (inverse relationship)	783,814	(29)/2010	Paternal Grandmother CVD mortality	0.93/kg (0.85–1.00)-inverse relationship
Low birthweight <2,500 g	119,668	(30)/2004	Cerebrovascular disease	aHR 2.51 (1.71–3.70)
Multiparity	2,533	(31)/1993	CVD	RR 1.5 (1.1–1.9)
1 birth	1,332,062	(31)/1993	CVD	1.09 (95% CI 1.03-1.15)
>5 births	1,332,062	(31)/1993	CVD	1.47 (95% Cl 1.37–1.57)
>2 children	4,286	(32)/2003	Maternal CVD	OR 1.30 (1.17–1.44)
>2 children	4,252	(32)/2003	Paternal CVD	OR 1.12 (1.02–1.22)
Preeclampsia (general)	1,985	(33)/2016	Death at coronary revascularization	HR 1.61 (1.00–2.58)
Maternal placental disease	1,130,764	(34)/2012	Premature heart failure or dysrhythmia	HR 1.51 (1.26–1.80)
Maternal placental disease + FGR	1,130,764	(34)/2012	Premature heart failure or dysrhythmia	HR 2.42 (1.25–4.67)
Maternal placental syndrome	1,030,000	(35)/2005	CVD	HR 2.0 (1.7–2.2)
Maternal placental syndrome + FGR	1,030,000	(35)/2005	CVD	HR 3.1, 2.2–4.5
Maternal placental syndrome + FD	1,030,000	(35)/2005	CVD	HR 4.4, 2.4–7.9
Preterm birth 32–37 weeks	923,686	(28)/2011	CVD	HR 1.39 (1.22–1.58)
Preterm birth 28–31 weeks	923,686	(28)/2011	CVD	HR 2.57 (1.97–3.34)
Spontaneous preterm birth (SPB)	750,350	(36)/2015	Death from IHD	HR 2.26 (1.88–2.71)
SPB	750,350	(36)/2015	Total IDH	HR 1.58 (1.47–1.71)
Preterm birth 32–36 weeks	782,287	(36)/2015	Thromboembolism	aOR 1.42 (1.24–1.62)
Metabolic				
(No) Breastfeeding	23,701	(37)/2014	Increased maternal weight after 7 years	$\beta = 0.003$ (0.01, 0.003) path analysis, inverse relationship
Breastfeeding (with formula) in patients with GDM	1,010	(38)/2015	Incidence of type 2 DM after 2 years	aHR 0.64 p trend = 0.016 (formula = 1)
Breastfeeding (mostly) in patients with GDM	1,010	(38)/2015	Incidence of type 2 DM after 2 years	aHR 0.54 <i>p</i> trend = 0.016
Breastfeeding (exclusive) in patients with GDM	1,010	(38)/2015	Incidence of type 2 DM after 2 years	aHR 0.46 <i>p</i> trend = 0.016
Pregnancy weight gain > IOM limits	65,000	(39)/2011	3 years postpartum weight gain	3.06 (1.50–4.63) kg, <i>p</i> < 0.001
Pregnancy weight gain > IOL limits	65,000	(39)/2011	15 years postpartum weight gain	Mean increase of 4.72 (2.94–6.50) kg
Gestational diabetes	675,455	(40)/2009	Manifest type 2 DM	RR 7.43 (4.79–11.51)
Maternal obesity	46,688	(41)/2016	Hospitalization for CV events	HR 2.6 (2.0–3.4)
Pre-pregnancy BMI > 30 kg/m ²				
Premature ovarian insufficiency	190,588	(42)/2016	IHD	HR 1.69 (1.29–2.21)
Premature ovarian insufficiency	190,588	(42)/2016	Total CVD	HR 1.61 (1.22-2.12)

a, adjusted; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; FGR, fetal growth restriction; FD, fetal death; HR, hazard ratio; OR, odds ratio; RR, risk ratio (or relative risk).

risk factors had a smaller first-trimester fetal crown-rump length, lower second and third trimester estimated fetal weight but more rapid growth from 6 months onward. This suggests that even firsttrimester fetal growth relates to subsequent cardiovascular risks (71). As adults, women rather than men with LBW (≤ 2.5 kg) have higher fasting plasma glucose, insulin, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome (**Table 3**). In both genders, height increased with BW, whereas BMI and waist circumference have a U-shaped association with BW (58).

Adequate nutrition and micronutrient density such as iron, copper, zinc, iodine, selenium, and vitamin A and D are prerequisite for fetal growth. In industrialized countries, food containing essential micronutrients is likely to be more expensive decreasing the dietary quality in low-income groups (72, 73). Even in countries without absolute food shortage (e.g., Sri Lanka) 25% of mothers and 33% of all children were malnourished and at risk of anemia, mental illness, or poor immune system (74). Exposure to unexpected contraction in the first trimester was associated with a decrease in BW which was stronger for women at home with <12 years' education and associated with increased risks for FGR (OR 1.5; 95% CI 1.1–2) (75). In recognition of the important impact of maternal nutrition and the crucial importance of preventive care, reduction of poverty and hunger during pregnancy is a defined millennium goal of the United Nations.

Pregnancy disease	Sample (n)	Literature (Reference number/year)	Definition of health risk in fetal life as an adult	Association of health risk HR/OR/relative risk (RR)/SD (95% CI)
Cardiovascular				
LBW and famine during gestation	975	(53)/2011	Coronary artery disease	HR 1.9 (1.0 to 3.8) adjusted for sex
LBW and first-trimester famine	726	(53)/2011	CHD	OR 3.0 (1.1 to 8.1) age and sex adjusted
LBW and famine	658	(53)/2011	Systolic BP Diastolic BP blood pressure Prevalence of hypertension	-4.14 mmHg/kg (-7.24 to -1.03) inverse relation -2.09 mmHg/kg (-3.77 to -0.41) inverse relation OR 0.67/kg (-0.49 to 0.93) age and sex adjusted
LBW (SGA) up to HBW (LGA)	6,239	(54)/2016	Left ventricular mass	SD score 0.05 (0.03 to 0.08) <i>p</i> < 0.01 for trend
LBW (SGA) up to HBW (LGA)	6,239	(54)/2016	Aortic root diameter	SD score 0.08 (0.05 to 0.1) <i>p</i> < 0.01 for trend
Preeclampsia (PE)	45,249	(55)/2013	High systolic BP during child and adulthood High diastolic BP during child and adulthood	2.39 mmHg (1.74 to 3.05) 1.35 mmHg (0.90 to 1.80)
PE	2,868	(56)/2015 Prospective cohort	Cardiovascular risk, hypertension and metabolic disease (QRISK > 75 P) at age 20	OR 2.5 (1.32 to 4.56)
Complicated HTN + birth factors	2,868	(56)/2015	Hypertension at age 20	aOR 6.25 (1.96 to 19.96)
Complicated HTN + risks at 20 years				aOR 6.74 (1.25 to 36.29)
Complicated HTN + social risks				aOR 6.63 (1.17 to 37.57)
Preterm SGA vs. term	1,756	(83)/2015	Adult hypertension	36.9 vs. 25.4%; risk factors adjusted $p = 0.006$
Neurologic				
First-trimester famine	66,321	(53)/2011	Schizophrenia ICD-6/-9	OR 2.01 (1.03 to 3.94)
First-trimester famine	737	(53)/2011	Accelerated aging, depression	$\beta = -85 (-139 \text{ to } -32), p = 0.002$
First- and second-trimester famine	100,543	(53)/2011	Antisocial personality disorder in men ICD-6	aOR 2.5 (1.5 to 4.2)
Fetal growth restriction	1,679	(57)/2008	Hostility	(beta)SD < -0.05 (-0.14 to 0.00)
Metabolic				
First-trimester famine	2,414	(53)/2011	Increase LDL-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol ratios adult	Increase 13.9% (2.6 to 26.4)
LBW	2,546	(58)/2016	Leptin to fat mass ratio, leptin, diabetes mellitus (DM), obesity	p < 0.05 for all, chi-square test or ANOVA
Complicated HTN + birth factors	2,868	(56)/2015	Overweight or obesity at age 20	aOR 1.68 (1.18 to 2.39)
Complicated HTN + risks at		Prospective	5 , 5	aOR 1.62 (1.05 to 2.52)
20 years		cohort		
Complicated HTN + social risks				aOR 1.59 (1.02 to 2.48)
Early preterm	1,358	(59)/1996	High insulin at birth	OR 2.05 (1.69 to 2.42)
Early preterm	1,358	(59)/1996	High insulin in childhood	OR 1.31 (1.10 to 1.52)
Parental smoking	17,003	(60)/2014	Increased body mass index (BMI) and WC at 32 years	Increase of 0.57 kg/m ² /1.46 cm ($p \le 0.02$)
Birth weight < 2 SD	61,311	(61)/2007	DM as an adult	OR 2.01 (1.39 to 2.91)
Birth weight \geq 2 SD			DM as an adult	OR 2.27 (1.38 to 3.74)
Famine second trimester	702	(62)/2006	Decreased glucose tolerance at 50/58 years	Diff = 0.4 mmol/l (0.1 to 0.7), sex/BMI adjusted
LGA and GDM during pregnancy	179	(63)/2005	Metabolic syndrome at 11 years (increased insulin resistance and obesity)	OR 10.4 (1.5 to 74.4)
After ovulation induction	2,577	(64)/2014	Increased fasting glucose levels at 6 years	0.4 mmol/l (0.2 to 0.6)
After in vitro fertilization	2,577	(64)/2014	Increased fasting glucose levels at 6 years	0.2 mmol/l (0.0 to 0.5)

TABLE 3 | Impact of pregnancy complications on fetal risks for disease categories up to adulthood (selected prospective, mostly retrospective cohorts, and systematic reviews).

a, adjusted; BP, blood pressure; CHD, coronary heart disease; GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; HR, hazard ratio; HTN, hypertensive disease in pregnancy; LBW, low birthweight; LGA, large for gestational age; OR, odds ratio; SGA, small for gestational age.

Parity

Older studies have demonstrated that multiparity independently increases maternal CVD risks in later life (31) (**Table 2**). A "J" shaped association between number of children and CVD was observed, lowest among those with two children and increasing with each additional child beyond two by 30–47% for women and by 12% for men (32) (**Table 2**). Specifically, in women, the number of children was inversely correlated with high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol and positively associated with TGs and diabetes. It has been concluded that lifestyle risk factors combined with child rearing result in obesity and increased rates of CVD. The 9% increase in CVD risk in women with only one

child has been attributed to coexisting fertility conditions such as polycystic ovary (PCO) (76).

Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy (HDP), PE

Risk factors for HDP can be broadly categorized as *personal*, *cardiovascular*, *metabolic*, and *prothrombotic* (77). Approximately 80% of women with a history of PE have at least one risk factor of which the cardiovascular risk profile is most prevalent, followed by hyperhomocysteinemia, metabolic syndrome, and thrombophilia (78, 79). Both circulatory and metabolic risk profiles were associated with earlier onset PE; FGR was more likely in patients with a diastolic BP above 80 mmHg (80). All

first-trimester prediction algorithms for PE identify surrogate markers of cardiovascular and metabolic health as independent contributors (77). The most recent and largest systematic review and meta-analysis on risk factors for PE in relation to clinical risk factors included more than 25 million pregnancies (81): women with antiphospholipid antibody syndrome had the highest rate of PE (17.3%, 95% CI 6.8-31.4%). Those with prior PE had the greatest relative risk (RR) of 8.4 (7.1-9.9). Chronic hypertension ranked second with a RR of 5.1 (4.0-6.5), pre-gestational diabetes had a RR of 3.7 (3.1-4.3), pre-pregnancy BMI > 30, and ART were other risk factors suggesting that the presence of any one might suffice to designate a woman as "high risk" and support clinical prediction for the use of early prevention (81). The parallel rise in PE and maternal long-term complications supports the concept that early-pregnancy risk profiles are causally linked to maternal long-term health. Accordingly, the American Heart Association guidelines on female CVD include GDM and HDP in their risk assessment (82). Although balanced diets and active lifestyles reduce the risk for DM in women with GDM, adoption of these health behaviors is low (83).

Placental invasion, size, and function are sensitive to maternal blood flow disturbances and the placenta modulates fetal responses to the environment. The "gateway" to the fetus modifies epigenetic marks and placental gene expression leading to gender-specific diseases (84). The placental lesions of PE and severe FGR, such as "atherosis in the placental bed," are similar to atherosclerosis suggesting common genotypes, phenotypes, and earlier mortality (85). Mothers with PE have atherosclerotic disease such as angina pectoris, cardiac insufficiency, or renal disease within a mean interval of 11 years and earlier mortality is evident by 20 years after delivery in these women (86, 87).

Maternal placental syndromes combined with FGR increase the downstream risk for early hospitalization for heart failure, cardiac dysrhythmia, and CVD follows this pattern (34, 35) (Table 2) suggesting that dysfunction in both placental compartments amplifies the risks. Affected women should therefore have their blood pressure and weight assessed by 6 months postpartum, and a healthy lifestyle should be emphasized. Following coronary artery revascularization, middle-aged women are at higher risk for death than men. After a mean of 5 years, 41 deaths (2.2 per 100 person years) occurred in women compared to 1.1 in women without maternal placental syndrome (HR 1.96; 95% CI 1.29-2.99). The risk of death was significant in women with placental abruption (HR 2.79; 95% CI 1.31-5.96), placental infarction (HR 3.09; 95% CI 1.23-7.74), and PE (HR 1.61; 95% CI 1.00-2.58). Women with placental syndrome in two pregnancies had the highest HR of death of 4.31 (95% CI 1.71-10.89). This should be included in the informed consent process (33).

Children born to pre-eclamptic mothers are at increased risk for high BP, stroke, cognitive delay, and depression (**Table 3**) (55). As young adults, these children have a 2.5-fold increased risk of a QRISK Score above the 75th centile (95% CI 1.32–4.56, p = 0.004). Consideration of additional factors would allow identification of a cohort with hypertension (**Table 3**) (56). PE leads to a 40% elevated risk of later serious CVD (88); 30% of all 20-year old's with high BP had mothers with PE (95% CI 1.3–7.0; p = 0.01) (56). The recognition of these associations by family practitioners and pediatricians raises the possibility of tailored interventions to prevent adult hypertensive disease. The discussion on the optimal management approach to HDP during pregnancy is ongoing (89, 90).

First-trimester pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A was one of the first serum biomarkers noted to correlate with placental function and fetal growth (91). Now, more complex firsttrimester screening algorithms for PE and FGR offer individual risk prediction with up to 90 and 60% sensitivity, respectively (5, 92, 93); 91% of women that are test positive at the first-trimester screen have cardiovascular and metabolic conditions amenable to therapy (8). Since many of these risk profiles pre-date before or persist after pregnancy it appears that first-trimester screening for placental disease is not only cost-effective but could have therapeutic benefits that reach far beyond pregnancy (94).

Prematurity

Prematurity and low BW are endpoints of several potentially different etiologies (95). Women who had a preterm birth more frequently develop CVD and type 2 diabetes (4, 36). There is a negative correlation with gestational age at delivery and the rates of later maternal diseases. In a recent systematic review, SPB increased maternal risks of developing or dying from IHD, stroke, and overall CVD (28, 96) (**Table 2**).

Following preterm birth, the offspring is also at higher risk for elevated BP levels in adulthood and insulin resistance in infancy (97). It is unknown if this is attributable to interactions between peripartum exposure to inflammatory cytokines, cardiovascular effects of pulmonary dysmaturity, and placental dysfunction (98–100).

Stress

Acute stress responses activate the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axis (HPA) and the immune system to enable the organism for environmental threats. However, prolonged activation of the stress response may have adverse consequences. Maternal stress, anxiety, and psychological maternal disease can evoke immediate changes in blood flow to the uterus, fetal heart rate, or fetal movements (FM). However, they also induce long-term changes in fetal growth, metabolism, behavior, and cognition. Since there are no direct neural connections between mother and fetus, acute and chronic responses are likely elicited by neuroendocrine, autonomic, or vasodilatory input. Low BW by itself is associated with "hostility" in adult life, e.g., a rival cynic personality with mistrust and negative affections, which again is combined with CVD (57) (**Table 3**).

It is fascinating to imagine that the fetus may actively contribute to its own epigenesis as FM between 20 and 38 weeks transiently stimulate maternal sympathetic arousal prepare women for nurturing without becoming desensitized (101). Listening to music and singing lullabies has been shown to reduce women's experience of stress, anxiety, and depression and might simultaneously stimulate and be remembered by the fetus (102, 103).

The interplay of maternal stress on metabolic disorders in the next generation has been investigated: only 2/45 known type 2 diabetes susceptibility genes are associated with LBW, indicating that the association is mainly non-genetic. The developing fetal brain requires some, but not overwhelming stress. FGR is associated with poor school education, smoking, drinking habits, poor social activities of mothers, and poor maternal social support (59). Even exposure to modern media "attacks" seems to reduce BW by 50 g (104). Maternal exposure to the death of a close relative is also correlated to LBW, where deregulation of the HPA was most marked during the second trimester when spiral arteries invade trophoblastic cells (105). Endocrine factors, such as β -HCG or progesterone, play gender-specific roles for growth and disease. In a multivariable regression model, increase in maternal progesterone by 1 ng/ml during the first trimester increased girls' BW by 10.2 g (95% CI 2.03–18.31); perceived worries (and smoking) predicted FGR in boys irrespective of progesterone levels (106). Fascinating reviews on maternal stress have been published (67, 107).

Smoking, Toxic Agents

Maternal smoking is one of the commonest modifiable risk factors. It has been estimated that active or passive smoking during pregnancy is responsible for at least 20% of infants with LBW (108). The effect is dose dependent (adjusted OR 2.40 for 0-9, 2.68 for 10-15, 2.88 for >15 cigarettes daily). Parental smoking also increases CVD risk in the offspring (109). After puberty, the effect of parental smoking was positively associated with BMI (p < 0.001) with a significant dose response for each additional 10 cigarettes. The associations of maternal smoking were stronger than for paternal smoking. At age 32, offspring of at least one smoking parent had higher BMI and waist circumference. Adjusted weight at age 17 was 63.2 kg for offspring of non-smoking parents compared to 64.6 kg of at least one smoking parent and at age 32, 68.3 and 70.5 kg, respectively (60) (Table 3). In many countries, pregnant mothers are exposed to wood fuel smoke. The carbon monoxide depresses placental energy-dependent processes and amino-acid transport and exhibits a reduction of infants' adjusted mean BW by -186 g (110). Variation in genes encoding enzymes modify the associations between maternal smoking and BW, but the contribution of epigenetic mechanisms, rather than genetic, underlie the long-term effects of smoke exposure as shown in aberrant placental metabolism, syncytial knot formation, or markers of placental oxidative damage (111).

Health Risks Predominantly Attributable to a Metabolic Risk Profile

Between 2011 and 2012, an estimated 14.4% of US women over 20 hadhigh total cholesterol; overall, 65% of US women are overweight or obese, with highest rates among non-Hispanic black women (14). The International Diabetes Foundation defined metabolic syndrome as BMI > 30 kg/m² or WC > 80 cm (women), and at least two of the following criteria: fasting glucose > 5.6 mmol/l (100 mg/dl) or diabetes, cholesterol > 1.3 mmol/l (50 mg/dl), or medication use to low HDLs, TG levels of >1.7 mmol/l (150 mg/dl) or specific treatment and a BP > 130/85 or use of antihypertensive medication (112). It remains unclear, in how far single criteria are associated with a higher risk for stroke or CVD and the precise scientific concept of the metabolic syndrome remains controversial. The WHO has put forward specific diagnostic

criteria relating to BMI, blood pressure, proteinuria, TG, and HDL (113). Each component of the metabolic syndrome increases risks for PE especially when C-reactive protein is elevated (114). *Vice versa*, women that develop PE exhibit more pronounced insulin resistance and dyslipidemia, which frequently continues after pregnancy (115–118).

The rise in the prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in low- and high-resourced countries led WHO's Director General to establish a Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity, which stressed the need for concerted and sustained action, early in the life course of mothers (and fathers) (119). The UN General Assembly proclaimed 2016 a Decade of Action on Nutrition calling upon governments to address the diet-related burden of disease (120). A series on preconception and maternal obesity in The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology 2016 and 2017 suggests new directions that such an initiative could take (121) and demonstrates how uncontrolled GDM is responsible for a transgenerational passage of obesity.

(No) Breastfeeding

Several studies have shown that breastfeeding is associated with decreased activation of the HPA axis, a blunted BP response to stress, and increased fat mobilization (122–124). In a prospective Danish cohort, an inverse association was observed for breastfeeding duration and weight retention up to 18 months correlating with anthropometric measures 7 years after delivery (37) (**Table 2**). In mothers, who already have symptoms of GDM, breastfeeding is protective against type 2 diabetes.

Infant feeding characteristics are associated with subsequent risk for maternal DM within 2 years (38) (Table 2). Potential mechanisms for these associations include prolactin-mediated preservation of pancreatic β -cells, less inflammation, and improved endothelial function. To estimate the effect of breastfeeding on maternal health, mice were randomly divided into lactated (L) and non-lactated (NL) animals (120). At 9 months, the NL group weighed significantly more compared with the L group had significantly higher systolic BP, lower ejection fraction, and higher renal artery resistive indices compared with L mice which all suggested that lactation has a direct beneficial effect. Large systematic reviews covering >9,000 abstracts and approximately 400 individual studies have demonstrated that breastfeeding reduces risks for type 2 diabetes, breast, and ovarian cancer. Early cessation or not breastfeeding was associated with a higher risk of postpartum depression. There was no relationship between a history of lactation and the risk of osteoporosis (125). Lactation duration was found to be inversely associated with common carotid intima-media thickness at 20 years; mean differences between a duration of ≥ 10 months compared with 0 to <1 month ranged from -0.062 mm for unadjusted models to -0.029 mm if adjusted for pre-pregnancy BMI, cardiometabolic risk factors, parity, smoking, and sociodemographics (p trend: 0.01) (38). It is not yet clear whether all observed associations between breastfeeding and maternal health are causal since breastfeeding women have a healthier lifestyle overall. Nevertheless, it was estimated that low breastfeeding rates in the US result in 4,981 excess cases of breast cancer, 53,847 cases of hypertension, and 13,946 cases of myocardial infarction. Suboptimal breastfeeding
is therefore supposed to incur a total of \$17.4 billion in cost to society/year resulting from premature death (95% CI \$4.38 to 24.68 billion), \$733.7 million in direct costs (95% CI \$612.9 to 859.7 million), and \$126.1 million indirect morbidity costs (95% CI \$99.00 to 153.22 million). There was a non-significant difference in additional premature deaths before 70 years (126).

Infants benefit from breastfeeding due to protection from infections and biologic signals for promoting cellular growth and differentiation. Breastfeeding reduced the severity of respiratory problems in the first 27 weeks of life (RR 0.70; 95% CI 0.55-0.88) (127) and reduces risks for acute otitis media, non-specific gastroenteritis, lower respiratory tract infections, atopic dermatitis, asthma, obesity, type 1 and 2 diabetes, childhood leukemia, sudden infant death syndrome, and necrotizing enterocolitis (125). The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends exclusive breastfeeding for approximately 6 months, followed by continued breastfeeding with complementary foods for 1 year or longer (128). The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology asks for a multidisciplinary approach involving practitioners, family members, and child care providers to support breastfeeding mainly for underserved women (129). Breastfeeding promotion is a practical, low-cost intervention to prevent CVD, obesity, and diabetes in high-risk women, with the potential for benefits that are complementary to lifestyle interventions targeting weight loss.

Pre-Pregnancy Obesity and Excessive Weight Gain during Pregnancy

Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m²) and obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m²) have become global risk factors for NCDs (130). Obesity before and during pregnancy leads to an increase of maternal mortality; more than 50% of all maternal deaths in Great Britain were overweight or obese (131). The accumulation of visceral fat tissue correlates with increasing insulin resistance and a metabolic syndrome (132). Pregnancy itself leads to obesity: approximately 75% of women are heavier 1-year postpartum than they were prepregnancy (133). Increased abdominal fat mass (134), which also characterizes aging (135), may affect long-term maternal health because abdominal fat mass predicts mortality better than weight or BMI (136). This is also the reason why a body fat index—a novel ultrasound index evaluating central maternal fat-seems to be more informative than BMI in terms of prediction of obstetric complications particularly for subsequent development of GDM. Also women with normal pre-pregnancy BMI need to be informed about the recommendations by the Institute of Medicine. Excess weight gain increases fat mass, especially in women with preconception obesity (137, 138). Excess pregnancy weight gain increases the risk for lifelong visceral fat retention (39, 137, 139, 140) (**Table 2**).

Mothers with excessive weight gain are less likely to breastfeed (141). In a cohort of 46,688 women, a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² was associated with higher adjusted rates of cardiovascular events and related hospitalizations (142). Truncal obesity as defined by WC or waist/hip ratio has been shown to be more strongly related to certain cancer types than obesity as defined by BMI (143). Possible mechanisms that relate obesity to cancer risk include insulin resistance and chronic hyperinsulinemia, increased production of insulin-like growth factors, or high bioavailability of steroid hormones because adipose tissue-derived hormones and cytokines (adipokines), such as leptin, adiponectin, and inflammatory markers, may reflect mechanisms linked to tumor genesis.

Maternal obesity or pre-gestational DM is associated with fetal myocardial functional changes as early as the first trimester, which could explain the predisposition of offspring to CVD later in life (29, 41). Offspring of mothers with excessive weight gain and a BMI > 30 kg/m^2 are more frequently obese at age 16 compared to offspring of mothers with normal weight gain, even after adjusting for age, socioeconomic status, sex, or BW (144). As adults they demonstrate reduced life quality and life span (HR: 1.35; 95% CI 1.17-1.55) (145). These Scandinavian epidemiologic data match with animal experiments demonstrating that rats on a high-calorie diet before and during pregnancy demonstrate adipogenesis and are "programmed to early death, e.g., a shorter life" (146). Endothelial lesions, increased number of fat lobule in utero, as well as the U-shaped correlation of BW and obesity might play a role (3). Additionally, exposure to obesity and highfat diet before, during, and after pregnancy promote appetite over satiety neurons in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus leading to offspring hyperphagia and obesity (147). Finally, a high-caloric or high-fat maternal diet modulates the fetal gut microbiome and gut-brain axis causing a persistent predisposition to metabolic disease and obesity in the offspring (148, 149).

Maternal obesity is associated with sex-specific differences not only in fetal size but also in neurodevelopment reflected by gene expression signatures and the brain transcriptome. Especially male embryos of dams on the high-fat diet had a significantly lower BW than controls; dietary change in pregnancy resulted in significantly more dysregulated genes and pathways in male than in female brains (386 vs. 66, p < 0.001) (150).

GDM and Pre-Existing Diabetes during Pregnancy

Type 1 or type 2 diabetes may exist before pregnancy; GDM is defined as glucose intolerance first diagnosed in pregnancy and is associated with subsequent hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, type 2 DM, hypertension, and CVD (151). Already in the 1950s, Pedersen et al. reported the association of GDM with DM and fetal macrosomia [c.f. (152)]. In the 1980s, Freinkel described the impact of GDM on fetal long-term health and together with Metzger on maternal glucose tolerance after birth; 30% of women with GDM have a persisting glucose tolerance and develop type 2 diabetes within 10 years (153–155). Worldwide, the incidence of GDM norms and GDM are associated: a case–control study of 800 women with excessive weight gain but normal glucose tolerance showed a 50% increase of GDM compared to controls with normal weight gain (118).

The hypothesis that pre-existing risk profiles play a role is supported by the fact that first-trimester prediction of GDM by history or biochemical-biophysical tests has sensitivities as high as 80% (7). The risk to develop overt DM increases with maternal age and accelerated almost 10-fold for women with GDM resulting in cumulative 15-year risk of 25% (156). A comprehensive systematic review including 205 relevant reports, 20 studies, 675,455 women, and 10,859 type 2 DM events confirmed the increase of type 2 DM compared to normoglcyemic women (40) (**Table 2**).

Fetal programming related to GDM and DM is complex since both, low and high BW are associated with the development of a metabolic risk profile in later life. A significant association between low (OR 2.15, 95% CI 1.29–3.50) and high BW (OR 1.97, 95% CI 1.12–3.45) and later development of GDM was shown with a U-shaped relation between BW and risk of GDM (61). In families or regions where GDM was not known before an "epigenetic mismatch" between prenatal and postnatal nutrition plays an increasing role.

The hypothesis "fetal origins of disease" was proposed to explain associations between low BW and impaired glucose tolerance or CVD (157-161). The thrifty phenotype hypothesis suggests that early malnutrition induces poor development of pancreatic β-cell mass and programs the metabolic syndrome (157-162). LBW was related to high concentrations of split proinsulin, a sign of beta-cell dysfunction, linked to later high blood pressure (163, 164) and to metabolic abnormalities in combination with low physical activity and/or high-energy intake (165). The British Maternal Nutrition Study correlated prenatal micronutrient deficiency with increased insulin resistance in childhood: the offspring of mothers with combined high folate and low vitamin B12 levels were insulin resistant (166). Similarly, prenatal famine exposure was associated with impaired glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in adulthood (167, 168). Before, it was already demonstrated that a pregnancy with a LBW child indicates a risk for significantly lower rates of insulin, C-peptide, and proinsulin responses than controls. Insulin sensitivity was increased in the FGR compared to the control group (169).

Children of mothers with GDM and fetal macrosomia are at higher risk of childhood obesity and its consequences (170). Metabolic markers such as insulin resistance and high TGs are present in 21% before puberty (171) and at age 11, maternal GDM with fetal macrosomia increased the risk of metabolic syndrome 3.6-fold over controls with isolated macrosomia (63). Similarly, as adults these children are at higher risk for DM and metabolic syndrome (171, 172). A large Danish study of women with DM confirmed that as adults the offspring was at increased risk for CVD (adjusted OR 1.46; 95% CI 1.16–1.83) and for insulin-dependent DM (adjusted OR 4.7; 95% CI 3.9–5.8) compared to offspring of non-diabetic mothers. CVD was associated with FGR rather than macrosomia (OR 1.29; 95% CI 1.24–1.35) (173). Accordingly, undernutrion during pregnancy was linked to decreased glucose tolerance up to age 58 (62) (**Table 2**).

Cesarean Rates and Subfertility

Cesarean delivery and later childhood obesity are associated independently of the fact that Cesarean rates are *per se* higher in obese women and differences in the infant intestinal microbiome has been postulated as a potential explanation (174). Subfertility such as premature ovarian insufficiency or PCO is another factor that increases risk for CVD and metabolic disease (42, 76).

Children conceived through artificial reproduction techniques have higher glucose levels compared to controls (64). At the age of 5–6 years, glucose levels were increased by 0.4 mmol/l (95% CI 0.2–0.6) and 0.2 mmol/l (95% CI 0.0–0.5), respectively. Similarly, systolic and diastolic BP was elevated by 0.8 mmHg (95% CI -0.2 to 1.8) and 1.4 mmHg (95% CI 0.6–2.3). Since the duration of infertility correlates with BP in the offspring and with PE in the pregnant women, epigenetic and genetic factors have been implied (64).

Predominantly Thrombotic Risk Profile: Thrombophilia, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE), and Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS)

Most women with a thrombotic risk profile are already aware of their diseases before pregnancy.

But pregnancy is regarded as a prothrombotic state due to its impact on coagulation. It modifies the disease or makes it visible when no symptoms were known before.

Coagulation disorders such as thrombophilia, SLE, and APS are recognized risk factors for placental dysfunction, FGR, and PE. In these conditions, aspirin or heparin therapy may decrease the rate of thrombosis and possibly of placental disease and adverse outcome (175, 176). The generalized administration of prophylactic anticoagulants is not supported until RCTs show a benefit (175). Patients with APS, SLE, and triple antiphospholipid antibodies or prior thrombosis are at risk for FGR or recurrent thrombosis and seem to have a better fetal outcome when treated with anticoagulants (177). Women with thrombophilia, SLE, and/ or obstetric APLS during pregnancy have lifelong thrombosis risks requiring long-term anticoagulation and awareness during risk situations; patients with arterial events should be treated aggressively.

During pregnancy, low-dose aspirin is likely to address underlying factors that promote a prothrombotic risk profile. However, therapy of hyperhomocysteinemia may also be worthwhile as high first-trimester homocysteine levels increase the risk of PE threefold to fourfold (178, 179).

Low folate intake is an important contributor to increased homocysteine levels and is significantly more common in women who develop PE (180). Modification of homocysteine levels requires high-dose folate and an RCT evaluating a 4 mg folate daily is ongoing (181, 182). It remains to be determined if folate will benefit all women or specifically those with elevated homocysteine levels.

Children of mothers with a prothrombotic risk profile have only been investigated in small series: the neurodevelopment of 30 children born to mothers with SLE and/or APS with IgG antibeta2-glycoprotein I positive for the same antibodies at birth have been examined up to 9 years postnatally according to a Child Behavior Check List, rheumatologists, and pediatric characteristics. In all children, neurological physical exam and intelligence levels were normal. Mild behavior disorders were shown in three children possibly related to maternal disease or prematurity (183).

DISCUSSION

In 2011, the General Secretary Ban Ki-Moon declared during the first NCD-conference of WHO and the United Nations: "We

strive for an international commitment that puts NCDs high on the development agenda." Confirming a match of epidemiological data with molecular mechanisms described in human or animal research during pregnancy, opens opportunities to couple the prevention of NCDs with reduced health-care costs. This is particularly relevant for maternal-infant care (Figure 2). There are periods in our life cycle in which we are particularly susceptible to epigenetic influences; mediated by mechanisms that include DNA methylation, histone modification, and RNA silencing. It appears that the pathophysiology of adverse pregnancy outcome can have its origins during fertilization, gametogenesis, embryonic, fetal, and placental development and translates into downstream long-term health impacts (184, 185). We have shown that many pregnancy complications are associated with maternal and infant health risks in later life. By recognizing the sentinel circumstances during key periods in pregnancy, we are opening a unique window of opportunity for interventions to improve maternal-child health. To increase our knowledge and relevant consequences for long-term health, we have to associate findings from animal

experiments and clinical measurements with transgenerational data from large populations.

New evidence is leading us to revise our understanding on the origins of placental disease and its interdependence with maternal and child health (19). It has been presumed that the increased uterine artery resistance and abnormal physiologic transformation of the placental vasculature is the initiator of placenta-based diseases such as PE and FGR. However, observations in other maternal vascular beds that are independent of early trophoblast function and the documentation of maternal risk profiles long before placental disease has developed, challenge these concepts (19, 77, 185, 186).

Even in normal pregnancy, myocardial and ventricular function decline after the second trimester (187). The findings of a drop in stroke volume index, impaired myocardial relaxation with diastolic dysfunction, and eccentric remodeling at term are suggestive of cardiovascular maladaptation to the volume overload in some apparently normal pregnancies. Following pregnancies with FGR and especially PE has shown a low cardiac



output, high resistance circulatory state, asymptomatic global diastolic dysfunction, and poor cardiac reserve (188). Postpartum follow-up has demonstrated remodeling in patients with PE, but asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction and hypertrophy were significantly higher in preterm PE compared with term PE or matched controls. The risk of developing essential hypertension within 2 years was higher in both women with preterm PE and those with persistent left ventricular abnormal function or geometry. Specifically, these women are more likely to experience recurrent placental disease (189). Accordingly, pre-existing risk constellations seem to interact with placental development in women that develop PE or placenta-based FGR and that their risks are increased by the adverse pregnancy outcome. The synergy between individual risk constellation and their amplification by pregnancy complications is likely to be responsible for the downstream health effects as described above (190). To determine the thresholds where disease occurs requires large perinatal registers that are initiated before conception and follow women and their offspring.

The question whether later diseases in maternal life are caused by the disease itself or a pre-existing condition can also be illustrated by perinatal registers as it was performed for end-stage renal disease (ESRD). It could be concluded that familial aggregation does not explain increased ESRD risk after PE, but that PE *per se* leads to kidney damage (191).

Gestational hypertension and PE share baseline risk factors, such as a family history of DM, of myocardial infarction before 60 years and elevated TG levels while physical activity is protective (192). Extending registries across generations will amplify our ability to influence public health by even earlier preventive care to benefit mothers, fathers, and their children (193). The effects of FGR and PE on survival rates of fetuses and mothers drawn from the Norwegian registry mirror both genetic and epigenetic influences and match with the topic of this paper (**Table 4**).

Transgenerational research in rats from Nathanielsz et al. (146) not only show how obese mothers transfer obesity to their children, but also demonstrate that the effect can be limited by

TABLE 4 | Perinatal death rates as relative risks (RRs) and later maternal death rates form cardiovascular disease in later life correlated with gestational age at birth and pregnancy disease [preeclampsia (PE) and fetal growth restriction], designed from recent data of the Norwegian data base, personal communication and with gratitude to Rolv Skjaerven, 2017.

PE during first pregnancy	Gestational weeks at delivery	Birth weight (Z-score)	Perinatal death (RR)	Maternal death (HR)
Yes	≥37	Large (>0)	2.0	1.8
Yes	≥37	Small (<0)	6.3	1.5
Yes	35–36	Large	4.1	5.2
Yes	35–36	Small	23.8	0.9
Yes	<u><</u> 34	Large	29.3	11.3
Yes	<u>≤</u> 34	Small	79.4	2.3
No	≥37	Large	1 (reference)	2 (reference)
No	≥37	Small	2.9	1.3
No	35–36	Large	4.3	2
No	35–36	Small	21.3	2.5
No	<u><</u> 34	Large	51	2
No	≤34	Small	131	2.8

physical activity or a diet during pregnancy. The pictures of the second generation not only help to understand the epigenetic pathophysiology but can motivate patients with a high BMI to stick to IOM guidelines and to be physically active (**Figure 3**).

Continuous family care is relevant with a focus on selected time periods:

- (a) Prenatal and early postnatal life offers a window of epigenetic plasticity when environmental factors may condition the body in ways that shape disease risk in later life (194, 195).
- (b) The past as experienced by siblings, parents, grandparents, and possibly earlier generations becomes relevant for understanding our disease risks today and tomorrow (193).

In Scandinavia, registry-based perinatal epidemiology has shown the importance of sibling and generation data which allow linking of birth records across generations (193). These population-based linked materials provide research opportunities beyond cross-sectional studies where observations are often based on studies of the woman's first pregnancy. But women who stop reproducing after one pregnancy have different mortality rates than women with two or more pregnancies (196). Studying the next pregnancy conditional on outcomes of previous pregnancies is challenging and shows risk heterogeneity between women (193). Intergenerational data reveal the influence of socioeconomic and behavioral factors, and not only genetic inheritance (197).

Compared with the task of family doctors of previous times, obstetricians, and MFM specialists are predominantly focused on prenatal care and obstetric emergencies with less emphasis on the long-term outcome of women and their families. In most countries, there is not even a continuity of care between obstetric providers and other care specialties. As a result, research, development, and clinical care across this critical health-care frontier are disproportionally sparse.

As MFM specialists are in the advantageous position to screen, diagnose, and manage pregnancy-related complication in an index pregnancy they are ideally positioned to initiate care paths after pregnancy. Sentinel risk profiles need to be incorporated into care models, which will allow the initiation of personalized care paths for mothers and infants (8, 198). In the US, the diabetes prevention trial already aims to introduce





a balanced diet and more active lifestyle to reduce later risks for diabetes (199). Models exist to use BP, lipids, visceral fat, BMI, and glucose tolerance at 6 and 12 months after high-risk pregnancies to define the need for inter-pregnancy care, lifestyle interventions, or therapy within specialized clinics (200–204). The fact that pregnant women are more sensitive for healthcare advices should be used as a chance to intervene as early as possible (36). A potentially useful tool would be to modify the maternal "passport" as it is currently utilized in many European countries to produce a lifelong health record as required. Widely available computer technologies and app's can be designed for targeted information about risks, interventions, and evidencebased concepts and are preferred to booklets in the younger generation (205).

Meanwhile, a first guideline for follow-up of patients after previous PE has appeared, whereby optimization of modifiable cardiovascular risk factors is recommended for reproductive and pregnancy-related disorders to reduce the risk of future CVD (206). Progress will eventually become inevitable as focused patient history taking, pregnancy risk algorithms, and the existing obstetric care platform already meet WHO criteria for screening tests (207). It is our responsibility to incorporate interdisciplinary care algorithms (87, 208) (**Figure 2**).

We need to realize how epigenetic findings relate to questions of social and environmental justice and not only to individual responsibility (24). This requires recognition of the presented associations as an opportunity to modify preventive and long-term care. Such progress hinges on widespread patient and health-care provider education about the unique opportunity to identify and treat modifiable risk factors for adverse health outcomes (209, 210). Strategies to reduce long-term and intergenerational risks associated with pregnancy disorders should include access to interdisciplinary teams to substantially affect future pregnancy outcomes and chronic illness.

REFERENCES

- Barker DJ, Osmond C, Golding J, Kuh D, Wadsworth ME. Growth in utero, blood pressure in childhood and adult life, and mortality from cardiovascular disease. *BMJ* (1989) 298(6673):564–7. doi:10.1136/bmj.298.6673.564
- Dörner G, Mohnike A. Further evidence for a predominantly maternal transmission of maturity-onset type diabetes. *Endokrinologie* (1976) 68:121–4.
- Stupin JH, Arabin B. Overweight and obesity before, during and after pregnancy: part 1: pathophysiology, molecular biology and epigenetic consequences. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2014) 74(7):639–45. doi:10.1055/ s-0034-1368486
- Sattar N, Greer IA. Pregnancy complications and maternal cardiovascular risk: opportunities for intervention and screening? *BMJ* (2002) 325(7356):157–60. doi:10.1136/bmj.325.7356.157
- Cuckle HS. Screening for pre-eclampsia lessons from aneuploidy screening. *Placenta* (2011) 32(Suppl):S42–8. doi:10.1016/j.placenta.2010.07.015
- Nanda S, Savvidou M, Syngelaki A, Akolekar R, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11 to 13 weeks. *Prenat Diagn* (2011) 31(2):135–41. doi:10.1002/pd.2636
- Gabbay-Benziv R, Doyle LE, Blitzer M, Baschat AA. First trimester prediction of maternal glycemic status. J Perinat Med (2015) 43(3):283–9. doi:10.1515/ jpm-2014-0149
- Gabbay-Benziv R, Oliveira N, Baschat AA. Optimal first trimester preeclampsia prediction: a comparison of multimarker algorithm, risk profiles and their sequential application. *Prenat Diagn* (2016) 36(1):34–9. doi:10.1002/ pd.4707

Policy makers need to establish preventive interventions and need to better tackle long-term risks and inequalities of perinatal care. The future MFM specialist will be less invasive, give less medicine but will interest patients in the cause and prevention of disease as Thomas Edison stated (151). We have to reduce health illiteracy, the misbalance between responsible and irresponsible resource management and thereby the burden of increasing rates of chronic diseases (211).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BA and AB had a substantial contribution to the conception and design of the work and its interpretation. BA had drafted the work and both BA and AB have revised it critically. Final approval and agreement to be accountable for all aspects are agreed on by BA and AB.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Prof. George Saade and his team who sensitized the first author for the topic related to maternal diseases during a course of the Society of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, and to the work of Prof. Mark Hanson who is a great pioneer in fetal programming. Prof. Basky Thilaganathan and his group have explained the importance of maternal hemodynamics with enthusiasm and perseverance and have introduced new concepts for our understanding and for clinical concepts. The authors also thank Rolv Skjaerven who provided insights into the value of register-based epidemiology as performed in Norway. All colleagues have shown us paths to stay humble, to improve long-term health of women and their offspring; instead of only being motivated by direct incentives or immediate rewarding.

- Rich-EdwardsJW,McElrath TF,KarumanchiSA,SeelyEW.Breathinglifeintothe lifecourse approach: pregnancy history and cardiovascular disease in women. *Hypertension* (2010) 56(3):331–4. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 110.156810
- Fleming N, Ng N, Osborne C, Biederman S, Yasseen AS III, Dy J, et al. Adolescent pregnancy outcomes in the province of Ontario: a cohort study. J Obstet Gynaecol Can (2013) 35(3):234–45. doi:10.1016/S1701-2163 (15)30995-6
- Godfrey KM, Barker DJ. Fetal programming and adult health. Public Health Nutr (2001) 4(2B):611–24. doi:10.1079/PHN2001145
- Godfrey KM, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Nonimprinted epigenetics in fetal and postnatal development and growth. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser* (2013) 71:57–63. doi:10.1159/000342552
- Arabin B, Arck PC. Fetal growth restriction and disease in mother and offspring. In: Lees CC, Visser G, Hecher K, editors. *Fetal Growth Restriction*. Cambridge University Press.
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2016) 133(4):e38–360. doi:10.1161/CIR. 000000000000350
- Louis J, Saade G. Introduction. Semin Perinatol (2015) 39(4):253. doi:10.1053/j. semperi.2015.05.001
- Gray L, Lee IM, Sesso HD, Batty GD. Blood pressure in early adulthood, hypertension in middle age, and future cardiovascular disease mortality: HAHS (Harvard Alumni Health Study). J Am Coll Cardiol (2011) 58(23):2396–403. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.07.045

- Ford ES. Trends in mortality from all causes and cardiovascular disease among hypertensive and nonhypertensive adults in the United States. *Circulation* (2011) 123(16):1737–44. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.005645
- Farley TA, Dalal MA, Mostashari F, Frieden TR. Deaths preventable in the U.S. by improvements in use of clinical preventive services. *Am J Prev Med* (2010) 38(6):600–9. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2010.02.016
- Thilaganathan B. Placental syndromes: getting to the heart of the matter. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol (2017) 49(1):7–9. doi:10.1002/uog.17378
- 20. Thilaganathan B. Pregnancy Hypertension and Gestational Diabetes: Disease Similarities Highlight Apparent Differences (2017). Available from: https:// www.linkedin.com/pulse/pregnancy-hypertension-gestational-diabetesdisease-thilaganathan
- de Kleijn MJ, van der Schouw YT, van der Graaf Y. Reproductive history and cardiovascular disease risk in postmenopausal women: a review of the literature. *Maturitas* (1999) 33(1):7–36. doi:10.1016/S0378-5122(99)00038-9
- 22. van Beresteijn EC, Korevaar JC, Huijbregts PC, Schouten EG, Burema J, Kok FJ. Perimenopausal increase in serum cholesterol: a 10-year longitudinal study. *Am J Epidemiol* (1993) 137(4):383–92. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje. a116686
- Jensen J. Lipid and lipoprotein profiles in postmenopausal women. Effects of combined hormone replacement therapy. *Dan Med Bull* (1992) 39(1):64–80.
- Meade TW, Dyer S, Howarth DJ, Imeson JD, Stirling Y. Antithrombin III and procoagulant activity: sex differences and effects of the menopause. *Br J Haematol* (1990) 74(1):77–81. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.1990.tb02541.x
- Lindoff C, Petersson F, Lecander I, Martinsson G, Astedt B. Passage of the menopause is followed by haemostatic changes. *Maturitas* (1993) 17(1):17–22. doi:10.1016/0378-5122(93)90119-3
- 26. Kannel WB. Recent highlights from the Framingham study. *Aust N Z J Med* (1976) 6(5):373–86. doi:10.1111/j.1445-5994.1976.tb03019.x
- Smith GC, Pell JP, Walsh D. Spontaneous loss of early pregnancy and risk of ischaemic heart disease in later life: retrospective cohort study. *BMJ* (2003) 326(7386):423–4. doi:10.1136/bmj.326.7386.423
- Bonamy AK, Parikh NI, Cnattingius S, Ludvigsson JF, Ingelsson E. Birth characteristics and subsequent risks of maternal cardiovascular disease: effects of gestational age and fetal growth. *Circulation* (2011) 124(25):2839–46. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.034884
- Smith GC, Wood AM, White IR, Pell JP, Hattie J. Birth weight and the risk of cardiovascular disease in the maternal grandparents. *Am J Epidemiol* (2010) 171(6):736–44. doi:10.1093/aje/kwp448
- Pell JP, Smith GC, Walsh D. Pregnancy complications and subsequent maternal cerebrovascular events: a retrospective cohort study of 119,668 births. *Am J Epidemiol* (2004) 159(4):336–42. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh064
- Ness RB, Harris T, Cobb J, Flegal KM, Kelsey JL, Balanger A, et al. Number of pregnancies and the subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease. *N Engl J Med* (1993) 328(21):1528–33. doi:10.1056/NEJM199305273282104
- 32. Lawlor DA, Ronalds G, Clark H, Smith GD, Leon DA. Birth weight is inversely associated with incident coronary heart disease and stroke among individuals born in the 1950s: findings from the Aberdeen Children of the 1950s prospective cohort study. *Circulation* (2005) 112(10):1414–8.
- Ray JG, Booth GL, Alter DA, Vermeulen MJ. Prognosis after maternal placental events and revascularization: PAMPER study. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2016) 214(1):e1–14. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.021
- Ray JG, Schull MJ, Kingdom JC, Vermeulen MJ. Heart failure and dysrhythmias after maternal placental syndromes: HAD MPS study. *Heart* (2012) 98(15):1136–41. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2011-301548
- Ray JG, Vermeulen MJ, Schull MJ, Redelmeier DA. Cardiovascular health after maternal placental syndromes (CHAMPS): population-based retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* (2005) 366(9499):1797–803. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(05)67726-4
- Bohrer J, Ehrenthal DB. Other adverse pregnancy outcomes and future chronic disease. *Semin Perinatol* (2015) 39(4):259–63. doi:10.1053/j.semperi. 2015.05.003
- 37. Kirkegaard H, Stovring H, Rasmussen KM, Abrams B, Sørensen T, Nohr EA. How do pregnancy-related weight changes and breastfeeding relate to maternal weight and BMI-adjusted waist circumference 7 y after delivery? Results from a path analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2014) 99:312–9. doi:10.3945/ ajcn.113.067405
- 38. Gunderson EP, Hurston SR, Ning X, Lo JC, Crites Y, Walton D, et al. Lactation and progression to type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes

mellitus: a prospective cohort study. Ann Intern Med (2015) 163(12):889–98. doi:10.7326/M15-0807

- Nehring I, Schmoll S, Beyerlein A, Hauner H, von Kries R. Gestational weight gain and long-term postpartum weight retention: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2011) 94(5):1225–31. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.015289
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* (2009) 373(9677):1773–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5
- Ingul CB, Loras L, Tegnander E, Eik-Nes SH, Brantberg A. Maternal obesity affects fetal myocardial function as early as in the first trimester. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 47(4):433–42. doi:10.1002/uog.14841
- Roeters van Lennep JE, Heida KY, Bots ML, Hoek A. Cardiovascular disease risk in women with premature ovarian insufficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* (2016) 23(2):178–86. doi:10.1177/ 2047487314556004
- Davey Smith G, Hart C, Ferrell C, Upton M, Hole D, Hawthorne V, et al. Birth weight of offspring and mortality in the Renfrew and Paisley study: prospective observational study. *BMJ* (1997) 315(7117):1189–93. doi:10.1136/ bmj.315.7117.1189
- Smith GC, Pell JP, Walsh D. Pregnancy complications and maternal risk of ischaemic heart disease: a retrospective cohort study of 129,290 births. *Lancet* (2001) 357(9273):2002–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)05112-6
- Susser E, Susser M. Familial aggregation studies. A note on their epidemiologic properties. Am J Epidemiol (1989) 129(1):23–30. doi:10.1093/ oxfordjournals.aje.a115119
- 46. Steffen KM, Cooper ME, Shi M, Caprau D, Simhan HN, Dagle JM, et al. Maternal and fetal variation in genes of cholesterol metabolism is associated with preterm delivery. *J Perinatol* (2007) 27(11):672–80. doi:10.1038/ sj.jp.7211806
- Melchiorre K, Sutherland G, Sharma R, Nanni M, Thilaganathan B. Midgestational maternal cardiovascular profile in preterm and term pre-eclampsia: a prospective study. *BJOG* (2013) 120(4):496–504. doi:10.1111/ 1471-0528.12068
- Forsdahl A. Are poor living conditions in childhood and adolescence an important risk factor for arteriosclerotic heart disease? *Br J Prev Soc Med* (1977) 31(2):91–5.
- Barker DJ, Osmond C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. *Lancet* (1986) 1(8489):1077–81. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(86)91340-1
- Barker DJ, Clark PM. Fetal undernutrition and disease in later life. *Rev* Reprod (1997) 2(2):105–12. doi:10.1530/ror.0.0020105
- Lumey LH, Ravelli AC, Wiessing LG, Koppe JG, Treffers PE, Stein ZA. The Dutch famine birth cohort study: design, validation of exposure, and selected characteristics of subjects after 43 years follow-up. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* (1993) 7(4):354–67. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.1993.tb00415.x
- Lumey LH, Stein AD. In utero exposure to famine and subsequent fertility: the Dutch Famine Birth Cohort Study. *Am J Public Health* (1997) 87(12):1962–6. doi:10.2105/AJPH.87.12.1962
- Roseboom TJ, Painter RC, van Abeelen AF, Veenendaal MV, de Rooij SR. Hungry in the womb: what are the consequences? Lessons from the Dutch famine. *Maturitas* (2011) 70(2):141–5. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.06.017
- Toemen L, de Jonge LL, Gishti O, van Osch-Gevers L, Taal HR, Steegers EA, et al. Longitudinal growth during fetal life and infancy and cardiovascular outcomes at school-age. *J Hypertens* (2016) 34(7):1396–406. doi:10.1097/ HJH.000000000000947
- Hakim J, Senterman MK, Hakim AM. Preeclampsia is a biomarker for vascular disease in both mother and child: the need for a medical alert system. *Int J Pediatr* (2013) 2013:953150. doi:10.1155/2013/953150
- Davis EF, Lewandowski AJ, Aye C, Williamson W, Boardman H, Huang RC, et al. Clinical cardiovascular risk during young adulthood in offspring of hypertensive pregnancies: insights from a 20-year prospective follow-up birth cohort. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5(6):e008136. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008136
- Rikkonen K, Pesonen AK, Heinonen K, Lahti J, Kajantie E, Forsen T, et al. Infant growth and hostility in adult life. *Psychosom Med* (2008) 70(3):306–13. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181651638
- Jornayvaz FR, Vollenweider P, Bochud M, Mooser V, Waeber G, Marques-Vidal P. Low birth weight leads to obesity, diabetes and increased leptin levels in adults: the CoLaus study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2016) 15(1):73. doi:10.1186/s12933-016-0389-2

- Nordentoft M, Lou HC, Hansen D, Nim J, Pryds O, Rubin P, et al. Intrauterine growth retardation and premature delivery: the influence of maternal smoking and psychosocial factors. *Am J Public Health* (1996) 86(3):347–54. doi:10.2105/AJPH.86.3.347
- Dior UP, Lawrence GM, Sitlani C, Enquobahrie D, Manor O, Siscovick DS, et al. Parental smoking during pregnancy and offspring cardio-metabolic risk factors at ages 17 and 32. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 235(2):430–7. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2014.05.937
- Claesson R, Aberg A, Marsal K. Abnormal fetal growth is associated with gestational diabetes mellitus later in life: population-based register study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2007) 86(6):652–6. doi:10.1080/00016340701207682
- 62. de Rooij SR, Painter RC, Roseboom TJ, Phillips DI, Osmond C, Barker DJ, et al. Glucose tolerance at age 58 and the decline of glucose tolerance in comparison with age 50 in people prenatally exposed to the Dutch famine. *Diabetologia* (2006) 49(4):637–43. doi:10.1007/s00125-005-0136-9
- Boney CM, Verma A, Tucker R, Vohr BR. Metabolic syndrome in childhood: association with birth weight, maternal obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Pediatrics* (2005) 115(3):e290–6. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-1808
- Pontesilli M, Painter RC, Grooten IJ, van der Post JA, Mol BW, Vrijkotte TG, et al. Subfertility and assisted reproduction techniques are associated with poorer cardiometabolic profiles in childhood. *Reprod Biomed Online* (2015) 30(3):258–67. doi:10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.11.006
- Kolominsky Y, Igumnov S, Drozdovitch V. The psychological development of children from Belarus exposed in the prenatal period to radiation from the Chernobyl atomic power plant. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (1999) 40(2):299–305. doi:10.1111/1469-7610.00444
- Stanner SA, Yudkin JS. Fetal programming and the Leningrad Siege Study. *Twin Res* (2001) 4(5):287–92. doi:10.1375/1369052012498
- Boersma G, Tamashiro KL. Individual differences in the effects of prenatal stress exposure in rodents. *Neurobiol Stress* (2015) 1:100–8. doi:10.1016/j. ynstr.2014.10.006
- Mullin PM, Bray A, Schoenberg F, MacGibbon KW, Romero R, Goodwin TM, et al. Prenatal exposure to hyperemesis gravidarum linked to increased risk of psychological and behavioral disorders in adulthood. *J Dev Orig Health Dis* (2011) 2(4):200–4. doi:10.1017/S2040174411000249
- Cruz-Lemini M, Crispi F, Valenzuela-Alcaraz B, Figueras F, Sitges M, Bijnens B, et al. Fetal cardiovascular remodelling persists at 6 months of life in infants with intrauterine growth restriction. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 48(3):349–56. doi:10.1002/uog.15767
- Rodriguez-Lopez M, Osorio L, Acosta-Rojas R, Figueras J, Cruz-Lemini M, Figueras F, et al. Influence of breastfeeding and postnatal nutrition on cardiovascular remodeling induced by fetal growth restriction. *Pediatr Res* (2016) 79(1–1):100–6. doi:10.1038/pr.2015.182
- Jaddoe VW, de Jonge LL, Hofman A, Franco OH, Steegers EA, Gaillard R. First trimester fetal growth restriction and cardiovascular risk factors in school age children: population based cohort study. *BMJ* (2014) 348:g14. doi:10.1136/bmj.g14
- Aggarwal A, Monsivais P, Drewnowski A. Nutrient intakes linked to better health outcomes are associated with higher diet costs in the US. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(5):e37533. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037533
- Darmon N, Drewnowski A. Does social class predict diet quality? Am J Clin Nutr (2008) 87(5):1107–17.
- 74. UNICEF. Drops of Life Vitamin A supplementation for Child Survival. Progress and Lessons Learned in West and Central Africa (2007). Available from: http://www.unicef.org
- Margerison-Zilko CE, Catalano R, Hubbard A, Ahern J. Maternal exposure to unexpected economic contraction and birth weight for gestational age. *Epidemiology* (2011) 22(6):855–8. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e318230a66e
- Cobin RH. Cardiovascular and metabolic risks associated with PCOS. *Intern* Emerg Med (2013) 8(Suppl 1):S61–4. doi:10.1007/s11739-013-0924-z
- Baschat AA. First-trimester screening for pre-eclampsia: moving from personalized risk prediction to prevention. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol (2015) 45(2):119–29. doi:10.1002/uog.14770
- Scholten RR, Hopman MT, Sweep FC, Van de Vlugt MJ, Van Dijk AP, Oyen WJ, et al. Co-occurrence of cardiovascular and prothrombotic risk factors in women with a history of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* (2013) 121(1):97–105. doi:10.1097/AOG.0b013e318273764b
- 79. Sibai BM. First-trimester screening with combined maternal clinical factors, biophysical and biomarkers to predict preterm pre-eclampsia

and hypertensive disorders: are they ready for clinical use? *BJOG* (2015) 122(3):282–3. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.13052

- McCowan LM, Thompson JM, Taylor RS, North RA, Poston L, Baker PN, et al. Clinical prediction in early pregnancy of infants small for gestational age by customised birthweight centiles: findings from a healthy nulliparous cohort. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(8):e70917. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0070917
- Bartsch E, Medcalf KE, Park AL, Ray JG; High Risk of Pre-Eclampsia Identification Group. Clinical risk factors for pre-eclampsia determined in early pregnancy: systematic review and meta-analysis of large cohort studies. *BMJ* (2016) 353:i1753. doi:10.1136/bmj.i1753
- Mosca L, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, Bezanson JL, Dolor RJ, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Effectiveness-based guidelines for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in women – 2011 update: a guideline from the american heart association. *Circulation* (2011) 123(11):1243–62. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31820faaf8
- Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Research Group. The Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP): description of lifestyle intervention. *Diabetes Care* (2002) 25(12):2165–71. doi:10.2337/diacare.25.12.2165
- Clifton VL. Review: sex and the human placenta: mediating differential strategies of fetal growth and survival. *Placenta* (2010) 31(Suppl):S33–9. doi:10.1016/j.placenta.2009.11.010
- Nelson DM. How the placenta affects your life, from womb to tomb. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2015) 213(4 Suppl):S12–3. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.015
- Kessous R, Shoham-Vardi I, Pariente G, Sergienko R, Sheiner E. Long-term maternal atherosclerotic morbidity in women with pre-eclampsia. *Heart* (2015) 101(6):442–6. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2014-306571
- Theilen L, Fraser A, Hollingshaus M, Schliep K, Varner M, Smith K, et al. Long-term mortality risk following hypertensive disease of pregnancy (HDP). *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2014) 214(1):S31–2. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.142
- Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C, Robson J, Brindle P. Derivation, validation, and evaluation of a new QRISK model to estimate lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease: cohort study using QResearch database. *BMJ* (2010) 341:c6624. doi:10.1136/bmj.c6624
- Scantlebury DC, Schwartz GL, Acquah LA, White WM, Moser M, Garovic VD. The treatment of hypertension during pregnancy: when should blood pressure medications be started? *Curr Cardiol Rep* (2013) 15(11):412. doi:10.1007/s11886-013-0412-0
- Ankumah NA, Cantu J, Jauk V, Biggio J, Hauth J, Andrews W, et al. Risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women with mild chronic hypertension before 20 weeks of gestation. *Obstet Gynecol* (2014) 123(5):966–72. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000000205
- Smith GC, Stenhouse EJ, Crossley JA, Aitken DA, Cameron AD, Connor JM. Early-pregnancy origins of low birth weight. *Nature* (2002) 417(6892):916. doi:10.1038/417916a
- 92. Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. Early prediction of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol Int* (2014) 2014:297397. doi:10.1155/2014/297397
- Krantz DA, Hallahan TW, Carmichael JB, Liu HP. [179-POS]: first trimester screening for early onset preeclampsia is a cost effective approach in prenatal care. *Pregnancy Hypertens* (2015) 5(1):92. doi:10.1016/j.preghy.2014.10.185
- 94. Drost JT, Grutters JP, van der Wilt GJ, van der Schouw YT, Maas AH. Yearly hypertension screening in women with a history of pre-eclampsia: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *Neth Heart J* (2015) 23(12):585–91. doi:10.1007/ s12471-015-0760-z
- Romero R, Dey SK, Fisher SJ. Preterm labor: one syndrome, many causes. Science (2014) 345(6198):760–5. doi:10.1126/science.1251816
- Smith GC, Wood AM, Pell JP, Hattie J. Recurrent miscarriage is associated with a family history of ischaemic heart disease: a retrospective cohort study. *BJOG* (2011) 118(5):557–63. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02890.x
- 97. Wang G, Divall S, Radovick S, Paige D, Ning Y, Chen Z, et al. Preterm birth and random plasma insulin levels at birth and in early childhood. *JAMA* (2014) 311(6):587–96. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.1
- Romero R, Gotsch F, Pineles B, Kusanovic JP. Inflammation in pregnancy: its roles in reproductive physiology, obstetrical complications, and fetal injury. *Nutr Rev* (2007) 65(12 Pt 2):S194–202. doi:10.1301/nr.2007.dec. S194-S202
- Velten M, Gorr MW, Youtz DJ, Velten C, Rogers LK, Wold LE. Adverse perinatal environment contributes to altered cardiac development and function. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2014) 306(9):H1334–40. doi:10.1152/ ajpheart.00056.2014

- 100. Chandrasiri UP, Randall LM, Saad AA, Bashir AM, Rogerson SJ, Adam I. Low antibody levels to pregnancy-specific malaria antigens and heightened cytokine responses associated with severe malaria in pregnancy. J Infect Dis (2014) 209(9):1408–17. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit646
- 101. DiPietro JA, Caulfield LE, Irizarry RA, Chen P, Merialdi M, Zavaleta N. Prenatal development of intrafetal and maternal-fetal synchrony. *Behav Neurosci* (2006) 120(3):687–701. doi:10.1037/0735-7044.120.3.687
- Chang MY, Chen CH, Huang KF. Effects of music therapy on psychological health of women during pregnancy. *J Clin Nurs* (2008) 17(19):2580–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.02064.x
- Arabin B. Music during pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol (2002) 20(5):425–30. doi:10.1046/j.1469-0705.2002.00844.x
- 104. Smits L, Krabbendam L, de Bie R, Essed G, van Os J. Lower birth weight of Dutch neonates who were in utero at the time of the 9/11 attacks. J Psychosom Res (2006) 61(5):715–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.04.020
- 105. Khashan AS, McNamee R, Abel KM, Pedersen MG, Webb RT, Kenny LC, et al. Reduced infant birthweight consequent upon maternal exposure to severe life events. *Psychosom Med* (2008) 70(6):688–94. doi:10.1097/ PSY.0b013e318177940d
- Hartwig IR, Pincus MK, Diemert A, Hecher K, Arck PC. Sex-specific effect of first-trimester maternal progesterone on birthweight. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(1):77–86. doi:10.1093/humrep/des367
- Dipietro JA. Maternal stress in pregnancy: considerations for fetal development. J Adolesc Health (2012) 51(2 Suppl):S3-8. doi:10.1016/j. jadohealth.2012.04.008
- Crane JM, Keough M, Murphy P, Burrage L, Hutchens D. Effects of environmental tobacco smoke on perinatal outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. BJOG (2011) 118(7):865–71. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.02941.x
- 109. Durmus B, Ay L, Hokken-Koelega AC, Raat H, Hofman A, Steegers EA, et al. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and subcutaneous fat mass in early childhood. The Generation R study. *Eur J Epidemiol* (2011) 26(4):295–304. doi:10.1007/s10654-010-9544-3
- 110. Abusalah A, Gavana M, Haidich AB, Smyrnakis E, Papadakis N, Papanikolaou A, et al. Low birth weight and prenatal exposure to indoor pollution from tobacco smoke and wood fuel smoke: a matched case-control study in Gaza Strip. *Matern Child Health J* (2012) 16(8):1718–27. doi:10.1007/s10995-011-0851-4
- 111. Suter M, Ma J, Harris A, Patterson L, Brown KA, Shope C, et al. Maternal tobacco use modestly alters correlated epigenome-wide placental DNA methylation and gene expression. *Epigenetics* (2011) 6(11):1284–94. doi:10.4161/epi.6.11.17819
- 112. Carson MP. Society for maternal and fetal medicine workshop on pregnancy as a window to future health: clinical utility of classifying women with metabolic syndrome. *Semin Perinatol* (2015) 39(4):284–9. doi:10.1053/j. semperi.2015.05.007
- Bonora E. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. Ann Med (2006) 38(1):64–80. doi:10.1080/07853890500401234
- 114. Srinivas SK, Sammel MD, Bastek J, Ofori E, Andrela CM, Wolfe ML, et al. Evaluating the association between all components of the metabolic syndrome and pre-eclampsia. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* (2009) 22(6):501–9. doi:10.1080/14767050902794642
- 115. Sattar N, Ramsay J, Crawford L, Cheyne H, Greer IA. Classic and novel risk factor parameters in women with a history of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* (2003) 42(1):39–42. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000074428.11168.EE
- 116. Smith GN, Walker MC, Liu A, Wen SW, Swansburg M, Ramshaw H, et al. A history of preeclampsia identifies women who have underlying cardiovascular risk factors. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2009) 200(1):e1–8. doi:10.1016/j. ajog.2008.06.035
- 117. Romundstad PR, Magnussen EB, Smith GD, Vatten LJ. Hypertension in pregnancy and later cardiovascular risk: common antecedents? *Circulation* (2010) 122(6):579–84. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.943407
- Hedderson MM, Gunderson EP, Ferrara A. Gestational weight gain and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Obstet Gynecol* (2010) 115(3):597–604. doi:10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181cfce4f
- 119. WHO CoECO. *Ending Childhood Obesity* (2016). Available from: www.who. int/entity/end-childhood-obesity/final-report/en/
- UN General Assembly. United Nations Decade of Action on Nutrition (2016-2025) (A/70/L.42) (2016). Available from: http://reliefweb.int/report/world/ united-nations-decade-action-nutrition-2016-2025-a70l42

- 121. Hanson M, Gluckman P, Bustreo F. Obesity and the health of future generations. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(12):966–7. doi:10.1016/ S2213-8587(16)30098-5
- Altemus M, Deuster PA, Galliven E, Carter CS, Gold PW. Suppression of hypothalmic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to stress in lactating women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1995) 80(10):2954–9. doi:10.1210/jcem.80.10.7559880
- 123. Hahn-Holbrook J, Holt-Lunstad J, Holbrook C, Coyne SM, Lawson ET. Maternal defense: breast feeding increases aggression by reducing stress. *Psychol Sci* (2011) 22(10):1288–95. doi:10.1177/0956797611420729
- 124. Stuebe AM, Rich-Edwards JW. The reset hypothesis: lactation and maternal metabolism. *Am J Perinatol* (2009) 26(1):81–8. doi:10.1055/s-0028-1103034
- 125. Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep)* (2007) 153:1–186.
- 126. Bartick MC, Stuebe AM, Schwarz EB, Luongo C, Reinhold AG, Foster EM. Cost analysis of maternal disease associated with suboptimal breastfeeding. *Obstet Gynecol* (2013) 122(1):111–9. doi:10.1097/AOG. 0b013e318297a047
- 127. Gorlanova O, Thalmann S, Proietti E, Stern G, Latzin P, Kuhni C, et al. Effects of breastfeeding on respiratory symptoms in infancy. J Pediatr (2016) 174:111–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.03.041
- Johnston M, Landers S, Noble L, Szucs K, Viehmann L. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics* (2012) 129(3):e827-41. doi:10.1542/ peds.2011-3552
- 129. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Women's Health Care Physicians, Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women. Committee Opinion No. 570: breastfeeding in underserved women: increasing initiation and continuation of breastfeeding. *Obstet Gynecol* (2013) 122(2 Pt 1):423–8. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000433008.93971.6a
- Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. JAMA (2012) 307(5):491–7. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.39
- Cantwell R, Clutton-Brock T, Cooper G, Dawson A, Drife J, Garrod D, et al. Saving Mothers' Lives: reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer: 2006–2008. BJOG (2011) 118(Suppl 1):1–203.
- 132. Despres JP. Is visceral obesity the cause of the metabolic syndrome? *Ann Med* (2006) 38(1):52–63. doi:10.1080/07853890500383895
- 133. Endres LK, Straub H, McKinney C, Plunkett B, Minkovitz CS, Schetter CD, et al. Postpartum weight retention risk factors and relationship to obesity at 1 year. Obstet Gynecol (2015) 125(1):144–52. doi:10.1097/AOG. 000000000000565
- Gunderson EP, Sternfeld B, Wellons MF, Whitmer RA, Chiang V, Quesenberry CP Jr, et al. Childbearing may increase visceral adipose tissue independent of overall increase in body fat. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2008) 16(5):1078–84. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.40
- 135. Wells JC, Griffin L, Treleaven P. Independent changes in female body shape with parity and age: a life-history approach to female adiposity. *Am J Hum Biol* (2010) 22(4):456–62. doi:10.1002/ajhb.21017
- 136. Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, et al. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(20):2105–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0801891
- 137. Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines; Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain during Pregnancy: Re-Examining the Guidelines. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2009). The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health.
- 138. Lederman SA, Paxton A, Heymsfield SB, Wang J, Thornton J, Pierson RN Jr. Body fat and water changes during pregnancy in women with different body weight and weight gain. *Obstet Gynecol* (1997) 90(4 Pt 1):483–8. doi:10.1016/ S0029-7844(97)00355-4
- 139. Takahashi K, Ohkuchi A, Furukawa R, Matsubara S, Suzuki M. Establishing measurements of subcutaneous and visceral fat area ratio in the early second trimester by magnetic resonance imaging in obese pregnant women. J Obstet Gynaecol Res (2014) 40(5):1304–7. doi:10.1111/jog.12364
- 140. Arabin B, Stupin JH. Overweight and obesity before, during and after pregnancy: part 2: evidence-based risk factors and interventions. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2014) 74(7):646–55. doi:10.1055/s-0034-1368462
- 141. Stuebe AM, Horton BJ, Chetwynd E, Watkins S, Grewen K, Meltzer-Brody S. Prevalence and risk factors for early, undesired weaning attributed to lactation

dysfunction. J Womens Health (Larchmt) (2014) 23(5):404-12. doi:10.1089/ jwh.2013.4506

- 142. Yaniv-Salem S, Shoham-Vardi I, Kessous R, Pariente G, Sergienko R, Sheiner E. Obesity in pregnancy: what's next? Long-term cardiovascular morbidity in a follow-up period of more than a decade. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* (2016) 29(4):619–23. doi:10.3109/14767058.2015.1013932
- Pischon T, Nothlings U, Boeing H. Obesity and cancer. Proc Nutr Soc (2008) 67(2):128–45. doi:10.1017/S0029665108006976
- 144. Reynolds RM. Excess maternal weight gain during pregnancy is associated with overweight/obesity in offspring at age 16 years, but maternal pre-pregnancy obesity has a greater effect. *Evid Based Nurs* (2013) 16(2):43–4. doi:10.1136/eb-2012-100888
- 145. Reynolds RM, Allan KM, Raja EA, Bhattacharya S, McNeill G, Hannaford PC, et al. Maternal obesity during pregnancy and premature mortality from cardiovascular event in adult offspring: follow-up of 1 323 275 person years. *BMJ* (2013) 347:f4539. doi:10.1136/bmj.f4539
- 146. Nathanielsz PW, Ford SP, Long NM, Vega CC, Reyes-Castro LA, Zambrano E. Interventions to prevent adverse fetal programming due to maternal obesity during pregnancy. *Nutr Rev* (2013) 71(Suppl 1):S78–87. doi:10.1111/nure.12062
- 147. Desai M, Han G, Narwani K, Beall MK, Ross MG. Maternal obesity and programmed offspring hyperphagia: differential effects of prenatal and postnatal exposure. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2016) 214(1):S108–9. doi:10.1016/j. ajog.2015.10.208
- 148. Prince A, Ma J, Baquero K, Blundell P, Takahashi D, Grove K, et al. The offspring microbiome is altered by virtue of a high fat maternal diet during gestation. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2016) 24(1):S57. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.098
- 149. Aagaard K, Prince A, Oliva G, Ma J, Ramirez JSB, Dean T, et al. A high fat maternal diet contributes to microbiomedriven regulation of the offspring gut-brain axis & behavior in primates. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 214(1):S50. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.088
- 150. Edlow A, Guedj F, Sverdlov DY, Neri C, Daruvala ST, Bianchi DW. Sex-specific effects of maternal obesity on embryo size and fetal brain oxidative stress. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2016) 214(1):S124–5. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.243
- Fleming K. Pregnancy: window into women's future cardiovascular health. Can Fam Physician (2013) 59(10):1033–5; 1045–7.
- Macfarlane CM, Tsakalakos N. The extended Pedersen hypothesis. Clin Physiol Biochem (1988) 6(2):68–73.
- Freinkel N, Metzger BE. Gestational diabetes: problems in classification and implications for long-range prognosis. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1985) 189:47–63. doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-1850-8_4
- 154. Freinkel N, Metzger BE, Phelps RL, Dooley SL, Ogata ES, Radvany RM, et al. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Heterogeneity of maternal age, weight, insulin secretion, HLA antigens, and islet cell antibodies and the impact of maternal metabolism on pancreatic B-cell and somatic development in the offspring. *Diabetes* (1985) 34(Suppl 2):1–7. doi:10.2337/diab.34.2.S1
- 155. Metzger BE, Bybee DE, Freinkel N, Phelps RL, Radvany RM, Vaisrub N. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Correlations between the phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of the mother and abnormal glucose tolerance during the first year postpartum. *Diabetes* (1985) 34(Suppl 2):111–5. doi:10.2337/diab.34.2.S111
- 156. Ashwal E, Hadar E, Hod M. Diabetes in low-resourced countries. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol (2015) 29(1):91–101. doi:10.1016/j. bpobgyn.2014.05.009
- 157. Barker DJ. The fetal and infant origins of adult disease. BMJ (1990) 301(6761):1111. doi:10.1136/bmj.301.6761.1111
- Barker DJ. The effect of nutrition of the fetus and neonate on cardiovascular disease in adult life. *Proc Nutr Soc* (1992) 51(2):135–44. doi:10.1079/ PNS19920023
- Barker DJ. Intrauterine programming of adult disease. *Mol Med Today* (1995) 1(9):418–23. doi:10.1016/S1357-4310(95)90793-9
- Barker DJ, Thornburg KL. Placental programming of chronic diseases, cancer and lifespan: a review. *Placenta* (2013) 34(10):841–5. doi:10.1016/j. placenta.2013.07.063
- 161. Hales CN, Barker DJ. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Diabetologia* (1992) 35(7):595–601. doi:10.1007/BF00400248
- Hales CN, Barker DJ. The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Br Med Bull (2001) 60:5–20. doi:10.1093/bmb/60.1.5

- 163. Huxley RR, Shiell AW, Law CM. The role of size at birth and postnatal catch-up growth in determining systolic blood pressure: a systematic review of the literature. *J Hypertens* (2000) 18(7):815–31. doi:10.1097/00004872-200018070-00002
- 164. Law CM, Shiell AW. Is blood pressure inversely related to birth weight? The strength of evidence from a systematic review of the literature. J Hypertens (1996) 14(8):935–41. doi:10.1097/00004872-199608000-00002
- 165. Tappy L. Adiposity in children born small for gestational age. Int J Obes (Lond) (2006) 30(Suppl 4):S36–40. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803517
- 166. Yajnik CS, Deshpande SS, Jackson AA, Refsum H, Rao S, Fisher DJ, et al. Vitamin B12 and folate concentrations during pregnancy and insulin resistance in the offspring: the Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. *Diabetologia* (2008) 51(1):29–38. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0793-y
- 167. de Rooij SR, Painter RC, Phillips DI, Osmond C, Michels RP, Godsland IF, et al. Impaired insulin secretion after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(8):1897–901. doi:10.2337/dc06-0460
- 168. Roseboom T, de Rooij S, Painter R. The Dutch famine and its long-term consequences for adult health. *Early Hum Dev* (2006) 82(8):485–91. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2006.07.001
- 169. Persson B, Pschera H, Binder C, Efendic S, Hanson U, Hartling S, et al. Decreased beta-cell function in women with previous small for gestational age infants. *Horm Metab Res* (1993) 25(3):170–4. doi:10.1055/ s-2007-1002070
- 170. Simmons R. Perinatal programming of obesity. *Exp Gerontol* (2005) 40(11):863–6. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2005.09.007
- 171. Keely EJ, Malcolm JC, Hadjiyannakis S, Gaboury I, Lough G, Lawson ML. Prevalence of metabolic markers of insulin resistance in offspring of gestational diabetes pregnancies. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2008) 9(1):53–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5448.2007.00258.x
- Dabelea D, Knowler WC, Pettitt DJ. Effect of diabetes in pregnancy on offspring: follow-up research in the Pima Indians. *J Matern Fetal Med* (2000) 9(1):83–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1520-6661(200001/02)9:1<83::AID-MFM17>3.0.CO;2-O
- 173. Stuart A, Amer-Wahlin I, Persson J, Kallen K. Long-term cardiovascular risk in relation to birth weight and exposure to maternal diabetes mellitus. *Int J Cardiol* (2013) 168(3):2653–7. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.03.032
- 174. Darmasseelane K, Hyde MJ, Santhakumaran S, Gale C, Modi N. Mode of delivery and offspring body mass index, overweight and obesity in adult life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(2):e87896. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087896
- Dodd JM, McLeod A, Windrim RC, Kingdom J. Antithrombotic therapy for improving maternal or infant health outcomes in women considered at risk of placental dysfunction. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) 7:CD006780. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006780.pub3
- Schramm AM, Clowse ME. Aspirin for prevention of preeclampsia in lupus pregnancy. *Autoimmune Dis* (2014) 2014:920467. doi:10.1155/2014/920467
- 177. Ruffatti A, Salvan E, Del Ross T, Gerosa M, Andreoli L, Maina A, et al. Treatment strategies and pregnancy outcomes in antiphospholipid syndrome patients with thrombosis and triple antiphospholipid positivity. A European multicentre retrospective study. *Thromb Haemost* (2014) 112(4):727–35. doi:10.1160/TH14-03-0191
- Cotter AM, Molloy AM, Scott JM, Daly SF. Elevated plasma homocysteine in early pregnancy: a risk factor for the development of severe preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2001) 185(4):781–5. doi:10.1016/S0002-9378(01) 80437-3
- Cotter AM, Molloy AM, Scott JM, Daly SF. Elevated plasma homocysteine in early pregnancy: a risk factor for the development of nonsevere preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2003) 189(2):391–4; discussion 4–6. doi:10.1067/ S0002-9378(03)00669-0
- Salehi-Pourmehr H, Mohamad-Alizadeh S, Malakouti J, Farshbaf-Khalili A. Association of the folic acid consumption and its serum levels with preeclampsia in pregnant women. *Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res* (2012) 17(6):461–6.
- 181. Li Z, Ye R, Zhang L, Li H, Liu J, Ren A. Folic acid supplementation during early pregnancy and the risk of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia. *Hypertension* (2013) 61(4):873–9. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 111.00230
- NCT01355159. Cg. Effect of Folic Acid Supplementation in Pregnancy on Preeclampsia-Folic Acid Clinical Trial (FACT). Clinicaltrials.

- Nalli C, Iodice A, Andreoli L, Lojacono A, Motta M, Fazzi E, et al. The effects of lupus and antiphospholipid antibody syndrome on foetal outcomes. *Lupus* (2014) 23(6):507–17. doi:10.1177/0961203313501402
- Pozharny Y, Lambertini L, Clunie G, Ferrara L, Lee MJ. Epigenetics in women's health care. *Mt Sinai J Med* (2010) 77(2):225–35. doi:10.1002/ msj.20176
- Pozharny Y, Lambertini L, Ma Y, Ferrara L, Litton CG, Diplas A, et al. Genomic loss of imprinting in first-trimester human placenta. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2010) 202(4):e1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.01.039
- 186. Kane SC, Brennecke SP, da Silva Costa F. Ophthalmic artery Doppler analysis: a window into the cerebrovasculature of women with pre-eclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol (2017) 49(1):15–21. doi:10.1002/uog.17209
- 187. Melchiorre K, Sharma R, Khalil A, Thilaganathan B. Maternal cardiovascular function in normal pregnancy: evidence of maladaptation to chronic volume overload. *Hypertension* (2016) 67(4):754–62. doi:10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06667
- Melchiorre K, Sharma R, Thilaganathan B. Cardiovascular implications in preeclampsia: an overview. *Circulation* (2014) 130(8):703–14. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003664
- 189. Block-Abraham DM, Turan OM, Doyle LE, Kopelman JN, Atlas RO, Jenkins CB, et al. First trimester maternal characteristics, Doppler parameters and serum analytes after preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy* (2014) 33(2):204–14. doi:10.3109/10641955.2013.853778
- 190. Melchiorre K, Sutherland GR, Baltabaeva A, Liberati M, Thilaganathan B. Maternal cardiac dysfunction and remodeling in women with preeclampsia at term. *Hypertension* (2011) 57(1):85–93. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 110.162321
- 191. Vikse BE. Pre-eclampsia and the risk of kidney disease. Lancet (2013) 13(382):104-6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60741-2
- 192. Egeland GM, Klungsoyr K, Oyen N, Tell GS, Naess O, Skjaerven R. Preconception cardiovascular risk factor differences between gestational hypertension and preeclampsia: cohort Norway study. *Hypertension* (2016) 67(6):1173–80. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07099
- 193. Skjaerven R. Registry based perinatal epidemiology: the importance of sibling and generation data. Nor Epidemiol (2015) 25:53–62. doi:10.5324/nje. v25i1-2.1890
- 194. Godfrey KM, Reynolds RM, Prescott SL, Nyirenda M, Jaddoe VW, Eriksson JG, et al. Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2017) 5(1):53–64. doi:10.1016/ S2213-8587(16)30107-3
- 195. Hanson M, Muller R. Epigenetic inheritance and the responsibility for health in society. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2017) 5(1):11–2. doi:10.1016/ S2213-8587(16)30400-4
- Grundy E, Kravdal O. Reproductive history and mortality in late middle age among Norwegian men and women. Am J Epidemiol (2008) 167(3):271–9. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm295
- 197. Nordtveit TI, Melve KK, Skjaerven R. Intergenerational birth weight associations by mother's birth order – the mechanisms behind the paradox: a population-based cohort study. *Early Hum Dev* (2009) 85(9):577–81. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2009.06.002
- 198. Tsiakkas A, Saiid Y, Wright A, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 30–34 weeks' gestation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 215(1):87.e1–17. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2016.02.016
- 199. Hoskin MA, Bray GA, Hattaway K, Khare-Ranade PA, Pomeroy J, Semler LN, et al. Prevention of diabetes through the lifestyle intervention:

lessons learned from the diabetes prevention program and outcomes study and its translation to practice. *Curr Nutr Rep* (2014) 3(4):364–78. doi:10.1007/s13668-014-0094-2

- 200. Smith GN, Saade G. Pregnancy as a Window to Future Health. SMFM White Paper: Publications & Guidelines (2015).
- 201. Cusimano MC, Pudwell J, Roddy M, Cho CK, Smith GN. The maternal health clinic: an initiative for cardiovascular risk identification in women with pregnancy-related complications. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2014) 210(5):e1–9. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2013.12.001
- 202. Smith GN. The maternal health clinic: improving women's cardiovascular health. Semin Perinatol (2015) 39(4):316–9. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2015. 05.012
- 203. Johnson K, Posner SF, Biermann J, Cordero JF, Atrash HK, Parker CS, et al. Recommendations to improve preconception health and health care – United States. A report of the CDC/ATSDR preconception care work group and the select panel on preconception care. *MMWR Recomm Rep* (2006) 55(RR-6):1-23.
- 204. Johnson KA, Gee RE. Interpregnancy care. Semin Perinatol (2015) 39(4):310–5. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2015.05.011
- Ledford CJ, Canzona MR, Cafferty LA, Hodge JA. Mobile application as a prenatal education and engagement tool: a randomized controlled pilot. *Patient Educ Couns* (2016) 99(4):578–82. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.11.006
- 206. Heida KY, Bots ML, de Groot CJ, van Dunne FM, Hammoud NM, Hoek A, et al. Cardiovascular risk management after reproductive and pregnancy-related disorders: a Dutch multidisciplinary evidence-based guideline. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* (2016) 23(17):1863–79. doi:10.1177/2047487316659573
- Holland WW, Stewart S, Masseria C. Policy Brief Screening in Europe. (2017). Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/ 0007/108961/E88698.pdf
- Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. Health Aff (Millwood) (2008) 27:759–69. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.27.3.759
- 209. Van Ryswyk EM, Middleton PF, Hague WM, Crowther CA. Postpartum SMS reminders to women who have experienced gestational diabetes to test for type 2 diabetes: the DIAMIND randomized trial. *Diabet Med* (2015) 32(10):1368–76. doi:10.1111/dme.12769
- 210. Van Ryswyk EM, Middleton PF, Hague WM, Crowther CA. Women's views on postpartum testing for type 2 diabetes after gestational diabetes: six month follow-up to the DIAMIND randomised controlled trial. *Prim Care Diabetes* (2016) 10(2):91–102. doi:10.1016/j.pcd.2015.07.003
- Arabin B. Irresponsible and responsible resource management in obstetrics. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol (2017). doi:10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016. 12.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: This manuscript was written in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer, AF, declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors, AB, to the handling editor, who ensured that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Arabin and Baschat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Refining Pharmacologic Research to Prevent and Treat Spontaneous Preterm Birth

Tracy A. Manuck *

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Keywords: spontaneous preterm birth, pharmacogenomics, neonatal morbidity, 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate, tocolysis, indomethacin, personalized medicine

INTRODUCTION

Preterm birth (PTB), delivery prior to 37 weeks' gestation, is the leading cause of mortality among non-anomalous neonates. Survivors carry an increased risk for lifelong intellectual, physical, and social disabilities compared with their term counterparts (Russell et al., 2007; Bodeau-Livinec et al., 2008; Vohr, 2013; Manuck et al., 2014a, 2016b; Natarajan and Shankaran, 2016). In the US alone, more than 450,000 babies are born too soon and ~25,000 die as a result (Hamilton et al., 2015). Approximately two-thirds of all PTBs are spontaneous PTB (SPTB), and occur following preterm premature rupture of membranes, cervical insufficiency, and/or uterine contractions leading to cervical dilation. To reduce the burden of SPTB, interventions must target both prematurity prevention prior to the onset of symptoms and acute treatment once the process of acute preterm labor has begun.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irina Burd, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Patrick Shannon Ramsey, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, USA

*Correspondence:

Tracy A. Manuck tmanuck@med.unc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 02 December 2016 Accepted: 27 February 2017 Published: 15 March 2017

Citation:

Manuck TA (2017) Refining Pharmacologic Research to Prevent and Treat Spontaneous Preterm Birth. Front. Pharmacol. 8:118. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00118 Research efforts to develop treatments to improve neonatal outcomes have met some success [e.g., 17-alpha hydroxprogesterone caproate for recurrent SPTB prevention (Meis et al., 2003), antenatal corticosteroid treatment to prevent sequelae of prematurity (Roberts and Dalziel, 2006; Gyamfi-Bannerman and Thom, 2016)]. However, our ability to effectively prevent and treat SPTB remains limited. Of the available treatment options, significant inter-individual variation is appreciated. The reasons for this response variation are poorly understood and represent a critical knowledge gap contributing to thousands of SPTB every year. Refinement of patient selection for available drugs, or changing the form or dose of medication has the potential for large impact on therapeutic efficacy. Here we highlight two examples of medications currently used to reduce SPTB and discuss how cutting edge approaches may improve outcomes (**Table 1**).

PREVENTION OF RECURRENT SPTB WITH INTRAMUSCULAR PROGESTERONE

A personal history of SPTB is the strongest clinical risk factor, conferring a 2- to 4-fold risk for SPTB (Hamilton et al., 2015). In a large multi-center randomized controlled trial conducted by the NICHD Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units Network, Meis et al. studied weekly intramuscular 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate (17-OHPC) vs. placebo in women with a history of a prior SPTB. The rate of recurrent SPTB <37 weeks gestation was reduced from 55% in the placebo group to 36% in the 17P group (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.54–0.81; Meis et al., 2003). Currently, offering 250 mg intramuscular 17-OHPC weekly from 16 to 36 weeks gestation to women with a singleton pregnancy and a history of a prior singleton SPTB <37 weeks is standard of care in the United States (Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics and The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2012; Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Publications Committee, with assistance of Vincenzo Berghella, 2012). Unfortunately, 17-OHPC is only effective for some women and as many as 30–40% will experience a recurrent SPTB despite treatment. The mechanism of action of 17-OHPC has not yet been elucidated.

Indication Example medica		n Optimizing response to therapy		
		Current	Future	
Prevention of prematurity	17-OHPC	 Predict response based on clinical risk factors 	 Determine optimal dose based and likelihood of response based on maternal and/or fetal genotype, methylome, transcriptome Interrogate gene-environment interactions as etiology in variable response Evaluation of effects of concominant drug administration on 17-OHPC levels 	
Treatment of acute preterm labor	Indomethacin	- None	 All of the above, plus: Application of nanotechnology to minimize fetal exposure while maximizing tissue-specific effects 	

TABLE 1 | Listed is a summary of example medications for prevention and treatment of spontaneous preterm birth, along with current and future approaches to optimize response to these therapeutic interventions.

17-OHPC, 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate.

Assessing Reasons for Variable Response to 17-OHPC

Several recent studies have focused on defining which individuals are destined to have a favorable response to progesterone for the prevention of recurrent preterm birth. These investigations have identified several distinct and consistent clinical risk factors for recurrent SPTB despite 17-OHPC therapy, including black race, gonorrhea or chlamydia infection, vaginal bleeding, family history of SPTB, male fetus (Manuck et al., 2016a,c). Pharmacogenomic studies assessing recurrent SPTB among women using 17-OHPC have been pre-clinical in nature, but have also shown promising results, implicating biologically plausible pathways including the nitric oxide pathway and other genetic pathways involved with signal transduction and infection and inflammation (Manuck et al., 2014b; Manuck, 2016). Unfortunately, insufficient sample numbers, difficulties in defining adequate treatment "response" and lack of randomized studies has prevented this work from reaching direct clinical applicability (Manuck, 2016). Studies examining more acute genetic changes (e.g., epigenetic modifications) in response to the environmental stimuli of 17-OHPC are also currently limited but may offer additional avenues of research and eventual clinical application. Finally, it is possible that genotype or methylation changes affect birth outcomes only in the presence of a certain critical threshold or serum level of 17-OHPC. Many drugs taken by women for a variety of indications during pregnancy are metabolized by the cytochrome P450 enzyme system; 17-OHPC is also metabolized by the cytochrome P450 system, primarily CYP3A (Sharma et al., 2010). Interactions with co-administered CYP3A inhibitors or inducers may influence 17-OHPC drug metabolism and clinical efficacy (Sharma et al., 2008). No studies examining the effects of concomitant drug administration with 17-OHPC have been published to date, though in vitro data suggests these other CYP-metabolized drugs may impact 17-OHPC levels (Sharma et al., 2008).

Using State-of-the-Art Genetic Technology to Investigate Other Reasons for Variable Outcomes

Epigenetic modifications provide a mechanism by which genes interact with the environment; they affect gene expression by inducing structural changes in DNA that are maintained through cell division, respond to environmental changes including drug exposures, yet are potentially reversible and can be targets for disease therapy (Feinberg, 2007). DNA methylation at cytosine-guanine dinucleotides sites, the most commonly studied epigenetic modification in humans, guides temporal, and tissuespecific gene expression during fetal development and tissue differentiation. Even subtle environmental changes may induce epigenetic changes and have effects on phenotype (Golbabapour et al., 2011). Epigenetic biomarkers from blood have been used in a variety of complex conditions in other fields (e.g., depression, addiction/smoking). Moreover, these changes are potentially reversible and reflect dynamic interactions with the environment. For example, studies of women with breast cancer (Antoni et al., 2012; Bower et al., 2014; Stagl et al., 2015), caregivers of family members with dementia (Black et al., 2013), patients with inflammatory bowel disease (Kuo et al., 2015), and even healthy individuals (Qu et al., 2013) have shown that the body's response to chronic stress may be dynamic, mediated by glucocorticoid gene expression, and at least partly reversible at the genomic level when treated with cognitive behavioral therapy or relaxation techniques. Therefore, study of the methylome and transcriptome is a promising and understudied avenue of investigation in prematurity research (Fuchikami et al., 2011; Mikeska et al., 2012; Philibert et al., 2013). Methylation is tissue specific; results from blood, placental, or cervical tissue, for example typically cannot be directly compared. However, methylation studies in blood may be a reliable correlate of physiologic processes in other tissues (Smith et al., 2014). Limited studies of epigenetics in obstetrics have demonstrated identifiable differences among women delivering preterm and those with term deliveries, but more work is needed to evaluate whether these differences may be influenced (positively or negatively) by medication exposure or other known risks factors for SPTB, such as vaginal bleeding or a short cervical length.

Refining Clinical Phenotype to Improve Preterm Birth Outcome Predictions

Unfortunately, the aforementioned pharmacogenomics associations have been modest. Larger scale genome wide association studies of SPTB in general (without considering

treatment response) have also been largely disappointing. It has been hypothesized that suboptimal clinical phenotyping is a major contributing factor to the challenges of reproducibility that have characterized genetic investigations of prematurity. Many genetic studies of SPTB have limited or inconsistent phenotype information; even those that do collect detailed information tend to be based on relatively heterogeneous groups of women. We recently described a phenotype classification system. This tool uses clinical data to group women into nine distinct SPTB phenotypes (e.g., cervical insufficiency, infection/inflammation, decidual hemorrhage), and may provide further insight beyond the heterogenous PTB categorization, improving upon prior classification systems (Manuck et al., 2015).

TREATMENT OF ACUTE SPONTANEOUS PRETERM LABOR WITH INDOMETHACIN

One of the few tocolytic medications proven to prolong pregnancy is indomethacin, a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication that inhibits prostaglandin production by blocking the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandin. Indomethacin is metabolized by CYP2C9 and carboxy esterase (Agúndez et al., 2009). Cells in the amnion, chorion, decidua, and myometrium exhibit enhanced prostaglandin production in response to cytokines interleukin-1β, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α , and may help initiate the parturition cascade (Romero et al., 1989a,b; Mitchell et al., 1990). It is therefore hypothesized that indomethacin has a direct effect in the inhibition of the inflammatory response. Indomethacin has been shown to be more effective than placebo in prolonging pregnancies with threatened preterm labor by >48 h, and use for women with acute preterm labor may permit administration of a course of antenatal corticosteroids. Despite this, indomethacin has not been proven to improve short- or long- term neonatal outcomes (Niebyl et al., 1980; Panter et al., 1999; Klauser et al., 2014).

Though somewhat effective, indomethacin is not without potential risk to the fetus, and these risks have limited its use. Indomethacin freely crosses the placenta and enters fetal circulation. Premature closure of the physiologically patent ductus arteriosus is a recognized side effect of indomethacin and is the leading reason why tocolysis with indomethacin is generally limited to short courses of therapy (48-72 h; Moise, 1993). Some studies suggest that neonates exposed to antenatal indomethacin may have an increased risk of other adverse effects including periventricular leukomalacia and necrotizing enterocolitis (Major et al., 1994; Amin et al., 2007), although results have been somewhat inconsistent between studies.(Dudley and Hardie, 1985; Macones and Robinson, 1997; Loe et al., 2005) Despite these safety concerns, indomethacin is one of the first line recommended tocolytics by the American Congress of Obstetricans and Gynecologists, and short courses of indomethacin are widely used in the US for acute tocolysis due to its relative effectiveness compared to other agents (American College of Obstetricans and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics, 2016).

Assessing Reasons for Variable Response to Indomethacin

Determination of individuals most likely to remain pregnant 48 h after indomethacin therapy is a challenge, as placebocontrolled tocolytic studies are limited and retrospective studies are fraught with confounding. The diagnosis of "preterm labor" remains imperfect, and studies have traditionally used varying definitions to determine participant eligibility. Many women initially diagnosed with acute preterm labor will eventually deliver at term. We are unaware of any reported studies of indomethacin pharmacogenetics in the setting of pregnancy, though investigation of maternal and/or fetal genome, epigenome, methylome may shed additional light on variation in response in a similar fashion to pharmacogenomics investigations of 17-OHPC as outlined above.

Application of Nanomedicine to Target Indomethacin Delivery to Gestational Tissues

If women who are most likely to benefit from indomethacin treatment for acute preterm labor can be identified through pharmacogenomic or other investigations, the issue of potential toxicity to the fetus must be resolved in order for this therapy to be administered optimally. Recently, nanomedicine has been investigated as one potential way to overcome this limitation. Nanomedicine provides a mechanism to vector drugs (e.g., through liposomes) preferentially to diseased or target tissues in the body, while limiting exposure (and thus toxicity) to healthy tissues (and in the case of pregnancy, the fetus). Specifically engineered liposomes, encapsulated with indomethacin and with a surface oxytocin receptor antagonist, have been designed for this purpose, to deliver indomethacin directly to the myometrium while limiting fetal exposure. In initial murine studies, these liposomes successfully delivered indomethacin to the uterus and inhibited prostaglandin production-thus maintaining its pharmacologic effects-while reducing fetal exposure by 7.6-fold.(Refuerzo et al., 2015) In subsequent murine models, these specifically engineered liposomes prolonged pregnancy by 31% and reduced the rate of PTB by 15% (Refuerzo et al., 2016). The application of nanotechnology has great promise as a solution to the fetal toxicity appreciated with indomethacin, and refinement of these techniques will expand researcher's abilities to investigate other therapeutics for SPTB prevention and treatment with lower concern for fetal exposure.

SUMMARY

Preterm birth is a devastating obstetric complication leading to fetal mortality and morbidity. Despite extensive research, there remains much to learn regarding the pathophysiological mechanisms associated with SPTB. We understand even less about the role that epigenetic regulation and subsequent altered gene expression play as an etiologic factor for this condition. Progestogens and tocolytic drugs can reduce neonatal morbidity and mortality by preventing or halting SPTB through poorly defined mechanisms. Additional individual patient characteristics, including maternal and fetal genotype and gene-environment interactions likely influence response. Other factors, beyond the scope of this article—such as cytochrome P450 enzyme activity, maternal body mass index, and other considerations that may impact volume of drug distribution may also impact response to medications for SPTB. Studies of all SPTB therapeutics should collect and incorporate rigorous clinical phenotype information and biologic sample

REFERENCES

- Agúndez, J. A., García-Martín, E., and Martínez, C. (2009). Genetically based impairment in CYP2C8- and CYP2C9-dependent NSAID metabolism as a risk factor for gastrointestinal bleeding: is a combination of pharmacogenomics and metabolomics required to improve personalized medicine? *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 5, 607–620. doi: 10.1517/17425250902 970998
- American College of Obstetricans and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics (2016). Practice bulletin no. 171: management of preterm labor. Obstet. Gynecol. 128, e155–e164. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001711
- Amin, S. B., Sinkin, R. A., and Glantz, J. C. (2007). Metaanalysis of the effect of antenatal indomethacin on neonatal outcomes. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 197, 486.e1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.04.019
- Antoni, M. H., Lutgendorf, S. K., Blomberg, B., Carver, C. S., Lechner, S., Diaz, A., et al. (2012). Cognitive-behavioral stress management reverses anxietyrelated leukocyte transcriptional dynamics. *Biol. Psychiatry* 71, 366–372. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.007
- Black, D. S., Cole, S. W., Irwin, M. R., Breen, E., St. Cyr, N. M., Nazarian, N., et al. (2013). Yogic meditation reverses NF-κB and IRFrelated transcriptome dynamics in leukocytes of family dementia caregivers in a randomized controlled trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 348–355. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.06.011
- Bodeau-Livinec, F., Marlow, N., Ancel, P. Y., Kurinczuk, J. J., Costeloe, K., and Kaminski, M. (2008). Impact of intensive care practices on short-term and long-term outcomes for extremely preterm infants: comparison between the British Isles and France. *Pediatrics* 122, e1014–e1021. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2007-2976
- Bower, J. E., Greendale, G., Crosswell, A. D., Garet, D., Sternlieb, B., Ganz, P. A., et al. (2014). Yoga reduces inflammatory signaling in fatigued breast cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 43, 20–29. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.01.019
- Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics and The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (2012). Practice bulletin no. 130: prediction and prevention of preterm birth. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 120, 964–973. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182723b1b
- Dudley, D. K., and Hardie, M. J. (1985). Fetal and neonatal effects of indomethacin used as a tocolytic agent. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 151, 181–184. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(85)90008-0
- Feinberg, A. P. (2007). Phenotypic plasticity and the epigenetics of human disease. *Nature* 447, 433–440. doi: 10.1038/nature05919
- Fuchikami, M., Morinobu, S., Segawa, M., Okamoto, Y., Yamawaki, S., Ozaki, N., et al. (2011). DNA methylation profiles of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene as a potent diagnostic biomarker in major depression. *PLoS ONE* 6:e23881. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023881
- Golbabapour, S., Abdulla, M. A., and Hajrezaei, M. (2011). A concise review on epigenetic regulation: insight into molecular mechanisms. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 12, 8661–8694. doi: 10.3390/ijms12128661
- Gyamfi-Bannerman, C., and Thom, E. A. (2016). Antenatal betamethasone for women at risk for late preterm delivery. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 486–487. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1516783
- Hamilton, B. E., Martin, J. A., Osterman, M. J., Curtin, S. C., and Matthews, T. J. (2015). Births: final data for 2014. Natl. Vital Stat. Rep. 64, 1–64.
- Klauser, C. K., Briery, C. M., Martin, R. W., Langston, L., Magann, E. F., and Morrison, J. C. (2014). A comparison of three tocolytics for preterm labor:

data whenever possible, in order for further refine and integrate clinical phenotype, genotype, and response to preventative and therapeutic medications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

a randomized clinical trial. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 27, 801-806. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2013.847416

- Kuo, B., Bhasin, M., Jacquart, J., Scult, M. A., Slipp, L., Riklin, E. I., et al. (2015). Genomic and clinical effects associated with a relaxation response mind-body intervention in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0123861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123861
- Loe, S. M., Sanchez-Ramos, L., and Kaunitz, A. M. (2005). Assessing the neonatal safety of indomethacin tocolysis: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 106, 173–179. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000168622.56478.df
- Macones, G. A., and Robinson, C. A. (1997). Is there justification for using indomethacin in preterm labor? An analysis of neonatal risks and benefits. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 177, 819–824. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(97)70275-8
- Major, C. A., Lewis, D. F., Harding, J. A., Porto, M. A., and Garite, T. J. (1994). Tocolysis with indomethacin increases the incidence of necrotizing enterocolitis in the low-birth-weight neonate. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 170, 102–106. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(13)70288-6
- Manuck, T. A. (2016). Pharmacogenomics of preterm birth prevention and treatment. *BJOG* 123, 368–375. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13744
- Manuck, T. A., Esplin, M. S., Biggio, J., Bukowski, R., Parry, S., Zhang, H., et al. (2015). The phenotype of spontaneous preterm birth: application of a clinical phenotyping tool. *Am J Obstet. Gynecol.* 212, 487.e1–487.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.02.010
- Manuck, T. A., Esplin, M. S., Biggio, J., Bukowski, R., Parry, S., Zhang, H., et al. (2016a). Predictors of response to 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate for prevention of recurrent spontaneous preterm birth. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 214, 376.e1-376.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.12.010
- Manuck, T. A., Rice, M. M., Bailit, J. L., Grobman, W. A., Reddy, U. M., Wapner, R. J., et al. (2016b). Preterm neonatal morbidity and mortality by gestational age: a contemporary cohort. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 215, 103.e1–103.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.01.004
- Manuck, T. A., Sheng, X., Yoder, B. A., and Varner, M. W. (2014a). Correlation between initial neonatal and early childhood outcomes following preterm birth. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 210, 426.e1-426.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.01.046
- Manuck, T. A., Stoddard, G. J., Fry, R. C., Esplin, M. S., and Varner, M. W. (2016c). Nonresponse to 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caprote for recurrent spontaneous preterm birth prevention: clinical prediction and generation of a risk scoring system. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 215, 622.e1–622.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.07.013
- Manuck, T. A., Watkins, W. S., Moore, B., Esplin, M. S., Varner, M. W., Jackson, G. M., et al. (2014b). Pharmacogenomics of 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate for recurrent preterm birth prevention. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 210, 321.e1–321.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.01.013
- Meis, P. J., Klebanoff, M., Thom, E., Dombrowski, M. P., Sibai, B., Moawad, A. H., et al. (2003). Prevention of recurrent preterm delivery by 17 alpha-hydroxyprogesterone caproate. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 2379–2385. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa035140
- Mikeska, T., Bock, C., Do, H., and Dobrovic, A. (2012). DNA methylation biomarkers in cancer: progress towards clinical implementation. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 12, 473–487. doi: 10.1586/erm.12.45
- Mitchell, M. D., Edwin, S., and Romero, R. J. (1990). Prostaglandin biosynthesis by human decidual cells: effects of inflammatory mediators. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 41, 35–38. doi: 10.1016/0952-3278(90)90128-8
- Moise, K. J. Jr. (1993). Effect of advancing gestational age on the frequency of fetal ductal constriction in association with maternal indomethacin use. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 168, 1350–1353. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(11)90763-7

- Natarajan, G., and Shankaran, S. (2016). Short- and long-term outcomes of moderate and late preterm infants. Am. J. Perinatol. 33, 305–317. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1571150
- Niebyl, J. R., Blake, D. A., White, R. D., Kumor, K. M., Dubin, N. H., Robinson, J. C., et al. (1980). The inhibition of premature labor with indomethacin. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 136, 1014–1019. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(80)90629-8
- Panter, K. R., Hannah, M. E., Amankwah, K. S., Ohlsson, A., Jefferies, A. L., and Farine, D. (1999). The effect of indomethacin tocolysis in preterm labour on perinatal outcome: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 106, 467–473. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1999.tb08300.x
- Philibert, R. A., Beach, S. R., Lei, M. K., and Brody, G. H. (2013). Changes in DNA methylation at the aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor may be a new biomarker for smoking. *Clin. Epigenetics* 5:19. doi: 10.1186/1868-7083-5-19
- Qu, S., Olafsrud, S. M., Meza-Zepeda, L. A., and Saatcioglu, F. (2013). Rapid gene expression changes in peripheral blood lymphocytes upon practice of a comprehensive yoga program. *PLoS ONE* 8:e61910. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061910
- Refuerzo, J. S., Alexander, J. F., Leonard, F., Leon, M., Longo, M., and Godin, B. (2015). Liposomes: a nanoscale drug carrying system to prevent indomethacin passage to the fetus in a pregnant mouse model. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 212, 508.e1-508.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.02.006
- Refuerzo, J. S., Leonard, F., Bulayeva, N., Gorenstein, D., Chiossi, G., Ontiveros, A., et al. (2016). Uterus-targeted liposomes for preterm labor management: studies in pregnant mice. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34710. doi: 10.1038/srep34710
- Roberts, D., and Dalziel, S. (2006). Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD004454. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004454.pub2
- Romero, R., Durum, S., Dinarello, C. A., Oyarzun, E., Hobbins, J. C., and Mitchell, M. D. (1989a). Interleukin-1 stimulates prostaglandin biosynthesis by human amnion. *Prostaglandins* 37, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/0090-6980(89)90028-2
- Romero, R., Mazor, M., Wu, Y. K., Avila, C., Oyarzun, E., and Mitchell, M. D. (1989b). Bacterial endotoxin and tumor necrosis factor stimulate prostaglandin production by human decidua. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 37, 183–186. doi: 10.1016/0952-3278(89)90083-5
- Russell, R. B., Green, N. S., Steiner, C. A., Meikle, S., Howse, J. L., Poschman, K., et al. (2007). Cost of hospitalization for preterm and low birth weight

infants in the United States. *Pediatrics* 120, e1-e9. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2006-2386

- Sharma, S., Ellis, E. C., Dorko, K., Zhang, S., Mattison, D. R., Caritis, S. N., et al. (2010). Metabolism of 17alpha-hydroxyprogesterone caproate, an agent for preventing preterm birth, by fetal hepatocytes. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 38, 723–727. doi: 10.1124/dmd.109.029918
- Sharma, S., Ou, J., Strom, S., Mattison, D., Caritis, S., and Venkataramanan, R. (2008). Identification of enzymes involved in the metabolism of 17alpha-hydroxyprogesterone caproate: an effective agent for prevention of preterm birth. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 36, 1896–1902. doi: 10.1124/dmd.108. 021444
- Smith, A. K., Kilaru, V., Kocak, M., Almli, L. M., Mercer, K. B., Ressler, K. J., et al. (2014). Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTLs) are consistently detected across ancestry, developmental stage, and tissue type. *BMC Genomics* 15:145. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-145
- Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Publications Committee, with assistance of Vincenzo Berghella (2012). Progesterone and preterm birth prevention: translating clinical trials data into clinical practice. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 206, 376–386. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2012.03.010
- Stagl, J. M., Lechner, S. C., Carver, C. S., Bouchard, L. C., Gudenkauf, L. M., Jutagir, D. R., et al. (2015). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral stress management in breast cancer: survival and recurrence at 11-year follow-up. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 154, 319–328. doi: 10.1007/s10549-015-3626-6
- Vohr, B. (2013). Long-term outcomes of moderately preterm, late preterm, and early term infants. *Clin. Perinatol.* 40, 739–751. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2013.07.006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Manuck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Endothelial Progenitor Cells of the Human Placenta and Fetoplacental Circulation: A Potential Link to Fetal, Neonatal, and Long-term Health

Diane L. Gumina and Emily J. Su*

Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, USA

The fetoplacental circulation plays a key role in both short- and long-term outcomes, and aberrant flow indices as manifested by abnormal fetal Doppler velocimetry within this compartment have been associated with significant adverse consequences. These include fetal growth restriction, which often coexists with preeclampsia, and long-lasting medical issues as a result of both the underlying pathology and prematurity such as bronchopulmonary dysplasia, chronic lung disease, and neurodevelopmental delay. Furthermore, it is also clear that exposure to an abnormal *in utero* environment increases risk for long-term, adulthood issues such as cardiovascular disease. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) have been implicated in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, and they have been isolated from both human placenta and umbilical cord blood. This review outlines the extensive nomenclature of EPCs, summarizes existing literature surrounding human placental and umbilical cord blood EPCs, explores their potential role in pregnancy complications and adverse perinatal outcome, and highlights key areas where future investigations are needed.

Keywords: endothelial progenitor cells, umbilical cord blood, placenta, endothelial colony-forming cells, circulating progenitor cells

INTRODUCTION

Of the three main components that shape placental function—the maternal uteroplacental circulation, placental trophoblast, and fetoplacental blood flow—it is the fetoplacental circulation that has been clinically demonstrated to be most highly related to adverse perintal outcome. For instance, pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction (FGR) with abnormal fetal Doppler velocimetry (e.g., umbilical arteries, middle cerebral artery with concern for "brain-sparing," and ductus venosus) are at significantly elevated risks for stillbirth and neonatal death (1, 2). Survivors are at higher risk for chronic medical problems and neurodevelopmental delay (1, 2). Furthermore, even if a growth-restricted fetus emerges from the perinatal and early childhood periods without adverse consequences, multiple lines of evidence suggest that they remain at increased risk for long-term, adulthood issues such as cardiovascular disease (3–5).

From a structural perspective, scanning electron microscopy, stereological analysis, and mathematical modeling suggest that FGR placentas demonstrate impaired placental vascular angiogenesis (6–8). Although this is just one condition in which the fetoplacental vasculature is impaired, it highlights the importance of this compartment in pregnancy and long-term outcome.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irina Burd, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Jennifer Condon, Wayne State University School of Medicine, USA Angie Jelin, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Emily J. Su emily.su@ucdenver.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 04 December 2016 Accepted: 15 February 2017 Published: 15 March 2017

Citation:

Gumina DL and Su EJ (2017) Endothelial Progenitor Cells of the Human Placenta and Fetoplacental Circulation: A Potential Link to Fetal, Neonatal, and Long-term Health. Front. Pediatr. 5:41. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00041

51

Recently, there has been substantial focus on endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and their role in vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and even re-endothelialization of injured vessels. This field continues to evolve in many areas including nomenclature, methods of isolation and culture, and mechanistic roles during pathogenesis. EPCs have been isolated from the human placenta and umbilical cord blood, and in comparison to those derived from adult peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNCs), demonstrate unique features such as enhanced proliferative and clonogenic potential. This suggests that placental and/or cord blood EPCs might play a role in development of the fetoplacental vasculature, and thus, may be potential targets for treatment modalities aimed at improving pregnancy, fetal, neonatal, and long-term outcomes.

EPC HISTORY

The initial discovery of a population of putative EPCs from adult peripheral blood in the late 1990s (9) changed two widely accepted paradigms. First, it challenged the existing notion that vasculogenesis occurs only during fetal development. Second, it disputed the concept that angiogenesis in adults is only able to arise through extension of mature vascular endothelium. Since this initial discovery, much has been uncovered about the function and classification of EPCs. In this review, we discuss the current nomenclature, history of various sub-populations, EPCs isolated from both umbilical cord blood and placenta, and the association of EPCs with adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Isolation of an EPC population was first performed by Asahara and colleagues (9). However, the identification method used to isolate these cells did not include a unique identifier specific to EPCs. As such, many groups have since worked to further characterize and develop a method to unequivocally identify EPCs. Unfortunately, a universal, indisputable approach to ascertaining a progenitor population has yet to be found. Progress, however, has been made to further characterize EPCs and EPC sub-types, and along the way, new nomenclature and identification techniques have been introduced. Differing names and techniques can be confusing and makes it difficult to decipher if previous reports are applicable to current investigation. To best understand the current state of the field, it is helpful to have an appreciation for where the field began.

The initial identification of EPCs utilized Ficoll centrifugation of peripheral blood to obtain a mononuclear cell population, and within this population, either CD34⁺ or Flk-1⁺ (also known as vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 or kinase insert domain receptor) cells were isolated with magnetic beads coated with the respective antibodies. These two antigens were individually targeted because both are expressed by hematopoietic stem cells prior to differentiation. Enriched cells were plated under various conditions. Attached CD34⁺ cells after 7 days of culture appeared spindle-like and expressed endothelial-specific markers including *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin-1, factor VIII, CD31, endothelial nitric oxide synthase, and DiI-labeled acetylated LDL. They also demonstrated an endothelial cell-like phenotype, with the ability to produce nitric oxide in response to acetylcholine and vascular endothelial growth factor. *In vivo*, these cells were incorporated into foci of neovascularization in a rabbit model of unilateral hindlimb ischemia. In total, these investigators concluded that PBMNCs isolated with anti-CD34 or anti-Flk-1 were able to differentiate into endothelial cells, and this method of isolation and identification became the standard for assessing EPCs.

EPC ISOLATION VIA CELL CULTURE

Different cell culture methods of isolating EPCs utilize principles from the culture conditions as mentioned above, with each technique resulting in the isolation of different cell types. The method isolating endothelial colony-forming cells (ECFCs) is widely accepted as the closest representation of an EPC in vitro population. Isolation of ECFCs includes Ficoll centrifugation of PBMNCs, plating on collagen-1 coated plates, culturing in complete EGM-2 media (cEGM-2; Lonza) with 20% FBS, and expansion of colonies that appear typically between 14 and 21 days after isolation (Figure 1). This method produces colonies with cobblestone morphology indicative of an endothelial cell type. Functionally, these cells are able to migrate and form capillary-like structures, proliferate, and repopulate from a single cell (Figure 2) (10). These cells can sustain multiple passages in culture, but most experts recommend use of low passage number cells (P2-5) for experimental purposes. This cell type is also known as late outgrowth EPCs, blood outgrowth endothelial cells (10, 11), and can be defined as low or high proliferative potential (LPP and HPP, respectively) (12).

While this method is accepted, it has limitations. Currently, there are no studies linking ECFCs, an *in vitro* population, to physiologic cell populations. Another issue with this method is the quantity of blood required to produce colonies. Estes et al. has recommended a minimum of 16 mL of peripheral blood for the isolation of ECFCs in healthy adults (13). When isolating from umbilical venous cord blood, which has a higher percentage of ECFCs than adult peripheral blood (12), a minimum of 5 mL is required, although 10–20 mL is recommended. However, in conditions where the pregnancy is affected by certain pathologies, especially those resulting in preterm delivery, collecting an appropriate amount of cord blood can be difficult. Obtaining an adequate amount can also become problematic when trying to isolate ECFCs from infants and children.

Other cell culture isolation methods have been reported in the literature including colony-forming unit-endothelial cells (CFU-ECs) (14) and CFU-Hill (15) and early outgrowth EPC. A description of the nomenclature, isolation method, and limitations are outlined in **Table 1**. All of these names refer to similar cells, in that they have a spindle-like morphology, do not incorporate into vessels *in vivo*, and are likely of myeloid or lymphoid progenitor background (10, 16, 17).

EPC ISOLATION VIA FLOW CYTOMETRY

Another commonly used method for identifying EPCs is flow cytometry, and similar to cell culture methods of isolation, there are many differing sets of antigens used. The most recent





of forming capillary-like structures with the formation of branches and closed loops. (B) A classic wound migration demonstrates that ECFCs are able to migrate and close the wound. (C) ECFC proliferation is shown with BrdU staining in green (DAPI in blue). (D) Single-cell assay shows that ECFCs are capable of repopulation from a single cell.

TABLE 1 | The most commonly used nomenclature, isolation method, and associated identification markers of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) in vitro.

Cell culture models

Name	Other names	Isolation method	Identifying markers	Reference
Endothelial colony-forming cells	Blood outgrowth endothelial cells Late outgrowth EPCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNCs) are isolated from peripheral blood with a Ficoll gradient. Cells are plated on collagen-1, grown in cEGM-2, and colonies appear between 14 and 21 days in culture	Expression of CD31; CD141; CD105; CD146; CD144; WWF; Flk-1; CD34; CD133; CD117; eNOS Negative staining for CD45, CD14 Single-cell assay: able to repopulate from a single cell Able to form capillary structures <i>in vitro</i> Cobblestone morphology	(12, 18)
Colony-forming unit-endothelial cells	Early outgrowth EPCs, CFU-Hill EPCs	PBMNCs are isolated from peripheral blood similar to above, plated on fibronectin, grown in M199 medium, and colonies appear between 5 and 7 days in culture	Expression of CD34, vWF, CD144, Flk-1, UEA-1, Tie-2 Dil-Ac-LDL uptake Negative staining for VCAM-1 Spindle-like morphology	(10, 14, 19)

vWF, von Willebrand factor; Flk-1, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; UEA-1, Ulex europaeus agglutinin-1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; Tie-2, TEK receptor tyrosine kinase; Dil-Ac-LDL, Dil-conjugated acetylated low-density lipoprotein.



were analyzed by polychromatic flow cytometry. Live mononuclear cells were selected and then gated for CD14⁻ and glycophorin A⁻ cells to exclude erythrocytes and macrophages. Next, the CD45^{dm} and CD34⁺ population was selected from which the pro-angiogenic (CD45^{dm} CD34⁺ CD31⁺ AC133⁺) and non-angiogenic (CD45^{dm} CD34⁺ CD31⁺ AC133⁻) CPCs were identified.

version identifies circulating progenitor cells (CPCs) and allows for sub-group analysis of pro-angiogenic CPCs (CD45^{dim} CD34⁺CD31⁺AC133⁺) and non-angiogenic CPCs (CD45^{dim} CD34⁺CD31⁺AC133⁻) (**Figure 3**) (13, 20). The current limitations of this method include at least 1×10^6 cells for staining. This is not an issue when performed alone, but when paired with cell culture isolation, cell quantity may be inadequate. Additionally, as there are steps required for multiple antigen staining, these cells need to be fixed, and therefore it is not possible to culture these cells for ECFC comparison. It is important to note that ECFCs exist in the flow cytometry literature as well but are distinct from CPC populations. Specifically, ECFCs are a rare population thought to be identifiable with the CPC staining profile but instead of CD45^{dim}, they are CD45⁻ (12, 21). Older methods using a combination of CD34⁺Flk-1⁺CD133⁺ are likely incorporating angiogenic macrophages (22), which confound much of the older literature. **Table 2** provides a description of the nomenclature and staining protocols in the literature.

TABLE 2 | The most commonly used nomenclature and associated staining protocol for flow cytometry identification of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs).

Flow cytometry

Name	Staining protocol	Reference
EPC/circulating endothelial precursor	CD45 ⁻ and/or CD34 ⁺ AC133 ⁺ KDR ⁺	(9, 24)
Circulating endothelial cell	CD31 ^{bright} CD34+CD45-CD133-	(25)
Pro-angiogenic circulating progenitor cell (CPC)	CD45dimCD34+CD31+AC133+	(13, 20)
Non-angiogenic CPC	CD45 ^{dim} CD34+CD31+AC133-	(13, 20)
Endothelial colony-forming cell	CD45-CD34+CD31+AC133-CD146+	(13, 21)

PLACENTAL AND UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD EPCs

There has been considerable interest in alternative sources for EPCs beyond adult peripheral blood or bone marrow isolation. Various groups have demonstrated the presence of EPCs within both the human placenta and umbilical cord blood. Investigation of EPCs within the placenta has been limited, while literature surrounding cord blood EPCs has been much more robust. Nevertheless, a few different laboratories have described isolation of ECFCs from the human placenta, although some differences exist such as surface molecule expression (26–28). For example, Sölder et al. isolated CD45⁻CD34⁺CD133⁺Flk-1⁺ fetal endothelial cells from the placenta and showed that they were able to form tubes on a Matrigel assay (28). By contrast, CD45⁻CD34⁻CD31⁺Flk-1⁺CD144⁺ cells were isolated by Rapp and colleagues, and these cells were able to form chimeric blood vessels in an *in vivo* vasculogenesis bioassay (26).

Unlike placentally derived EPCs, umbilical cord blood EPCs have been more extensively investigated. Earlier studies isolated EPCs that were characterized via early methodologies first described by Asahara and colleagues (9), which again, was the first description of a putative EPC population in adult peripheral blood (29, 30). Thus, these early cord blood EPCs are more consistent with CFU-ECs and not ECFCs. More recent studies of cord blood ECFCs demonstrate expression of various endothelial-derived surface markers (Table 1), with these cells exhibiting significant clonogenic and proliferative potential (12, 31). Importantly, cord blood ECFCs are enriched and display enhanced clonogenic and proliferative potential in comparison to adult peripheral blood (12). However, adult peripheral and cord blood ECFCs do not show any difference in tube formation capability or induction of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 with inflammatory stimuli (12). When compared to placental ECFCs, though, cord blood ECFCs form significant fewer blood vessels in an in vivo vasculogenesis assay (26).

UMBILICAL CORD BLOOD EPCs AND DISEASE

In spite of the current limitations in identifying EPCs, there are numerous studies that have indicated reduced colony number and/or dysfunction of EPCs isolated from the umbilical cord blood of pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia, FGR, and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). In this review, we focus solely on studies that analyze either ECFCs in cell culture or CPCs derived from flow cytometry in order to avoid further confusion with other isolation methods that likely produce cell types independent of EPCs. It is important to note that other literature exists analyzing other cell populations described in **Tables 1** and **2**.

With regard to preeclampsia, different groups of investigators have demonstrated both reductions in circulating number and abnormal function of ECFCs isolated from the venous cord blood of babies born to preeclamptic mothers (23, 32, 33). Specifically, Gumina et al. showed a decrease in both pro- and non-angiogenic subsets of CPCs identifiable by flow cytometry in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia in comparison to normotensive controls. All three reports also indicate fewer ECFC colony numbers in their respective preeclamptic populations. From a functional perspective, two groups reported that ECFCs from cord blood of preeclamptic pregnancies demonstrated diminished growth and migration (23, 32), while other laboratories found no difference in ECFC tube formation (23, 33). However, von Versen-Höynck et al. demonstrated a deficiency in preeclamptic ECFC tube formation, with partial improvement with vitamin D3 treatment (32).

Similar findings have been demonstrated in pregnancies complicated by FGR. Cord blood from FGR-complicated pregnancies showed fewer CPCs and ECFCs in comparison to controls, although this was seen only in arterial cord blood (34). ECFCs from the FGR offspring also showed diminished proliferation and migration. Furthermore, FGR ECFCs implanted into mice prepared for an *in vivo* vasculogenesis bioassay resulted in a sixfold increase in *de novo* capillary formation in comparison to controls (34). Taken together, the abnormalities seen in cord blood ECFCs in preeclampsia and FGR may be one mechanism that contributes to placental dysfunction and long-term elevated risks for cardiovascular disease in these offspring.

There is conflicting data regarding CPCs and ECFCs from the cord blood of GDM pregnancies. For example, one group of investigators found a decrease in CPCs and the CPC:non-CPC ratio in cord blood from GDM pregnancies in comparison to controls, but there was no difference in ECFCs, suggesting that endothelial function is intact at birth (35). By contrast, others have shown a decrease in ECFC colonies, proliferation, migration, and tube formation in cord blood of pregnancies complicated by GDM (36). From a mechanistic perspective, fetal ECFCs exposed to in vitro hyperglycemia demonstrated impaired migration and diminished tube formation in comparison to those exposed to normoglycemic conditions (36). ECFCs from GDM pregnancies, however, were also found to be resistant to hyperglycemia-induced senescence (36, 37). In total, this suggests that although cord blood EPCs in GDM pregnancies may have undergone a phenotypic alteration that renders them tolerant to a hyperglycemic environment, they still demonstrate functional abnormalities that may contribute to the increased risks of cardiovascular disease in offspring of diabetic women.

CURRENT LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE AREAS OF INVESTIGATION

There are several limitations within the field that may amplify discrepancies between findings in different studies. First, a comprehensive characterization of ECFCs in relation to normal physiology of the fetus and neonate is lacking. Additionally, knowledge of gestational age norms is also essentially non-existent, and this further hampers the field of investigation regarding EPCs and other pathogenic conditions that relate more directly to impaired placental vascularization, including FGR and stillbirth. Second, there are methodological issues that have yet to be standardized. For example, when ECFC number is assessed, it refers to the number of colonies that appear. ECFC colonies typically arise between 14 and 21 days in vitro, although colonies can still develop beyond this time frame (33). Thus, discrepancies in the literature may be a result of when the colonies are counted, and this may be one reason why studies differ in their interpretation of how ECFCs are specifically impacted by each condition. Third, controversy also exists when assessing ECFC function. Functionality is most commonly evaluated by measures of proliferation, migration, and ability to form capillary-like structures. As discussed above, all of these cellular processes can be assayed with various techniques and each technique can have slight differences that result in differing findings. Additionally, few studies incorporate in vivo models such as ischemic injury animal models in which a Matrigel plug embedded with patient-derived ECFCs is injected into the area of ischemia and ECFC incorporation into newly formed vessels is later analyzed. This model (38, 39) would yield a better understanding of ECFC function in a physiological setting.

In addition to methodological issues, it is also possible that different study populations are being investigated. For example, preeclampsia can present across a wide gestational age range and with varying degrees of severity. However, it has been shown that ECFCs are enriched at different gestational ages within umbilical cord blood, with gestational age likely to affect findings (31).

REFERENCES

- Burke G, Stuart B, Crowley P, Scanaill SN, Drumm J. Is intrauterine growth retardation with normal umbilical artery blood flow a benign condition? *BMJ* (1990) 300(6731):1044–5. doi:10.1136/bmj.300.6731.1044
- Karsdorp VH, van Vugt JM, van Geijn HP, Kostense PJ, Arduini D, Montenegro N, et al. Clinical significance of absent or reversed end diastolic velocity waveforms in umbilical artery. *Lancet* (1994) 344(8938):1664–8. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(94)90457-X
- Barker DJP. Adult consequences of fetal growth restriction. Clin Obstet Gynecol (2006) 49(2):270–83. doi:10.1097/00003081-200606000-00009
- Ross MG, Beall MH. Adult sequelae of intrauterine growth restriction. Semin Perinatol (2008) 32(3):213–8. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2007.11.005
- Pisaneschi S, Boldrini A, Genazzani AR, Coceani F, Simoncini T. Feto-placental vascular dysfunction as a prenatal determinant of adult cardiovascular disease. *Intern Emerg Med* (2013) 8(Suppl 1):S41–5. doi:10.1007/s11739-013-0925-y
- Fok RY, Pavlova Z, Benirschke K, Paul RH, Platt LD. The correlation of arterial lesions with umbilical artery Doppler velocimetry in the placentas of smallfor-dates pregnancies. *Obstet Gynecol* (1990) 75(4):578–83.
- Kuzmina IY, Hubina-Vakulik GI, Burton GJ. Placental morphometry and Doppler flow velocimetry in cases of chronic human fetal hypoxia. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2005) 120(2):139–45. doi:10.1016/j. ejogrb.2004.09.001

Furthermore, the effect of the severity of the condition itself on ECFCs has also not yet been explored. Because number and function of ECFCs has been associated with adverse neonatal outcomes such as moderate or severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia, which itself has also been linked to severity of preeclampsia and FGR, it is not inconceivable that the status of the disease may affect ECFCs (18). As another example, ECFCs are increased in infants affected by chorioamnionitis, further suggesting that *in utero* environment may play a role on umbilical cord blood and placental EPCs (18).

Finally, in addition to continued cord blood EPC research, further investigation is also needed with regard to placental EPCs. The few existing studies utilize different isolation methods, demonstrate slight differences in immunophenotype, and perhaps most compellingly, suggest that there might be enhanced colony formation and functional characteristics in comparison to umbilical cord blood EPCs. As the field continues to advance, umbilical cord blood and placental EPCs are areas ripe with opportunity to better understand mechanisms underlying pregnancy-related diseases and adverse perinatal outcome. Continued investigation may yield preventative treatments or interventions for these pregnancy and perinatal complications in the future. Yet, this field has the potential to provide treatment targets beyond perinatal and neonatal outcomes by further elucidating mechanisms of fetal programming effects that contribute to increased risks for disease later in life.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both individuals actively contributed to the organization, intellectual content, and writing of this review.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health and the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (HL119846).

- Todros T, Piccoli E, Rolfo A, Cardaropoli S, Guiot C, Gaglioti P, et al. Review: feto-placental vascularization: a multifaceted approach. *Placenta* (2011) 32(Suppl 2):S165–9. doi:10.1016/j.placenta.2010.12.020
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, et al. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. *Science* (1997) 275(5302):964–7. doi:10.1126/science.275.5302.964
- Yoder MC, Mead LE, Prater D, Krier TR, Mroueh KN, Li F, et al. Redefining endothelial progenitor cells via clonal analysis and hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cell principals. *Blood* (2007) 109(5):1801–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-08-043471
- Lin Y, Chang L, Solovey A, Healey JF, Lollar P, Hebbel RP. Use of blood outgrowth endothelial cells for gene therapy for hemophilia A. *Blood* (2002) 99(2):457–62. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.2.457
- Ingram DA, Mead LE, Tanaka H, Meade V, Fenoglio A, Mortell K, et al. Identification of a novel hierarchy of endothelial progenitor cells using human peripheral and umbilical cord blood. *Blood* (2004) 104(9):2752–60. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-04-1396
- Estes ML, Mund JA, Ingram DA, Case J. Identification of endothelial cells and progenitor cell subsets in human peripheral blood. *Curr Protoc Cytom* (2010) Chapter 9(Unit 9):1–11. doi:10.1002/0471142956.cy0933s52
- Gehling UM, Ergün S, Schumacher U, Wagener C, Pantel K, Otte M, et al. In vitro differentiation of endothelial cells from AC133-positive progenitor cells. *Blood* (2000) 95(10):3106–12.

- Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Waclawiw MA, Quyyumi AA, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med (2003) 348:593–600. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022287
- Rohde E, Bartmann C, Schallmoser K, Reinisch A, Lanzer G, Linkesch W, et al. Immune cells mimic the morphology of endothelial progenitor colonies in vitro. *Stem Cells* (2007) 25(7):1746–52. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2006-0833
- Rohde E, Malischnik C, Thaler D, Maierhofer T, Linkesch W, Lanzer G, et al. Blood monocytes mimic endothelial progenitor cells. *Stem Cells* (2006) 24(2):357–67. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2005-0072
- Baker CD, Balasubramaniam V, Mourani PM, Sontag MK, Black CP, Ryan SL, et al. Cord blood angiogenic progenitor cells are decreased in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Eur Respir J* (2012) 40(6):1516–22. doi:10.1183/09031936.00017312
- Reyes M, Dudek A, Jahagirdar B, Koodie L, Marker PH, Verfaillie CM. Origin of endothelial progenitors in human postnatal bone marrow. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 109(3):337–46. doi:10.1172/JCI14327
- Estes ML, Mund JA, Mead LE, Prater DN, Cai S, Wang H, et al., *Cytometry A* (2010) 77:831–9. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.20921
- Mund JA, Estes ML, Yoder MC, Ingram DA Jr, Case J. Flow cytometric identification and functional characterization of immature and mature circulating endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32(4):1045–53. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.244210
- Case J, Mead LE, Bessler WK, Prater D, White HA, Saadatzadeh MR, et al. Human CD34+AC133+VEGFR-2+ cells are not endothelial progenitor cells but distinct, primitive hematopoietic progenitors. *Exp Hematol* (2007) 35(7):1109–18. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2007.04.002
- Gumina DL, Black CP, Balasubramaniam V, Winn VD, Baker CD. Umbilical cord blood circulating progenitor cells and endothelial colony-forming cells are decreased in preeclampsia. *Reprod Sci* (2016). doi:10.1177/1933719116678692
- Masouleh BK, Baraniskin A, Schmiegel W, Schroers R. Quantification of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in human peripheral blood: establishing a reliable flow cytometry protocol. *J Immunol Methods* (2010) 357:38–42. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2010.03.015
- Duda DG, Cohen KS, Scadden DT, Jain RK. A protocol for phenotypic detection and enumeration of circulating endothelial cells and circulating progenitor cells in human blood. *Nat Protoc* (2007) 2(4):805–10. doi:10.1038/ nprot.2007.111
- Rapp BM, Saadatzedeh MR, Ofstein RH, Bhavsar JR, Tempel ZS, Moreno O, et al. Resident endothelial progenitor cells from human placenta have greater vasculogenic potential than circulating endothelial progenitor cells from umbilical cord blood. *Cell Med* (2011) 2(3):85–96. doi:10.3727/21551 7911X617888
- Solomon I, O'Reilly M, Ionescu L, Alphonse RS, Rajabali S, Zhong S, et al. Functional differences between placental micro- and macrovascular endothelial colony-forming cells. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2016) 5(3):291–300. doi:10.5966/sctm.2014-0162
- Sölder E, Böckle BC, Nguyen VA, Fürhapter C, Obexer P, Erdel M, et al. Isolation and characterization of CD133+CD34+VEGFR-2+CD45- fetal endothelial cells from human term placenta. *Microvasc Res* (2012) 84(1):65–73. doi:10.1016/j.mvr.2012.03.005
- Nieda M, Nicol A, Denning-Kendall P, Sweetenham J, Bradley B, Hows J. Endothelial cell precursors are normal components of human umbilical cord blood. *Br J Haematol* (1997) 98(3):775–7. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.1997.2583074.x

- Murohara T, Ikeda H, Duan J, Shintani S, Sasaki Ki, Eguchi H, et al. Transplanted cord blood-derived endothelial precursor cells augment postnatal neovascularization. *J Clin Invest* (2000) 105(11):1527–36. doi:10.1172/ JCI8296
- Javed MJ, Mead LE, Prater D, Bessler WK, Foster D, Case J, et al. Endothelial colony forming cells and mesenchymal stem cells are enriched at different gestational ages in human umbilical cord blood. *Pediatr Res* (2008) 64(1):68–73. doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e31817445e9
- von Versen-Höynck F, Brodowski L, Dechend R, Myerski AC, Hubel CA. Vitamin D antagonizes negative effects of preeclampsia on fetal endothelial colony forming cell number and function. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(6):e98990. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0098990
- Muñoz-Hernandez R, Miranda ML, Stiefel P, Lin RZ, Praena-Fernández JM, Dominguez-Simeon MJ, et al. Decreased level of cord blood circulating endothelial colony-forming cells in preeclampsia. *Hypertension* (2014) 64(1):165–71. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.03058
- 34. Sipos PI, Bourque SL, Hubel CA, Baker PN, Sibley CP, Davidge ST, et al. Endothelial colony-forming cells derived from pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction are fewer and have reduced vasculogenic capacity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(12):4953–60. doi:10.1210/ jc.2013-2580
- Acosta JC, Haas DM, Saha CK, Dimeglio LA, Ingram DA, Haneline LS. Gestational diabetes mellitus alters maternal and neonatal circulating endothelial progenitor cell subsets. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2011) 204::e8–254. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.10.913
- Gui J, Rohrbach A, Borns K, Hillemanns P, Feng L, Hubel CA, et al. Vitamin D rescues dysfunction of fetal endothelial colony forming cells from individuals with gestational diabetes. *Placenta* (2015) 36(4):410–8. doi:10.1016/j. placenta.2015.01.195
- Blue EK, DiGiuseppe R, Derr-Yellin E, Acosta JC, Pay SL, Hanenberg H, et al. Gestational diabetes induces alterations in the function of neonatal endothelial colony-forming cells. *Pediatr Res* (2014) 75(2):266–72. doi:10.1038/ pr.2013.224
- Odent Grigorescu G, Preda MB, Radu E, Rosca AM, Tutuianu R, Mitroi DN, et al. Combinatorial approach for improving the outcome of angiogenic therapy in ischemic tissues. *Biomaterials* (2015) 60:72–81. doi:10.1016/j. biomaterials.2015.05.002
- Bennis Y, Sarlon-Bartoli G, Guillet B, Lucas L, Pellegrini L, Velly L, et al. Priming of late endothelial progenitor cells with erythropoietin before transplantation requires the CD131 receptor subunit and enhances their angiogenic potential. *J Thromb Haemost* (2012) 10(9):1914–28. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04835.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AJ and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Gumina and Su. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Antibiotic Therapy for Chorioamnionitis to Reduce the Global Burden of Associated Disease

Clark T. Johnson^{1*}, Rebecca R. Adami² and Azadeh Farzin^{3,4}

¹ Division of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ² Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ³ Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁴ Department of International Health, International Center for Maternal and Newborn Health, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Chorioamnionitis is associated with significant maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality throughout the world. In developed countries, great progress has been made to minimize the impact of chorioamnionitis, through timely diagnosis and appropriate treatment. In the global setting, where many women deliver outside the healthcare facilities, this diagnosis is frequently overlooked and not properly treated. In addition to its impact on maternal health, a significant proportion of neonatal morbidity and mortality can be prevented by both recognition and access to readily available treatment. With the increasing focus on saving the most vulnerable members of society, we echo the need for providing parturient women with suspected chorioamnionitis universal access to appropriate therapy. We describe known effective antibiotic therapies for chorioamnionitis and provide an overview of additional potential antimicrobial treatments that might be effectively implemented in areas with limited access to care.

Keywords: chorioamnionitis, neonatal sepsis, intrapartum antibiotics, global maternal health, intraamniotic infection

Chorioamnionitis significantly contributes to maternal and neonatal poor outcomes. It represents Intrauterine Infection and/or Inflammation (Triple-I) (Higgins et al., 2016). In the short-term, chorioamnionitis can be associated with maternal sepsis, multi-organ dysfunction, stillbirth and death. Among surviving newborns, chorioamnionitis is associated with asphyxia, and early onset neonatal sepsis (EONS) well as long-term neurologic sequelae including cerebral palsy (Johnson et al., 2014). Antibiotics have been the mainstay of intrapartum therapy, and proven to reduce associated maternal and newborn morbidity. Chorioamnionitis can be clinically diagnosed by the presence of maternal fever, prurulent discharge, and tachycardia in the mother or her fetus (Higgins et al., 2016). Additional diagnostic methods include placental or amniotic fluid evaluation, but have more limited clinical applicability. Timely diagnosis and appropriate treatment with empiric antibiotic therapy and fetal delivery improves maternal and neonatal outcomes. Unfortunately, throughout the world, access to antibiotics and treatment for chorioamnionitis is limited (Laxminarayan et al., 2016). A variety of antibiotics have been described for their use in similar infections. We present a summary overview of current standard of care antimicrobial therapy as well as additional antibiotics that can be considered to facilitate treatment in resourcelimited settings.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maged Costantine, University of Texas Medical Branch, USA

Reviewed by:

Mauricio La Rosa, University of Texas Medical Branch, USA Emily J. Su, University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine, USA

> *Correspondence: Clark T. Johnson ctj@jhu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 13 December 2016 Accepted: 15 February 2017 Published: 14 March 2017

Citation:

Johnson CT, Adami RR and Farzin A (2017) Antibiotic Therapy for Chorioamnionitis to Reduce the Global Burden of Associated Disease. Front. Pharmacol. 8:97. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00097

MATERNAL AND NEONATAL MORBIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH CHORIOAMNIONITIS

Chorioamnionitis, or Triple-I, is associated with significant maternal morbidity including the need for cesarean delivery, uterine atony, postpartum hemorrhage, as well as post-partum wound infections (Johnson et al., 2014). Approximately, 1 in 30 deliveries is complicated by the presence of chorioamnionitis, however the prevalence increases with decreasing gestational age at the time of delivery and has been associated with an estimated 25% of preterm deliveries (Ericson and Laughon, 2015). In the absence of treatment, up to 1 in 5 newborns exposed to chorioamnionitis develop early onset neonatal sepsis (Chan et al., 2015). Definitive treatment is achieved with delivery of the uterine contents, while temporization with antibiotic therapy may permit trial of labor and vaginal delivery rather than immediate surgical cesarean delivery. Antibiotic therapy can improve fetal signs of infection such as fetal tachycardia and minimize some of the associated maternal morbidities (Johnson et al., 2014). Therefore, while antibiotic therapy cannot eradicate the infection, it is an important pillar of management to prevent exacerbation of disease prior to delivery (Higgins et al., 2016).

Fetal sequelae from chorioamnionitis span from acute shortterm disease to life-long morbidities (Johnson et al., 2014). The Fetal Immune Response Syndrome (FIRS) contributes to the significant morbidity of the condition, suggesting that even with antibiotic treatment of the offending organism, in some cases the inflammatory response may still cause significant morbidity, and is a major cause of stillbirth or neonatal death (Gibbs, 2002; Kallapur et al., 2014). Early onset neonatal sepsis can result in multi-organ dysfunction including life-threatening symptoms of respiratory distress and hemodynamic instability, and can be associated with chronic lung disease and neurologic injury among survivors. These complications are exacerbated among preterm infants and likely account for a significant proportion of global neonatal mortality, with urgent need for research to better delineate its impact are urgently needed (Lozano et al., 2012). It is important to note that routine administration of antibiotics in some cases of spontaneous preterm birth (e.g., preterm premature rupture of membranes) has the potential to mitigate neonatal sequelae (Cousens et al., 2010). Chorioamniontis in the global setting is a potential cause of stillbirth (Gibbs, 2002). Therefore, proper diagnosis of chorioamnionitis, and prompt administration of antibiotics to the laboring mother can temporize management until delivery, or in some cases during referral and triage to a tertiary care center and has the potential to avert death and long-term morbidity in a significant number of women and children (Gülmezoglu et al., 2016).

The burden of chorioamnionitis is most profound in Low and Middle Income Countries (LMIC) (Chan et al., 2016). Worldwide, an estimated 40 million births occur at home, mostly in LMIC and usually in the absence of skilled birth attendants and without access to proper preventative care as well as diagnostics and proper treatment for possible infection (Liu et al., 2016). A combination of poor conditions and poor hygiene contribute to neonatal mortality, with evidence that clean delivery practice has the potential to almost halve the risk of neonatal mortality (Seward et al., 2012). Neonatal infections, prematurity, and intrapartum related events account for the vast majority of the neonatal deaths worldwide. In the presence of overt chorioamnionitis, timely administration of antibiotics has the potential to minimize the risk of overt maternal or fetal sepsis (Chan et al., 2015) and has been associated with a 40% reduction in the neonatal infectious sequelae (Tita and Andrews, 2010).

EXISTING GUIDELINES FOR TREATMENT OF SUSPECTED CHORIOAMNIONITIS

General guidance for treatment for chorioamnionitis includes antibiotic coverage of the causative pathogens (Higgins et al., 2016). While widely subject to demographic and geographic variability, common organisms associated with chorioamnionitis include Ureaplasma (47%), Mycoplasma (30%), Gardnerella vaginalis (25%), bacteriodes (30%), gram negative rods including Escherichia Coli (8%), and Group B Streptococcus (15%) (Tita and Andrews, 2010). GBS specifically has wide variability in prevalence among global populations (Le Doare and Heath, 2013). The common feature of these organisms is that they represent genital microbes that can ascend and cause a strong inflammatory response.

Based on our knowledge of causative pathogens, a variety of antibiotic regimens are used to cover the presumed bacterial etiology of chorioamnionitis (Greenberg et al., 2012). However, current consideration for antimicrobial treatment for chorioamnionitis includes a combination of an aminopenicillin and gentamicin, with clindamycin or metronidazole generally added when cesarean delivery is performed (Tita and Andrews, 2010; Higgins et al., 2016). Of interest, neither antibiotic provides coverage against mycoplasma, which is a common organism associated with chorioamnionitis (Tita and Andrews, 2010). There are to date limited randomized controlled trials to evaluate superiority of antibiotic regimens to treat amniotic infections during ongoing labor to demonstrate effectiveness (Chapman et al., 2014). This suggests an absence of evidence basis for recommended type of treatment for clinical chorioamnionitis in a limited resourced setting. Therefore, current section of antibiotic regimen is driven not by absolute science, but limitations with existing research to demonstrate treatment superiority or non-inferiority.

Treatment of chorioamnionitis is challenged by accurate diagnosis, using clinical judgment in the assessment of signs of maternal fever, maternal and/or fetal tachycardia, and purulent cervical discharge (Johnson et al., 2014). Isolated maternal fever may arise from other causes, and is not necessarily an indication for diagnosis and treatment of chorioamnionitis (Higgins et al., 2016). Diagnosis can also be made on histologic placental evaluation after delivery, as well as microbial testing of amniotic fluid, each with significant limitations regarding clinical utility, particularly in a low resource setting (Johnson et al., 2014). Additional, there appears to be imperfect

Antibiotic class	Antibiotic	Pregnancy category	Route	Half-life (hours)	Placental transfer
Penicillins	Benzyl PCN	В	Injection	0.5	Incomplete
	Benzathine PCN G	В	Injection	30–50	Incomplete
	PCN V	В	Oral	0.5	Incomplete
	Procaine PCN G	В	Injection	20–40	Incomplete
Aminopenicillins	Ampicillin	В	Injection	1	Complete
	Amoxicillin	В	Oral	1.3	Complete
Penicillins: (Pellicinase Resistant)	Cloxacillin	В	Oral, Injection	0.5	Incomplete
Cephalosporins	Cefazolin	В	Injection	2	Complete
	Cephalexin	В	Oral	1	Complete
Cephalosporins:	Ceftriaxone	В	Injection	8	Complete
3rd Generation	Cefotaxime	В	Injection	1	Complete
	Ceftazidime	В	Injection	2	Complete
Vancomycin	Vancomycin*	С	Injection	4–6	Incomplete
B-Lacatmase Inhibitors	Amoxicillin/Clavulanate	В	Oral	1.0	Complete
Carbapenams	Imipenam+Cilastin	В	Injection	1–2	Incomplete
Aminoglycosides	Gentamicin	С	Injection	2–4	Incomplete
Macrolides	Erythromycin	В	Oral, Injection	1-1.5	incomplete
	Azithromycin	В	Oral	12	Incomplete
	Clarithromycin	С	Oral	5–7	Complete
Chloramphenicol	Chloramphenicol	С	Oral, Injection	1.2	Complete
_incosamide	Clindamycin*	В	Oral, Injection	2–3	Complete
Fluoroquinolones	Ciprofloxacin	С	Oral, IV	3.7	Incomplete
Nitroimidazole	Metronidazole		Oral, injection, suppository	9	Complete
Nitroheterocylic	Nitrofurantoin	В	Oral	0.33	Incomplete
	Spectinomycin	В	Injection	2	Incomplete
Anti-Folate Agents	Trimethoprim/Sulfa	С	Oral, Injection	12	Incomplete
	Trimethoprim	С	Oral	12	Incomplete
Tetracycline	Doxycycline	D	Oral	12–16	Complete

TABLE 1 | A selected list of antibiotics and routes of administration, as included in the WHO guide of essential medications (WHO, 2016), with pregnancy category, half-life, and indication of placental passage efficacy.

Adapted in part from Grayson et al. (2010), Roberts et al. (2008), and WHO (2016).

PCN, Penicillin

*Indicates WHO complementary medication, to be considered for specific clinical circumstances.

correlation between these diagnostic methods (Chan et al., 2016). Although chorioamnionitis is clearly associated with preterm labor and delivery, the evidence does not support the routine administration of antibiotics to women in preterm labor with intact membranes in the absence of overt signs of infection, with caution that such prophylaxis may exacerbate poor outcomes (Subramaniam et al., 2012). Antibiotics for preterm premature rupture of membranes are indicated and effective in reducing the risk of a number of early morbidities, including respiratory distress syndrome and infection, without having a significant impact on mortality (Cousens et al., 2010). The burden of neonatal disease due to Group B streptococcal infection has seen dramatic improvement with standardized treatment following universal screening in pregnancy (Koenig and Keenan, 2009). It remains universally sensitive to penicillin, with alternative antibiotic regimens considered only in cases of allergy. Therefore, intrapartum antibiotics to prevent EONS are effective and have reduced substantially the incidence of EONS in countries where they are implemented (Dutta et al., 2010).

ADDITIONAL ANTIBIOTICS THAT CAN BE CONSIDERED FOR TREATMENT OF SUSPECTED CHORIOAMNIONITIS

A number of antibiotics might be considered for use in pregnancy to treat amniotic infection, appreciating those listed in the WHO Guide of Essential Medications (**Table 1**) (WHO, 2016). Considering fetal organ immaturity and/or ongoing organ development, initial evaluation must consider potential fetal organ toxicity or teratogenic effects, even when given just prior to delivery. It is important to note, that while pregnancy category may not strictly contradict administration, other considerations might preclude their use as with fluoroquinolones (ACOG, 2016). Secondary considerations would include route of administration. This would be particularly relevant for developing regimens that can be implemented in LMIC. Therefore, many of these agents would be reasonable potential candidates in LMIC. As challenges remain in recommendation of superior treatment regimens for chorioamnionitis when compared to others, consideration of



a variety of agents might be considered to provide effective treatment for chorioamnionitis in a low resource setting. Consideration of Trimethoprim/Sulfa for use is considered in light of potential association with kernicterus in neonates (Thyagarajan and Deshpande, 2014).

The WHO list of essential medications provides guidance on a number of antibiotics that are most safe, efficacious, and cost-effective for priority conditions (WHO, 2016). Potential candidates for antibiotic therapy included on this list are further described with their half-life as well as relevant pharmacokinetic data on placental cross over (Table 1). Although treatment for chorioamnionitis before delivery tends to leave a short interval prior to delivery, duration of medication in case of needed repeat dosing may be considered. Given that chorioamnionitis represents an intra-amniotic infection, consideration of placental transmission of the medication would seem relevant. For each medication, individual considerations should be taken into account among other factors. Such factors include the compound stability, ease of administration, and medication cost, all of which are considered in the creation of the WHO list of essential medications. These factors may largely depend on geographic or local factors specific to communities. Additionally, medications that require weight-based considerations for dosing, such as aminoglycosides, macrolides, or vancomycin, might be challenging to implement. B-lactam antibiotics warrant consideration for increased dosing for particularly obese patients, which might be considered where obesity is a particular issue (Pevzner et al., 2011). Cultural acceptability of a regimen is important prior to implementation.

Accepted therapeutic regimens including ampicillin and gentamicin have similar antibiotic coverage compared to

extended B-Lactamase agents (e.g., ampicillin/sulbactam). While multiple agents permit extended coverage, single agent regimens would seem to at least provide a modicum of convenience if not pragmatic integration in lower resource areas. Oral agents would have to consider their onset to action and bio-availability relative to IM or IV dosing, as time-conscious treatment of chorioamnionitis remains important. IV dosing will have pragmatic limitations in most communities. Cost will also have significant implications for universal provision, which would contribute to considering one agent over another.

STEPS TO IMPLEMENTATION OF UNIVERSAL TREATMENT FOR CHORIOAMNIONITIS

Globally, there remains an unmet need of intrapartum treatment of chorioamnionitis. Many steps will be made before this need can be met. Antibiotic therapy will need to be affordable, transportable, and readily administered. In addition, regimens will need to demonstrate non-inferiority to standardized regimens. Universal birth attendance is an unmet goal in many LMIC. As efforts bend to millennium development goals help improve the safety of childbirth, attention will move to significant causes of morbidity such as chorioamnionitis. Just as with uterotonics for postpartum hemorrhage and magnesium for seizure prophylaxis, antibiotic therapy for intrapartum infection will be necessary to reduce the morbidity of childbirth.

Attempts to create implementable regimens in various regions will rely on multiple factors for implementation (**Figure 1**). Evaluation of simplified regimens will be necessary to

demonstrate effective policies but also to encourage widespread implementation of effective treatment modalities (Zaidi et al., 2013). Effective implementation of antibiotic therapy for chorioamnionitis will require continued success with Sustainable Development goals aiming to promote well-being for mothers and children. Public Health efforts to minimize the maternal and neonatal morbidity associated with chorioamnionitis will continue. As attention is directed toward areas where treatment is not currently available, those pregnancies in low resource settings will benefit. As much focus as will need to be put on birth attendance and appropriate delivery hygiene, provision of appropriate antibiotic therapy for chorioamnionitis will remain important.

CONCLUSIONS

Various antibiotics and classes of antibiotics may be considered for effective treatment of chorioamnionitis. Ethical demonstration of benefit is problematic, given that a number of agents have long been considered effective therapy (Higgins et al., 2016). We outline a number of different antibiotic types that might be considered when developing treatment

REFERENCES

- American College of Obstetrics and Gynecologists (ACOG) (2016). Practice Advisory: FDA Issues Updated Fluoroquinolone Warning. Washington, DC. Available online at: http://www.acog.org/About-ACOG/News-Room/Practice-Advisories/Practice-Advisory-FDA-Issues-Updated-Fluoroquinolone-Warning
- Chan, G. J., Lee, A. C., Baqui, A. H., Tan, J., and Black, R. E. (2015). Prevalence of early-onset neonatal infection among newborns of mothers with bacterial infection or colonization: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 15:118. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-0813-3
- Chan, G. J., Silverman, M., Zaman, M., Murillo-Chaves, A., Mahmud, A., Baqui, A. H., et al. (2016). Prevalence and risk factors of chorioamnionitis in Dhaka, Bangladesh. J. Perinatol. 36, 1039–1044. doi: 10.1038/jp.2016.150
- Chapman, E., Reveiz, L., Illanes, E., and Bonfill Cosp, X. (2014). Antibiotic regimens for management of intra-amniotic infection. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 12:CD010976. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd010976
- Cousens, S., Blencowe, H., Gravett, M., and Lawn, J. E. (2010). Antibiotics for preterm pre-labour rupture of membranes: prevention of neonatal deaths due to complications of pre-term birth and infection. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 39(Suppl. 1), i134–i143. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq030
- Dutta, S., Reddy, R., Sheikh, S., Kalra, J., Ray, P., and Narang, A. (2010). Intrapartum antibiotics and risk factors for early onset sepsis. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 95, F99–F103. doi: 10.1136/adc.2009.163220
- Ericson, J. E., and Laughon, M. M. (2015). Chorioamnionitis: implications for the neonate. *Clin. Perinatol.* 42, 155–165. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2014.10.011
- Gibbs, R. S. (2002). The origins of stillbirth: infectious diseases. *Semin. Perinatol.* 26, 75–78. doi: 10.1053/sper.2002.29839
- Grayson, M. L., Crowe, S. M., McCarthy, J. S., Mills, J., Mouton, J. W., Norrby, R. S., et al. (eds.). (2010). *Kucers' The Use of Antibiotics, 6th Edn*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Greenberg, M. B., Anderson, B. L., Schulkin, J., Norton, M. E., and Aziz, N. (2012). A first look at chorioamnionitis management practice variation among US obstetricians. *Infect. Dis. Obstet. Gynecol.* 2012:628362. doi: 10.1155/2012/628362
- Gülmezoglu, A. M., Lawrie, T. A., Hezelgrave, N., Oladapo, O. T., Souza, J. P., Gielen, M., et al. (2016). "Interventions to reduce maternal and newborn morbidity and mortality," in *Disease Control Priorities, 3rd Edn. Volume* 2, Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health, eds R. Black, R.

algorithms for chorioamnionitis, particular in LMIC were current treatment is far less than what a population might need to minimize maternal and neonatal complications. Effective treatment of chorioamnionitis will require more than just antibiotic therapy; it will require a birth companion competent to diagnose and treat the condition, an infrastructure to provide such antibiotics to the appropriate providers. As global efforts to increase the safety of birth advance, there is an urgent need for antibiotic therapy to appropriately manage chorioamnionitis in order to optimize maternal and neonatal outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CJ, RA, and AF: Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; and drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; Final approval of the version to be published; Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Laxminarayan, M. Temmerman, and N. Walker (Washington, DC: World Bank), 115–136.

- Higgins, R. D., Saade, G., Polin, R. A., Grobman, W. A., Buhimschi, I. A., Watterberg, K., et al. (2016). Chorioamnionitis Workshop Participants. evaluation and management of women and newborns with a maternal diagnosis of chorioamnionitis: summary of a workshop. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 127, 426–436. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001246
- Johnson, C. T., Farzin, A., and Burd, I. (2014). Current management and longterm outcomes following chorioamnionitis. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. North Am. 41, 649–669. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2014.08.007
- Kallapur, S. G., Presicce, P., Rueda, C. M., Jobe, A. H., and Chougnet, C. A. (2014). Fetal immune response to chorioamnionitis. *Semin. Reprod. Med.* 32, 56–67. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1361823
- Koenig, J. M., and Keenan, W. J. (2009). Group B streptococcus and early-onset sepsis in the era of maternal prophylaxis. *Pediatr.Clin. North Am.* 56, 689–708. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2009.04.003
- Laxminarayan, R., Matsoso, P., Pant, S., Brower, C., Røttingen, J. A., Klugman, K., et al. (2016). Access to effective antimicrobials: a worldwide challenge. *Lancet J.* 387, 168–175. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00474-2
- Le Doare, K., and Heath, P. T. (2013). An overview of global GBS epidemiology. Vaccine 31(Suppl. 4), D7–D12. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.01.009
- Liu, L., Hill, K., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Cousens, S., Mathers, C., et al. (2016). "Levels and causes of mortality under age five years," in *Disease Control Priorities, 3rd Edn. Volume 2, Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health*, eds R. Black, R. Laxminarayan, M. Temmerman, and N. Walker (Washington, DC: World Bank), 71–83.
- Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Forman, K., Lim, S., Shibuya, K., Aboyans, V., et al. (2012). Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* 380, 2095–2128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Roberts, S. W., Hnat, M., and Bawdon, R. E. (2008). Placental transmission of antibiotics. *Glob. Libr.* Available online at: http://www.glowm.com/section_ view/heading/Placental%20Transmission%20of%20Antibiotics/item/174
- Pevzner, L., Swank, M., Krepel, C., Wing, D. A., Chan, K., and Edmiston, C. E. Jr. (2011). Effects of maternal obesity on tissue concentrations of prophylactic cefazolin during cesarean delivery. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 117, 877–882. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e31820b95e4
- Seward, N., Osrin, D., Li, L., Costello, A., Pulkki-Brännström, A. M., Houweling, T. A., et al. (2012). Association between clean delivery kit use, clean

delivery practices, and neonatal survival: pooled analysis of data from three sites in South Asia. *PLoS Med.* 9:e1001180. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.10 01180

- Subramaniam, A., Abramovici, A., Andrews, W. W., and Tita, A. T. (2012). Antimicrobials for preterm birth prevention: an overview. *Infect. Dis. Obstet. Gynecol.* 2012:157159. doi: 10.1155/2012/157159
- Thyagarajan, B., and Deshpande, S. S. (2014). Cotrimoxazole and neonatal kernicterus: a review. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 37, 121–129. doi: 10.3109/01480545.2013.834349
- Tita, A. T., and Andrews, W. W. (2010). Diagnosis and management of clinical chorioamnionitis. *Clin. Perinatol.* 37, 339–354. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2010.02.003
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2016). WHO Model List of Essential Medicines-19th List. April 2015-Amended November 2015. Available online at: http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/essentialmedicines/en/ (Retrieved December 1, 2016).
- Zaidi, A. M., Baqui, A. H., Qazi, S. A., Bahl, R., Saha, S., Ayede, A. I., et al. (2013). Scientific rationale for study design of community-based simplified antibiotic therapy trials in newborns and young infants with clinically diagnosed

severe infections or fast breathing in South Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 32(Suppl. 1), S7–S11. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31829 ff5fc

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer MLR and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Johnson, Adami and Farzin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Skeletal Dysplasias: Growing Therapy for Growing Bones

Angie C. Jelin^{1*}, Elizabeth O'Hare², Karin Blakemore¹, Eric B. Jelin³, David Valle⁴ and Julie Hoover-Fong⁴

¹ Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ² Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA, ³ Pediatric Surgery, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁴ Genetics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Skeletal dysplasias represent a large and diverse group of rare conditions affecting collagen and bone. They can be clinically classified based on radiographic and physical features, and many can be further defined at a molecular level (Bonafe et al., 2015). Early diagnosis is critical to proper medical management including pharmacologic treatment when available. Patients with severe skeletal dysplasias often have small chests with respiratory insufficiency or airway obstruction and require immediate intubation after birth. Thereafter a variety of orthopedic, neurosurgical, pulmonary, otolaryngology interventions may be needed. In terms of definitive treatment for skeletal dysplasias, there are few pharmacotherapeutic options available for the majority of these conditions. We sought to describe therapies that are currently available or under investigation for skeletal dysplasias.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maged Costantine, University of Texas Medical Branch, USA

Reviewed by:

Matthew McLaughlin, Children's Mercy Hospital, USA Sunil K. Jain, University of Texas Medical Branch, USA

> *Correspondence: Angie C. Jelin ajelin1@jhmi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 01 December 2016 Accepted: 07 February 2017 Published: 06 March 2017

Citation:

Jelin AC, O'Hare E, Blakemore K, Jelin EB, Valle D and Hoover-Fong J (2017) Skeletal Dysplasias: Growing Therapy for Growing Bones. Front. Pharmacol. 8:79. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00079 Keywords: hypophosphatasia, mucopolysaccharidosis, osteogenesis imperfecta, achondroplasia, *Asfotase alfa*, enzyme replacement therapy

INTRODUCTION

A skeletal dysplasia is diagnosed in 1 of 5,000 births each year (Orioli et al., 1986). Severity is highly variable and can range from mild short stature to perinatal lethality. Among patients with less severe forms that allow survival are many who will require significant care for the duration of their lives. Despite research in the area of skeletal dysplasias that has elucidated a great deal about the genetic pathophysiology of these conditions, there remain limited therapeutic options.

The ability to accurately diagnose a skeletal dysplasia *in utero* has improved in recent years due to advances in prenatal ultrasound and molecular diagnosis. There are, however, limitations to ultrasound; certain skeletal dysplasias may not be seen until the third trimester (e.g., some forms of osteogenesis imperfecta), while others may manifest as late as infancy or early childhood (e.g., pseudoachondroplasia). In general, the earlier the dysplasia manifests, the more significant are its effects in terms of prenatal and postnatal morbidity and mortality. When sonographic findings are present, parents benefit from prenatal counseling and anticipatory guidance. Understanding the inheritance pattern is also important to direct recurrence risk estimates for future pregnancies, particularly when both parents are affected with a skeletal dysplasia. Inheritance depends on the specific dysplasia and may include autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive and X-linked inheritance, or a combination of these when both parents are affected.

Medical management of patients with skeletal dysplasias is dictated by the underlying pathogenesis along with the type and severity of physical manifestations in the realm of orthopedics, neurosurgery, otolaryngology, and pulmonary services. Pharmacologic treatment for these conditions is disease-specific (**Table 1**), and 4 conditions/groups will be discussed.

	Clinical therapy	Investigational/other therapy
Osteogenesis Imperfecta	Bisphosphonates, growth hormone, Teriparatide	In utero stem cell transplantation, Raloxifene, Denosumab, Sclerastin, Anti-TGF β
Hypophosphatasia	Asfotase alfa	Human parathyroid hormone*, bone marrow transplant*, gene therapy*
Mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS)		Stem cell transplantation, chaperone therapy, gene therapy
MPS Type I	Laronidase	Bone marrow transplant
MPS Type II	Idursulfase	
MPS Type IVa	Elosulfase alfa	
MPS Type VI	Galsulfase	
Achondroplasia		C-type natriuretic peptides, meclozine, human parathyroid hormone, human growth hormone

TABLE 1 | Therapeutic options for skeletal dysplasias.

*No longer employed, or under investigation.

OSTEOGENESIS IMPERFECTA

Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), also known as "brittle bone disease," is characterized by short stature, bone deformation, bone fragility, and osteoporosis (Forlino et al., 2011). There are over a dozen types of OI with a prevalence of 1–2 per 20,000 children (Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). Pathogenic mutations in OI have been uncovered in the following genes: *COL1A1, COL1A2, SERPINF1, CRTAP, LEPRE1, PPIB, SERPINHI,* or *FKBP10.* The majority of cases are due to an autosomal dominant mutation in *COL1A1* and *COL1A2* resulting in types I–IV, classified based on severity (Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). These mutations affect formation of type I collagen, which is the most prominent connective tissue in bone and skin.

Type I patients have a quantitative deficiency of collagen and often have blue sclerae and fractures without deformity. Patients with Types II-IV have defective forms of collagen caused by improper formation of the triple helix resulting in continual remodeling with a dominant negative effect. Type II OI is perinatally lethal, due to severe intrauterine fractures and bone deformities (Harrington et al., 2014). Type III is the most severe nonlethal type of OI, presenting with normal mental capacity (Krakow, 2015) and progressive deformities resulting in loss of ambulatory abilities (Krakow, 2015). Type IV OI is milder than type III, but still severe, commonly characterized by vertebral fractures and short stature (Krakow, 2015). Types II and III are generally detectable in utero (Krakow et al., 2008; Krakow, 2015), whereas the milder types of OI, types I, IV, and V, are usually diagnosed after birth (Harrington et al., 2014). Patients with type II and type III OI likely have a small chest cavity, and may require mechanical ventilation if demise is not inevitable secondary to severe fractures (Harrington et al., 2014).

In addition to the autosomal dominant mutations in COL1A1 and COL1A2, 5–10% of cases are due to a mutation in another gene. Type V OI, due to an autosomal dominant mutation in IFTITM5, is recognized by hypercallus formation and calcification of the intraosseous membrane (Liu et al., 2016). An autosomal recessive mutation in SERPINF1 is responsible for type VI (Harrington et al., 2014). Additional types of OI are autosomal recessive and are not well-recognized because they are very rare. Examples include the following types and (genes): type VII (CRTAP), type VIII (LEPRE1), type IX (PPIB), type X (SERPINH1), and Type XI (FKBP10; Harrington et al., 2014; Krakow, 2015).

Of the skeletal dysplasias, osteogenesis Imperfecta currently has the most pharmacologic treatment options. Overall the goal is to improve bone density and decrease fractures, and there are several drug families currently employed to do this (Lee et al., 2016). Medications include bisphosphonates, growth hormones, denosumab, and teriparatide. Additional therapies are under investigation; Raloxifine improves outcomes in murine models, and mesenchymal bone marrow transplant has promise when initiated *in utero*.

Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates are one of the major pharmacotherapeutic agents clinically prescribed for OI (Dwan et al., 2014; Harrington et al., 2014). Bisphosphonates suppress bone remodeling and inhibit calcification by inactivating osteoclasts (Dwan et al., 2014; Harrington et al., 2014), which, in turn, decreases areal bone mineral density (aBMD), primarily in the spine, hip, and femur and decreases the incidence of fractures (Ward et al., 2010). There is variation in fracture incidence, aBMD, and bone pain among these agents (alendronate, pamidronate, etc.; Dwan et al., 2014) and in their route of administration (intravenous vs. oral). Adverse side effects to long-term use of bisphosphonates have been found, including cumulative micro damage, cartilage calcification (Sinder et al., 2013; Vasanwala et al., 2016), and osteonecrosis of the jaw in elderly patients (Dwan et al., 2014; Harrington et al., 2014). Bisphosphonates have been found to be less effective after 2-4 years of treatment, so intermittent treatment may be more beneficial in some cases.

Growth Hormone

Osteogenesis imperfecta is not typically associated with growth hormone deficiency, but growth hormone treatment can be beneficial by increasing aBMD and growth velocity in children with OI (Antoniazzi et al., 2010). In a randomized study, recombinant growth hormone (rGH) was combined with bisphosphonate therapy (Antoniazzi et al., 2010). Although, the rate of fractures did not differ, lumbar spine and wrist bone mineral density increased. There was no apparent decrease in fracture rate overall (Harrington et al., 2014), yet the combination of rGH and bisphosphonates has not been shown to increase fracture rate either (Antoniazzi et al., 2010).

Teriparatide

Teriparatide is a bone stimulating recombinant form of parathyroid hormone used in anabolic therapy to treat osteoporosis (Vahle et al., 2002; Orwoll et al., 2014). When given in concert with bisphosphonate therapy, teriparatide has been shown to increase aBMD (Orwoll et al., 2014) and accelerate the healing of fractures (Rozen et al., 2007) in adults with Type I OI. In more severe forms of OI (types III and IV), teriparatide treatment showed no increase in aBMD compared to control groups (Orwoll et al., 2014).

Future OI Therapies

Development of OI treatments is ongoing. Studies have demonstrated an increase in bone healing by callus formation when teriparatide is combined with BMP-7, a recombinant protein in bones (Morgan et al., 2008). *Raloxifene* has been shown to decrease the rate of bone fractures in mice (Berman et al., 2016) and may prove to be useful to decrease fractures in future human trials of OI. *Denosumab* is an antibody currently used to prevent fractures in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis (Cummings et al., 2009; Shaker et al., 2015) and is being evaluated to treat OI. *Sclerostin antibody* has been shown in studies to increase bone formation, therefore improving bone mass (Sinder et al., 2013; Shaker et al., 2015), which is essential to OI preventative measures. *Anti-TGF* β *therapy* may also prove to be beneficial in decreasing osteoblast signaling and bone resorption (Shaker et al., 2015) in future OI treatment.

There are presently no clinically available *in utero* therapies for any of the skeletal dysplasias, however *bone marrow* and *mesenchymal stem cell transplantation* are currently under study for *in utero* treatment of OI (Mehrotra et al., 2010; Harrington et al., 2014). Case series demonstrate safety, with transient improvements in bone growth and decreases in fractures (Chan and Götherström, 2014). A larger clinical trial is underway (Chitty et al., 2016).

HYPOPHOSPHATASIA

Hypophosphatasia (HPP) is a rare metabolic disorder resulting from a loss-of-function mutation in the ALPL gene with corresponding deficiency of tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNSALP) (Millán and Plotkin, 2012; Whyte et al., 2015; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). There are 6 recognized clinical forms of HPP with varied severity, all correlated to insufficient mineralization of bone and teeth as well as osteomalacia in adults (Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). Although, mild forms of HPP are found in adolescents and adults, HPP that manifests in the fetus is almost always associated with infantile and perinatal lethality (Millán and Plotkin, 2012; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016) due to abnormal skeletal development and respiratory complications resulting from a small chest with pulmonary hypoplasia (Nishioka et al., 2006).

Current Treatments for HPP

Asfotase alfa is a human recombinant TSNALP currently used to safely treat HPP by reestablishing TSNALP levels for proper degradation of inorganic pyrophosphate and consequential regulated bone mineralization (Nishioka et al., 2006; Whyte et al., 2016; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). One study of this subcutaneous form of enzyme replacement therapy has demonstrated increased strength and agility as a result of improved bone mineralization (Whyte et al., 2016). An immense increase in perinatal and postnatal survival rates has been observed in patients treated with *asfotase alfa* (Whyte et al., 2016). In an open label study, infants with a previously perinatal lethal condition who were treated with *asfotase alfa* survived to have average stature with mainly defects in tooth enamel (Whyte et al., 2012).

Potential Treatments for HPP

Prior to the availability of *asfotase alfa*, several treatments were under investigation for HPP. These included *bone marrow transplants* (Millán and Plotkin, 2012), *parathyroid hormone* (*PTH*) treatment (Millán and Plotkin, 2012), and *fetal gene therapy*. Although, fetal gene therapy appeared to improve postnatal development in murine models (Sugano et al., 2011), its potential benefits are no longer under investigation due to the dramatic clinical benefits of enzyme replacement therapy with *asfotase alfa*.

MUCOPOLYSACCHARIDOSIS

Mucopolysaccharidoses (MPSs) are a type of lysosomal storage disease, a rare group of disorders that results in symptoms secondary to a defect in lysosomal function leading to abnormal storage of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) in the bones, heart, brain, liver, or spleen (Muenzer, 2014; Regier and Tanpaiboon, 2016). The enzyme deficiency is specific to the type of MPS. MPSs are progressive, so most cases become lethal as the patient ages (Walkley, 2009) as GAG builds up and causes multiple organ failures (Muenzer, 2011). GAGs are also involved in complex secondary signaling pathways which can create permanent cellular damage (Muenzer, 2014), so early diagnosis and treatment are essential to patient longevity (Clarke, 2011). Early diagnosis, however, is often difficult in patients with normal cognitive abilities (Muenzer, 2011; Lachman et al., 2014; Regier and Tanpaiboon, 2016). There are seven types of MPS, each of which is caused by an autosomal recessive disorder, except for MPS II, which is X-linked recessive and generally occurs only in males (Valayannopoulos and Wijbug, 2011; Muenzer, 2014). Current treatments for the mucopolysaccharidoses are focused mostly on enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT; Clarke, 2011).

Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) involves intravenous administration of the deficient enzyme specific to each type of MPS (Valayannopoulos and Wijbug, 2011; Haneef and Doss, 2016). ERT is currently used to treat MPS I, MPS II, and MPS VI (Muenzer, 2014; Haneef and Doss, 2016). Its use in the treatment of MPS IV type A (Morquio) is under *observational* study now that it has been FDA approved (Haneef and Doss, 2016; Regier

and Tanpaiboon, 2016). Although, repeated administration ERT may improve some of the symptoms of MPS including respiratory function and mobility, it cannot reverse existing skeletal disease (Muenzer, 2014).

MPS I is caused by deficiency of α -L-iduronidase (IDUA; Wang et al., 2009; Valayannopoulos and Wijbug, 2011; Ou et al., 2016), a critical enzyme in the GAG degradation pathway of heparin sulfate and dermatan sulfate (Kakkis et al., 2001; Muenzer, 2011; Regier and Tanpaiboon, 2016). MPS I is categorized into 3 groups based on its presentation and severity: Hurler's syndrome (severe; lethal by age 10); Hurler-Scheie syndrome (moderate; lethality by age 20); and Scheie's syndrome (mild; possible normal life span; Kakkis et al., 2001). Larodinase is used in ERT for MPS I, and has been shown to safely reverse some MPS symptoms, not including those relating to skeletal disease (Wraith et al., 2004; Muenzer, 2014).

MPS II is the only form of MPS that is inherited as an X-linked recessive disorder. It results from a deficiency of iduronate-2-sulphatase (Muenzer, 2011) which, similar to MPS I, leads to insufficient degradation of dermatin sulfate and heparin sulfate (Muenzer, 2011; Haneef and Doss, 2016; Motas et al., 2016). Idursulfase administration has resulted in reduced noncentral nervous system symptoms of MPS II (Haneef and Doss, 2016).

MPS *IVA* and *VI* are difficult to distinguish because of their varied presentation (Lachman et al., 2014), however treatment is dependent on the diagnosis. MPS IVA results from deficiency of N-acetylgalactosamine-6-sulfatase (GALNS) corresponding to the buildup of keratan sulfate (KS) and chondroitin-6-sulfate (C6S) (Regier and Tanpaiboon, 2016). Clinical treatment for MPS IVA with *elsosulfase alfa* is underway (Regier and Tanpaiboon, 2016). *Galsulfase* is currently the only treatment for *MPS VI* and has been successful in improving pulmonary function and mobility (Motas et al., 2016).

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) and bone marrow transplantation are used to introduce unaffected donor cells into the body and correct the lysosomal disorder by the accompanied addition of the enzyme that was previously lacking (Haneef and Doss, 2016). HCST is recommended in treating Hurler syndrome (MPS I) with ERT pre-treatment for the best results (Clarke, 2011; Muenzer, 2014). HSCT has been less successful in patients with MPS II or severe forms of MPS III (Muenzer, 2014; Motas et al., 2016). Bone marrow transplant was effective in reversing CNS symptoms (Walkley et al., 1994) in MPS I, MPS II, MPS VI, and MPS VII but is associated with a high complication rate (Haneef and Doss, 2016).

Future Therapies for MPS

Chaperone therapy could potentially treat MPS by assisting in the proper folding of proteins to create functional enzymes that break down GAG (Kakkis et al., 2001). *Gene therapy* is promising in finding a cure for skeletal dysplasias if the mutated gene can be correctly identified and modified to produce functional proteins, but development of this technique will take continued research (Kakkis et al., 2001).

ACHONDROPLASIA

Achondroplasia (ACH) is an autosomal dominant disorder generally resulting from a specific gain-of-function mutation (G380R) in the fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3) (Wang et al., 2013; Krakow, 2015; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). As the most common type of nonlethal skeletal dysplasia, occurring in 1-2 of every 20,000 live births (Savarirayan and Rimoin, 2002; Yasoda et al., 2009; Klag and Horton, 2016), ACH is the cause for most cases of dwarfism (Klag and Horton, 2016; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016). The common clinical presentation of ACH includes short stature, relative macrocephaly with frontal bossing (Matsushita et al., 2014), and rhizomelic limb shortening (Faruqi et al., 2014; Krakow, 2015). There are usually no cognitive impairments associated with ACH unless symptoms result due to a complication of another manifestation (Gordon, 2000). Severe symptoms may result due to spinal stenosis at the foramen magnum.

Abnormal long-bone development typically is not obvious until after the first half of the second trimester thus, early prenatal diagnosis of ACH by ultrasound is not common (Krakow et al., 2008; Krakow, 2015). When achondroplasia is suspected, prenatal molecular diagnosis can be employed to evaluate for the specific G380R mutation, however sequencing of *FGFR3* may be preferred if hypochodroplasia is on the list of differential diagnoses. Affected parents may also desire prenatal molecular diagnosis or pre-implantation genetic diagnosis to evaluate for a known maternal or paternal mutation (Wang et al., 2013).

Pharmacologic treatments for ACH are currently in stage 2 clinical trials (Wendt et al., 2015; Klag and Horton, 2016). Treatments are aimed at regulating the function of FGFR3 in growth plate formation (Matsushita et al., 2014). FGFR3 negatively regulates bone growth (Faruqi et al., 2014). Its elevated function leads to irregular endochondral ossification (Wendt et al., 2015; Yap and Savarirayan, 2016) and underdeveloped linear bone growth (Liu et al., 2016) resulting from interrupted differentiation of chondrocytes (Yasoda et al., 2009; Wendt et al., 2015; Klag and Horton, 2016).

C-type natriuretic peptides (CNP) increased linear bone growth in murine models with ACH by antagonizing FGFR3 signals (Wang et al., 2013; Faruqi et al., 2014; Klag and Horton, 2016). Most CNPs are active in the body for less than 3 min (Klag and Horton, 2016) before they are removed by the natriuretic clearance receptor (NPR C) and neutral endopeptidase (NEP) (Wendt et al., 2015). Constant intravenous infusions of these short-lived CNPs would be required to observe any improvement of endochondral ossification in patients (Yasoda et al., 2009; Wendt et al., 2015). BMN 111 (vosoritide) is a type of CNP that is resistant to digestion by NEP, and therefore has a longer circulation period in the body (Klag and Horton, 2016). Recent studies have shown an increased annual linear bone growth in cynomolgus monkeys (Wendt et al., 2015) and in children with ACH after daily subcutaneous administration of BMN 111 (Klag and Horton, 2016). BMN 111 is the most promising of CNP treatments and the only treatment for ACH that has made it to clinical trials (Klag and Horton, 2016).

Possible Future Treatments of Achondroplasia

Meclozine is an oral antihistamine that has been shown to block negative signaling of FGRF3 in chondrocytes (Matsushita et al., 2014; Klag and Horton, 2016) and increase linear bone growth in mice, both with ACH and wild-type (Matsushita et al., 2014). Furthermore, intermittent injection of *human parathyroid hormone* [*PTH*] in mice was accompanied by increased chondrogenesis and recovered bone growth (Xie et al., 2012). *Human growth hormone* (*hGH*) can increase short-term bone growth velocity in children, but is an ineffective therapy in adults (Savarirayan and Rimoin, 2002; Yasoda et al., 2009; Matsushita et al., 2014). A short-term study found increased chondrogenesis by *statin* administration, specifically rosuvastatin (Yamashita et al., 2014), but long-term analysis has not been done.

CONCLUSION

The currently available clinical therapies for patients with skeletal dysplasia are predominantly palliative in nature, however enzyme replacement therapy is now available for certain skeletal conditions. The ability to perform enzyme replacement therapy requires knowledge of the underlying molecular diagnosis as well as the pathogenic pathway by which the mutation affects bone

REFERENCES

- Antoniazzi, F., Monti, E., Venturi, G., Franceschi, R., Doro, F., Gatti, D., et al. (2010). GH in combination with bisphosphonate treatment in osteogenesis imperfecta. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 163, 479–487. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0208
- Berman, A. G., Wallace, J. M., Bart, Z. R., and Allen, M. R. (2016). Raloxifene reduces skeletal fractures in an animal model of osteogenesis imperfecta. *Matrix Biol.* 52, 19–28. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2015.12.008
- Bonafe, L., Cormier-Daire, V., Hall, C., Lachman, R., Mortier, G., Mundlos, S., et al. (2015). Nosology and classification of genetic skeletal disorders: 2015 revision. *Am. J. Med. Genet. A* 167A, 2869–2892. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37365
- Briggs, M. D., Bell, P. A., Wright, M. J., and Pirog, K. A. (2015). New therapeutic targets in rare genetic skeletal diseases. *Expert Opin. Orphan Drugs* 3, 1137–1154. doi: 10.1517/21678707.2015.1083853
- Chan, J. K., and Götherström, C. (2014). Prenatal transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells to treat osteogenesis imperfecta. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:223. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00223
- Chitty, L. S., David, A. L., Gottschalk, I., Oepkes, D., Westgren, M., Götherström, C., et al. (2016). EP21.04: BOOSTB4: a clinical study to determine safety and efficacy of pre- and/or postnatal stem cell transplantation for treatment of osteogenesis imperfecta. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 48(Suppl. 1), 356. doi: 10.1002/uog.17084
- Clarke, L. A. (2011). Pathogenesis of skeletal and connective tissue involvement in the mucopolysaccharidoses: glycosaminoglycan storage is merely the instigator. *Rheumatology* 50, v13–v18. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker395

Cummings, S. R., Martin, J. S., McClung, M. R., Siris, E. S., Eastell, R., Reid, I. R., et al. (2009). Denosumab for prevention of fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 361, 756–765. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0809493

- Dwan, K., Phillipi, C. A., Steiner, R. D., and Basel, D. (2014). Bisphosphonate therapy for osteogenesis imperfecta. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 10:CD005088. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd005088.pub3
- Faruqi, T., Dhawan, N., Bahl, J., Gupta, V., Vohra, S., Tu, K., et al. (2014). Molecular, phenotypic aspects and therapeutic horizons of rare genetic bone disorders. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014:670842. doi: 10.1155/2014/670842

growth and/or development. In addition to enzyme replacement therapy, bone marrow transplant is a less specific form of therapy that is clinically beneficial for several skeletal dysplasias. It is also being trialed *in utero* for osteogenesis imperfecta. A lack of suitable biomarkers accounts for the deficiency of therapeutic treatments (Briggs et al., 2015). Identifying these biomarkers will enable more useful treatment methods, but there is also associated difficulty with targeting the specific mutations, even when their identity is known (Tomatsu et al., 2013). Advances in molecular technology enable a more rapidly confirmed diagnosis as well as an earlier diagnosis in childhood and even *in utero*. This is key to allow for useful therapies specific to the underlying diagnosis. Our diagnostic capabilities will allow for a more personalized approach to treatment and targeted gene therapy as a foreseeable approach in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the concept and design of this project. All authors have reviewed and edited the final manuscript.

FUNDING

AJ is funded by the Johns Hopkins Women's Health Scholar Program.

- Forlino, A., Cabral, W. A., Barnes, A. M., and Marini, J. C. (2011). New perspectives on osteogenesis imperfecta. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 7, 540–557. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2011.81
- Gordon, N. (2000). The neurological complications of achondroplasia. *Brain Dev.* 22, 3–7. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(99)00075-3
- Haneef, S., and Doss, C. G. P. (2016). Personalized pharmacoperones for lysosomal storage disorder: approach for next-generation treatment. Adv. Protein Chem. Struct. Biol. 102, 225–265. doi: 10.1016/bs.apcsb.2015.10.001
- Harrington, J., Sochett, E., and Howard, A. (2014). Update on the evaluation and treatment of osteogenesis imperfecta. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* 61, 1243–1257. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2014.08.010
- Kakkis, E. D., Muenzer, J., Tiller, G. E., Waber, L., Belmont, J., Passage, M., et al. (2001). Enzyme-replacement therapy in mucopolysaccharidosis I. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 182–188. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200101183440304
- Klag, K. A., and Horton, W. A. (2016). Advances in treatment of achondroplasia and osteoarthritis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 25, R2–R8. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv419
- Krakow, D. (2015). Skeletal dysplasias. Clin. Perinatol. 42, 301–319. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2015.03.003
- Krakow, D., Alanay, Y., Rimoin, L. P., Lin, V., Wilcox, W. R., Lachman, R. S., et al. (2008). Evaluation of prenatal-onset osteochondrodysplasias by ultrasonography: a retrospective and prospective analysis. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* A 146A, 1917–1924. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.32269
- Lachman, R. S., Burton, B. K., Clarke, L. A., Hoffinger, S., Ikegawa, S., Jin, D. K., et al. (2014). Mucopolysaccharidosis IVA (Morquio A syndrome) and VI (Maroteaux–Lamy syndrome): under-recognized and challenging to diagnose. *Skeletal Radiol.* 43, 359–369. doi: 10.1007/s00256-013-1797-y
- Lee, M. S., Su, C. M., Yeh, J. C., Wu, P., Tsai, T. Y., and Lou, S. L. (2016). Synthesis of composite magnetic nanoparticles Fe₃O₄ with alendronate for osteoporosis treatment. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 11, 4583–4594. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S112415
- Liu, Y., Wang, J., Ma, D., Lv, F., Xu, X., Xia, W., et al. (2016). Osteogenesis imperfecta type V: genetic and clinical findings in eleven Chinese patients. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 462, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2016.09.019
- Matsushita, M., Hasegawa, S., and Kitoh, H. (2014). Meclozine promotes longitudinal skeletal growth in transgenic mice with achondroplasia carrying

a gain-of-function mutation in the FGFR3 gene. *Endocrinology* 156, 548–554. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1914

- Mehrotra, M., Rosol, M., Ogawa, M., and LaRue, A. C. (2010). Amelioration of a mouse model of osteogenesis imperfecta with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: microcomputed tomography studies. *Exp. Hematol.* 38, 593–602. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2010.04.008
- Millán, J. L., and Plotkin, H. (2012). Hypophosphatasia-pathophysiology and treatment. *Actual. Osteol.* 8, 164.
- Morgan, E. F., Mason, Z. D., Bishop, G., Davis, A. D., Wigner, N. A., Gerstenfeld, L. C., et al. (2008). Combined effects of recombinant human BMP-7 (rhBMP-7) and parathyroid hormone (1–34) in metaphyseal bone healing. *Bone* 43, 1031–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2008.07.251
- Motas, S., Haurigot, V., Garcia, M., Marcó, S., Ribera, A., Roca, C., et al. (2016). CNS-directed gene therapy for the treatment of neurologic and somatic mucopolysaccharidosis type II (Hunter syndrome). JCI Insight 1:e86696. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.86696
- Muenzer, J. (2011). Overview of the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Rheumatology* 50, v4–v12. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker394
- Muenzer, J. (2014). Early initiation of enzyme replacement therapy for the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 111, 63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2013.11.015
- Nishioka, T., Tomatsu, S., Gutierrez, M. A., Miyamoto, K. I., Trandafirescu, G. G., Lopez, P. L., et al. (2006). Enhancement of drug delivery to bone: characterization of human tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase tagged with an acidic oligopeptide. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 88, 244–255. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2006.02.012
- Orioli, I. M., Castilla, E. E., and Barbosa-Neto, J. G. (1986). The birth prevalence rates for skeletal dysplasias. J. Med. Genet. 23, 328–332. doi: 10.1136/jmg.23.4.328
- Orwoll, E. S., Shapiro, J., Veith, S., Wang, Y., Lapidus, J., Vanek, C., et al. (2014). Evaluation of teriparatide treatment in adults with osteogenesis imperfecta. *J. Clin. Invest.* 124, 491–498. doi: 10.1172/JCI71101
- Ou, L., Przybilla, M. J., Koniar, B. L., and Whitley, C. B. (2016). Elements of lentiviral vector design toward gene therapy for treating mucopolysaccharidosis I. *Mol. Genet. Metab. Rep.* 8, 87–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgmr.2015.11.004
- Regier, D. S., and Tanpaiboon, P. (2016). Role of *elosulfase alfa* in mucopolysaccharidosis IVA. *Appl. Clin. Genet.* 9, 67–74. doi: 10.2147/ TACG.S69080
- Rozen, N., Lewinson, D., Bick, T., Jacob, Z. C., Stein, H., and Soudry, M. (2007). Fracture repair: modulation of fracture-callus and mechanical properties by sequential application of IL-6 following PTH 1–34 or PTH 28–48. *Bone* 41, 437–445. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2007.04.193
- Savarirayan, R., and Rimoin, D. (2002). The skeletal dysplasias. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 16, 547–560. doi: 10.1053/beem.2002.0210
- Shaker, J. L., Albert, C., Fritz, J., and Harris, G. (2015). Recent developments in osteogenesis imperfecta. *F1000Res.* 4, 681. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.6398.1
- Sinder, B. P., Eddy, M. M., Ominsky, M. S., Caird, M. S., Marini, J. C., and Kozloff, K. M. (2013). *Sclerostin antibody* improves skeletal parameters in a Brtl/+ mouse model of osteogenesis imperfecta. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 28, 73–80. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.1717
- Sugano, H., Matsumoto, T., Miyake, K., Watanabe, A., Iijima, O., Migita, M., et al. (2011). Successful gene therapy *in utero* for lethal murine hypophosphatasia. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 23, 399–406. doi: 10.1089/hum.2011.148
- Tomatsu, S., Alméciga-Díaz, C. J., Barbosa, H., Montaño, A. M., Barrera, L. A., Shimada, T., et al. (2013). Therapies of mucopolysaccharidosis IVA (Morquio A syndrome). *Expert Opin. Orphan Drugs* 1, 805–818. doi: 10.1517/21678707.2013.846853
- Vahle, J. L., Sato, M., Long, G. G., Young, J. K., Francis, P. C., Engelhardt, J. A., et al. (2002). Skeletal changes in rats given daily subcutaneous injections of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (1-34) for 2 years and relevance to human safety. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 30, 312–321. doi: 10.1080/01926230252929882
- Valayannopoulos, V., and Wijbug, F. A. (2011). Therapy for the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Rheumatology* 50, v49–v59. doi: 10.1093/ rheumatology/ker396
- Vasanwala, R. F., Sanghrajka, A., Bishop, N. J., and Högler, W. (2016). Recurrent proximal femur fractures in a teenager with osteogenesis imperfecta on continuous bisphosphonate therapy: are we overtreating? *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 31, 1449–1454. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2805

- Walkley, S. U. (2009). Pathogenic cascades in lysosomal disease—why so complex? J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 32, 181–189. doi: 10.1007/s10545-008-1040-5
- Walkley, S. U., Thrall, M. A., Dobrenis, K., Huang, M., March, P. A., Siegel, D. A., et al. (1994). Bone marrow transplantation corrects the enzyme defect in neurons of the central nervous system in a lysosomal storage disease. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 2970–2974. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.8.2970
- Wang, R. Y., Cambray-Forker, E. J., Ohanian, K., Karlin, D. S., Covault, K. K., Schwartz, P. H., et al. (2009). Treatment reduces or stabilizes brain imaging abnormalities in patients with MPS I and II. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 98, 406–411. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2009.07.015
- Wang, Y., Liu, Z., Liu, Z., Zhao, H., Zhou, X., Cui, Y., et al. (2013). Advances in research on and diagnosis and treatment of achondroplasia in China. *Intractable Rare Dis. Res.* 2:45. doi: 10.5582/irdr.2013.v2.2.45
- Ward, L. M., Rauch, F., Whyte, M. P., D'astous, J., Gates, P. E., Grogan, D., et al. (2010). Alendronate for the treatment of pediatric osteogenesis imperfecta: a randomized placebo-controlled study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 355–364. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0636
- Wendt, D. J., Dvorak-Ewell, M., Bullens, S., Lorget, F., Bell, S. M., Peng, J., et al. (2015). Neutral endopeptidase-resistant C-type natriuretic peptide variant represents a new therapeutic approach for treatment of fibroblast growth factor receptor 3-related dwarfism. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 353, 132–149. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114.218560
- Whyte, M. P., Greenberg, C. R., Salman, N. J., Bober, M. B., McAlister, W. H., Wenkert, D., et al. (2012). Enzyme-replacement therapy in life-threatening hypophosphatasia. N. Engl. J. Med. 366, 904–913. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106173
- Whyte, M. P., Madson, K. L., Phillips, D., Reeves, A. L., McAlister, W. H., Yakimoski, A., et al. (2016). Asfotase alfa therapy for children with hypophosphatasia. JCI Insight 1:e85971. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 85971
- Whyte, M. P., Rockman-Greenberg, C., Ozono, K., Riese, R., Moseley, S., Melian, A., et al. (2015). Asfotase alfa treatment improves survival for perinatal and infantile hypophosphatasia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 101, 334–342. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3462
- Wraith, J. E., Clarke, L. A., Beck, M., Kolodny, E. H., Pastores, G. M., Muenzer, J., et al. (2004). Enzyme replacement therapy for mucopolysaccharidosis I: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled, multinational study of recombinant human α-L-iduronidase (laronidase). J. Pediatr. 144, 581–588. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.01.046
- Xie, Y., Su, N., Jin, M., Qi, H., Yang, J., Li, C., et al. (2012). Intermittent PTH (1-34) injection rescues the retarded skeletal development and postnatal lethality of mice mimicking human achondroplasia and thanatophoric dysplasia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 3941–3955. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds181
- Yamashita, A., Morioka, M., Kishi, H., Kimura, T., Yahara, Y., Okada, M., et al. (2014). Statin treatment rescues FGFR3 skeletal dysplasia phenotypes. *Nature* 513, 507–511. doi: 10.1038/nature13775
- Yap, P., and Savarirayan, R. (2016). Emerging targeted drug therapies in skeletal dysplasias. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 170, 2596–2604. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37734
- Yasoda, A., Kitamura, H., Fujii, T., Kondo, E., Murao, N., Miura, M., et al. (2009). Systemic administration of C-type natriuretic peptide as a novel therapeutic strategy for skeletal dysplasias. *Endocrinology* 150, 3138–3144. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1676

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer SKJ and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Jelin, O'Hare, Blakemore, Jelin, Valle and Hoover-Fong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploring the Pharmacokinetic Profile of Remifentanil in Mid-Trimester Gestations Undergoing Fetal Intervention Procedures

Judith A. Smith^{1,2*}, Roopali V. Donepudi¹, Pedro S. Argoti¹, Anita L. Giezentanner², Ranu Jain^{3,4}, Noemi Boring¹, Elisa Garcia¹ and Kenneth J. Moise¹

¹ Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Medicine, UTHealth McGovern Medical School, Houston, TX, USA, ² Department of Pharmacy, Memorial Hermann Hospital-Texas Medical Centre (TMC), Houston, TX, USA, ³ The Fetal Center, Children's Memorial Hermann Hospital, Houston, TX, USA, ⁴ Department of Anesthesiology, UTHealth McGovern Medical School, Houston, TX, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irina Burd, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Sunil K. Jain, University of Texas Medical Branch (UTMB), USA Devika Maulik, University of Kansas Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Judith A. Smith judith.ann.smith@uth.tmc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 30 August 2016 Accepted: 05 January 2017 Published: 24 January 2017

Citation:

Smith JA, Donepudi RV, Argoti PS, Giezentanner AL, Jain R, Boring N, Garcia E and Moise KJ (2017) Exploring the Pharmacokinetic Profile of Remifentanil in Mid-Trimester Gestations Undergoing Fetal Intervention Procedures. Front. Pharmacol. 8:11. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00011 **Background:** Indications for surgery during pregnancy have increased. Specifically fetal interventions have increased from conditions that were considered lethal like twin-twin transfusion syndrome and severe fetal anemia to non-lethal conditions like myelomeningocele. The optimal anesthetic agent for *in utero* surgery is yet to be determined. Success of the procedure is often dictated by the efficacy of the anesthetic to immobilize the fetus without over-sedating mom. Remifentanil is used as preferred agent due to its short half-life however pharmacokinetics in pregnancy is unknown.

Objective: To determine the pharmacokinetic parameters of remifentanil in a mid-trimester pregnant patient population undergoing fetal intervention.

Study Design: A validated liquid chromatography assay with ultraviolet absorbance was employed to estimate maternal serum remiferitanil levels. Blood samples were obtained at baseline and at selected time points: 5, 15, 30, 45, 60 min after the beginning of the remiferitanil infusion and at 15, 30, and 60 min post end of infusion.

Results: Ten pregnant patients were enrolled in the study however only eight patients had sampling obtained at all time points. The mean gestational age was 22.2 (±2.7) weeks, maternal age was 27.8 (±5.1) years and body mass index was 29.6 (±6.3). After receiving a continuous infusion of remifentanil, mean total dose was 975.3 µg, C_{min} was 2.0 ng/mL and C_{max} was 8.4 ng/mL. A two-compartment model best described the plasma remifentanil data. Mean pharmacokinetic parameters were: volume of distribution (Vd_c) = 124.6 L (16.2–530.8 L), maternal remifentanil total clearance (Cl_t) = 170.7 L/h (17.7–486.9 L/h), and half-life (t_{1/2}) = 0.6 h (0.2–0.9 h). The maternal remifentanil area under the curve (AUC) ranged from 2.7 to 21.7 µg/L*h. The mean alpha-acidic glycoprotein was 124.8 mg/dL (81.3–149.8).

70

Conclusion: The pharmacokinetic profile of remifentanil in pregnant women is similar to previously reported general population profiles. This data did provide potential rationale for the clinical observations why when remifentanil is dosed based on non-pregnant guidelines, it did not uniformly provide adequate fetal immobilization as per anecdotal perception of operating fetal surgeons. These findings are important for the development of further clinical studies to optimize dosing for surgery during pregnancy including the estimation of placental transfer and total fetal exposure.

Keywords: fetal anesthesia, pregnancy pharmacokinetics, remifentanil, twin-twin transfusion syndrome

INTRODUCTION

Despite the increasing popularity of specific anesthetic agents used for fetal intervention procedures such as remifentanil, very little information about their pharmacological and toxicological profiles in the maternal-fetal population exist (Dershwitz et al., 1995). Limited information exists about the long-term effects of fetal exposure to anesthetics, and yet, based on limited animal and human studies, a great public concern has been raised about the potential long-term neurotoxic effects of anesthetic exposure in early life (Loepke and Soriano, 2008). Fetal life is a period of active brain development, with a hypothesized greater susceptibility to environmental and pharmacologic insults (Palanisamy, 2012). The indications for fetal surgery have increased in recent years, with an expected increase in the number of procedures to be performed in the future (Deprest et al., 2010). Given the significant maternal and fetal morbidity inherent to fetal surgery, these procedures are reserved for conditions that are either lethal or associated with significant long-term disability, such as twin-to-twin transfusion syndrome, congenital diaphragmatic hernia and myelomeningocele. Additionally, fetal exposure to anesthetic agents can occur at any time during pregnancy for a maternal complication requiring operative intervention such as acute appendicitis.

Remifentanil is a category C potent ultra-short acting synthetic opioid drug. It is FDA approved for sedation and analgesia in both adults and children. It is usually combined with other medications for induction and maintenance of general anesthesia and is typically administered intravenously as a bolus or as a continuous infusion. Remifentanil is metabolized via rapid hydrolysis by non-specific plasma and tissue esterases. The terminal half-life is 10–21 min (Westmoreland et al., 1993).

When compared with other anesthetic agents such as diazepam for fetal intervention procedures, remifentanil produces maternal sedation and analgesia as well as fetal immobilization in a more rapid and pronounced manner. This has the potential to decrease the total surgical time and subsequently the length of fetal exposure to anesthetic agents (Van De Velde et al., 2005). Evidence also shows that remifentanil may have neuro-protective and other cell protective properties (Fodale et al., 2008; Jeong et al., 2012). However, the optimal dose needed to provide adequate fetal sedation is not clearly studied. Anecdotal experience has observed that when dosing is based on non-pregnant studies, it unfortunately does not uniformly

provide adequate fetal immobilization. This led to the current study to determine the pharmacokinetic profile of this drug in pregnancy. The primary objective of this study was to define the pharmacokinetic (PK) parameters of remifentanil in a pregnant patient population in mid-gestation. A secondary objective of the study was to evaluate the alpha acidic glycoprotein (AAG) levels on remifentanil pharmacokinetics. AAG is a serum "stress plasma protein" with a short 7 to 10 day half-life that readily binds to medications. Remifentanil is reported to have greater than 80% plasma protein binding (PPB), with over 75% specifically to AAG, however the impact of gestational stress, such as twin transfusion syndrome, on AAG levels has not been evaluated. This basic knowledge of the maternal pharmacokinetics of remifentanil and better understanding of the impact of gestational stress on AAG levels will open the doors for further toxicological and fetal (PK/PD) research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient and Study Design

Patient enrollment was approved by the institutional review board (IRB) of the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston and Children's Memorial Hermann Hospital, Houston, TX. The population selected included patients undergoing laser photocoagulation of placental anastomoses for twin-to-twin transfusion syndrome (TTTS). Patients underwent standardized ultrasound evaluation and counseling in order to determine if they were candidates for fetal intervention for TTTS. Only after they had been deemed appropriate surgical candidates by the faculty of The Fetal Center were they offered enrollment and consented to participate in the study.

Remifentanil Infusion

The remifentanil infusion was initiated at 0.05-0.08 mcg·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ just prior to surgical procedure upon the transfer of the patient to the operating room table. The infusion was initiated with a higher dose followed by continuous intravenous infusion adjusting the rate based upon the patient and the fetus's sedation level and physiological response. The initial infusion rate and any changes made by the anesthesiologist or surgeon in order to attain optimal operative conditions were documented on the data collection sheet.

An additional intravenous catheter was placed in the contralateral arm then the one used for the remifentanil infusion for pharmacokinetic (PK) sampling. Plasma concentrations of
remifentanil were obtained at baseline and at selected time points: 5, 15, 30, 45, 60 min after the beginning of the remifentanil infusion and at 15, 30, and 60 min post end of infusion (**Figure 1**). Due to limitations set by the IRB for the number of samples that can be obtained from a pregnant patient, the above time points were chosen.

An initial baseline sample of 12 mL was drawn; 6 mL used for PK and the remaining 6 mL was used for determining the AAG levels. All the other samples were 6 mL. The intravenous catheter was flushed with normal saline after each blood sample collection to help prevent clotting thus, the initial 2 mL of blood was discarded prior to each PK sample being drawn. The samples were placed on ice, transported to the analytical core laboratory and processed within 15 min of collection. The collection tube was centrifuged under refrigeration (4°C) 1000 × G for 10 min to separate the cellular elements from the plasma. Maternal plasma samples were then stored at -80° C until the time of analysis.

Remifentanil Sample Analysis

Remifentanil concentrations were quantified by validated high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) assay according to parameters described in the CDER Guidance for Industry Bioanalytical Assay Method Validation (Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Assay Validation, 2001). Remifentanil was isolated from maternal plasma samples by solid phase extraction after the addition of $10 \,\mu\text{L}$ of fentanyl $10 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ as the internal standard. Liquid chromatographic separation was achieved by isocratic mobile phase: the mobile phase consisted of a composition of 60% of the following mixture: acetonitrile: methanol: 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH3: water (180:120:48:652), and 40% methanol adjusted pH 7.2 with flow rate 1 mL/min with a elution on a Phenomenex PhenoSphere C1, 150×4.6 mm, 5 μ m particle size packing analytical column (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA). The remifentanil peak eluted at 9.20 \pm 0.2 min and fentanyl retention time was 11.50 \pm 0.2 min identified by photodiode array detector at a wavelength of 210 nm. The remifentanil assay was found to be linear over 2-100 ng/mL with a correlation coefficient (r) of 0.997. The coefficient of variation for the remifentanil assay ranged from 0.16 to 14.9%. The alpha1-acidic glycoprotein (AAG)



was determined using the Quantikine ELISA technique (R&D systems, Inc. Minneapolis, MN, USA).

Pharmacokinetic Analysis

The plasma concentration time data was fit using ADAPT II Software Version 4.0. (BMRS, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, USA) to determine optimal PK model to describe the data (D'argenio and Schumitzky, 1979). Model discrimination was based on the Aikaike inspection criteria (AIC), Schwartz, weighted sum of squares, sum of squares and linear correlation (R^2) as well as visual inspection of the data fit. Systemic exposure (AUC) was calculated: AUC (μ g·L⁻¹·h⁻¹) = [total dose (μ g)/total clearance (L/h)].

RESULTS

A total of 10 pregnant patients were enrolled in the study however only eight patients had complete sampling; these eight patients comprised the study population. The mean gestational age was 22.2 (\pm 2.7) weeks. The mean maternal age was 27.8 (\pm 5.1) years and BMI was 29.6 (\pm 6.3). Five of the patients were Hispanic and 3 were Caucasian (**Table 1**). The mean C_{min} = 2.0 ng/mL and the mean C_{max} = 8.4 ng/mL after receiving continuous infusion of remifentanil with a mean total dose of 975.3 mcg. The mean remifentanil concentration per minute was 12.6 \pm 7.8 ng/ml (**Table 2**).

A two-compartment model best described the plasma remifentanil data. Mean PK parameters were: volume of distribution (Vd_c) = 124.6 L (16.2–530.8 L), maternal remifentanil total clearance (Cl_t) was 170.7 L/h (17.7–486.9 L/h), and half-life (t_{1/2}) was 0.6 h (0.2–0.9 h). The maternal remifentanil AUC ranged from 2.7 to 21.7 μ g·L⁻¹·h⁻¹ (**Table 2**). The mean AAG was 124.8 mg/dL (81.3–149.8 mg/dL) in these pregnant patients.

DISCUSSION

The pharmacokinetics of remifentanil in normal healthy nonpregnant adults has been shown to be similar in both genders (Egan, 1995; Minto et al., 1997; Scott and Perry, 2005). The data from this study suggested that the PK profile in pregnant women is similar to other healthy non-pregnant women with a few notable differences. The mean volume of distribution in this study was 124.6 L (\pm 170.2), which is higher than normal healthy individuals (25-40 L) (Westmoreland et al., 1993). This was approximately a 3.3-fold increase in the volume of distribution, which is not unexpected in pregnancy. There is a 40-50% increase in the maternal blood volume in pregnancy which starts early in the first trimester and peaks at around 32 weeks gestation (Hytten and Paintin, 1963). Thus, this increased maternal circulating volume contributes to the greater volume of distribution noted in the current study in pregnant patients. This might be an attributing factor to the clinical observation of delay in fetal immobilization that had prompted this study. Previous studies have shown a significant amount of transfer of remifentanil across the placenta (Welzing et al., 2011; Heesen et al., 2013). However, there is also rapid metabolism and

TABLE 1 | Demographics and infusion data.

Patient	Age	Gestational age (weeks)	Race	Gravity and parity at the time of evaluation	TTTS stage	BMI	Starting infusion (mcg⋅kg ⁻¹ ⋅h ⁻¹)	Starting infusion dose (mcg/h)	Duration of infusion (min)
1	28	21	White	G2P1	III	31	0.3	1480	85
2	30	26	White	G2P1	I	24	0.08	396	82
3	21	25.7	White	G2P1	IV	43	0.12	792	73
4	24	21.4	Hispanic	G4P3	I	21	0.2	672	81
5	32	18.9	White	G2P0	111	30	0.5	2280	84
6	33	21.4	Hispanic	G6P4	П	30	0.05	241	62
7	33	19.4	White	G3P1	П	29	0.1	366	67
8	21	23.6	Hispanic	G2P1	П	29	0.1	438	70

Demographics and infusion data for each patient in the study.

TABLE 2 | Pharmacokinetic results.

	Remifentanil C _{min} (ng/mL)	Remifentanil C _{max} (ng/mL)	Mean concentration during infusion (ng/mL)	Maternal total clearance Cl _t (L/h)	Volume of Distribution Vd _c (L)	Mean Half- life (h)	AUC (μg⋅L ^{−1} ⋅h ^{−1})	AAG level (mg/dL)
Mean	2.0	8.4	4.8	170.7	124.6	0.6	10.6	124.8
Standard deviation	1.3	5.0	2.7	185.2	170.2	0.2	6.7	24.2
CV%	67.4	60.2	57.8	108.5	136.7	43.4	63.7	19.4

Pharmacokinetic results with mean, standard deviation, and coefficient of variation (CV%).

redistribution of remifentanil Kan et al. (1998). have shown an umbilical vein: maternal serum (UV:MA) ratio of 0.88 \pm 0.78 and an umbilical artery: umbilical vein ratio of 0.29 \pm 0.07. This was similarly demonstrated in a randomized trial by Ngan Kee et al. (2006) where the UV:MA ratio was 0.73 \pm 0.17. During the current PK study there was a concurrent pharmacokinetic study in pregnant women undergoing intrauterine transfusions that also received sedation with remifentanil that observed a similar transfer fraction (UV:MA) of 0.64 \pm 0.52. These studies would indicate that transplacental transfer/distribution of remifentanil into the fetal compartment may also contribute to the greater volume of distribution noted in the current study.

The maternal remifentanil clearance in our study was 170.7 L/h (\pm 185.2), which is lower than the clearance previously reported in non-pregnant women (250-300 L/h) (Westmoreland et al., 1993). The half-life in our study was 0.6 h (\pm 0.2) as compared to non-pregnant women where it ranges from 0.2 to 0.4 h (Westmoreland et al., 1993). We therefore found a 1.8 fold decrease in the remifentanil clearance, which would explain the increase in the half-life by about 1.5-fold. Typically in pregnancy the renal blood flow and the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) are increased by approximately 50% (Dunlop, 1981). This increase in the GFR results in an increase in the elimination of medications that are cleared by renal excretion and a corresponding shorter half-lives (Pacheco and Hankins, 2013). However, remifentanil is predominantly metabolized by non-specific circulating esterases to an acid metabolite GI-90291 (Westmoreland et al., 1993). This metabolite is excreted through the kidney. The clearance of remifentanil is therefore not affected directly by the maternal renal function.

The decrease in clearance could be related to the increase in the AAG levels noted in the current study as compared to the non-pregnant population. The mean level of 125 mg/dL observed in these patients was nearly two-fold higher than the mean level of 62.6 mg/dL previously reported by Chu et al. (1981) Approximately 70% of remifentanil is bound to plasma proteins; one third to albumin but most of it, greater than two-thirds, is bound to AAG decreasing its free-fraction available for drug activity. Certain plasma proteins like albumin are decreased in pregnancy, while others like sex hormone binding globulins are increased (Pacheco and Hankins, 2013). These changes in the protein concentrations are important in determining the drug response (Wood and Wood, 1981). AAG is a physiological stress protein, hence in conditions associated with more physiological stress, higher levels of AAG will be observed. For example, Chu et al. (1981) did not find any difference in the AAG levels in uncomplicated pregnancies when compared to nonpregnant women (62.6 \pm 18.8 mg/dL). However, they did find that pregnancies complicated by acute or chronic inflammation resulted in an increase in AAG levels (Chu et al., 1981). The current study found that the AAG was elevated (124.8 mg/dL \pm 24.2). Although the study patients did not have any significant medical history, their pregnancies were complicated by the need for fetal surgery. The effects of fetal surgery on maternal stress have not been studied, however any surgery would appear to cause significant psychological stress. Coussons-Read et al. (2007) demonstrated an increase in the pro-inflammatory cytokines

and acute phase reactants in cases of increased prenatal stress. The increased AAG concentration results in an increase in the amount of protein-bound of remifentanil, decreasing the free fraction of the active remifentanil. Hence the elevated AAG levels may also have contributed to the clinical observations of delay fetal immobilization when pregnant women are dosed based on non-pregnant dosing guidelines. In addition, subsequently a two-fold decrease in its clearance that was observed in this study. As a result of the decreased clearance and longer elimination half-life, a more prolonged interval may be necessary to reach a steady state in the pregnant woman. The delay in reaching steady state is another factor have contributed to the clinical observations of delay fetal immobilization when pregnant women are dosed based on non-pregnant dosing guidelines.

This study is limited by its small sample size. While enrolled 10 pregnant patients and were able to obtain adequate samples from 8 women. This is a prospective study of pregnant women in their second trimester undergoing a fetal procedure and we were able to obtain pharmacokinetic studies in these women, which have enhanced our understanding of remiferit effects in pregnant women.

In conclusion, the PK profile of remifentanil in pregnant and non-pregnant women was similar but with differences in volume of distribution, clearance, half-life and AAG levels. While limited by a small sample size, this data did provide some potential rationale for the clinical observations why when remifentanil is dosed based on non-pregnant guidelines, it does not uniformly provide adequate fetal immobilization hence higher remifentanil doses may be required to achieve adequate fetal immobilization. Clinically these higher remifentanil doses may not have a significant impact on patient outcomes given the benefits of remifentanil in obtaining adequate fetal analgesia and its rapid clearance from the fetal circulation. These findings are important for the development of further clinical studies to optimize dosing for surgery during pregnancy including the estimation of placental transfer and potential total fetal exposure.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS: Co-Investigator, Study conception, design, sample analysis, pharmacokinetic analysis, manuscript preparation. RD: Patient consent, data analysis, manuscript preparation. PA: Co-Principal Investigator, study conception, design, patient consent, data analysis, manuscript preparation. AG: Co-Investigator, study design, Sample acquisition, data collection, patient monitoring, manuscript preparation. RJ: Sample acquisition, data collection, patient monitoring. NB and EG: Patient navigator, sample acquisition, data monitoring. KM: Principal Investigator, study conception, design, patient enrollment, patient consent, data analysis, manuscript preparation.

REFERENCES

- Chu, C. Y., Singla, V. P., Wang, H. P., Sweet, B., and Lai, L. T. (1981). Plasma α_1 -acid glycoprotein levels in pregnancy. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 112, 235–240. doi: 10.1016/0009-8981(81)90382-X
- Coussons-Read, M. E., Okun, M. L., and Nettles, C. D. (2007). Psychosocial stress increases inflammatory markers and alters cytokine production across pregnancy. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 21, 343–350. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2006.0 8.006
- D'argenio, D. Z., and Schumitzky, A. (1979). A program package for simulation and parameter estimation in pharmacokinetic systems. *Comput. Progr. Biomed.* 9, 115–134. doi: 10.1016/0010-468X(79)90025-4
- Deprest, J. A., Devlieger, R., Srisupundit, K., Beck, V., Sandaite, I., Rusconi, S., et al. (2010). Fetal surgery is a clinical reality. *Semin. Fetal. Neonatal. Med.* 15, 58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2009.1 0.002
- Dershwitz, M., Randel, G. I., Rosow, C. E., Fragen, R. J., Connors, P. M., Librojo, E. S., et al. (1995). Initial clinical experience with remifentanil, a new opioid metabolized by esterases. *Anesth. Analg.* 81, 619–623.
- Dunlop, W. (1981). Serial changes in renal haemodynamics during normal human pregnancy. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 88, 1–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1981. tb00929.x
- Egan, T. D. (1995). Remifentanil pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. A preliminary appraisal. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 29, 80–94. doi: 10.2165/0000 3088-199529020-00003
- Fodale, V., Schifilliti, D., Praticò, C., and Santamaria, L. B. (2008). Remifentanil and the brain. Acta Anaesthesiol. Scand. 52, 319–326. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2007.01566.x
- Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Assay Validation (2001). *Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Assay Validation*, Vol. 2015. Available online at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/Guidance/ucm070107.pdf (Accessed April 1, 2013).

- Heesen, M., Klöhr, S., Hofmann, T., Rossaint, R., Devroe, S., Straube, S., et al. (2013). Maternal and foetal effects of remifentanil for general anaesthesia in parturients undergoing caesarean section: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Anaesthesiol. Scand.* 57, 29–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2012.02723.x
- Hytten, F. E., and Paintin, D. B. (1963). Increase in plasma volume during normal pregnancy. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Br. Emp. 70, 402–407. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1963.tb04922.x
- Jeong, S., Kim, S. J., Jeong, C., Lee, S., Jeong, H., Lee, J., et al. (2012). Neuroprotective effects of remifentanil against transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *J. Neurosurg. Anesthesiol.* 24, 51–57. doi:10.1097/ANA.0b013e3182368d70
- Kan, R. E., Hughes, S. C., Rosen, M. A., Kessin, C., Preston, P. G., and Lobo, E. P. (1998). Intravenous remifentanil: placental transfer, maternal and neonatal effects. *Anesthesiology* 88, 1467–1474. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199806000-0 0008
- Loepke, A. W., and Soriano, S. G. (2008). An assessment of the effects of general anesthetics on developing brain structure and neurocognitive function. *Anesth. Analg.* 106, 1681–1707. doi: 10.1213/ane.0b013e31816 7ad77
- Minto, C. F., Schnider, T. W., Egan, T. D., Youngs, E., Lemmens, H. J., Gambus, P. L., et al. (1997). Influence of age and gender on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of remifentanil. I. Model development. *Anesthesiology* 86, 10–23. doi: 10.1097/0000542-199701000-00004
- Ngan Kee, W. D., Khaw, K. S., Ma, K. C., Wong, A. S., Lee, B. B., and Ng, F. F. (2006). Maternal and neonatal effects of remifentanil at induction of general anesthesia for cesarean delivery: a randomized, double-blind, controlled trial. *Anesthesiology* 104, 14–20. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200601000-0 0004
- Pacheco, L. C. M. M., and Hankins, G. D. V. (2013). "Physiological changes during pregnancy," in *Clincial Pharmacology During Pregnancy* (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 5–14.

- Palanisamy, A. (2012). Maternal anesthesia and fetal neurodevelopment. Int. J. Obstet. Anesth. 21, 152–162. doi: 10.1016/j.ijoa.2012.01.005
- Scott, L. J., and Perry, C. M. (2005). Spotlight on remifentanil for general anaesthesia. CNS Drugs 19, 1069–1074. doi: 10.2165/00023210-2005191 20-00010
- Van de Velde, M., Van Schoubroeck, D., Lewi, L. E., Marcus, M. A., Jani, J. C., Missant, C., et al. (2005). Remifentanil for fetal immobilization and maternal sedation during fetoscopic surgery: a randomized, double-blind comparison with diazepam. *Anesth. Analg.* 101, 251–258. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000156566.62182.ab
- Welzing, L., Ebenfeld, S., Dlugay, V., Wiesen, M. H., Roth, B., and Mueller, C. (2011). Remifentanil degradation in umbilical cord blood of preterm infants. *Anesthesiology* 114, 570–577. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182 04e043
- Westmoreland, C. L., Hoke, J. F., Sebel, P. S., Hug, C. C. Jr., and Muir, K. T. (1993). Pharmacokinetics of remifentanil (GI87084B) and its major metabolite (GI90291) in patients undergoing elective inpatient

surgery. Anesthesiology 79, 893-903. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199311000-00005

Wood, M., and Wood, A. J. (1981). Changes in plasma drug binding and α₁acid glycoprotein in mother and newborn infant. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 29, 522–526. doi: 10.1038/clpt.1981.73

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Smith, Donepudi, Argoti, Giezentanner, Jain, Boring, Garcia and Moise. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Feto-Maternal Trafficking of Exosomes in Murine Pregnancy Models

Samantha Sheller-Miller^{1,2}, Jun Lei³, George Saade¹, Carlos Salomon^{4,5}, Irina Burd³ and Ramkumar Menon^{1*}

¹ Division of Maternal-Fetal Medicine and Perinatal Research, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, USA, ² Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, USA, ³ Integrated Research Center for Fetal Medicine, Division of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁴ Exosome Biology Laboratory, Centre for Clinical Diagnostics, University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ⁵ Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ochsner Clinic Foundation, New Orleans, LA, USA

Timing and initiation of labor are well-orchestrated by signals communicated between the fetal and maternal compartments; however, how these signals are communicated is not completely understood. Fetal exosomes, intercellular signaling vesicles, may play a key role in the process. The objective of this study was to evaluate exosome trafficking in vivo from fetal to maternal compartments. Pregnant CD-1 mice were intra-amniotically injected on gestational day 16 and 17 with exosomes isolated from primary human amnion epithelial cells fluorescently labeled with the lipophilic dye 1,1dioctadecyl-3,3,3,3-tetramethylindotricarbocyanine iodide (DiR). All our analyses were performed on samples collected on Day 18. After 24 h, mice were imaged using Bruker MS FX PRO In vivo Imager and tissues were collected. In vivo imaging of mouse showed fluorescence in the uterus, on the exosome-injected side whereas the uterine tissues from the uninjected side and saline and dye alone injected animals remained negative. Histological analysis of placenta showed exosome migration from the fetal to the maternal side of the placenta. Fluorescence released from exosomes was seen in maternal blood samples as well as in maternal uterus and kidneys. This study demonstrates that exosomal cargo can be carried through systemic route from the fetal to the maternal side of the uterine tissues during pregnancy, supporting the idea that fetal signals can be delivered via exosomes.

Keywords: parturition, signaling, microvesicles, CD-1 mice, oxidative stress

INTRODUCTION

Human parturition is widely accepted as an inflammatory process initiated by environmental, endocrine, and physiological factors, although the precise mechanisms involved are still unclear (Gonzalez et al., 2011; Reinl and England, 2015). Normal term parturition consists of well-orchestrated events involving both fetal and maternal compartments (Blackburn, 2014; Gao et al., 2015). On the maternal side, activation of the decidua, myometrial functional progesterone withdrawal, and cervical ripening are all considered mechanistic signals associated with parturition (Shynlova et al., 2013; Romero et al., 2014). Both endocrine and paracrine fetal biochemical signals released from matured organs, such as increased cortisol production by fetal adrenals or surfactant

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ronald James Wong, Stanford University, USA

Reviewed by:

Surendra Sharma, Women & Infants Hospital of Rhode Island, USA Maide Ozen, Brigham and Women's Hospital, USA

> *Correspondence: Ramkumar Menon ram.menon@utmb.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 22 August 2016 Accepted: 31 October 2016 Published: 15 November 2016

Citation:

Sheller-Miller S, Lei J, Saade G, Salomon C, Burd I and Menon, R (2016) Feto-Maternal Trafficking of Exosomes in Murine Pregnancy Models. Front. Pharmacol. 7:432. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00432 protein-A from fetal lungs, can induce parturition (Mendelson, 2009; Gao et al., 2015; Reinl and England, 2015; Menon et al., 2016b). Our laboratory has investigated a new fetal signaling mechanism initiated by fetal membrane senescence in response to inflammation and oxidative stress that builds up in the amniotic cavity at term (Menon, 2014; Menon et al., 2014, 2016b; Behnia et al., 2015). This leads to senescence-associated sterile inflammation through the release of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, matrix degrading enzymes and growth factors, termed senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP; Menon et al., 2013, 2016a; Menon, 2014; Behnia et al., 2015). Senescent cells also secrete damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are well known inflammatory mediators released from dying cells communicating cellular damage (Srikrishna and Freeze, 2009; Garg et al., 2014).

Although the senescent signal action is predominantly localized, these signals of cellular stress may get carried to maternal tissues, signaling fetal maturity and prompting delivery of the fetus (Natasha et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). Distant senescent signaling is likely facilitated through intercellular signaling vesicles called exosomes (Sheller et al., 2016). Exosomes are 30-100 nm endosome-derived vesicles with specific characteristics that separate them from other larger particles such as microvesicles and apoptotic bodies (György et al., 2011; Akers et al., 2013). First described as modulators of the immune response to cancer cells, exosomes have also been found to contribute to angiogenesis and metastasis (Bobrie et al., 2011; Rodríguez et al., 2014). The current research involving exosome signaling in tumorigenesis via immune cell modulation has increased interest in their role in inflammatory disorders, such as asthma, arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (Eldh et al., 2010; Corrado et al., 2013; Rodríguez et al., 2014). Since inflammation is an underlying theme in the initiation and progression of labor (Shynlova et al., 2013; Gomez-Lopez et al., 2014; Menon, 2014; Srikhajon et al., 2014; Reinl and England, 2015), it is likely that exosomes play an important role in cell signaling during term labor.

Exosome size facilitates transport between cells and tissues, while their contents, which reflect the functional state of the cell of their origin, may regulate the phenotype of the target cell (Raimondo et al., 2011; Kobayashi et al., 2014; Mulcahy et al., 2014). Ongoing studies in our laboratory have shown that myometrial cells treated with exosomes from amnion epithelial cells (AECs) cultured under oxidative stress conditions induce a contractile phenotype through the activation of NF κ B and gene transcription activation of contraction associated proteins COX-2 and Connexin 43.

Although studies show exosomes can induce functional changes in myometrial cells, we do not know if the fetal membrane-derived exosomes can reach the maternal tissues to induce labor. The objective of this study was to determine the biodistribution of exosomes *in vivo* in pregnant animal models. By injecting fluorescently labeled amnion cell-derived exosomes into the amniotic fluid of pregnant CD-1 mice, we observed the migration of exosomes from the fetal to the maternal tissues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Inclusion Criteria

No subjects were recruited or consented for this study since we used discarded placenta from normal term, not-in-labor cesarean sections that were de-identified before they were received by lab staff, as described previously (Sheller et al., 2016). Placental samples obtained for this study were from the John Sealy Hospital at The University of Texas Medical Branch (UTMB) at Galveston, TX, USA. The collection of placenta was approved by the institutional review board at The University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston in compliance with all applicable Federal regulations governing the protection of human subjects (#11-251 April 2013). This protocol allowed us to collect discarded placental specimens after normal term cesarean deliveries or vaginal deliveries as an exempt protocol that does not require subject's consent.

Isolation and Culture of Human Amnion Epithelial Cells (AECs)

All reagents and media were warmed to 37° C prior to use. The amniotic membrane was processed within 15 min after delivery as described previously (Lim et al., 2013; Menon et al., 2013; Sheller et al., 2016). Primary AECs (n = 4) were cultured in T75 flasks containing complete media consisting of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: Nutrient Mixture F-12 media (DMEM/F12; Mediatech Inc., Manassas, VA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), 10% Penicillin/Streptomycin (Mediatech Inc.) and 100 µg/mL epidermal growth factor (EGF; Sigma-Aldrich) at 37°C, 5% CO2, and 95% air humidity to 60–65% confluence.

Exosome Isolation

Culture media was removed and cells were serum starved for 1 h in DMEM/F12 with 5% pen/strep prior to treatment with exosome-depleted media (DMEM/F12, 5% pen/strep and 10% exosome-depleted FBS) for 48 h. FBS (Sigma-Aldrich) was depleted of exosomes by ultracentrifugation at 100,000 $\times g$ for 18 h then filter-sterilized with 0.22 µm filter (Millipore, MA, USA) (Soo et al., 2012; Kobayashi et al., 2014). Culture media were collected and stored at -80°C until exosome isolation. Media was thawed overnight then isolated using differential ultracentrifugation as described previously, (Sheller et al., 2016) with the following modifications. After the 2 h 100,000 \times g centrifugation, the supernatant was removed and the exosome pellet was resuspended in PBS. The sample was then split: half was centrifuged for 1 h at 100,000 \times g while the other half was labeled with DiR. The final pellets were resuspended in cold PBS and stored at -80° C.

Labeling of Exosomes with DiR

To fluorescently label exosomes for *in vivo* imaging, we resuspended the pellet centrifuged at $100,000 \times g$ for 2 h in 7.0 mL 7.5 μ M DiR (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) in PBS. After mixing, the exosomes were incubated in the DiR/PBS solution for 15 min at room temperature in the dark and then

ultracentrifuged at 100,000 \times g for 1 h. The final pellet was resuspended in 50 μL PBS and stored at $-80^\circ C.$

Exosome Characterization Using Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Western Blot

To show that exosomes isolated from primary AECs exhibit classic exosome shape and morphology, Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) studies were performed as described previously (Sheller et al., 2016), with the following modification: exosomes were fixed in 5% buffered formalin; then, 5 μ L of exosome suspension were dropped onto the grid and left to dry at room temperature for 10 min. To show exosome and amnion cell markers, we performed a Western blot as described previously (Sheller et al., 2016).

Animals

All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Johns Hopkins University. Timedpregnant CD-1 mice, outbred mice reflecting diverse genetic backgrounds in humans, were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Houston, TX, USA) and received on gestational day 9 (E9). Animals had access to food and water *ad libitum* freely during housing and the experimental period. To determine the biodistribution of exosomes *in vivo*, we anesthetized pregnant CD-1 mice on E16 (n = 9) and E17 (n = 9) with continuous isoflurane in oxygen and performed intrauterine injections of DiR-labeled exosomes or phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS).

Mice were subjected to mini-laparotomy, as illustrated in **Figure 1**. Using a Hamilton syringe, saline (n = 3 per gestational day) or DiR-labeled exosomes in PBS (n = 6 per gestational day) were injected intra-amniotically into each gestational sac on the

right side of the cervix (maximum of five injections). The left side of the uterus was not injected and served as an internal control. Surgical incisions were closed, and the dams recovered in individual cages.

After 24 h, animals were imaged under anesthesia on both the dorsal (after hair removal) and abdominal sides using the Bruker In Vivo MS FX PRO Imager (Bruker, Billerica, MA, USA). Upon completion of live imaging, the animals were sacrificed by carbon dioxide inhalation according to the IACUC and American Veterinary Medical Association guidelines. The fetus contained within the uterus was collected in 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) and analyzed by histology for the presence of exosomes. Uteruses were also removed from saline- and exosome-injected mice and imaged using IVIS 200 (PerkinElmer, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). Any image modifications (brightness, contrast, and smoothing) were applied to the entire image using Image J (open source). Maternal plasma was collected for exosome isolation.

Embryos were removed and fixed in 4% PFA at 4° C overnight. The next day, specimens were washed with PBS extensively and immersed in 30% sucrose until saturation, followed by cryosection at a 20-µm thickness. All photographs were taken with Zeiss AxioPlan 2 Microscope System (Jena, Germany). Routine hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) histochemical staining were performed on the neighbor sections.

Maternal Plasma Exosome Isolation to Localize Trafficking of Exosomes

To determine whether exosomes injected into the amniotic cavity can reach the maternal side via the systemic route, we analyzed serum samples for fluorescently labeled exosomes in maternal serum. Due to the low volume of serum collected, samples were pooled prior to isolation. Exosomes were isolated from maternal plasma, as described above, and the final pellet was resuspended





in 100 μ L 1:1 glycerol/ethanol solution. To determine if the isolated exosomes contained fluorescence, we pipetted 50 μ L of each sample and control in duplicate into a black 96-well plate (Corning) and imaged them on the Biotek Synergy H4 Hybrid (Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA). Wavelength was set for excitation at 745 nm and emission at 779 nm. A serial dilution of DiR in 1:1 glycerol/ethanol solution was used as the positive control, while the glycerol/ethanol solution was used as a negative control. Values were determined using relative fluorescence units (RFU). Upper and lower limits were established by DiR serial dilution (positive control, RFU > 50) and the glycerol/ethanol solution (negative control, RFU < 50). Statistical analysis was not performed as we analyzed pooled sample sets (n = 2 in each group) and therefore we report a fold change between the two groups.

RESULTS

Amnion Epithelial Cell-Derived Exosome Characterization

Isolated exosomes were characterized using TEM and Western blot for exosome and amnion markers as described previously (Sheller et al., 2016). TEM analysis revealed vesicles with classic exosome size and morphology (**Figure 2A**), consistent with previously published reports for exosomes (Redman and Sargent, 2008; Kshirsagar et al., 2012; Salomon et al., 2014; Mitchell et al., 2015). Western blot analysis was performed to determine exosome-enriched markers HSC70, CD81, and HSP70, as well as embryonic stem cell marker Nanog (**Figure 2B**).

Exosome Trafficking in Pregnant Mice

To determine the trafficking of exosomes injected into the amniotic cavity, we imaged animals 24 h after injection. As a negative control, saline was injected into the amniotic cavity and imaged after 24 h. Fluorescent signals could not be seen in saline-injected mice when imaged (data not shown).

Fluorescently labeled exosomes were injected into mice and imaged after 24 h. Regardless of the gestational day, exosomeinjected mouse images showed fluorescence on the dorsal side (**Figure 3A**), although the signal remained on the injected side. When uteruses were removed and imaged (**Figure 3B**), fluorescent signals were seen only on the injected sides and not on the uninjected sides, confirming the dye stays contained within the exosomes and does not leak from the membrane of the exosomes. On gestational day 18, images of the maternal kidneys from saline- and exosome-injected mice were also taken (**Figure 3C**). Fluorescent signals were not seen in the salineinjected kidneys, but fluorescence was seen in the kidneys of the exosome-injected mice.

Histologic analyses of placental and uterine tissues were performed to observe exosome trafficking in the reproductive



tissues. On E17, the collected exosome- and saline-injected mouse placentas showed no signals (**Figure 4**); however, on E18, signals emerging from exosomes can be seen on the maternal side of the placentas, whereas signals were not seen on the fetal side or in the saline-injected placentas (**Figure 5**). *In vivo* imaging of the uterine tissue showed saline-injected uterine tissue did not have fluorescent signals, whereas uterine tissues from the exosome-injected animals showed fluorescent signals (**Figure 6**). Fluorescent signals were validated using the Biotek Synergy H4 Hybrid, in which the exosome-injected uterine tissues on day 18 had sixfold higher RFU than the saline-injected tissues (data not shown).

Exosomes Traffic to the Maternal Serum

To validate the observations above and trafficking of exosomes through a systemic route, we analyzed exosomes isolated from maternal serum for fluorescence. Exosome injection solution was also analyzed for fluorescence to ensure exosomes were successfully labeled. Serum from saline-injected mice on E17 and E18, as well as from mice injected with exosomes on E17, had an RFU below 50, similar to the negative control (glycerol/ethanol solution). The serum from the exosome-injected mice on day 18 had an RFU above 50, indicating the exosomes from the amniotic fluid can traffic through the maternal serum later in pregnancy and may be dependent on timing. We report a 2.3-fold higher RFU in the serum of animals injected with DiR labeled exosomes compared to saline controls.

In summary, we demonstrated that exosomes may diffuse to the placental side where they can reach maternal tissues through a systemic route.

DISCUSSION

It is generally considered that the timing and initiation of labor are well orchestrated by communications between the fetus and the mother (Smith et al., 2002; Challis et al., 2005). However, how these signals are communicated between the fetal and maternal compartments is poorly understood. As intercellular signaling vesicles that can travel long distances through tissues and fluids (Raposo and Stoorvogel, 2013; Mincheva-Nilsson and Baranov, 2014; Bátiz et al., 2015; De Toro et al., 2015), exosomes may be carriers of these signals.

This study was performed to observe exosome trafficking *in vivo*. After labeling exosomes with the near-infrared dye DiR, we determined that exosomes injected intra-amniotically



into pregnant mice can be imaged and monitored for their migration. DiR-labeled exosomes injected on E17 were observed in the maternal plasma and kidneys and on the maternal side of the placenta and uterus on E18, indicating migration from the amniotic cavity to the maternal side. Our study shows that exosomes, which potentially carry signals for the initiation of parturition, can traffic from the amniotic fluid into the placenta and systemically spread through circulation.

Exosomes are characterized by their contents, which reflect the physiological status of the origin cell and can regulate the phenotype of the target cell (Kambe et al., 2014; Bátiz et al., 2015; Sheller et al., 2016; Willms et al., 2016). At term, oxidative stress and inflammation build up in the amniotic cavity, causing cellular senescence of the fetal membranes and subsequent release of signals of cellular damage (Menon, 2014; Behnia et al., 2015, 2016; Polettini et al., 2015; Menon et al., 2016b). Senescent signal action is primarily localized, although we have shown signals of cellular damage are also packaged into exosomes from AECs treated with the oxidative stress inducer cigarette smoke extract (Sheller et al., 2016). It is likely that exosomes carrying signals of cellular damage can reach maternal tissues and contribute to parturition.

Though our study answers basic questions about exosome trafficking *in vivo*, it does not include activation of inflammatory



placenta. (C) H&E staining of maternal and fetal sides of the placenta (scale bars represent 100 μ m).

pathways involved in the initiation and progression of labor. We only allowed for 24 h prior to imaging and tissue collection, which may not be sufficient time for exosomes to migrate to the target tissues or cause functional changes. Determination of initiation of parturition at term or preterm based on signals carried by exosomes was beyond the scope of this study. Exosomes were stored at -80° C until the day of injection. Although the stability of amnion epithelial cell-derived exosomes during freeze-thaw cycles has been not been evaluated for this study, there have been published reports demonstrating exosome stability in various biological fluids from pregnancy (Sarker et al., 2014). The number of exosomes injected was random, which may have an effect on the trafficking and eventual response to exosome signaling.

Our ongoing studies using a specific number of exosomes will determine the effect of the quantity required to cause a functional change and specific pregnancy outcomes like preterm or term parturition. Future studies using live imaging will also determine the timing required for exosome migration between feto-maternal compartments. We will also understand differences between exosomes from amnion cells grown under standard conditions and oxidative stress conditions, including activation of inflammatory pathways related to parturition and preterm birth rates.

In summary, we have demonstrated that exosomes injected into the amniotic cavity of pregnant mice can traffic to the maternal tissues. Specifically, exosomes injected on gestational day 17 migrated to the maternal side of the placenta, the



maternal serum, and the maternal kidneys. So we propose that exosomes can traverse through various tissue layers and or it can reach various tissues through a systemic route. Although not tested, the diffusion of exosomes through various layers could be a concentration dependent process and the quantity very well may determine the fetal signal strength. Oxidative stress is expected to increase exosome numbers (Salomon et al., 2013) and at term, oxidative stress induced increased production of exosomes from fetal tissues may increase exosome quantity and thus signal strength. This study demonstrated that fetal signals can be carried as exosomal cargo through either diffusion between tissues or through systemic route from the fetal to the maternal side during pregnancy. This supports the postulate that fetal signals that can contribute to the initiation of human parturition can be delivered via exosomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RM and IB conceived and designed the experiments. SS-M and JL performed the experiments. RM, SS-M, and JL analyzed the data.

RM, IB, GS, and CS contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools. RM, SS-M, JL, and IB wrote the paper.

FUNDING

This study was partly supported by an Innovative Catalyst Grant from the March of Dimes Prematurity Research Center Ohio Collaborative awarded to RM.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge support by the staff from the Maternal-Fetal Medicine and Perinatal Research Laboratory at the University of Texas Medical Branch in Galveston, TX, USA. We specifically wish to thank Lauren Richardson for her expertise in image creation and Jason Rosenzweig, PhD, for his assistance on injections, imaging, and necropsies at Johns Hopkins University. *In vivo* imaging at the biomedical imaging core at UTMB was performed with the support and guidance from Igor Patrikeev, PhD.

REFERENCES

- Akers, J. C., Gonda, D., Kim, R., Carter, B. S., and Chen, C. C. (2013). Biogenesis of extracellular vesicles (EV): exosomes, microvesicles, retrovirus-like vesicles, and apoptotic bodies. J. Neurooncol. 113, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1084-8
- Bátiz, L. F., Castro, M. A., Burgos, P. V., Velásquez, Z. D., Muñoz, R. I., Lafourcade, C. A., et al. (2015). Exosomes as novel regulators of adult neurogenic niches. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:501. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00501
- Behnia, F., Polettini, J., Saade, G. R., Campisi, J., and Velarde, M. (2016). Placental membrane aging and HMGB1 signaling associated with human parturition. *Aging (Albany NY)* 8, 1–15.
- Behnia, F., Taylor, B. D., Woodson, M., Kacerovský, M., Hawkins, H., Fortunato, S. J., et al. (2015). Chorioamniotic membrane senescence: a signal for parturition? Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 213, 1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.05.041
- Blackburn, S. (2014). *Maternal, Fetal, & Neonatal Physiology: a Clinical Perspective,* 4th Edn. Maryland Heights, MO: Elsevier Saunders.
- Bobrie, A., Colombo, M., Raposo, G., and Théry, C. (2011). Exosome secretion: molecular mechanisms and roles in immune responses. *Traffic* 12, 1659–1668. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2011.01225.x
- Challis, J. R. G., Bloomfield, F. H., Bocking, A. D., Casciani, V., Chisaka, H., Connor, K., et al. (2005). Fetal signals and parturition. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res.* 31, 492–499. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2005.00342.x
- Corrado, C., Raimondo, S., Chiesi, A., Ciccia, F., De Leo, G., and Alessandro, R. (2013). Exosomes as intercellular signaling organelles involved in health and disease: basic science and clinical applications. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 5338–5366. doi: 10.3390/ijms14035338
- De Toro, J., Herschlik, L., Waldner, C., and Mongini, C. (2015). Emerging roles of exosomes in normal and pathological conditions: new insights for diagnosis and therapeutic applications. *Front. Immunol.* 6:203. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00203
- Eldh, M., Ekström, K., Valadi, H., Sjöstrand, M., Olsson, B., Jernås, M., et al. (2010). Exosomes communicate protective messages during oxidative stress; possible role of exosomal shuttle RNA. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15353. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015353
- Gao, L., Rabbitt, E. H., Condon, J. C., Renthal, N. E., Johnston, J. M., Mitsche, M. A., et al. (2015). Steroid receptor coactivators 1 and 2 mediate fetal-tomaternal signaling that initiates parturition. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 2808–2824. doi: 10.1172/JCI78544
- Garg, A. D., Martin, S., Golab, J., and Agostinis, P. (2014). Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. *Cell Death Differ*. 21, 26–38. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.48
- Gomez-Lopez, N., StLouis, D., Lehr, M. A., Sanchez-Rodriguez, E. N., and Arenas-Hernandez, M. (2014). Immune cells in term and preterm labor. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 11, 571–581. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.46
- Gonzalez, J. M., Dong, Z., Romero, R., and Girardi, G. (2011). Cervical remodeling/ripening at term and preterm delivery: the same mechanism initiated by different mediators and different effector cells. *PLoS ONE* 6:e26877. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026877
- György, B., Szabó, T. G., Pásztói, M., Pál, Z., Misják, P., Aradi, B., et al. (2011). Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 68, 2667–2688. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0689-3
- Kambe, S., Yoshitake, H., Yuge, K., Ishida, Y., Ali, M. M., Takizawa, T., et al. (2014). Human exosomal placenta-associated miR-517a-3p modulates the expression of PRKG1 mRNA in Jurkat cells. *Biol. Reprod.* 91, 129. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.114.121616
- Kobayashi, M., Salomon, C., Tapia, J., Illanes, S. E., Mitchell, M. D., and Rice, G. E. (2014). Ovarian cancer cell invasiveness is associated with discordant exosomal sequestration of Let-7 miRNA and miR-200. *J. Transl. Med.* 12, 4. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-4
- Kshirsagar, S. K., Alam, S. M., Jasti, S., Hodes, H., Nauser, T., Gilliam, M., et al. (2012). Immunomodulatory molecules are released from the first trimester and term placenta via exosomes. *Placenta* 33, 982–990. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.10.005
- Lim, R., Barker, G., Riley, C., and Lappas, M. (2013). Apelin is decreased with human preterm and term labor and regulates prolabor mediators in human primary amnion cells. *Reprod. Sci.* 20, 957–967. doi: 10.1177/1933719112472741

- Mendelson, C. R. (2009). Minireview: fetal-maternal hormonal signaling in pregnancy and labor. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 23, 947–954. doi: 10.1210/me.2009-0016
- Menon, R. (2014). Oxidative stress damage as a detrimental factor in preterm birth pathology. *Front. Immunol.* 5:567. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00567
- Menon, R., Behnia, F., Polettini, J., Saade, G. R., Campisi, J., and Velarde, M. (2016a). Placental membrane aging and HMGB1 signaling associated with human parturition. *Aging (Albany. NY)* 8, 216–230.
- Menon, R., Bonney, E. A., Condon, J., Mesiano, S., and Taylor, R. N. (2016b). Novel concepts on pregnancy clocks and alarms: redundancy and synergy in human parturition. *Hum. Reprod.* doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw022 [Epub ahead of print].
- Menon, R., Boldogh, I., Hawkins, H. K., Woodson, M., Polettini, J., Syed, T. A., et al. (2014). Histological evidence of oxidative stress and premature senescence in preterm premature rupture of the human fetal membranes recapitulated in vitro. Am. J. Pathol. 184, 1740–1751. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.02.011
- Menon, R., Boldogh, I., Urrabaz-Garza, R., Polettini, J., Syed, T. A., Saade, G. R., et al. (2013). Senescence of primary amniotic cells via oxidative DNA damage. *PLoS ONE* 8:e83416. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083416
- Mincheva-Nilsson, L., and Baranov, V. (2014). Placenta-derived exosomes and syncytiotrophoblast microparticles and their role in human reproduction: immune modulation for pregnancy success. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 72, 440–457. doi: 10.1111/aji.12311
- Mitchell, M. D., Peiris, H. N., Kobayashi, M., Koh, Y. Q., Duncombe, G., Illanes, S. E., et al. (2015). Placental exosomes in normal and complicated pregnancy. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 213, S173–S181. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.07.001
- Mulcahy, L. A., Pink, R. C., and Carter, D. R. F. (2014). Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J. Extracell. Vesicles 3, 1–14. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.24641
- Natasha, G., Gundogan, B., Tan, A., Farhatnia, Y., Wu, W., Rajadas, J., et al. (2014). Exosomes as immunotheranostic nanoparticles. *Clin. Ther.* 36, 820–829. doi: 10.1016/j.cl1nthera.2014.04.019
- Polettini, J., Behnia, F., Taylor, B. D., Saade, G. R., Taylor, R. N., and Menon, R. (2015). Telomere fragment induced amnion cell senescence: a contributor to parturition? *PLoS ONE* 10:e0137188. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137188
- Raimondo, F., Morosi, L., Chinello, C., Magni, F., and Pitto, M. (2011). Advances in membranous vesicle and exosome proteomics improving biological understanding and biomarker discovery. *Proteomics* 11, 709–720. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201000422
- Raposo, G., and Stoorvogel, W. (2013). Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J. Cell Biol. 200, 373–383. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Redman, C. W. G., and Sargent, I. L. (2008). Circulating microparticles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 29, 73–77. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2007.11.016
- Reinl, E. L., and England, S. K. (2015). Fetal-to-maternal signaling to initiate parturition. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 2569–2571. doi: 10.1172/JCI82576
- Rodríguez, M., Silva, J., López-Alfonso, A., López-Muñiz, M. B., Peña, C., Domínguez, G., et al. (2014). Different exosome cargo from plasma/bronchoalveolar lavage in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Genes Chromosom. Cancer* 53, 713–724. doi: 10.1002/gcc.22181
- Romero, R., Dey, S. K., and Fisher, S. J. (2014). Preterm labor: one syndrome. Many causes. *Science* 345, 760–765. doi: 10.1126/science.1251816
- Salomon, C., Ryan, J., Sobrevia, L., Kobayashi, M., Ashman, K., Mitchell, M., et al. (2013). Exosomal signaling during hypoxia mediates microvascular endothelial cell migration and vasculogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 8:e68451. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068451
- Salomon, C., Yee, S., Scholz-Romero, K., Kobayashi, M., Vaswani, K., Kvaskoff, D., et al. (2014). Extravillous trophoblast cells-derived exosomes promote vascular smooth muscle cell migration. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:175. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00175
- Sarker, S., Scholz-Romero, K., Perez, A., Illanes, S. E., Mitchell, M. D., Rice, G. E., et al. (2014). Placenta-derived exosomes continuously increase in maternal circulation over the first trimester of pregnancy. *J. Transl. Med.* 12:204. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-204
- Sheller, S., Papaconstantinou, J., Urrabaz-Garza, R., Richardson, L., Saade, G., Salomon, C., et al. (2016). Amnion-epithelial-cell-derived exosomes demonstrate physiologic state of cell under oxidative stress. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0157614. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157614

- Shynlova, O., Lee, Y.-H., Srikhajon, K., and Lye, S. J. (2013). Physiologic uterine inflammation and labor onset: integration of endocrine and mechanical signals. *Reprod. Sci.* 20, 154–167. doi: 10.1177/1933719112446084
- Smith, R., Mesiano, S., and McGrath, S. (2002). Hormone trajectories leading to human birth. *Regul. Pept.* 108, 159–164. doi: 10.1016/S0167-0115(02) 00105-2
- Soo, C. Y., Song, Y., Zheng, Y., Campbell, E. C., Riches, A. C., Gunn-Moore, F., et al. (2012). Nanoparticle tracking analysis monitors microvesicle and exosome secretion from immune cells. *Immunology* 136, 192–197. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03569.x
- Srikhajon, K., Shynlova, O., Preechapornprasert, A., Chanrachakul, B., and Lye, S. (2014). A new role for monocytes in modulating myometrial inflammation during human labor. *Biol. Reprod.* 91, 10–10. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.114975
- Srikrishna, G., and Freeze, H. H. (2009). Endogenous damage-associated molecular pattern molecules at the crossroads of inflammation and cancer. *Neoplasia* 11, 615–628. doi: 10.1593/neo.09284

- Willms, E., Johansson, H. J., Mäger, I., Lee, Y., Blomberg, K. E. M., Sadik, M., et al. (2016). Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 22519. doi: 10.1038/srep22519
- Zhang, B., Yin, Y., Lai, R. C., and Lim, S. K. (2014). Immunotherapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles. *Front. Immunol.* 5:518. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00518

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Sheller-Miller, Lei, Saade, Salomon, Burd and Menon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pathway Markers for Pro-resolving Lipid Mediators in Maternal and Umbilical Cord Blood: A Secondary Analysis of the Mothers, Omega-3, and Mental Health Study

Ellen L. Mozurkewich^{1,2*}, Matthew Greenwood³, Chelsea Clinton⁴, Deborah Berman², Vivian Romero⁵, Zora Djuric⁶, Clifford Qualls⁷ and Karsten Gronert³

¹ Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA, ² Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ³ Vision Science Program, Infectious Diseases and Immunity Program, School of Optometry, University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, USA, ⁴ Obstetrics of Gynecology, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA, ⁵ Obstetrics and Gynecology, Michigan State University, Grand Rapids, MI, USA, ⁶ Family Medicine, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ⁷ Clinical and Translational Sciences Center, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irina Burd, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Karin A. Fox, Baylor College of Medicine, USA Azadeh Farzin, Johns Hopkins University, USA

*Correspondence: Ellen L. Mozurkewich emozurkewich@salud.unm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 14 March 2016 Accepted: 11 August 2016 Published: 07 September 2016

Citation:

Mozurkewich EL, Greenwood M, Clinton C, Berman D, Romero V, Djuric Z, Qualls C and Gronert K (2016) Pathway Markers for Pro-resolving Lipid Mediators in Maternal and Umbilical Cord Blood: A Secondary Analysis of the Mothers, Omega-3, and Mental Health Study. Front. Pharmacol. 7:274. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00274 The omega-3 fatty acids docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) are precursors to immune regulatory and specialized pro-resolving mediators (SPM) of inflammation termed resolvins, maresins, and protectins. Evidence for lipid mediator formation in vivo can be gained through evaluation of their 5-lipoxygenase (LOX) and 15-LOX metabolic pathway precursors and downstream metabolites. We performed a secondary blood sample analysis from 60 participants in the Mothers, Omega-3, and Mental Health study to determine whether SPM and SPM precursors are augmented by dietary EPA- and DHA-rich fish oil supplementation compared to soy oil placebo. We also aimed to study whether SPM and their precursors differ in early and late pregnancy or between maternal and umbilical cord blood. We found that compared to placebo supplementation, EPA- and DHA-rich fish oil supplementation increased SPM precursor 17-hydroxy docosahexaenoic acid (17-HDHA) concentrations in maternal and umbilical cord blood (P = 0.02). We found that the D-series resolvin pathway marker 17-HDHA increased significantly between enrollment and late pregnancy (P = 0.049). Levels of both 14-HDHA, a maresin pathway marker, and 17-HDHA were significantly greater in umbilical cord blood than in maternal blood (P < 0.001, both).

Keywords: resolvins, EPA, DHA

INTRODUCTION

A variety of putative health benefits have been attributed to omega-3 fatty acids, including prevention of cardiovascular disease, reduction of chronic inflammation, reduction in depressive symptoms, and prevention of insulin resistance (Delarue et al., 2006; Gonzalez-Periz et al., 2006; Hassan and Gronert, 2009). In pregnancy, omega-3 fatty acid supplementation has been shown to reduce early preterm births (<32–24 weeks; Makrides et al., 2006, 2010; Szajewska et al., 2006; Horvath et al., 2007) as well as to decrease risk for infant admission to a neonatal intensive care unit (Makrides et al., 2010).

Omega-3 fatty acids were originally thought to exert these beneficial effects by competitively inhibiting formation of proinflammatory arachidonic acid-derived eicosanoids (Gonzalez-Periz et al., 2006). However, more recently, omega-3 fatty acids have been shown to be the precursors to novel classes of specialized pro-resolving mediators (SPM) that are formed by lipoxygenase (LOX) or cyclooxygenase enzymes analogous to the formation of the arachidonic acid-derived SPM class of lipoxins. These ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA)-derived mediators are classified as E-series resolvins [eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) metabolites], D-series resolvins [docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) metabolites], maresins (DHA metabolites), and protectins (DHA metabolites) (Fredman and Serhan, 2011; Serhan, 2014). In vitro and in vivo experimental evidence strongly suggests that increased resolvin, maresin, and protectin formation after dietary supplementation may explain many of the observed health benefits of dietary ω-3 PUFA supplementation (Gronert, 2008; Grenon et al., 2015; Murphy, 2015; Serhan et al., 2015).

In humans, many of the prominent DHA-derived resolvins are primarily synthesized through the interaction of 15-LOX with 5-LOX. A key intermediate is the 15-LOX product 17hydroperoxy-DHA; its metabolite 17-hydroxy docosahexaenoic acid (17-HDHA) is pathway marker for the D-series resolvins. 17-Hydroperoxy-DHA is also the rate-limiting intermediate for the formation of protectin D1, which is 15-LOX product and that does not require 5-LOX (Serhan and Petasis, 2011). The primary hematologic cell types that generate 17S-HDHA are eosinophils (high expression) (Miyata et al., 2013) monocytes (low expression and high expression in macrophages) and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (low expression but inducible during resolution) (Serhan, 2014). By contrast, DHA-derived maresins are formed via the 12-LOX intermediate 14-hydroperoxy-DHA and further conversion by 5-LOX. 14-HDHA is the pathway marker for maresin formation and 12-LOX activity, an enzyme that is highly expressed in platelets and at lower levels in macrophages (Barden et al., 2014). 4-HDHA is another 5-LOX metabolite, that in animal models has been shown to mediate the antiangiogenic effect of omega-3 fatty acids (Sapieha et al., 2011) (Figure 1). By contrast, the EPA-derived resolvins are primarily synthesized through the cytochrome P450 intermediate 18S-hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acid (18S-HEPE), that is further converted by 5-LOX (Barden et al., 2014).

In healthy, non-pregnant volunteers, endogenous formation of maresins, resolvins, and protectins may be amplified by dietary omega-3 fatty acid supplementation (Fredman and Serhan, 2011; Gomolka et al., 2011). Due to the short half-life and rapid elimination of the potent resolvins, protectins, and maresins, direct quantification and detection of SPM in archived tissue samples may be challenging (Psychogios et al., 2011; Skarke et al., 2015). However, their specific metabolic intermediates and pathway markers have established activation of SPM pathways and their formation *in vivo* both in humans and animal models of inflammatory diseases. In particular 18-HEPE, 17-HDHA and 14-HDHA are established markers for the activation of the E-series resolvin, D-series resolvin and maresin biosynthetic pathways, respectively (Weylandt et al., 2012; Barden et al., 2014).

Endogenous synthesis of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators and their pathway markers in maternal and fetal serum has not been previously studied. The proposed study represents a secondary analysis of stored maternal and fetal (cord blood) serum samples from subjects who participated in a double blind randomized controlled trial comparing EPA-rich fish oil (1060 mg EPA plus 274 mg DHA) and DHA-rich fish oil (900 mg DHA plus 180 mg EPA) supplementation with soy oil placebo for prevention of perinatal depression among women at risk (Mozurkewich et al., 2013). We performed this ancillary study in order to compare maternal and neonatal activity of resolvin, protectin, and maresin pathway markers (RPM). We also aimed to study whether RPM differed in maternal and umbilical cord blood from subjects who were supplemented with EPA-rich fish oil, DHA-rich fish oil, versus placebo. We hypothesized that pathway markers of DHA-derived resolvins and protectins would be enhanced in umbilical cord blood compared to maternal blood, due to the preferential transplacental transport of DHA in late pregnancy. We further hypothesized that dietary supplementation with EPA- and DHArich fish oils would amplify resolvin, protectin, and/or maresin pathway activity compared with placebo supplementation.

Ethics

The parent trial was registered at Clinicaltrials.gov at NCT00711971. This parent study and this secondary analysis were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Review Board at HUM00004684. This secondary analysis was deemed exempt by the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center Human Research Protection Organization where the data analyses were carried out.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was a secondary analysis using LC/MS/MS (liquid chromatography/mass spectroscopy/mass spectroscopy) of stored plasma samples that were collected as part of a prospective, blinded randomized controlled trial of fish oil supplementation for prevention of depressive symptoms among women at risk (Mozurkewich et al., 2013). The parent trial was carried out at two medical centers in southeastern Michigan, the University of Michigan Health System and St. Joseph Mercy Health System. One hundred twenty-six subjects, of whom 118 completed the trial, enrolled in the study between October 2008 and May 2011. Potential subjects were excluded if they were eating more than two fish meals weekly, or if they were taking omega-3 fatty acid supplements, including prenatal vitamins with DHA (Mozurkewich et al., 2013). They were randomly assigned to receive EPA rich fish oil (1060 mg EPA plus 274 mg DHA), DHA rich fish oil (900 mg DHA plus 180 mg EPA), or soy oil placebo, and were followed longitudinally through pregnancy from their enrollment at 12-20 weeks' gestation, through 6 weeks postpartum. Maternal blood was drawn at enrollment (visit 1) and again at 34-36 weeks gestation (visit 3). Umbilical cord blood was obtained after the delivery of the infants born to mothers enrolled in the study (visit 4). Serum aliquots prepared from



each blood collection and were stored at -70° C (Mozurkewich et al., 2013). All samples were processed and stored within 12 h. Results of the blood sample analyses for fatty acids have been previously described (Mozurkewich et al., 2013).

This exploratory study involved a subgroup analysis of serum samples collected from 60 mother–infant pairs of study participants. Due to cost considerations, it was not possible to perform analyses for the whole study cohort. Samples for analysis were selected based on availability of complete sample sets and adherence to the protocol as ascertained by capsule counts.

Stored samples were analyzed by LC/MS/MS based lipidomic analysis to quantify levels of ω -3 PUFA-derived SPM. In brief, 400 pg of class specific deuterated internal standards prostaglandin E2 (PGE2-d4), lipoxin A4 (LXA4-d5), leukotriene B4 (LTB4-d4), 15(S)-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid [15(S)-HETE-d8], eicosatetraenoic acid (arachidonic acid-d8) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA-d5) were added to each sample prior to processing and extraction to calculate the recovery of specific classes of oxygenated fatty acids. Lipid antacids were extracted by solid phase with SampliQ ODS-C18 cartridges (Agilent Technologies). Eicosanoids and docosanoids were identified and quantified by LC/MS/MS-based lipidomics based on our published methods (Hassan and Gronert, 2009). Extracted samples were analyzed by a triple-quadrupole linear ion trap LC/MS/MS system (MDS SCIEX 3200 QTRAP) equipped with a Kinetex C18 mini-bore column. The mobile phase was a gradient of A [water/acetonitrile/acetic acid (72:28:0.01, v:v:v)] and B [isopropanol/acetonitrile (60:40, v:v)] with a 450 μ l/min flow rate. MS/MS analyses was performed in negative ion mode and prominent fatty acid metabolites quantified by multiple reaction monitoring (MRM mode) using established and specific transitions as previously described (González-Périz et al., 2009; Hassan and Gronert, 2009; Sapieha et al., 2011; von Moltke et al., 2012; Kalish et al., 2013; Pruss et al., 2013). Calibration curves (1-1000 pg) and specific LC retention times for each compound were established with synthetic standards (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Structures were confirmed for selected autacoids by MS/MS analyses using enhanced product ion mode with appropriate selection of the parent ion

in quadrupole 1. EPA, DHA, and arachidonic acid metabolomes were constructed. For inclusion, levels of ω -3 PUFA-derived SPM needed a signal-to-noise ratio of at least 3:1. When the signal-to-noise ratio did not meet this inclusion criteria, we used the lower limits of detection, which were 1 pg/ml for 4-HDHA, 5 pg/ml for 14-HDHA, and 2 pg/ml for 17-HDHA.

Statistics

For comparison of the baseline characteristics between the three treatment groups, we used analysis of variance (ANOVA). Comparisons for categorical variables were done using Fisher's exact tests. For other outcome measures computed descriptive statistics reported as mean and standard error of the mean for continuous data and frequency (%) for binary and categorical data. For values below the limits of detection, we imputed the lower limit of detection for the assay used. Data with right-skewed distributions were logarithmically transformed. We analyzed log-transformed resolvin pathway marker concentrations across visits 1, 3, and 4 (with visit 4 representing neonatal cord blood), with repeated measures (RM) ANOVA with "visit" as the repeated factor and the three "groups" (EPA, DHA, and placebo) as the grouping factor. Where there was no difference between individual treatment groups versus placebo, the treatment groups (EPA and DHA) were combined for subsequent RM ANOVA exploratory analysis. In instances in which significance was found by RM ANOVA, further exploratory analyses were carried out in the following manner. Post hoc tests of change at visit 3 (post-supplementation) were done by paired *t*-test. *Post hoc* comparisons between groups were done using unpaired *t*-tests. Pearson's correlation coefficient was computed to describe the relationship between log-transformed serum DHA levels at each study visit and log-transformed 4-HDHA, 14-HDHA, and 17-HDHA. For the purposes of the correlation analyses, the values below the lower limit of detection were removed. An additional correlation analysis was carried out to evaluate the relationship between maternal DHA at 34-36 weeks and cord blood 17-HDHA. A P-value of 0.05 was considered statistically significant. We conducted an exploratory analysis of the effect of labor on 17-HDHA formation by comparing log transformed 17-HDHA concentrations in cord blood collected after cesarean section without labor versus cord blood from birth after labor using unpaired *t*-tests.

RESULTS

The baseline demographic characteristics of the study subjects in the subset chosen for this analysis did not differ significantly between the treatment groups. Capsule compliance was similar between the three groups with subjects in the EPA group having an overall compliance of 69%, subjects in the DHA group with 71% compliance, and subjects in the placebo group with 76% compliance. This difference was not statistically significant (P = 0.60, generalized linear models). There was no difference in mean age at screening, gravidity, parity, or history of prior preterm delivery among the treatment groups (ANOVA, all $P \ge 0.50$) There was no difference in ethnicity or race (Fisher's exact test, both P > 0.35; **Table 1**).

TABLE 1	Demographic	table.
---------	-------------	--------

	EPA	DHA	Placebo	Significance
N	19	21	20	
Age at screening	29.0 ± 5.5	30.4 ± 4.8	30.9 ± 6.1	NS
Gravidity	2.37 ± 1.38	2.33 ± 1.15	2.20 ± 1.91	NS
Parity, term	0.68 ± 0.95	0.90 ± 1.04	0.60 ± 0.88	NS
Preterm	0.105 ± 0.315	0.095 ± 0.301	0.200 ± 0.523	NS
Av. compliance	0.69 ± 0.25	0.71 ± 0.20	0.76 ± 0.22	NS
White	16	17	16	NS

Av = average; NS = not significant.

D-series resolvins, E-series resolvin, protectins, and maresins were not consistently detected; peaks were below acceptable signal-to-noise ratio for the 3200 QTRAP MRM-based identification and quantification. The E-series resolvin pathway marker, 18-HEPE, was below detectable limits in 96% of the samples. Thus no further analysis of the EPA metabolome was carried out.

There was no significant difference in 4-HDHA levels between the groups at study entry or at any subsequent study visit. Log transformed 4-HDHA levels did not significantly differ across the study visits and were not significantly different in the maternal blood versus umbilical cord blood (**Figure 2**). Log transformed 4-HDHA concentrations were significantly correlated with DHA levels (Pearson's correlation coefficient 4 = 0.51, P < 0.001; **Figure 3**).

Log transformed 14-HDHA did not differ significantly between early and late pregnancy. 14-HDHA levels were significantly increased in umbilical cord blood compared to maternal blood at both maternal blood draw time points (P < 0.001). There was no significant treatment effect of EPAand DHA-rich fish oil supplementation compared to placebo on 14-HDHA levels, in either maternal blood or umbilical cord blood (**Figure 4**). However, in an analysis of combined blood samples from all study visits, 14-HDHA levels were significantly correlated with DHA levels (Pearson's correlation coefficient 0.47, P < 0.001; **Figure 5**).

For the total cohort, 17-HDHA levels significantly increased in maternal blood between enrollment and 34–36 weeks (P = 0.049). Concentrations of 17-HDHA in umbilical cord blood were significantly greater than in maternal blood both at study entry and at 34–36 weeks gestation (P < 0.001; **Figure 6**). In the total sample set, 17-HDHA levels were significantly correlated with DHA levels (Pearson's correlation coefficient 0.34, P < 0.02; **Figure 7**).





When the EPA- and DHA-rich fish oil groups were individually compared with placebo using repeated measures modeling, there was a trend toward higher 17-HDHA activity that did not reach significance (P = 0.07). By contrast, when the two supplementation groups were combined for the purpose of analysis, 17-HDHA activity was significantly higher in the combined EPA- and DHA-rich fish oil group than in the placebo supplemented group (P = 0.02).

However, when the EPA- and DHA-rich oil groups were together compared with placebo at the post-supplementation

time points using the *t*-test, there were no significant differences between the treatment groups and placebo at either of the postsupplementation time points. Although there was a trend toward treatment effect for supplementation at visit 3 (P = 0.11, *t*-test) this effect was not statistically significant. Likewise, although concentrations of 17-HDHA in umbilical cord blood were higher in the treatment groups as compared to placebo, this trend was not significant (P = 0.33). Of interest, cord blood levels of 17-HDHA were 5-fold higher after exposure to labor than in the instance of elective cesarean section, but this difference did not reach statistical significance.

DISCUSSION

The main finding of our study is that the maresin pathway precursor 14-HDHA and the resolvin pathway marker 17-HDHA were significantly enhanced in cord serum compared to maternal serum in early and late pregnancy. This finding is consistent with the observation of augmentation of DHA percentage in umbilical cord serum compared to maternal serum that we observed in the parent study and that has also been reported in other studies (Mozurkewich et al., 2013; Baack et al., 2015). Our study also suggested a treatment effect for EPA- and DHA-rich fish oil supplementation for the resolvin pathway precursor 17-HDHA, but prospective randomized studies are needed to determine whether resolvins, protectins, and maresins, themselves, are augmented by supplementation (Colas et al., 2014).

Previous studies examining the presence of SPM in adults have looked at subsets with specific diseases, including asthma, Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, chronic kidney disease, peripheral artery disease, and rheumatoid arthritis (Serhan, 2014; Grenon et al., 2015; Mas et al., 2016) as well as in unselected adults (Psychogios et al., 2011). In the reproductive sphere,







maternal omega-3 fatty acid supplementation with 3.7 g DHA plus EPA was shown to increase resolvin and protectin precursors in human placental tissues; likewise, a high n-3 PUFA diet has been shown to increase SPM precursors in rat placentas (Jones et al., 2013; Keelan et al., 2015). This study differs from these prior evaluations in that it assessed resolvin, protectin, and maresin pathway activity in human umbilical cord blood in relation to maternal dietary supplementation with DHA and EPA.

Our study was limited by the small sample size as well as cost constraints that precluded analysis of the entire trial

cohort. Similarly, the sample subset analyzed was not randomly chosen, but was selected based on maternal compliance with supplementation and by availability of complete sample sets. In terms of quantifying ω -3 PUFA-derived SPM our analysis was limited to quantifying DHA-derived resolvin, maresin, and protectin pathway markers, which likely was due to using an LC/MS/MS system with 1–10 pg limits of quantification. The DHA-derived resolvin pathway precursors we evaluated were below the limits of detection in some of our samples, and the precursors of the E-series resolvins were detected in only a few



samples. In addition, although several investigations in animal models suggest that SPM may act to inhibit preterm delivery and insulin resistance (González-Périz et al., 2009; Hellmann et al., 2011; Yamashita et al., 2013), our study was not designed to determine whether increased SPM levels after supplementation would confer any clinical benefit.

Another potential weakness of this study is the possibility that autoxidation may have led to higher levels of some pathway markers rather than enzymatic conversion of DHA. Our protocol for the timing of specimen processing and storage was also chosen to minimize autoxidation artifacts. The patients and treatment-specific lipidomic profiles and differing levels of the monohydroxy metabolites 4-HDHA, 14-HDHA, and 17-HDHA in each sample also suggest that autoxidation did not significantly contribute to the overall lipidomic profiles.

It is important to note that resolvins, protectins, and maresins are produced in self-limited inflammatory leukocyterich exudates and are temporally regulated during the resolution phase of acute inflammation (Serhan, 2014). This may explain the increase in cord blood levels of 17-HDHA after exposure to labor, which requires activation of inflammatory pathways, compared to elective cesarean section (Gonzalez et al., 2011). Lipid mediators have also been found to be 10–100 times higher in serum compared to plasma (Colas et al., 2014). Finally, higher levels of SPMs were recently reported in human milk when compared to those observed in peripheral blood samples of healthy individuals (Weiss et al., 2013).

Thus, future research examining SPM pathway activity in serum during phases of acute inflammation, such as normal and abnormal labor would be of great interest. We have previously reported that DHA-rich fish oil supplementation increased DHA levels in maternal and umbilical cord blood, compared to placebo (Mozurkewich et al., 2013). While we did not demonstrate any effect of fish oil dietary supplementation on SPM themselves, the trend toward treatment effect of supplementation on resolvin pathway markers in our small sample should lead to larger studies evaluating the effect of supplementation on SPM and any associations with clinical outcomes. Further, given the reported high concentration of SPMs in human milk, it would be beneficial to collect the serum of

REFERENCES

- Baack, M. L., Puumala, S. E., Messier, S. E., Pritchett, D. K., and Harris, W. S. (2015). What is the relationship between gestational age and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (ARA) levels? *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 100, 5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2015. 05.003
- Barden, A., Mas, E., Croft, K. D., Phillips, M., and Mori, T. A. (2014). Short-term n-3 fatty acid supplementation but not aspirin increases plasma pro-resolving mediators of inflammation. *J. Lipid Res.* 55, 2401–2407. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M045583
- Colas, R. A., Shinohara, M., Dalli, J., Chiang, N., and Serhan, C. N. (2014). Identification and signature profiles for pro-resolving and inflammatory lipid mediators in human tissue. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 307, C39–C54. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00024.2014
- Delarue, J., Li, C., Cohen, R., Corporeau, C., and Simon, B. (2006). Interaction of fish oil and a glucocorticoid on metabolic responses to an oral glucose

breastfed neonates of mothers supplemented with omega-3 fatty acids for examination of newborn host defense and development. Continued research on specialized SPM profiling is also needed because human resolution phenotypes have only recently been developed (Morris et al., 2010). Now that studies have proven the presence of SPMs in adult and fetal tissue, as well as their potential for modulation, the stage has been set for further identification of SPM function and relationship to nutrition and disease. Specifically, further research is needed to elucidate the potential benefits for prenatal augmentation of RPM in the fetal compartment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EM designed and carried out the parent study and this secondary analysis and wrote the paper. CC, DB, and VR helped to carry out the study and wrote the paper. MG carried out the blood sample analyses described in this analysis. KG designed this secondary analysis, carried out blood sample analyses, and wrote the paper. ZD designed and carried out the parent study and wrote the paper. CQ carried out the statistical analyses and wrote the paper.

FUNDING

This project was supported by the NIH R21 AT004166-03S1 (NCCAM), as well as a University of Michigan Clinical Research Initiatives grant and the University of Michigan General Clinical Research Center (now the Michigan Clinical Research Unit). This research was supported (in part) by the National Institutes of Health through the University of Michigan's Cancer Center Support Grant (P30 CA046592). This project was also supported in part by the National Center for Research Resources and the National Institutes of Health through Grant Number # UL1TR001449, The University of New Mexico Clinical and Translational Science Center. The fish oils described in this manuscript were supplied by Nordic Naturals Corporation, Watsonville, CA.

load in healthy human subjects. Br. J. Nutr. 95, 267–272. doi: 10.1079/BJN200 51631

- Fredman, G., and Serhan, C. N. (2011). Specialized pro-resolving mediator targets for RvE1 and RvD1 in peripheral blood and mechanisms of resolution. *Biochem.* J. 437, 185–197. doi: 10.1042/BJ20110327
- Gomolka, B., Siegert, E., Blossey, K., Schunck, W., Rothe, M., and Weylandt, K. H. (2011). Analysis of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid-derived lipid metabolite formation in human and mouse blood samples. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*. 94, 81–87. doi: 10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2010.12.006
- Gonzalez, J. M., Dong, Z., Romero, R., and Girardi, G. (2011). Cervical remodeling/ripening at term and preterm delivery: the same mechanism initiated by different mediators and different effector cells. *PLoS ONE* 6:e26877. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026877
- González-Périz, A., Horrillo, R., Ferré, N., Gronert, K., Dong, B., Morán-Salvador, E., et al. (2009). Obesity-induced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis are alleviated by ω -3 fatty acids: a role for resolvins and protectins. *FASEB J.* 23, 1946–1957. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-125674

- Gonzalez-Periz, A., Planaguma, A., Gronert, K., Miquel, R., Lopez-Parra, M., Titos, E., et al. (2006). Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) blunts liver injury by conversion to protective lipid mediators: protectin D1 and 17S-hydroxy-DHA. FASEB J. 20, 2537–2539. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6250fje
- Grenon, S. M., Owens, C. D., Nosova, E. V., Hughes-Fulford, M., Alley, H. F., Chong, K., et al. (2015). Short-Term, high-dose fish oil supplementation increases the production of omega-3 fatty acid-derived mediators in patients with peripheral artery disease (the OMEGA-PAD I Trial). J. Am. Heart Assoc. 4:e002034. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002034
- Gronert, K. (2008). Lipid autacoids in inflammation and injury responses: a matter of privilege. *Mol. Interv.* 8, 28–35. doi: 10.1124/mi.8.1.7
- Hassan, I. R., and Gronert, K. (2009). Acute changes in dietary omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids have a pronounced impact on survival following ischemic renal injury and formation of renoprotective docosahexaenoic acid-derived protectin D1. *J. Immunol.* 182, 3223–3232. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802064
- Hellmann, J., Tang, Y., Kosuri, M., Bhatnagar, A., and Spite, M. (2011). Resolvin D1 decreases adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic mice. *FASEB J.* 25, 2399–2407. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-178657
- Horvath, A., Koletzko, B., and Szajewska, H. (2007). Effect of supplementation of women in high-risk pregnancies with long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on pregnancy outcomes and growth measures at birth: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Br. J. Nutr.* 98, 253–259. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507709078
- Jones, M. L., Mark, P. J., Keelan, J. A., Barden, A., Mas, E., Mori, T. A., et al. (2013). Maternal dietary omega-3 fatty acid intake increases resolvin and protectin levels in the rat placenta. J. Lipid Res. 54, 2247–2254. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M039842
- Kalish, B. T., Le, H. D., Fitzgerald, J. M., Wang, S., Seamon, K., Gura, K. M., et al. (2013). Intravenous fish oil lipid emulsion promotes a shift toward antiinflammatory pro-resolving lipid mediators. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 305, G818–G828. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00106.2013
- Keelan, J. A., Mas, E., D'Vaz, N., Dunstan, J. A., Li, S., Barden, A. E., et al. (2015). Effects of maternal n-3 fatty acid supplementation on placental cytokines, proresolving lipid mediators and their precursors. *Reproduction* 149, 171–178. doi: 10.1530/REP-14-0549
- Makrides, M., Duley, L., and Olsen, S. F. (2006). Marine oil, and other prostaglandin precursor, supplementation for pregnancy uncomplicated by pre-eclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 3:CD003402. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003402
- Makrides, M., Gibson, R. A., McPhee, A. J., Yelland, L., Quinlivan, J., Ryan, P., et al. (2010). Effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on maternal depression and neurodevelopment of young children: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 304, 1675–1683. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1507
- Mas, E., Barden, A., Burke, V., Beilin, L. J., Watts, G. F., Huang, R. C., et al. (2016). A randomized controlled trial of the effects of n-3 fatty acids on resolvins in chronic kidney disease. *Clin. Nutr.* 35, 331–336. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.04.004
- Miyata, J., Fukunaga, K., Iwamoto, R., Isobe, Y., Niimi, K., Takamiya, R., et al. (2013). Dysregulated synthesis of protectin D1 in eosinophils from patients with severe asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 131, 353–360. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.048
- Morris, T., Stables, M., Colville-Nash, P., Newson, J., Bellingan, G., de Souza, P. M., et al. (2010). Dichotomy in duration and severity of acute inflammatory responses in humans arising from differentially expressed proresolution pathways. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 8842–8847. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000373107
- Mozurkewich, E. L., Clinton, C. M., Chilimigras, J. L., Hamilton, S. E., Allbaugh, L. J., Berman, D. R., et al. (2013). The mothers, omega-3, and mental health study: a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 208, 313. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.01.038

- Murphy, R. C. (2015). Specialized pro-resolving mediators: do they circulate in plasma? J. Lipid Res. 56, 1641–1642. doi: 10.1194/jlr.C062356
- Pruss, H., Rosche, B., Sullivan, A. B., Brommer, B., Wengert, O., Gronert, K., et al. (2013). Proresolution lipid mediators in multiple sclerosis - differential, disease severity-dependent synthesis - a clinical pilot trial. *PLoS ONE* 8:e55859. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055859
- Psychogios, N., Hau, D. D., Peng, J., Guo, A. C., Mandal, R., Bouatra, S., et al. (2011). The human serum metabolome. *PLoS ONE* 6:e16957. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016957
- Sapieha, P., Stahl, A., Chen, J., Seaward, M. R., Willett, K. L., Krah, N. M., et al. (2011). 5-Lipoxygenase metabolite 4-HDHA Is a mediator of the antiangiogenic effect of ω-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3, 69ra12. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001571
- Serhan, C. N. (2014). Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. *Nature* 510, 92–101. doi: 10.1038/nature13479
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., and Dalli, J. (2015). The resolution code of acute inflammation: novel pro-resolving lipid mediators in resolution. *Semin. Immunol.* 27, 200–215. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2015.03.004
- Serhan, C. N., and Petasis, N. A. (2011). Resolvins and protectins in inflammation resolution. *Chem. Rev.* 111, 5922–5943. doi: 10.1021/cr10 0396c
- Skarke, C., Alamuddin, N., Lawson, J. A., Li, X., Ferguson, J. F., Reilly, M. P., et al. (2015). Bioactive products formed in humans from fish oils. *J. Lipid Res.* 56, 1808–1820. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M060392
- Szajewska, H., Horvath, A., and Koletzko, B. (2006). Effect of n-3 longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation of women with low-risk pregnancies on pregnancy outcomes and growth measures at birth: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 83, 1337–1344.
- von Moltke, J., Trinidad, N. J., Moayeri, M., Kintzer, A. F., Wang, S. B., van Rooijen, N., et al. (2012). Rapid induction of inflammatory lipid mediators by the inflammasome in vivo. *Nature* 490, 107–111. doi: 10.1038/nature 11351
- Weiss, G. A., Troxler, H., Klinke, G., Rogler, D., Braegger, C., and Hersberger, M. (2013). High levels of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving lipid mediators lipoxins and resolvins and declining docosahexaenoic acid levels in human milk during the first month of lactation. *Lipids Health. Dis.* 12:89. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-12-89
- Weylandt, K. H., Chiu, C. Y., Gomolka, B., Waechter, S. F., and Wiedenmann, B. (2012). Omega-3 fatty acids and their lipid mediators: towards an understanding of resolvin and protectin formation. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 97, 73–82. doi: 10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2012.01.005
- Yamashita, A., Kawana, K., Tomio, K., Taguchi, A., Isobe, Y., Iwamoto, R., et al. (2013). Increased tissue levels of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids prevents pathological preterm birth. *Sci. Rep.* 3:3113. doi: 10.1038/srep03113

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AF and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Mozurkewich, Greenwood, Clinton, Berman, Romero, Djuric, Qualls and Gronert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Blood Biomarkers for Evaluation of Perinatal Encephalopathy

Ernest M. Graham^{1,2*}, Irina Burd^{1,2,3,4}, Allen D. Everett^{2,5} and Frances J. Northington^{2,6}

¹ Division of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ² Neuroscience Intensive Care Nursery Program, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ³ Department of Neurology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁴ Integrated Research Center for Fetal Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁵ Division of Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA, ⁶ Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA,

Recent research in identification of brain injury after trauma shows many possible blood biomarkers that may help identify the fetus and neonate with encephalopathy. Traumatic brain injury shares many common features with perinatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Trauma has a hypoxic component, and one of the 1st physiologic consequences of moderate-severe traumatic brain injury is apnea. Trauma and hypoxia-ischemia initiate an excitotoxic cascade and free radical injury followed by the inflammatory cascade, producing injury in neurons, glial cells and white matter. Increased excitatory amino acids, lipid peroxidation products, and alteration in microRNAs and inflammatory markers are common to both traumatic brain injury and perinatal encephalopathy. The blood-brain barrier is disrupted in both leading to egress of substances normally only found in the central nervous system. Brain exosomes may represent ideal biomarker containers, as RNA and protein transported within the vesicles are protected from enzymatic degradation. Evaluation of fetal or neonatal brain derived exosomes that cross the blood-brain barrier and circulate peripherally has been referred to as the "liquid brain biopsy." A multiplex of serum biomarkers could improve upon the current imprecise methods of identifying fetal and neonatal brain injury such as fetal heart rate abnormalities, meconium, cord gases at delivery, and Apgar scores. Quantitative biomarker measurements of perinatal brain injury and recovery could lead to operative delivery only in the presence of significant fetal risk, triage to appropriate therapy after birth and measure the effectiveness of treatment.

Keywords: biomarkers, neonatal encephalopathy, hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, neuronal injury, Glial injury

INTRODUCTION

Worldwide it is estimated that 1.15 million babies develop hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE) every year (Lee et al., 2013). Up to 60% of infants with HIE will die or have severe disabilities by the age of 2 including mental retardation, epilepsy, and cerebral palsy (Pierrat et al., 2005). The costs related to HIE exceed \$11 billion annually in the U.S. (Lawn et al., 2011). HIE is defined by a constellation of symptoms in the neonate, and no definitive diagnostic test is available (American College of Obstetricians Gynecologists, 2014). One of the greatest challenges in perinatal medicine is assessing the fetus during labor and the neonate shortly after birth for evidence of brain injury. The presence of meconium, non-reassuring fetal heart rate tracing, Apgar scores, umbilical artery

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ronald James Wong, Stanford University School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Jacob Tyler Brown, Creighton University School of Pharmacy, USA Maide Ozen, Stanford University, USA

> *Correspondence: Ernest M. Graham egraham5@jhmi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetric and Pediatric Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> **Received:** 17 May 2016 **Accepted:** 20 June 2016 **Published:** 13 July 2016

Citation:

Graham EM, Burd I, Everett AD and Northington FJ (2016) Blood Biomarkers for Evaluation of Perinatal Encephalopathy. Front. Pharmacol. 7:196. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00196

94

blood gases, and physical exam, are tools currently used to identify brain injury in the fetus and neonate but they all both separately and collectively lack precision. Amplitude integrated EEG can detect early changes associated with brain injury and has been used to determine prognosis and predict long term outcomes, (Merchant and Azzopardi, 2015) however, interference from hypothermic environments can reduce the prediction of HIE prognosis, and amplitude integrated EEG cannot determine the time of injury (Thoresen et al., 2010).

One of the major challenges that needs to be solved is the early discrimination of mild-moderate injury from severe injury. The availability of therapies such as whole-body hypothermia, which must be instituted within 6h of birth, make the rapid identification of a baby with neurologic injury critically important. How to objectively and quantitatively identify the fetus and neonate with brain injury may be solved by borrowing an approach from traumatic brain injury research. Extensive effort has been applied in the field of traumatic brain injury to identify acute blood biomarkers as diagnostics to identify these patients, discriminate severity, monitor treatment efficacy and as prognostics for recovery and long-term disabilities (Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014).

Blood biomarkers are utilized as a diagnostic tool to identify patients with a possible disease or abnormal condition, e.g., elevated glucose levels for the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and elevated levels of cardiac troponin for diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction (Atkinson et al., 2001). Biomarkers can be used to predict the stage of a disease and its severity, such as measuring the concentration of prostatespecific antigen in the blood to detect the level of tumor growth and metastasis (Mouhieddine et al., 2015). Following brain injury a destructive cascade of biological events continues over hours and days that may worsen the patient's condition following a primary insult and a secondary reperfusion phase. The focus of biomarker development in traumatic brain injury has been on the identification of moderate to severe injury; (Mondello et al., 2012a) however, the greatest potential impact of blood biomarkers to change clinical practice in perinatology is for mild injury since diagnostic and prognostic challenges presented for mild injuries are more difficult to identify and monitor (Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014). There is no current standard therapy for mild injury and increasingly late outcomes suggest that mild injury results in identifiable pathology.

Similar to traumatic brain injury, it is unlikely that a single biomarker will reflect the full picture of the injured brain for a multifaceted complex disease such as HIE (Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014). Combining biomarkers from multiple cellular pathways has shown superior sensitivity and specificity in the identification of traumatic brain injury (Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014). Simultaneous measurements of neuronal and glial biomarkers may complement each other to identify distinct injury mechanisms and determine the timing of injury. A study of severe traumatic brain injury found that glial biomarker elevations are primarily a reflection of focal mass lesions, and that diffuse injuries primarily result in neuronal biomarker elevations (Mondello et al., 2012a). Since patients with diffuse injuries may require different therapies from those with focal lesions, such a combination of biomarkers may enable us to select patients for targeted therapies (Saatman et al., 2008; Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014). In perinatal medicine this might allow differentiation of large major vessel stroke from more diffuse hypoxic-ischemic injuries. The ideal biomarker panel may include multiple biomarkers produced by different brain cell types, and currently available multiplex immunoassay platforms make it possible to measure up to 10 biomarkers with a high degree of sensitivity from small volumes of plasma (Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2014). Investigators have proposed developing a point of care handheld device that can quickly and accurately measure brain injury biomarkers similar to the handheld dextrometer of diabetic patients that can measure a glucose level within seconds (Bressan et al., 2014).

Optimally, the level of the brain injury biomarkers should correlate with the size, location and severity of the lesion, clinical outcome and response to treatment (Mouhieddine et al., 2015). Ideally, serum biomarkers should provide information on the pathophysiology of injury, improve stratification of patients by injury severity, assist in the monitoring of secondary insults and injury progression, monitor response to treatment and predict functional outcome (Papa et al., 2008). Circulating brain injury biomarker levels in neonatal HIE could indicate brain injury and reflect the extent of damage, solving a clinical dilemma in the discrimination of mild vs. moderate-severe injury (Lv et al., 2015).

Brain injury biomarker protein discovery can be either hypothesis driven or discovery driven. In the discovery driven method samples from normal and brain injured patients are compared with mass spectrometry to identify differences in circulating brain proteins. Unlike hypothesis driven research that identifies potential biomarkers before testing them in cases and controls, discovery driven research collects a huge amount of information first then extracts questions and answers from the data (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). As currently there is no gold standard for diagnosing mild traumatic brain injury, not even by conventional assessment through neuroimaging techniques, (Niogi and Mukherjee, 2010) these approaches have been applied to identify brain specific markers of injury. During brain injury, neural proteins or their breakdown products are released into the extracellular environment reaching the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in relatively high concentration, and the blood stream via the compromised blood-brain barrier (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013; Figure 1). In premature infants in particular, the blood brain barrier is particularly fragile, potentially increasing the likelihood that brain proteins may reach the circulation after injury (Dammann and Leviton, 1997). Clearance and half-life of the biomarkers contribute to the final concentration that can be measured in blood (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). Review of recent research in traumatic brain injury suggests significant potential for crossover of traumatic brain injury biomarkers to the brain injured fetus and neonate. The following biomarkers and classes of biomarkers may be used as tools to diagnose neonatal brain injury, follow its treatment efficacy and provide prognostic information.



GLIAL FIBRILLARY ACIDIC PROTEIN (GFAP)

Of the numerous candidate biomarkers for traumatic brain injury GFAP holds the most promise (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). One of the main strengths of GFAP as a brain injury biomarker is that it is only found within the central nervous system (CNS; Galea et al., 1995). GFAP is a cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein that forms networks that support astroglial cells and is found only in the astroglial cytoskeleton (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). Astrocytes are important to brain injury because their foot processes comprise part of the blood brain barrier, and with disruption after injury astrocyte damage results in early release of GFAP (Vos et al., 2004; Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). GFAP levels peak at 1-2 days following severe brain trauma, and are normal in patients with other trauma that does not include traumatic brain injury, an indication of GFAP's brain specificity (Schiff et al., 2012). In a study of 81 patients with traumatic brain injury, serum GFAP levels in the 1st 24 h post-injury were significantly higher in patients with a focal mass lesion compared to patients with diffuse injury (Mondello et al., 2011). GFAP may be an appropriate and sensitive candidate for the diagnosis of focal brain injury such as contusion or intracerebral hemorrhage (Yokobori et al., 2013). GFAP may also be important in the differential diagnosis of various types of stroke, which is clinically relevant as immediate treatment of stroke depends on whether the stroke is ischemic or hemorrhagic (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). In neonates, serum GFAP levels have been shown to be significantly elevated at the time of birth and during the first week of life in term and near-term infants with HIE that have abnormal brain MRI scans at 1 week of life (Ennen et al., 2011; Massaro et al., 2013; Chalak et al., 2014) and in premature neonates that develop periventricular white matter injury (Stewart et al., 2013). In addition, GFAP may provide insights into the pathobiology of therapeutic hypothermia as significant elevations in GFAP occur after rewarming from therapeutic cooling for HIE in the neonates that later have an abnormal MRI, suggesting that the neonates with severe injury manifest reperfusion injury post-therapuetic cooling (Schiff et al., 2012). This may offer an opportunity to discriminate mild from moderate to severe HIE and triage high risk neonates to evolving adjunctive therapies.

NEURON-SPECIFIC ENOLASE (NSE)

NSE is 1 of 5 isozymes of the glycolytic enzyme enolase found in central and peripheral neurons and red blood cells and has

been shown to be elevated following cell injury (Skogseid et al., 1992). NSE is not normally secreted into extracellular fluids by intact neurons, but when axons are damaged NSE is upregulated in an attempt to maintain homeostasis (Yokobori et al., 2013). It is highly expressed in neuronal cytoplasm and has been shown to have the sensitivity and specificity to detect neuronal cell death (Selakovic et al., 2005). Given its location and abundance NSE should possess relatively high specificity and sensitivity for axonal injury, and accordingly NSE seems to have excellent potential as a therapeutic monitor in the neurological intensive care unit and for the determination of long-term prognosis (Gradisek et al., 2012). A limitation of NSE is its lack of brain specificity, being abundant in red blood cells which leads to the occurrence of false positive results in the setting of hemolysis (Papa et al., 2008). Increased cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and serum levels of NSE have been reported after traumatic brain injury, and NSE concentrations were associated with severity of injury, CT scan abnormalities and outcome (Selakovic et al., 2005; Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). NSE has been shown to provide quantitative measures of brain damage and to improve the diagnosis and prediction of ischemic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, seizures, comatose patients after cardiopulmonary resuscitation for cardiac arrest, and traumatic brain injury (Isgro et al., 2015). There is a positive correlation between NSE levels and infarct volume after acute ischemic stroke, and serum levels of NSE in the first few days of ischemic stroke may serve as a useful marker to predict stroke severity and early functional outcome (Isgro et al., 2015).

Release patterns of NSE and S100B were investigated in 66 traumatic brain injury patients, and in those with cortical contusions NSE was highest on the 1st measurement on day 1 after injury, decreasing from this peak over 4 days, while S100B slowly increased over the 4 day period (Herrmann et al., 2000). Serum concentrations of NSE and S100B were significantly correlated with contusion volume, but the 1st sample taken was the most valid indicator of traumatic brain injury severity (Herrmann et al., 2000). Similarly in 152 pediatric traumatic brain injury patients higher NSE concentrations were associated with worse outcome, and initial and peak NSE concentrations correlated with Glasgow Outcome Scale score at all time points investigated, particularly in children \leq 4 years of age (Berger et al., 2007).

S100B

S100B is the principal low affinity calcium-binding protein in astrocytes and is considered a marker of astrocyte injury and death (Papa et al., 2008). Although S100B is glial specific and expressed primarily by astrocytes and Schwann cells, it is also found in several non-nervous system cells such as adipocytes, chondrocytes, skin, glioblastoma, and melanoma cells (Zimmer et al., 1995). S100B has a serum half-life of only 2 h, (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013) but is stable in blood and not affected by hemolysis (Lv et al., 2015). Since S100B is produced outside the CNS, general trauma without brain injury can increase its levels (Rothoerl and Woertgen, 2001). S100B spikes up after

hemorrhagic shock and correlates with shock severity which decreases it's value as a single biomarker for traumatic brain injury (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). It may be possible to use S100B as a biomarker of brain injury if measured immediately after injury; however, most mild brain injury patients are not evaluated at the time the injury occurs (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013).

S100B levels in blood at 24h post-traumatic brain injury provides an early and sensitive biomarker for the prediction of brain damage which may be useful in defining early risk patterns (Egea-Guerrero et al., 2013). Elevated serum levels of S100B correlate with MRI abnormality and neuropsychological examination after mild traumatic brain injury (Ingebrigtsen et al., 1999). In 265 patients with traumatic brain injury S100B levels added substantial information regarding patient outcome in excess of that provided by age, Glasgow Coma Scale, pupil reaction and CT scan, and elevated S100B levels were best correlated to CT-visible intracranial pathology (Thelin et al., 2013). It has been estimated that adding the measurement of S100B to clinical decision tools for mild traumatic brain injury patients could potentially reduce the number of CT scans by 30% (Biberthaler et al., 2006). Furthermore, S100B below a threshold level may also safely eliminate the need to obtain a CT scan in patients with mild traumatic brain injury (Unden et al., 2013). A significant correlation has been found between the volume of contusion visible on CT scan and serum S100B concentration (Raabe et al., 1998).

Cord blood concentration of S100B > 2.20 μ g/L has a sensitivity of 87% and specificity of 88% in predicting moderate to severe HIE (Qian et al., 2009). Serum concentrations of S100B 2 h after birth of 8.5 μ g/L predict the occurrence of severe neonatal HIE (Nagdyman et al., 2001). Salivary S100B levels may also be able to predict neonatal neurologic abnormalities related to asphyxia (Gazzolo et al., 2015). In patients with severe traumatic brain injury S100B appears to be a more accurate biomarker for predicting intracranial hypertension than NSE, particularly in the early post-injury phase (Yokobori et al., 2013). In neonates with HIE treated with hypothermia or normothermia, both NSE and S100B levels were highly elevated following asphyxia, however, serum S100B levels were lower in the hypothermia group and strongly correlated with the neurodevelopmental outcome (Roka et al., 2012).

UBIQUITIN CARBOXY-TERMINAL HYDROLASE L1 PROTEIN (UCHL1)

UCHL1, also known as neuronal-specific protein gene product 9.5, is a cysteine protease that is predominately expressed in neurons, but is also expressed in small amounts in neuroendocrine cells (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). This small (25 kDa) enzyme comprises about 2% of the total soluble protein in the brain and hydrolyzes the C-terminal bond of ubiquitin or unfolded polypeptides (Setsuie and Wada, 2007). Because of its high and specific expression in brain tissue, increased levels of UCHL1 have been suggested as a marker of CNS injury such as acute cerebral ischemic disease and early stage severe traumatic

brain injury (Lv et al., 2015). Serum UCHL1 is a useful biomarker of severe traumatic brain injury both in the acute phase and in the 1st week after injury (Mondello et al., 2012b). In 251 patients with suspected mild to moderate traumatic brain injury UCHL1 outperformed GFAP and S100B in reducing CT scan use without sacrificing sensitivity (Welch et al., 2016). Of the 3 biomarkers, UCHL1 had the best test performance to differentiate between subjects with normal vs. abnormal CT scans (Welch et al., 2016). When obtained within 6 h of injury UCHL1 in combination with GFAP was very sensitive for a positive head CT, and was thought to provide the objective evidence clinicians desire when trying to reduce the use of CT scans in patients with mild traumatic brain injury (Welch et al., 2016). Serum UCHL1 levels were higher in patients with diffuse injury, in contrast to GFAP levels which were higher in patients with focal mass lesions (Mondello et al., 2011). High levels of UCHL1 have been found in the umbilical cord blood of neonates with HIE associated cortical injury and subsequent movement and cognitive disorders (Massaro et al., 2013; Douglas-Escobar et al., 2014).

CLEAVED TAU (C-TAU)

Tau is an intracellular, microtubule associated protein that is highly enriched in axons which stably assembles axonal microtubule bundles and participates in anterograde axoplasmic transport (Yokobori et al., 2013). Tau is preferentially localized in the axon, and Tau lesions are related to axonal disruption (Higuchi et al., 2002). Under normal conditions axonal Tau is below the level of detection, however, after axonal injury activated calpain depolymerizes microtubules in both perikarya and neurites to form filamentous Tau inclusions which are a pathologic hallmark of axonal injury (Yokobori et al., 2013). A cleaved form of Tau has been investigated as a potential biomarker of CNS injury (Papa et al., 2008). C-Tau levels in the CSF are significantly elevated after traumatic brain injury, and these levels correlate with clinical outcome (Zemlan et al., 2002). Although levels of C-Tau were also elevated in plasma from patients with severe traumatic brain injury, there was no correlation between plasma levels and clinical outcome (Chatfield et al., 2002). Serum Tau protein concentrations are significantly increased in bilirubin encephalopathy of newborns, and there is significant correlation between Tau levels and the severity of brain injury (Okumus et al., 2008).

MICROTUBULE-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 2 (MAP2)

MAP2 is primarily expressed in the nervous system and is one of the most abundant proteins in the brain (Yokobori et al., 2013). MAP2 is generally dendrite-specific and potentially a good candidate biomarker for dendritic injury (Kobeissy et al., 2008). A study of 16 patients with severe traumatic brain injury found that serum MAP2 concentrations correlated with neurologic outcome at 6 months after injury (Mondello et al., 2012c). Perinatal asphyxia has been shown to affect the distribution of MAP2 in the brainstem of children (Covenas et al., 2014).

MYELIN BASIC PROTEIN (MBP)

MBP is the major component of the myelin sheath, and has a crucial role in the maintenance of myelin structure and function (Barbarese et al., 1988). It is one of the most abundant proteins in white matter, representing 30% of the protein content of myelin (Yokobori et al., 2013). Under normal conditions only a small amount is released into the blood stream, but in white matter brain injury the concentration of MBP in blood and CSF increases rapidly reflecting the severity of myelin damage which allows MBP to be used as a specific biomarker of white matter lesions or nerve fiber demyelination (Lv et al., 2015). MBP diminishes significantly in the contused rat cortex as early as 2 h after traumatic brain injury reaching its lowest level at 48 h (Ottens et al., 2008). Serum and CSF MBP has been studied as a biomarker for traumatic brain injury and for determination of outcome (Yokobori et al., 2013). Levels of serum MBP in neonates with moderate to severe HIE was significantly higher than those with mild HIE and no injury (Lv et al., 2015).

SPECTRIN BREAKDOWN PRODUCTS (SBDP)

Alpha-II-spectrin is the main structural component of the cortical membrane cytoskeleton and is particularly abundant in axons and presynaptic terminals (Riederer et al., 1986). Alpha-II-spectrin is a major substrate for both calpain and caspase-3 cysteine proteases, and is cleaved into breakdown products that may serve as biomarkers of brain injury (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). A signature of caspase-3 and calpain activation is cleavage of several common proteins such as cytoskeletal alpha-II-spectrin (Ringger et al., 2004). Since calpain and caspase-3 are major executioners of necrotic and apoptotic cell death during ischemia and trauma, SBDP may provide crucial information not only on the severity of brain injury, but also on the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms associated with cell death (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). Calpain and caspase-3 mediated SBDP levels in CSF are significantly increased in patients after traumatic brain injury (Pineda et al., 2007). Average SBDP values measured early after injury correlate with severity of injury, CT scan findings and outcome at 6 months postinjury (Pineda et al., 2007). This is consistent with activation of a continuum of cell death mechanisms over different time courses following severe traumatic brain injury, and shows that SBDP are potentially useful biomarkers of severe traumatic brain injury and may provide information about the timing of injury (Papa et al., 2008).

BRAIN-DERIVED NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR (BDNF)

BDNF is a neurotrophin secreted by CNS neurons and astrocytes that is involved in neuronal survival and synaptic plasticity. BDNF promotes the growth, differentiation, regeneration and repair of neurons (Lv et al., 2015). Proinflammtory cytokines enhance neurotrophic signaling via expression of BDNF (Werner

and Stevens, 2015). Decreased levels of serum BDNF have been associated with higher clinical severity of traumatic brain injury and with decreased 6-month functional outcome scores (Korley et al., 2016). After traumatic brain injury serum BDNF is acutely decreased correlating with injury severity, and therapies that increase brain BDNF expression, such as environmental enrichment, show promise for cognitive recovery (Failla et al., 2016). In 113 traumatic brain injury patients with serum BDNF levels measured 0-6 days (acute) and 6-12 months (chronic) post-injury, serum BDNF levels were reduced after traumatic brain injury at all time points (Failla et al., 2016). Acute serum BDNF may be a viable predictive biomarker for mood and cognitive complications within the 1st year after traumatic brain injury, and BDNF may provide a treatment window in the acute phase that affects long term recovery (Failla et al., 2016). Chronic serum BDNF may be reflective of injury severity and serve as a potential biomarker for tracking treatment response and effectiveness in real-time (Failla et al., 2016). If serum BDNF levels are persistently elevated in neonates with HIE this suggests severe brain injury and a poor prognosis (Imam et al., 2009).

ACTIVIN A

Activin A is a trophic factor that regulates neuron proliferation and is a member of the transforming growth factor β superfamily (Lv et al., 2015). Activin A has been shown to protect from hypoxic-ischemic damage in cell culture and animal models (Mukerji et al., 2007). Hydrogen peroxide treatment increased activin mRNA twofold in surviving cortical neurons, and inhibition of activin with neutralizing antibodies caused neuronal death (Mukerji et al., 2007). After transient focal cerebral ischemia in adult mice, activin mRNA increased at 1 and 4 h ipsilateral to the infarct but returned to control values at 24 h after reperfusion (Mukerji et al., 2007). Activin was also increased after 2h of 11% hypoxia (Mukerji et al., 2007). Activin mRNA increased at 1 h, but not 4 or 24 h after hypoxia, similar to the time course of erythropoietin and vascular endothelial growth factor induction (Mukerji et al., 2007). This shows that activin is an early-regulated gene response to transient ischemia and hypoxia (Mukerji et al., 2007). Because activin responds to oxidative challenge protecting neurons, it may have a role as a potential therapy in stroke injury (Mukerji et al., 2007). In full term neonates with moderate to severe HIE, activin A is significantly elevated in CSF, and it may be a reliable early indicator for the identification of HIE (Imam et al., 2009).

MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASE-9 (MMP-9)

MMP-9 is involved in the breakdown of the blood-brain barrier by degrading brain vasculature basement membrane components (Lv et al., 2015). Under the effect of inflammatory mediators and oxygen free radicals MMP-9 is activated, and the basement membrane of the blood-brain barrier is damaged, increasing permeability and causing secondary vascular source cerebral edema, which is part of the pathophysiology of HIE (Lv et al., 2015). Serum MMP-9 is significantly elevated in neonates with HIE, and its elevation is related to the time of onset (Liu et al., 2009). A sustained increase of serum MMP-9 concentrations in neonates with HIE indicates worsening blood-brain barrier damage leading to brain damage and edema (Lv et al., 2015).

VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR (VEGF)

VEGF is an angiogenic factor secreted by astrocytes and microglia that is overexpressed in hypoxia-ischemia and protects neurons and glial cells by promoting the proliferation and angiogenesis of vascular endothelial cells (Lv et al., 2015). Brain VEGF mRNA expression increases and reaches a sustained peak at 12 h of life for a duration of 14 days or longer in animal models of hypoxia-ischemia (Liang and Wang, 2005). Plasma concentrations of VEGF increase with increased severity of neonatal HIE (Lv et al., 2015).

PLATELET DERIVED GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR β (PDGFR β)

The integrity of the blood-brain barrier is essential for proper neuronal functioning, and pericytes are crucial for maintaining blood-brain barrier integrity. Brain capillary pericyte dysfunction results in blood-brain barrier breakdown and contributes to neurological injury (Sagare et al., 2015). PDGFRB is expressed in the brain by vascular mural cells, brain capillary pericytes and arterial vascular smooth muscle cells, and is a marker for blood-brain barrier disruption (Sagare et al., 2015). In cultures of human brain pericytes exposed to hypoxia PDGFRß is a biomarker of pericyte injury (Sagare et al., 2015). Elevated PDGFR^β in biofluids in patients with neurodegenerative disorders likely reflects ongoing pericyte injury and supports its potential to be developed and validated as a biomarker of brain pericyte injury and blood-brain barrier dysfunction (Sagare et al., 2015). Inflammation, induced either by trauma or hypoxia, can induce blood-brain barrier disruption by altering tight junction function leading to paracellular leakage and affecting vesicular processes leading to transcytotic leakage of potential biomarkers (Banks et al., 2015). To date PDGFR^β has not been studied in neonatal HIE.

THROMBOSPONDIN-1 (TSP-1)

Angiogenesis is a fundamental endogenous process for brain development and repair. TSP-1 is the 1st identified endogenous angiogenesis inhibitor, and its expression is upregulated after intracerebral hemorrhage (Dong et al., 2015). TSP-1 may be released into the CSF from damaged brain tissue with recirculation into the peripheral blood (Dong et al., 2015). In 110 patients with intracranial hemorrhage compared to age and gender matched healthy controls increased plasma TSP-1 concentrations following intracranial hemorrhage were independently associated with injury severity and short and long term clinical outcomes (Dong et al., 2015). TSP-1 may be a useful complementary tool to acutely assess the severity of injury and predict poor clinical outcomes following acute intracranial hemorrhage which may make it an ideal biomarker to determine prognosis in premature neonates with intraventricular hemorrhage. TSP-1 has not been studied in neonates with HIE.

INFLAMMATION RELATED MARKERS

Because neuroinflammation is such a prominent feature of traumatic brain injury, cytokines have been investigated as potential biomarkers. Cytokines play both harmful and curative roles in traumatic brain injury, readily cross the blood-brain barrier and may relay important information on the severity and prognosis of injury (Banks et al., 2016). High sensitivity C-reactive protein is a sensitive marker of inflammation and tissue injury whose concentration increases rapidly in brain tissue following hypoxia-ischemia. In 74 neonates with HIE high sensitivity C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) were significantly increased, and high levels correlated with a poor prognosis (Shang et al., 2014). High sensitivity C-reactive protein reaches a peak at day 3 of life then begins to decrease; if the serum concentration fails to decrease the prognosis is poor (Tian and Yan, 2012).

Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) promotes brain damage through the release of free radicals, stimulating inflammatory reactions, and enhancing the toxicity of excitatory amino acids (Lv et al., 2015). In neonates with HIE elevated serum IL-1 β levels are associated with neurological abnormalities at 6–12 months (Liu and Feng, 2010). In 16 deceased full term asphyxiated infants there was increased expression of IL-1 β in the hippocampus in those with seizures, and all cases with seizures displayed alteration in the blood-brain barrier as assessed by immunohistochemistry for albumin (Schiering et al., 2014). The authors speculated that seizure development may lead to secondary brain damage, and that IL-1 β may aid in the development of therapeutic targets for neonatal seizures (Schiering et al., 2014).

IL-6 is produced by glial cells and has a protective effect on the CNS by inhibiting the synthesis of TNF- α and IL-1 and promoting nerve growth factor secretion. However, high concentrations of IL-6 can induce inflammation and increase vascular permeability leading to cerebral edema (Lv et al., 2015). When the cord blood of 50 neonates with HIE was compared to 113 controls, IL-6 levels were significantly elevated, aiding the diagnosis of brain injury, and were related to prognosis (Wu et al., 2012).

IL-8 is a neutrophil chemotaxis factor that recruits neutrophils to injured areas, and through enhanced IL-1 β and TNF- α neurotoxicity increases brain injury (Lv et al., 2015). IL-8 increases in the acute phase of injury in neonates with HIE, and the more severe the injury the higher the IL-8 levels (Lv et al., 2015). In a study of 13 neonates with HIE and epilepsy, most inflammatory factors in the serum were decreased after 8–72 h, however, serum IL-8 levels remained high indicating that IL-8 might be an early biomarker for the diagnosis of neonatal HIE with epilepsy (Youn et al., 2012).

IL-10 plays a protective role in brain tissue by inhibiting the secretion of IL-1 β , IL-8, and TNF- α , inhibiting the production of chemokines, decreasing leukocyte aggregation, and reducing inflammatory responses in the brain (Lv et al., 2015). IL-10 levels are significantly elevated in the acute phase of injury in neonates with HIE (Wang et al., 2003).

IL-18 is an anti-inflammatory factor that stimulates the expression of IL-1 β and IL-8, and can both protect brain tissue and aggravate brain damage (Felderhoff-Mueser et al., 2005). Serum levels of IL-18 are elevated in neonates with HIE, and levels correlate with the severity of brain damage (Guo et al., 2014).

TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR ALPHA (TNF- α)

Systemic inflammation leads to increased CNS inflammation and injury through direct transport of inflammatory agents or inflammatory cells across the blood-brain barrier, and it has been proposed that infection-induced upregulation of TNF- α can produce or worsen brain injury (Leviton, 1993). This hypothesis is supported by various studies showing that pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α produced by the placenta can cross the blood-brain barrier (Jin et al., 2015).

Intra-amniotic infections lead to preterm delivery which increases the risk of neurologic morbidity in preterm neonates. Elevated amniotic fluid levels of the inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 are linked with white matter injury in preterm neonates, (Yoon et al., 1997) and elevated cord blood levels of these cytokines correlate with neonatal cerebral lesions on MRI (Duggan et al., 2001). In preterm infants, an elevated inflammatory response during the perinatal period correlates with long term morbidities including cerebral palsy, necrotizing enterocolitis, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, and chronic lung disease (Jin et al., 2015). Elevated inflammatory cytokines measured in neonatal blood correlate with periventricular white matter injury, ventriculomegaly and severe germinal matrix hemorrhage assessed by ultrasound (Nelson et al., 2003). At this point extensive literature strongly supports the bioplausibility of all of these inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers of neonatal HIE.

GRANULOCYTE COLONY STIMULATING FACTOR (G-CSF)

G-CSF mobilizes stem cells and is currently used to promote the production of neutrophils in chemotherapy patients that develop neutropenia. G-CSF has neuroprotective properties after peripheral administration and is protective against carbon monoxide toxicity and ischemia (Banks et al., 2016). Serum levels of G-CSF correlate with severity of stroke (Yu et al., 2012) and are diagnostic for gliomas (Yildiz et al., 2011). G-CSF was the only cytokine of 23 measured whose serum levels were elevated after traumatic brain injury in a murine model (Dohi et al., 2014). High levels of G-CSF are associated with better functional outcome and reduced lesion volume in intracranial hemorrhage (Sobrino et al., 2009). G-CSF is elevated 2 h after controlled cortical injury, but not at later time points in mice, which may make it useful in determining the timing of injury (Dohi et al., 2014). Plasma G-CSF levels correlate with neuroinflammation in the same mouse models (Dohi et al., 2014) and in human studies where they correlate with time since injury and total severity of injury (Banks et al., 2016). In a neonatal rat HIE model treatment with G-CSF has been shown to attenuate long term brain damage (Fathali et al., 2010).

OXIDATIVE STRESS RELATED MARKERS

Free radicals cause lipid peroxidation of cell membranes, and the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase and the lipid peroxidation product malondialdehyde reflect the extent of oxidative damage to cells (Lv et al., 2015). Excess free radicals consume a large amount of superoxide dismutase and produce a large amount of malondialdehyde, which may allow these compounds to be used for the early prediction of neonatal HIE, but they are not brain specific (Qin et al., 2005).

METABOLISM RELATED MARKERS

Since perinatal hypoxia-ischemia leads to brain injury through an increase in anaerobic metabolism, clinical testing of metabolites may help identify the neonate with HIE and follow their recovery (Lv et al., 2015). Hypoxia leads to an increase in anaerobic glycolysis, decreased ATP production, and accumulation of lactic acid. Lactate dehydrogenase exists in neuronal cytoplasm and mitochondria, and its role is to catalyze the oxidation of lactate to pyruvate. At the onset of neonatal HIE lactate dehydrogenase activity and lactate production are increased, and a combination of lactate dehydrogenase and NSE may be used to identify brain injury (Lv et al., 2015). Detection of lactate dehydrogenase with other metabolites may have an important role in neonatal HIE diagnosis and prognostic evaluation (Lv et al., 2015).

Extracellular glutamate primarily mediates excitotoxicity and is involved in the pathophysiological processes of brain ischemia (Lv et al., 2015). During HIE ATP synthesis decreases, glutamate transport is inhibited and glutamate accumulates in the neuronal synaptic cleft subsequently leading to neuronal death (Lv et al., 2015). Because glutamate is brain specific, it can be a sensitive biomarker for brain injury, and if monitored early may aid in the early diagnosis of HIE in the neonate and could be a marker of therapeutic efficacy as ancillary therapies are developed for HIE (Lv et al., 2015).

MICRORNA (miRNA)

MicroRNA (miRNA) are being investigated as promising serum biomarkers for neurotrauma. miRNA may be stable in the circulation which supports their potential use as disease biomarkers (Egea et al., 2012). miRNAs are endogenously

expressed ~22 nucleotide long noncoding RNAs that control a wide spectrum of cellular function, and bind to target regions of certain genes to control their expression by either repression or activation of mRNA translation/transcription (Chen et al., 2015). miRNAs play important roles in developmental and functional aspects of the CNS and in many neurological diseases, which potentially make them important candidates for brain injury diagnosis (Chen et al., 2015). Emerging data suggest that exosomal miRNA may provide potential biomarkers in acute ischemic stroke (Chen et al., 2015). Studies of endothelial cell cultures and in vivo rat focal ischemia models have shown significant reductions in serum miR-126 detected at 3 h after permanent ischemia but not transient ischemia, which suggests that changes in serum miR-126 may be able to distinguish severe permanent ischemia from milder injury after transient ischemia (Chen et al., 2015). miR-126 was selected as the initial candidate biomarker of neurovascular damage in stroke because it is specifically and highly expressed in endothelial cells and is known to be involved in the regulation of vascular integrity, endothelial function, and angiogenesis (Chen et al., 2015). miRNAs have been shown to be altered in plasma before the first spontaneous seizure and have been proposed as putative biomarkers of epileptogenesis (Roncon et al., 2015). Recently miRNAs have been found to be involved in the pathophysiology of HIE, including the regulation of excitatory amino acid toxicity, oxidative stress, inflammatory reactions and apoptosis (Lv et al., 2015). Plasma miRNA profiles compared between severe traumatic brain injury patients and healthy volunteers found that decreases in the levels of miR-16 and miR-92a and increased levels of miR-765 were good markers of severe traumatic brain injury at 25-48 h after injury (Redell et al., 2010). Specific miRNAs seem to be good candidate biomarkers for distinguishing focal and diffuse brain injury or for accurate determination of raised intracranial pressure (Yokobori et al., 2013). Animal models of neonatal HIE have shown specific miRNA changes following injury using microarray (Weiss et al., 2012). Expression of miR-21 is found in astrocytes. A study of 49 cases of neonatal HIE showed that serum miR-21 was significantly increased and may be a marker for the early diagnosis of neonatal HIE (Chen and Yang, 2012).

EXOSOMES

A potentially transformative finding in traumatic brain injury research has been the identification of exosomes, which are nanosized extracellular vesicles that have key roles in cell signaling and undergo membrane fusion so that they readily cross the bloodbrain barrier. Exosomes contain proteins, miRNA and other nucleic acids, and are believed to play a major role in disposal of cellular waste (Werner and Stevens, 2015). Exosomes may serve as vehicles for targeted delivery of repair-inducing molecules and possibly as novel biomarkers (Werner and Stevens, 2015). They have been implicated in an array of signaling processes involving astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia, neurons, and neural stem cells (Rajendran et al., 2014). Increased levels of exosomes have been found after traumatic brain injury in humans (Patz et al., 2013). Injured neurons release the microtubule-associated protein Tau which is then carried by exosomes (Rajendran et al., 2014). Exosomes may represent ideal biomarker containers, as RNA and protein transported within the vesicles are protected from enzymatic degradation, and there is considerable interest in developing assays to evaluate blood-borne brain-derived exosomes, often referred to as the "liquid brain biopsy" (Werner and Stevens, 2015).

CONCLUSION

Blood biomarkers discovered in traumatic brain injury could significantly improve the management of neonates with HIE, particularly those with mild and moderate injury, by providing more accurate early diagnosis and prognosis, and for monitoring therapies in the acute care setting (Papa et al., 2008). Biomarkers could help determine severity and mechanism of injury and quantitatively measure injury progression which would provide major opportunities for clinical research (Papa et al., 2008).

Serum based combined multi-marker analysis reflecting glial and neuronal cell damage should be considered for understanding more precise pathophysiological mechanisms of brain injury. Glial injury can be assessed by GFAP in the blood and axonal injury by C-Tau and spectrin protein breakdown products (Guingab-Cagmat et al., 2013). The serum levels of glial and neuronal biomarkers (S100B, GFAP, UCHL1) at the time of admission after brain injury have been shown to correlate with clinical outcome and are sensitive and specific in determining the severity of injury (Lee et al., 2015). With UCHL1 levels increasing in diffuse injury and GFAP levels increasing in focal injury, a glial:neuronal ratio has been proposed as a novel indicator to differentiate focal and diffuse injury, and has been found to be more accurate when measured at < 12h after injury (Mondello et al., 2012a). Several potential epilepsy biomarkers have been proposed in recent years including blood biomarkers of inflammation, blood-brain barrier damage and brain injury. Given the complexity of epilepsy it is unlikely that a single biomarker is sufficient for predicting epileptogenesis, but a combinatorial approach may be able to identify appropriate biomarkers at different stages of the evolution of the disease (Loscher et al., 2013).

The pathology of perinatal HIE is very heterogeneous and one "magic" biomarker may not be the solution, but a panel of biomarkers may prove to be most useful in distinguishing the different pathologic-anatomic processes that comprise the injury (Papa et al., 2008). The brain consists of many elements, and depending on the mechanism and severity of injury, various damage patterns may be reflected by different combinations of biomarkers (Lee et al., 2015). Biomarkers will probably

REFERENCES

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, American Academy of Pediatrics (2014). Neonatal Encephalopathy and Neurologic Outcome, 2nd Edn. Washington DC: American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. supplement existing tools, such as the Glascow Coma Scale and neuroimaging, for the initial classification of brain injury in the near future (Papa et al., 2008). As the hypoxic injury pattern on MRI is not diagnostic for 7–14 days, a blood biomarker that could fill the clinical gap for predicting current and worsening neurological status or long-term disability and would have great clinical utility. With the combinations of different pathophysiology related to each biomarker, a multi-biomarker analysis would seem to be the most effective way to assess brain injury and would likely increase diagnostic accuracy (Yokobori et al., 2013).

Blood biomarkers offer an objective and quantitative way to identify and follow a neonate with brain injury. They could be used to triage neonates to the current standard of 72 h of hypothermia as well as investigational therapies such as erythropoietin, xenon gas, melatonin and various forms of stem cell treatment. Blood biomarkers could possibly provide information about the extent of injury in the acute phase before ultrasound or MRI can identify abnormalities and determine the timing of injury as well. Blood biomarkers measured noninvasively using near-infrared spectroscopy (Torricelli et al., 2014) or optoacoustic techniques (Petrov et al., 2012a,b) may also allow quantitative monitoring of the fetal brain for injury during the intrapartum period through a dilated cervix with ruptured membranes via a probe attached to the fetal head similar to the currently used fetal scalp clip for measuring heart rate. Rather than imprecise measures of fetal and neonatal brain injury such as fetal heart rate abnormalities, meconium, cord gas at delivery, and Apgar scores, a multiplex combining glial and neuronal biomarkers could provide objective evidence of the extent and pattern of injury which would lead to improved identification of the brain injured fetus or neonate, operative delivery only in the presence of a significant risk of HIE, triage to appropriate therapy after birth and serve as an objective measure of the effectiveness of treatment for the brain injured baby.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

Ernest Graham and Frances Northington are supported by the Cerebral Palsy International Research Foundation. Frances Northington is supported by R01 HD070996 and R01 HD074593. Irina Burd is supported by NICHD K08 HD073315-01. Allen Everett is supported by NHLBI R01 HL119664 and NIBIB R21EB018426

- Atkinson, A. J., Colburn, W. A., DeGruttola, V. G., DeMets, D. L., Downing, G. J., Hoth, D. F., et al. (2001). Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints. Perferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clin. Pharmacol. Therapeut.* 69, 89–95. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2001.113989
- Banks, W. A., Dohi, K., Hansen, K., and Thompson, H. J. (2016). Assessing blood granulocyte colony-stimulating factor as a potential biomarker of acute

traumatic brain injury in mice and humans. Brain Behav. Immun. 52, 81-87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.10.002

- Banks, W. A., Gray, A. M., Erickson, M. A., Salameh, T. S., Damodarasamy, M., Sheibani, N., et al. (2015). Lipopolysaccharide-induced blood-brain barrier disruption: roles of cyclooxygenase, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and elements of the neurovascular unit. J. Neuroinflammation 12:223. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0434-1
- Barbarese, E., Barry, C., Chou, C. H., Goldstein, D. J., Nakos, G. A., Hyde-DeRuyscher, R., et al. (1988). Expression and localization of myelin basic protein in oligodendrocytes and transfected fibroblasts. *J. Neurochem.* 51, 1737–1745. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1988.tb01153.x
- Berger, R. P., Beers, S. R., Richichi, R., Wiesman, D., and Adelson, P. D. (2007). Serum biomarker concentrations and outcome after pediatric traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma 24, 1793–1801. doi: 10.1089/neu.2007.0316
- Biberthaler, P., Linsenmeier, U., Pfeifer, K. J., Kroetz, M., Mussack, T., Kanz, K. G., et al. (2006). Serum S-100B concentration provides additional information fot the indication of computed tomography in patients after minor head injury: a prospective multicenter study. *Shock* 25, 446–453. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000209534.61058.35
- Bressan, S., Daverio, M., Martinolli, F., Dona', D., Mario, F., Steiner, I. P., et al. (2014). The use of handheld near-infrared device (infrascanner)for detecting intracranial haemorrhages in children with minor head injury. *Childs. Nerv. Syst.* 30, 477–484. doi: 10.1007/s00381-013-2314-2
- Chalak, L. F., Sanchez, P. J., Adams-Huet, B., Laptook, A. R., Heyne, R. J., and Rosenfeld, C. R. (2014). Biomarkers for severity of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy and outcomes in newborns receiving hypothermia therapy. J. Pediatr. 164, 468–474.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.10.067
- Chatfield, D. A., Zemlan, F. P., Day, D. J., and Menon, D. K. (2002). Discordant temporal patterns of S100beta and cleaved tau protein elevation after head injury: a pilot study. *Br. J. Neurosurg.* 16, 471–476. doi: 10.1080/0268869021000030285
- Chen, F., Du, Y., Esposito, E., Liu, Y., Guo, S., Wang, X., et al. (2015). Effects of focal cerebral ischemia on exosomal versus serum miR126. *Transl. Stroke Res.* 6, 478–484. doi: 10.1007/s12975-015-0429-3
- Chen, H., and Yang, T. T. (2012). Expression and significance of serum miRNA-21 control HIE-1a in newborn with asphyxia. *Chin. J. Child Health Care* 23, 32–34.
- Covenas, R., Gonzalez-Fuentes, J., Rivas-Infante, E., Lagartos-Donate, M. J., Cebada-Sanchez, S., Arroyo-Jimenez, M. M., et al. (2014). Developmental study of the distribution of hypoxia-induced factor-1 alpha and microtubuleassociated protein 2 in children's brainstem: comparison between controls and cases with signs of perinatal hypoxia. *Neuroscience* 271, 77–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.04.018
- Dammann, O., and Leviton, A. (1997). Maternal intrauterine infection, cytokines, and brain damage in the preterm newborn. *Pediatr. Res.* 42, 1–8. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199707000-00001
- Diaz-Arrastia, R., Wang, K. K., Papa, L., Sorani, M. D., Yue, J. K., Puccio, A. M., et al. (2014). Acute biomarkers of traumatic brain injury: relationship between plasma levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 and glial fibrillary acidic protein. J. Neurotrauma 31, 19–25. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3040
- Dohi, K., Kraemer, B. C., Erickson, M. A., McMillan, P. J., Kovac, A., Flachbartova, Z., et al. (2014). Molecular hydrogen in drinking water protects against neurodegenerative changes induced by traumatic brain injury. *PLoS ONE* 9:e108034. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108034
- Dong, X. Q., Yu, W. H., Zhu, Q., Cheng, Z. Y., Chen, Y. H., Lin, X. F., et al. (2015). Changes in plasma thrombospondin-1 concentrations following acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 450, 349–355. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.09.013
- Douglas-Escobar, M. V., Heaton, S. C., Bennett, J., Young, L. J., Glushakova, O., Xu, X., et al. (2014). UCH-L1 and GFAP serum levels in neonates with hypoxicischemic encephalopathy: a single center pilot study. *Front. Neurol.* 5:273. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00273
- Duggan, P. J., Maalouf, E. F., Watts, T. L., Sullivan, M. H., Counsell, S. J., Allsop, J., et al. (2001). Intrauterine T-cell activation and increased proinflammatory cytokine concentrations in preterm infants with cerebral lesions. *Lancet* 358, 1699–1700. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06723-X
- Egea, V., Schober, A., and Weber, C. (2012). Circulating miRNAs: messengers on the move in cardiovascular disease. *Thromb. Haemost.* 108, 590–591. doi: 10.1160/TH12-08-0613

- Egea-Guerrero, J. J., Murillo-Cabezas, F., Gordillo-Escobar, E., Rodriguez-Rodriguez, A., Enamorado-Enamorado, J., Revuelto-Rey, J., et al. (2013). S100B protein may detect brain death development after severe traumatic brain injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 30, 1762–1769. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2606
- Ennen, C. S., Huisman, T. A., Savage, W. J., Northington, F. J., Jennings, J. M., Everett, A. D., et al. (2011). Glial fibrillary acidic protein as a biomarker for neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy treated with wholebody cooling. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 251, e1–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011. 06.025
- Failla, M. D., Conley, Y. P., and Wagner, A. K. (2016). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in traumatic brain injury-related mortality: interrelationships between genetics and acute systemic and central nervous system BDNF profiles. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 30, 83–93. doi: 10.1177/1545968315586465
- Fathali, N., Lekic, T., Zhang, J. H., and Tang, J. (2010). Long-term evaluation of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor on hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in infant rats. *Intensive Care Med.* 36, 1602–1608. doi: 10.1007/s00134-01 0-1913-6
- Felderhoff-Mueser, U., Schmidt, O. I., Oberholzer, A., Buhrer, C., and Stahel, P. F. (2005). IL-18: A key player in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration? *Trends Neurosci.* 28, 487–493. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.06.008
- Galea, E., Dupouey, P., and Feinstein, D. L. (1995). Glial fibrillary acidic protein mRNA isotypes: expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J. Neurosci. Res. 41, 452–461. doi: 10.1002/jnr.490410404
- Gazzolo, D., Pluchinotta, F., Bashir, M., Aboulgar, H., Said, H. M., Iman, I., et al. (2015). Neurological abnormalities in full-term asphyxiated newborns and salivary S100B testing: the "cooperative multitask against brain injury of neonates" (CoMBINe) international study. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0115194. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115194
- Gradisek, P., Osredkar, J., Korsic, M., and Kremzar, B. (2012). Multiple indicators model of long-term mortality in traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 26, 1472–1481. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.694567
- Guingab-Cagmat, J. D., Cagmat, E. B., Hayes, R. L., and Anagli, J. (2013). Integration of proteomics, bioinformatics, and systems biology in traumatic brain injury biomarker discovery. *Front. Neurol.* 4:61. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2013.00061
- Guo, Y. H., Li, G. X., Li, W. H., Liu, Z. S., and Bai, X. M. (2014). Dynamic study of serum interleukin 18 levels in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. J. Hebei Med. Univ. 35, 105–108.
- Herrmann, M., Jost, S., Kutz, S., Ebert, A. D., Kratz, T., Wunderlich, M. T., et al. (2000). Temporal profile of release of neurobiochemical markers of brain damage after traumatic brain injury is associated with intracranial pathology as demonstrated in cranial computerized tomography. *J. Neurotrauma* 17, 113–122. doi: 10.1089/neu.2000.17.113
- Higuchi, M., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2002). Tau and axonopathy in neurodegenerative disorders. *Neuromolecular Med.* 2, 131–150. doi: 10.1385/NMM:2:2:131
- Imam, S. S., Gad, G. I., Atef, S. H., and Shawky, M. A. (2009). Cord blood brain derived neurotrophic factor: diagnostic and prognostic marker in fullterm newborns with perinatal asphyxia. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 12, 1498–1504. doi: 10.3923/pjbs.2009.1498.1504
- Ingebrigtsen, T., Waterloo, K., Jacobsen, E. A., Langbakk, B., and Romner, B. (1999). Traumatic brain damage in minor head injury: relation of serum S-100 protein measurements to magnetic resonance imaging and neurobehavioral outcome. *Neurosurgery* 45, 468–475; discussion 475–6. doi: 10.1097/00006123-199909000-00010
- Isgro, M. A., Bottoni, P., and Scatena, R. (2015). Neuron-specific enolase as a biomarker: biochemical and clinical aspects. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 867, 125–143. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-7215-0_9
- Jin, C., Londono, I., Mallard, C., and Lodygensky, G. A. (2015). New means to assess neonatal inflammatory brain injury. J. Neuroinflammation 12:180. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0397-2
- Kobeissy, F. H., Sadasivan, S., Oli, M. W., Robinson, G., Larner, S. F., Zhang, Z., et al. (2008). Neuroproteomics and systems biology-based discovery of protein biomarkers for traumatic brain injury and clinical validation. *Proteomics Clin. Appl.* 2, 1467–1483. doi: 10.1002/prca.2008 00011
- Korley, F. K., Diaz-Arrastia, R., Wu, A. H., Yue, J. K., Manley, G. T., Sair, H. I., et al. (2016). Circulating brain-derived neurotrophic factor has diagnostic and

prognostic value in traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma 33, 215–225. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.3949

- Lawn, J. E., Bahl, R., Bergstrom, S., Bhutta, Z. A., Darmstadt, G. L., Ellis, M., et al. (2011). Setting research priorities to reduce almost one million deaths from birth asphyxia by 2015. *PLoS Med.* 8:e1000389. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000389
- Lee, A. C., Kozuki, N., Blencowe, H., Vos, T., Bahalim, A., Darmstadt, G. L., et al. (2013). Intrapartum-related neonatal encephalopathy incidence and impairment at regional and global levels for 2010 with trends from 1990. *Pediatr. Res.* 74, 50–72. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.206
- Lee, J. Y., Lee, C. Y., Kim, H. R., Lee, C. H., Kim, H. W., and Kim, J. H. (2015). A role of serum-based neuronal and glial markers as potential predictors for distinguishing severity and related outcomes in traumatic brain injury. J. Korean Neurosurg. Soc. 58, 93–100. doi: 10.3340/jkns.2015.58.2.93
- Leviton, A. (1993). Preterm birth and cerebral palsy: is tumor necrosis factor the missing link? Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 35, 553–558.
- Liang, Y. M., and Wang, H. (2005). The expression of VEGF and VEGF mRNA in hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. *Chin. Pediatr. Emerg. Med.* 12, 134–136.
- Liu, H., Cheney, J., Li, X., Li, S., Sheng, H., Huo, R., et al. (2009). Changes and clinical significance of serum levels of MMP-9 and MMP-2 in newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. J. Clin. Pediatr. 27, 842–843.
- Liu, J., and Feng, Z. C. (2010). Increased umbilical cord plasma interleukin-1 beta levels was correlated with adverse outcomes of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. J. Trop. Pediatr. 56, 178–182. doi: 10.1093/tropej/fmp098
- Loscher, W., Klitgaard, H., Twyman, R. E., and Schmidt, D. (2013). New avenues for anti-epileptic drug discovery and development. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 12, 757–776. doi: 10.1038/nrd4126
- Lv, H., Wang, Q., Wu, S., Yang, L., Ren, P., Yang, Y., et al. (2015). Neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy-related biomarkers in serum and cerebrospinal fluid. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 450, 282–297. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.08.021
- Massaro, A. N., Jeromin, A., Kadom, N., Vezina, G., Hayes, R. L., Wang, K. K., et al. (2013). Serum biomarkers of MRI brain injury in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy treated with whole-body hypothermia: a pilot study. *Pediatr. Crit. Care Med.* 14, 310–317. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182720642
- Merchant, N., and Azzopardi, D. (2015). Early predictors of outcome in infants treated with hypothermia for hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 57, 8–16. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12726
- Mondello, S., Gabrielli, A., Catani, S., D'Ippolito, M., Jeromin, A., Ciaramella, A., et al. (2012c). Increased levels of serum MAP-2 at 6-months correlate with improved outcome in survivors of severe traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 26, 1629–1635. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.700083
- Mondello, S., Jeromin, A., Buki, A., Bullock, R., Czeiter, E., Kovacs, N., et al. (2012a). Glial neuronal ratio: a novel index for differentiating injury type in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 29, 1096–1104. doi: 10.1089/neu.2011.2092
- Mondello, S., Linnet, A., Buki, A., Robicsek, S., Gabrielli, A., Tepas, J., et al. (2012b). Clinical utility of serum levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase as a biomarker for severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurgery* 70, 666–675. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e318236a809
- Mondello, S., Papa, L., Buki, A., Bullock, M. R., Czeiter, E., Tortella, F. C., et al. (2011). Neuronal and glial markers are differently associated with computed tomography findings and outcome in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a case control study. *Crit. Care* 15:R156. doi: 10.1186/cc10286
- Mouhieddine, T. H., El Houjeiri, L., Sabra, M., Hayes, R. L., and Mondello, S. (2015). "CNS trauma biomarkers and surrogate endpoints pipeline from bench to bedside: a translational perspective," in *Brain Neurotrauma: Molecular, Neuropsychological, and Rehabilitation Aspects*, ed F. H. Kobeissy (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis).
- Mukerji, S. S., Katsman, E. A., Wilber, C., Haner, N. A., Selman, W. R., and Hall, A. K. (2007). Activin is a neuronal survival factor that is rapidly increased after transient cerebral ischemia and hypoxia in mice. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 27, 1161–1172. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600423
- Nagdyman, N., Komen, W., Ko, H. K., Muller, C., and Obladen, M. (2001). Early biochemical indicators of hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy after birth asphyxia. *Pediatr. Res.* 49, 502–506. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200104000-00011
- Nelson, K. B., Grether, J. K., Dambrosia, J. M., Walsh, E., Kohler, S., Satyanarayana, G., et al. (2003). Neonatal cytokines and cerebral palsy in very preterm infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 53, 600–607. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000056802.22454.AB

- Niogi, S. N., and Mukherjee, P. (2010). Diffusion tensor imaging of mild traumatic brain injury. J. Head Trauma Rehabil. 25, 241–255. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e52c2a
- Okumus, N., Turkyilmaz, C., Onal, E. E., Atalay, Y., Serdaroglu, A., Elbeg, S., et al., (2008). Tau and s-100B proteins as biochemical markers of bilirubininduced neurotoxicity in term neonates. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 39, 245–250. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2008.07.004
- Ottens, A. K., Golden, E. C., Bustamante, L., Hayes, R. L., Denslow, N. D., and Wang, K. K. (2008). Proteolysis of multiple myelin basic protein isoforms after neurotrauma: characterization by mass spectrometry. *J. Neurochem.* 104, 1404–1414. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05086.x
- Papa, L., Robinson, G., Oli, M., Pineda, J., Demery, J., Brophy, G., et al. (2008). Use of biomarkers for diagnosis and management of traumatic brain injury patients. *Expert Opin. Med. Diagn.* 2, 937–945. doi: 10.1517/17530059.2. 8.937
- Patz, S., Trattnig, C., Grunbacher, G., Ebner, B., Gully, C., Novak, A., et al. (2013). More than cell dust: microparticles isolated from cerebrospinal fluid of brain injured patients are messengers carrying mRNAs, miRNAs, and proteins. *J. Neurotrauma* 30, 1232–1242. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2596
- Petrov, I. Y., Petrov, Y., Prough, D. S., Cicenaite, I., Deyo, D. J., and Esenaliev, R. O. (2012a). Optoacoustic monitoring of cerebral venous blood oxygenation though intact scalp in large animals. *Opt. Express* 20, 4159–4167. doi: 10.1364/OE.20.004159
- Petrov, I. Y., Petrov, Y., Prough, D. S., Deyo, D. J., Cicenaite, I., and Esenaliev, R. O. (2012b). Optoacoustic monitoring of cerebral venous blood oxygenation through extracerebral blood. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 3, 125–136. doi: 10.1364/BOE.3.000125
- Pierrat, V., Haouari, N., Liska, A., Thomas, D., Subtil, D., Truffert, P., et al. (2005). Prevalence, causes, and outcome at 2 years of age of newborn encephalopathy: population based study. *Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 90, F257–F261. doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.047985
- Pineda, J. A., Lewis, S. B., Valadka, A. B., Papa, L., Hannay, H. J., Heaton, S. C., et al. (2007). Clinical significance of alphaII-spectrin breakdown products in cerebrospinal fluid after severe traumatic brain injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 24, 354–366. doi: 10.1089/neu.2006.003789
- Qian, J., Zhou, D., and Wang, Y. W. (2009). Umbilical artery blood \$100beta protein: a tool for the early identification of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 168, 71–77. doi: 10.1007/s00431-008-0711-4
- Qin, L. N., Feng, A. H., Yang, C. H., and Xing, H. Y. (2005). Clinical values of superoxide dismutase and malondialdehyde detection in cord blood of newborns with fetal distress. *Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi* 40, 312–314.
- Raabe, A., Grolms, C., Keller, M., Dohnert, J., Sorge, O., and Seifert, V. (1998). Correlation of computed tomography findings and serum brain damage markers following severe head injury. *Acta Neurochir. (Wien).* 140, 787–791; discussion 791–2. doi: 10.1007/s007010050180
- Rajendran, L., Bali, J., Barr, M. M., Court, F. A., Kramer-Albers, E. M., Picou, F., et al. (2014). Emerging roles of extracellular vesicles in the nervous system. J. Neurosci. 34, 15482–15489. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3258-14.2014
- Redell, J. B., Moore, A. N., Ward, N. H. III., Hergenroeder, G. W., and Dash, P. K. (2010). Human traumatic brain injury alters plasma microRNA levels. J. Neurotrauma 27, 2147–2156. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1481
- Riederer, B. M., Zagon, I. S., and Goodman, S. R. (1986). Brain spectrin(240/235) and brain spectrin(240/235E): two distinct spectrin subtypes with different locations within mammalian neural cells. J. Cell Biol. 102, 2088–2097. doi: 10.1083/jcb.102.6.2088
- Ringger, N. C., O'Steen, B. E., Brabham, J. G., Silver, X., Pineda, J., Wang, K. K., et al. (2004). A novel marker for traumatic brain injury: CSF alphaII-spectrin breakdown product levels. *J. Neurotrauma* 21, 1443–1456. doi: 10.1089/neu.2004.21.1443
- Roka, A., Kelen, D., Halasz, J., Beko, G., Azzopardi, D., and Szabo, M. (2012). Serum S100B and neuron-specific enolase levels in normothermic and hypothermic infants after perinatal asphyxia. *Acta Paediatr*. 101, 319–323. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02480.x
- Roncon, P., Soukupova, M., Binaschi, A., Falcicchia, C., Zucchini, S., Ferracin, M., et al. (2015). MicroRNA profiles in hippocampal granule cells and plasma of rats with pilocarpine-induced epilepsy-comparison with human epileptic samples. *Sci. Rep.* 5:14143. doi: 10.1038/srep14143

- Rothoerl, R. D., and Woertgen, C. (2001). High serum S100B levels for trauma patients without head injuries. *Neurosurgery* 49, 1490–1491; author reply 1492–3. doi: 10.1097/00006123-200112000-00054
- Saatman, K. E., Duhaime, A. C., Bullock, R., Maas, A. I., Valadka, A., Manley, G. T., et al. (2008). Classification of traumatic brain injury for targeted therapies. J. Neurotrauma 25, 719–738. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0586
- Sagare, A. P., Sweeney, M. D., Makshanoff, J., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2015). Shedding of soluble platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta from human brain pericytes. *Neurosci. Lett.* 607, 97–101. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.09.025
- Schiering, I. A., de Haan, T. R., Niermeijer, J. M., Koelman, J. H., Majoie, C. B., Reneman, L., et al. (2014). Correlation between clinical and histologic findings in the human neonatal hippocampus after perinatal asphyxia. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 73, 324–334. doi: 10.1097/NEN.000000000000056
- Schiff, L., Hadker, N., Weiser, S., and Rausch, C. (2012). A literature review of the feasibility of glial fibrillary acidic protein as a biomarker for stroke and traumatic brain injury. *Mol. Diagn. Ther.* 16, 79–92. doi: 10.1007/BF03256432
- Selakovic, V., Raicevic, R., and Radenovic, L. (2005). The increase of neuronspecific enolase in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma as a marker of neuronal damage in patients with acute brain infarction. J. Clin. Neurosci. 12, 542–547. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2004.07.019

Setsuie, R., and Wada, K. (2007). The functions of UCH-L1 and its relation to neurodegenerative diseases. *Neurochem. Int.* 51, 105–111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2007.05.007

- Shang, Y., Mu, L., Guo, X., Li, Y., Wang, L., Yang, W., et al. (2014). Clinical significance of interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in neonates with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 8, 1259–1262. doi: 10.3892/etm.2014.1869
- Skogseid, I. M., Nordby, H. K., Urdal, P., Paus, E., and Lilleaas, F. (1992). Increased serum creatine kinase BB and neuron specific enolase following head injury indicates brain damage. *Acta Neurochir. (Wien)*. 115, 106–111. doi: 10.1007/BF01406367
- Sobrino, T., Arias, S., Rodriguez-Gonzalez, R., Brea, D., Silva, Y., de la Ossa, N. P., et al. (2009). High serum levels of growth factors are associated with good outcome in intracerebral hemorrhage. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 29, 1968–1974. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.182
- Stewart, A., Tekes, A., Huisman, T. A., Jennings, J. M., Allen, M. C., Northington, F. J., et al. (2013). Glial fibrillary acidic protein as a biomarker for periventricular white matter injury. *Am. J. Obstet Gynecol.* 209, 27.e1–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.02.049
- Thelin, E. P., Johannesson, L., Nelson, D., and Bellander, B. M. (2013). S100B is an important outcome predictor in traumatic brain injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 30, 519–528. doi: 10.1089/neu.2012.2553
- Thoresen, M., Hellstrom-Westas, L., Liu, X., and de Vries, L. S. (2010). Effect of hypothermia on amplitude-integrated electroencephalogram in infants with asphyxia. *Pediatrics* 126, e131–e139. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2938
- Tian, J. C., and Yan, S. T. (2012). Determination and clinical significance of serum hs-CRF, TNF-a, MMP-9 in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. *China Mod. Med.* 19, 92–93.
- Torricelli, A., Contini, D., Dalla Mora, A., Pifferi, A., Re, R., Zucchelli, L., et al. (2014). Neurophotonics: non-invasive optical techniques for monitoring brain functions. *Funct. Neurol.* 29:223. doi: 10.11138/fneur/2014.29.4.223
- Unden, J., Ingebrigtsen, T., Romner, B., and Scandinavian Neurotrauma Committee(SNC) (2013). Scandinavian guidelines for initial management of minimal, mild and moderate head injuries in adults: an evidence and consensus-based update. *BMC Med.* 11:50. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-50
- Vos, P. E., Lamers, K. J., Hendriks, J. C., van Haaren, M., Beems, T., Zimmerman, C., et al. (2004). Glial and neuronal proteins in serum predict outcome after severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* 62, 1303–1310. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000120550.00643.DC

- Wang, Y. C., Shi, C. C., and Ni, H. (2003). Clinical significance of serum interleukin 10 levels in neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. J. Appl. Clin. Pediatr. 18, 442–443.
- Weiss, J. B., Eisenhardt, S. U., Stark, G. B., Bode, C., Moser, M., and Grundmann, S. (2012). MicroRNAs in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am. J. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2, 237–247.
- Welch, R. D., Ayaz, S. I., Lewis, L. M., Unden, J., Chen, J. Y., Mika, V. H., et al. (2016). Ability of serum glial fibrillary acidic protein, ubiquitin Cterminal hydrolase-L1, and S100B to differentiate normal and abnormal head computed tomography findings in patients with suspected mild or moderate traumatic brain injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 33, 203–214. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2015.4149
- Werner, J. K., and Stevens, R. D. (2015). Traumatic brain injury: recent advances in plasticity and regeneration. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 28, 565–573. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000265
- Wu, X. P., Zhang, L. X., Shen, Y. J., Liu, C. Y., and Wang, Z. J. (2012). Relationship between serum inflammatory factors and neonatal brain injury. *Chin. J. Neonatol.* 27, 180–182.
- Yildiz, R., Coskun, U., Buyukberber, S., Sancak, B., Kaya, A. O., Gulbahar, O., et al. (2011). Serum granulocyte colony-stimulating factor levels in gliomas. J. BUON. 16, 138–141.
- Yokobori, S., Hosein, K., Burks, S., Sharma, I., Gajavelli, S., and Bullock, R. (2013). Biomarkers for the clinical differential diagnosis in traumatic brain injury-a systematic review. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 19, 556–565. doi: 10.1111/cns.12127
- Yoon, B. H., Jun, J. K., Romero, R., Park, K. H., Gomez, R., Choi, J. H., et al. (1997). Amniotic fluid inflammatory cytokines (interleukin-6, interleukin-1beta, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha), neonatal brain white matter lesions, and cerebral palsy. Am. J. Obstet Gynecol. 177, 19–26. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(97) 70432-0
- Youn, Y. A., Kim, S. J., Sung, I. K., Chung, S. Y., Kim, Y. H., and Lee, I. G. (2012). Serial examination of serum IL-8, IL-10 and IL-1Ra levels is significant in neonatal seizures induced by hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 76, 286–293. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2012.02710.x
- Yu, S. C., Kuo, C. L., Huang, C. S., Chang, C. S., Wu, S. L., Su, S. L., et al. (2012). Endogenous granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: a biomarker in acute ischemic stroke. *Biomarkers* 17, 319–324. doi: 10.3109/1354750X.2012. 668712
- Zemlan, F. P., Jauch, E. C., Mulchahey, J. J., Gabbita, S. P., Rosenberg, W. S., Speciale, S. G., et al. (2002). C-tau biomarker of neuronal damage in severe brain injured patients: association with elevated intracranial pressure and clinical outcome. *Brain Res.* 947, 131–139. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02) 02920-7
- Zimmer, D. B., Cornwall, E. H., Landar, A., and Song, W. (1995). The S100 protein family: history, function, and expression. *Brain Res. Bull.* 37, 417–429. doi: 10.1016/0361-9230(95)00040-2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer MO and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Graham, Burd, Everett and Northington. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

